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SECTION l (120 marks) 
Answer Question l OR any TWO other questions 

1. Sole Trader - Final Accounts

The following Trial Balance was extracted from the Books ofOrla Dolan on 31/12/2007:

Buildings (Cost €580,000) 
Delivery Vans (Cost €85,000) 
8% Investments (1/4/2007) 
6% Fixed Mortgage (including increase of€50,000 

received on 1/4/2007) 
Patents 
Debtors and Creditors 
Purchases and Sales 
Stock 1/1/2007 
Commission 
Salaries and General Expenses 
Provision for Bad Debts 
Discount (net) 
Rent 
Mortgage interest paid for the first three months 
Insurance ( incorporating Suspense) 
VAT

Bank 
PRSI 
Drawings 
Capital 

€ € 
485,000 
73,000 

130,000 

52,400 
40,000 

512,400 
65,600 

4,200 
85,000 

1,900 
9,000 
1,250 
6,150 

36,200 

1.502.100 

150,000 

113,000 
729,000 

1,200 

4,100 
15,900 
3,900 

485,000 
1,502,l0Q 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i) Stock at 31/12/2007 at cost was €75,000. No record has been made in the books for goods in transit on
31/12/2007. The invoice for these goods had been received showing the recommended retail selling price of 
€6,000 which is cost plus 25%.

(ii) Provide for depreciation on vans at the annual rate of 15% of cost from date of purchase to date of sale.
NOTE: On 31/3/2007 a delivery van which cost €30,000 on 30/9/2004 was traded against a new van which cost
€36,000. An allowance of€10,000 was made on the old van. The cheque for the net amount of this transaction 
was entered in the bank account but was incorrectly treated as a purchase of trading stock. These were the only 
entries made in the books in respect of this transaction.

(iii) The suspense figure arises as a result of the posting of an incorrect figure for Mortgage Interest in the mortgage 
interest account and discount received €200 entered only in the creditors account. The correct interest was
entered in the bank account. 

@ Goods with a retail selling price of €10,000 were returned to a supplier. The sel1ing price was cost plus 25%.
The supplier issued a credit note showing a restocking charge of I 0% of cost price. No entry has been made in 
respect of the restocking charge. 

@J Provision to be made for mortgage interest due. 20% of the mortgage interest for the year refers to the private
section of the building. 

(vi) Patents, which incorporate 3 months investment income received, are to be written off over a five year period,
commencing in 2007. 

(vii) Provide for depreciation on buildings at the rate of 2% of cost per annum. It was decided to revalue the
Buildings at €800,000 on 31/12/2007. 

@:i1J Goods withdrawn by the owner for private use during the year with a retail value of €2,000 which is cost plus
25% were omitted from the books. @J A cheque for €600 had been received on 31 /I 2/2007 in respect of a debt of €1 ,000 previously written off as bad. 
The debtor has agreed to pay the remainder within I month. No entry was made in the books to record this 
transaction. 

You are required to prepare a: 

( a) 
(b) 

Trading and Profit a· .. Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2007. 
Balance Sheet as at;) ·12/2007 . 
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Accounting Higher Leve) - Marking Scheme 

Question 1 

Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ending 31/12/2007 [l] 

€ € € 

Sales 729,000 [3] 
Less Cost of Sales 

Stock 
Add Purchases 

Less Stock 31/12/2007 
Gross Profit 
Less Expenses 
Administration 

Patent written off 
Salaries and General expenses 
Discount 
Rent 
Insurance 
Depreciation - Buildings 

Selling and Distribution 
Commission 
Depreciation -Delivery van 
Loss on sale of van 

Add Operating Income 
Bad debt recovered 

Operating Profit 
Add Investment Income 

Less Mortgage Interest 
Net Profit 

�., .... � ·c ._,, (., ,;,_ ,,, •. . ,
.._ c, (',\ [

WI 

W2 

W3 

W4 

W5 

W6 
W7 

W8 

W9 

11,000 (5) 
85,000 [3] 

l,700f6] 
9,000 (3] 
6,100 [7] 

11,600 [4] 

4,200 [3] 
13,425 [5] 
8,750 [5] 

2 

65,600 ["3] 
490,400 [10] 
556,000 
{79,800l [6] 

124,400 

26,375 

, 

(476,200) 
252,800 

(150,775) 
102,025 

1,000 [3] 
103,025 

7,800 [4] 
110,825 

(6,600) [5] 
104,225 [4] 

! ·
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13 

80 
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Question I - continued 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2007 

lntangible Fixed Assets 
Patents (55,000 - 11,000) 

Tangible Fixed Assets 
Buildings 
Delivery Vans 

Financial Assets 
8% Investments 

Current Assets 
Stock 
Debtors 
Less provision 
Investment income due 

WJO 
WI l & 12 

Wl3 

W8 

Cost 
€ 

800,000 [J] 
91,000 [2] 

891.000 

40,400 [2] 
(],200)(2] 

Creditors: Amounts faJling due within one year 
Creditors WI4 
Bank W15 
VAT 
PRSI 
Mortgage interest due 

Financed by 
Creditors: amounts faJling due after more than one year 

6% Mortgage 

Capital 
Add Net Profit 

Less Drawings 

Revaluation Reserve 
Capital Employed 

Wl6 

Wl7 

3 

Acc.Dep 
€ 

14,175 [3] 
� 

79,800 [2] 

39,200 
5,200 [1]

118,600 [2] 
15,300 [2J 
4,100 [2] 
3,900 [2] 
6,750 [.2] 

Net 
€ 

800,000 
76,825 

876,825 

124,200 

(148,650} 

40 

Total 
€ 

44,000 (4] 

876,825 

130,000 [2j 
1,050,825 

(24,450) 
1,026,315 

150,000 [2] 

485,000 [2} 
104,225 [l] 
589,225 
(39,450) [3] 549,775 

326,600 i2J 
I 026.375 
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SECTlON 1 (120 marks) 2..0\0 
Answer Question l OR any TWO other questions 

1. Sole Trader - Final Accounts

The following Trial Balance was extracted from the books of Nora O'Connell on 31/12/2009:

Buildings (Cost €620,000) 
Delivery Vans (Cost €90,000) 
4% Investments (01/07/2009) 
Patents 
6% Fixed Mortgage (including increase of€80,000 

received on 01/04/2009) 
Debtors and Creditors 
Purchases and Sales 
Stock 01/01/2009 
Commission 
Salaries and General Expenses (incorporating Suspense) 
Provision for Bad Debts 
Discount (Net) 
Rent 
Mortgage Interest paid for the first three months 
Advertising 
VAT 
Bank 
PA YE and PRSI 
Drawings 
Capital 

€ € 

515,000 
80,000 

120,000 
60,400 

180,000 
50,000 120,000 

465,200 659,650 
63,200 
5,550 

75,000 
1,800 

1,600 
8,000 
1,400 
2,400 

4,600 
13,300 
5,400 

32,000 
495,000 

l,412,750 1,472,150 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i) Stock at 31/12/2009 at cost was €75,400. This figure includes damaged stock which cost
€8,200 but which now has a net realisable value of€3,400.

(ii) Patents, which incorporate three months investment income received, are to be written off
over a five year period commencing in 2009.

( iii) Provide for depreciation on vans at the annual rate of 12 ½% of cost from the date of purchase to
the date of sale. NOTE: On 31/03/2009 a van, which cost €24,000 on 30/09/2006, was traded in
against a new van which cost €48,000. An allowance of€12,000 was given on the old van. The
cheque for the net amount of this transaction was incorrectly treated as a purchase of trading
stock. This was the only entry made in the books in respect of this transaction.

(iv) The suspense arises as a result of the incorrect figure for mortgage interest (although the
correct entry had been made in the bank account) and from €1,000 paid towards PAYE and
PRSI entered only in the bank account

(v) Goods with a retail selling price of €8,400 were returned to a supplier. The selling price was
cost plus 20%. The supplier issued a credit note showing a restocking charge of I 0% of the
cost price. No entry has been made in respect of this restocking charge.

(vi) Provision to be made for mortgage interest due. 10% of the mortgage interest for the year
refers to the private section of the building.

(vii) Provide for depreciation on buildings at a rate of3% of cost per annum. It was decided to
revalue the buildings at €850,000 on 31/12/2009.

(viii) The advertising payment is towards a 24 month campaign which began on 01/10/2009.
(ix) A cheque for €400 had been received on 31/12/2009 in respect of a debt of €900 previously

written off as bad. The debtor has agreed to pay the remainder within one month. No entry
was made in the books to record this transaction.

You are required to prepare a: 

(a) Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2009.
(b) Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2009.
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Accounting - Higher Level - Marking Scheme 

Question 1 

(a) 

Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the Year ended 31/12/2009 [1] 

€ € € 

Sales 
Less Cost of Sales 
Stock 1/1/2009 63,200 
Add Purchases WI 429,900 

493,100 
Less Stock 31/12/2009 W2 (70,600) 
Gross Profit 

Less Expenses: 

Administration 
Salaries and General expenses W3 73,900 [7] 
Rent 8,000 &�]
Patents written off W4 12,320 [5]
Depreciation Buildings 18,600 [3] 112,820 

Selling and Distribution 
Commission 5,550 [3] 
Discount 1,600 fjJ
Advertising WS 300 tsJ
Loss on sale of van W6 4,500 [6]
Depreciation on vans W7 13,500 [S] 25,450 

Add Operating Income 
Bad debt recovered 
Operating Profit 
Investment Interest W8 

Less Mortgage Interest W9 

Net Profit for the Year 

[3] 
[6] 

[5] 

€ 

659,650 [3J 

(422,500) 
237,150 

{138,270) 
98,880 

_2QQ(iJ 
99,780 

2,400 I�J 
102,180 

(8,640) [�] 
93,540 [6'] 

Penalties: Deduction of2 x 1 mark for the omission of2 expense headings in the Profit & Loss account 

4 
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(b) 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2009 

Intangible Fixed Assets 
Patents 

Tangible fixed Assets 
Buildings 
Delivery Vans 

Financial Assets 
4% Investments 

Current Assets 
Stock 

WlOWll 

Debtors W12 
Less Provision for bad debts 
Investment Interest due 
Advertising prepaid 

Cost Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Net 

€ € € 

850,000 [l] 
114,000 [2] 
964,000 

50,500 
(1,800) 

850,000 
J6,000 [3] 98,000 
� 948000 

70,600 [2] 

48,700 [3] 
1,200 t2J 
2,100 [2] 122,600 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year: 
Creditors W13 
Mortgage interest due 
PAYE & PRSI Wl4 
VAT 

120,700 [4] 
8,100 [2] 
4,400 f3J 
4,600 [2] 

Bank overdraft WJS 12,900 [3)(150,700) 

Financed by 
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year: [1] 

6% Fixed Mortgage 

Capital and Reserves 
Capital 
Add Revaluation Reserve W16 
Add Net Profit 

495,000 fl] 
353,600 {3] 

93.540 
941,940 

Total 

€ 

49,280 [4] 

948,000 

120,000 {2] 
1,117,280 

(28,100) 
1,089,180 

I 80,000 [2] 

Less Drawings Wl7 (32,960) [3J 908.980 
I.089,180

5 

21 015



Page 2 of 10 

SECTION 1 (120 marks) 
Answer Question 1 OR any TWO other questions 

1. Sole Trader – Final Accounts

The following Trial Balance was extracted from the books of Mike Mc Mahon on 31/12/2013:
€ €

Buildings (Cost €640,000) .......................................................................... 545,000 
Delivery Vans (Cost €90,000) .................................................................... 78,000
3% Investments (01/04/2013) ..................................................................... 100,000 
6% Fixed Mortgage (including increase of €60,000 received on 01/04/2013) 200,000 
Patents .......................................................................................................... 40,400
Debtors and Creditors .................................................................................. 50,000 110,000
Purchases and Sales ..................................................................................... 530,400 695,000 
Stock 01/01/2013 ......................................................................................... 64,200
Advertising ................................................................................................... 2,500 
Salaries and general expenses (incorporating suspense) ........................... 90,000
Provision for bad debts ............................................................................... 1,400 
Discount (net) ............................................................................................... 1,800 
Rent .............................................................................................................. 10,000
Mortgage interest paid for the first three months ......................................... 1,500 
Insurance ...................................................................................................... 5,750 
VAT ............................................................................................................. 4,200 
Bank ............................................................................................................. 16,400
PAYE, PRSI & USC .................................................................................... 3,800 
Drawings ...................................................................................................... 41,250
Capital .......................................................................................................... ________    530,000 

1,560,800 1,560,800 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 
(i) Stock at 31/12/2013 at cost was €80,000.  No record has been made for ‘goods in transit’ on

31/12/2013.  The invoice for these goods had been received showing the recommended retail
selling price of €4,800 which is cost plus 20%.

(ii) Provide for depreciation on vans at the annual rate of 10% of cost from date of purchase to the
date of sale.
NOTE: On 31/3/2013 a delivery van which cost €40,000 on 30/9/2010 was traded in against a
new van which cost €46,000.  An allowance of €16,000 was given on the old van.  The cheque
for the net amount of this transaction was entered in the bank account but was incorrectly treated
as a purchase of trading stock.  These were the only entries made in the books in respect of this
transaction.

(iii) The suspense arises as a result of the incorrect figure for mortgage interest (although the correct entry
had been made in the bank account) and €2,000 paid towards PAYE, PRSI and USC entered only in
the bank account.

(iv) Goods with a retail selling price of €15,000 were returned to a supplier.  The selling price was
cost plus 20%.  The supplier issued a credit note showing a restocking charge of 10% of cost
price.  No entry has been made in respect of the restocking charge.

(v) Provision to be made for mortgage interest due.  25% of the mortgage interest refers to the
private dwelling.

(vi) Patents, which incorporate 3 months investment income, are to be written off over a five year
period, commencing in 2013.

(vii) Provide for depreciation on buildings at the rate of 2% of cost per annum.  It was decided to
revalue the buildings at €720,000 on 31/12/2013.

(viii) Goods withdrawn by the owner for private use during the year, with a retail value of €3,000,
which is cost plus 25%, were omitted from the books.

(ix) A cheque for €800 had been received on 31/12/2013 in respect of a debt of €800 previously
written off as bad.  No entry was made in the books to record this transaction.

You are required to prepare a: 
(a) Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2013 (75) 
(b) Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2013. (45) 

(120 marks) 

2014
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Workings 2014 Question 1 

(i) Stock at 31/12/2013 at cost was €80,000.  No record has been made for ‘goods in transit’ on

31/12/2013.  The invoice for these goods had been received showing the recommended retail selling

price of €4,800 which is cost plus 20%.

€4,800/1.2= €4.000 

Purchases €530,400 + €4,000 = €534,400 

Creditors €110,000 + €4,000 = €114,000 

Closing Stock €80,000 + €4,000 = €84,000 

(ii) Provide for depreciation on vans at the annual rate of 10% of cost from date of purchase to the

date of sale.  NOTE: On 31/3/2013 a delivery van which cost €40,000 on 30/9/2010 was traded in

against a new van which cost €46,000.  An allowance of €16,000 was given on the old van.  The

cheque for the net amount of this transaction was entered in the bank account but was incorrectly

treated as a purchase of trading stock.  These were the only entries made in the books in respect of

this transaction.

Sold €40,000 x .1 x 3/12 = €1,000 

Rest €50,000 x .1 x 12/12 = €5,000 

New €46,000 x .1 x 9/12 = €3,450 

Depreciation of Vans = €9,450 

Backdate 

€40,000 x .1 x 2.5 years = €10,000 

NBV = €30,000 

Allowance = €16,000 

Loss on disposal = €14,000 

Vans €90,000 + €46,000 - €40,000 = €96,000 

Acc. Dep. €12,000 + €9,450 - €10,000 = €11,450 

Purchases €534,400 - €30,000 = €504,400 

017



(iii) The suspense arises as a result of the incorrect figure for mortgage interest (although the correct

entry had been made in the bank account) and €2,000 paid towards PAYE, PRSI and USC entered only

in the bank account

Mortgage Interest 

Date Details € Date Details € 

×1,500 

600 
  2,100 

Bank 

Date Details € Date Details € 

√2,100

√2,000

€140,000 x .06 x 3/12 = €2,100 

PAYE PRSI USC 

Date Details € Date Details € 

2,000 balance €3,800 
1,800 

S.A.G.S. 

Date Details € Date Details € 

Balance 90,000 600 
2,000 

  87,400 

Goods with a retail selling price of €15,000 were returned to a supplier.  The selling price was cost 

plus 20%.  The supplier issued a credit note showing a restocking charge of 10% of cost price.  No 

entry has been made in respect of the restocking charge.   

018



€15,000 / 1.2 = €12,500 

                                                                   Purchases 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      

  1250   √12,500 
      

 

Adjusted purchases €504,400 + €1250 = €505,650 

 
Creditors 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      

  √12,500   1250 

      
 

Adjusted creditors = €114,000 + €1,250 = €115,250 

 

(v) Provision to be made for mortgage interest due.  25% of the mortgage interest refers to the 

private dwelling. 

Old mortgage €140,000 x .06 x 12/12 = €8,400 

New mortgage €60,000 x .06 x 9/12 = €2,700 

                                                                   €11,100 - €2,100 = €9,000 CLBS 

Less Drawings 25%                                   €2,775 

                                                                     €8,325 

Drawings €41,250 + €2,775 = €44,025 

 

Patents, which incorporate 3 months investment income, are to be written off over a five-year period, 

commencing in 2013. 

Patents €40,400 + (€100,000 x .03 x 3/12 = €750) = €41,150/ 5 = €8,230 Admin 

Remainder = €8,230 x 4 remaining years €32,920 Intangible 

Investment income = €100,000 x .03 x 9/12 = €2,250 SHOULD 

Less patent figure €750 

Investment Income due = €1,500 CABS 
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(vii) Provide for depreciation on buildings at the rate of 2% of cost per annum.  It was decided to 

revalue the buildings at €720,000 on 31/12/2013. 

 

€640,000 x .02 = €12,800 Admin 

Acc Dep €95,000 + €12,800 = €107,800- €107,800 = ZERO 

Buildings €640,000 + €80,000 = €720,000 

Revaluation Reserve = + €80,000 + €107,800 = €187,800 

 

Goods withdrawn by the owner for private use during the year, with a retail value of €3,000, which is 

cost plus 25%, were omitted from the books. 

€3,000 /1.25 = €2,400 

Drawings €44,025 + €2,400 = €46,425 

Adjusted Purchases €505,650 - €2,400 = €503,250 

 

(ix) A cheque for €800 had been received on 31/12/2013 in respect of a debt of €800 previously 

written off as bad.  No entry was made in the books to record this transaction.  

Bank €16,400 - €800 = €15,600 

Bad debt recovered + €800 
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Accounting – Higher Level 2014 

 
 
Question 1 
 
(a) 

75 
 
 
 
 Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ending 31/12/2013 [1] 
 € € € 

 
Sales    695,000 [2] 
Less Cost of Sales 

Stock 1/1/2013 64,200  [2] 
Add Purchases W1 503,250  [12] 

 567,450 
Less Stock 31/12/2013 W2 (84,000) [5] (483,450) 

Gross Profit 211,550 
 
Less Expenses 
Administration 

Patent written off W3 8,230  [5] 
Salaries and General expenses W4 87,400  [9] 
Rent 10,000  [2] 
Insurance 5,750  [2] 
Depreciation – Buildings W5 12,800  [3] 124,180 

 
Selling and Distribution 

Advertising 2,500  [2] 
Loss on sale of van W6 14,000  [6] 
Depreciation –Delivery van W7 9,450  [5] 
Discount  1,800  [2] 27,750 (151,930) 

 59,620 
Add Operating Income 

Bad debt recovered      800  [2] 
 60,420 

Add Investment Income   2,250  [4] 
 62,670 
Less Mortgage Interest W8 (8,325) [5] 
Net Profit 54,345  [6] 
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(b) 

45 
 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2013 
 
 Cost Acc. Dep. Net Total 
Intangible Fixed Assets € € € € 

Patents    32,920  [4] 
 
Tangible Fixed Assets 

Buildings W9 720,000  [1]  720,000 
Delivery Vans W10 & 11   96,000  [2] 11,450  [3]    84,550 

 816,000 11,450 804,550 804,550 
Financial Assets 

8% Investments 100,000  [2] 
    937,470 
Current Assets 

Stock 84,000  [2] 
Debtors W12  48,600  [2] 
Investment income due W13 1,500  [3] 134,100 

 
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year  

Creditors W14 115,250  [6] 
Bank W15 15,600  [3] 
VAT  4,200  [2] 
PRSI/USC W16 1,800  [2] 
Mortgage interest due  9,000  [2] (145,850) (11,750) 

    925,720 
 
Financed by 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year [1] 

Mortgage 200,000  [2] 
 
Capital and Reserves 
Capital 530,000  [1] 
Revaluation Reserve W18 187,800  [3] 
Net Profit   54,345   
 772,145 
Drawings W17 (46,425) [4] 725,720 
Capital Employed 925,720 
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SECTION 1 (120 marks) 
Answer Question 1 OR any TWO other questions 

 

1.  Sole Trader – Final Accounts 
 

The following trial balance was extracted from the books of M. Mullen on 31/12/2016: 
 

  €  € 

Delivery vans (cost €150,000)  85,000   

Buildings (cost €680,000)  595,000   

Office equipment (cost €25,000)  15,000   

Patent (incorporating four months investment income)  68,000   

3% Investments (01/05/2016)  200,000   

6% Fixed mortgage    180,000 

Debtors and creditors  70,500  78,000 

Stock 01/01/2016  66,000   

Purchases and sales  536,500  792,000 

Commission  16,500   

Provision for bad debts    3,500 

Discount (net)    3,200 

Bank    70,300 

Salaries and general expenses   145,500   

Rent  10,400   

Mortgage interest paid for the first three months  2,400   

Insurance (incorporating suspense)  17,700   

VAT  6,400   

PAYE, PRSI and USC    21,600 

Drawings  15,600   

Capital  ________     701,900 

  1,850,500  1,850,500 

Continued on page 3 
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The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 
 

(i)  Stock on 31/12/2016 at cost €76,500.  This figure includes damaged stock which cost 
€4,500 and now has a net realisable value of €3,000. 

(ii)  Provide for depreciation on delivery vans at the annual rate of 15% of cost from date 
of purchase to date of sale. 

NOTE: On 31/3/2016 a delivery van which cost €40,000 on 30/09/2012 was traded in 
against a new van that cost €48,000.  An allowance of €18,000 was given on the old 
van.  The cheque for the net amount of this transaction was entered in the bank 
account but was incorrectly treated as a purchase of trading stock.  These were the 
only entries made in the books in respect of this transaction. 

(iii)  The suspense figure arises as a result of the incorrect figure for mortgage interest (although 
the correct figure had been entered in the bank account) and a VAT refund of €2,000 entered 
only in the bank account. 

(iv)  Patent, which incorporates 4 months investment income, is to be written off over a five year 
period commencing in 2016. 

(v)  Provision to be made for both investment income due and mortgage interest due. 

(vi)  A creditor who was owed €7,600 accepted office equipment with a book value of €6,500 in 
full settlement of the debt.  The office equipment had cost €11,000.  No entry was made in 
the books in respect of this transaction.  Provide for depreciation on office equipment held 
on 31/12/2016 at the rate of 20% of cost. 

(vii)  Provide for depreciation on buildings at the rate of 2% of cost per annum.  It was decided to 
revalue the buildings at €800,000 on 31/12/2016. 

(viii)  A cheque for €700 had been received on 31/12/2016 in respect of a debt of €1,200 
previously written off as bad.  The debtor wishes to continue trading with Mullen and has 
undertaken to pay the remainder within 1 month.  No entry was made in the books in respect 
of this transaction. 

(ix)  No record has been made in the books for ‘goods in transit’ on 31/12/2016.  The invoice for 
these goods has been received showing the recommended retail selling price of €16,000 
which is cost plus 25%. 

(x)  Goods taken by Mullen for own use during the year were not recorded.  These goods had a 
retail value of €4,800 which is cost plus 20%. 

Required: 

(a)  Prepare a trading and profit and loss account for the year ended 31/12/2016.  (75) 

(b)  Prepare a balance sheet as at 31/12/2016.  (45)
  (120 marks) 
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2017 Q1 Workings 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account:  

 

Stock on 31/12/2016 at cost €76,500.  This figure includes damaged stock which cost €4,500 and no

w has a net realisable value of €3,000.  

 

Closing Stock €76,500 - €1,500 = €75,000 (T, CABS) 

 

Provide for depreciation on delivery vans at the annual rate of 15% of cost from date of purchase to d

ate of sale.  NOTE: On 31/3/2016 a delivery van which cost €40,000 on 30/09/2012 was traded in ag

ainst a new van that cost €48,000.  An allowance of €18,000 was given on the old van.  The cheque f

or the net amount of this transaction was entered in the bank account but was incorrectly treated as 

a purchase of trading stock.  These were the only entries made in the books in respect of this transact

ion.  

 

Sold €40,000 x .15 x 3/12 = €1,500 

Rest €110,000 x .15 x 12/12 = €16,500 

New €48,000 x .15 x 9/12 = €5,400 

                                                 €23,400 

 

Backdate 

€40,000 x .15 x 3.5 = €21,000 d.t.d. 

NBV = €19,000 

Allowance = €18,000 

Loss on disposal = €1,000 

Vans = €150,000 - €40,000 + €48,000 = €158,000 

Acc.Dep €65,000 + €23,400 - €21,000 = €67,400 

Purchases €536,500 - €30,000 = €506,500 

 

The suspense figure arises as a result of the incorrect figure for mortgage interest (although the co

rrect figure had been entered in the bank account) and a VAT refund of €2,000 entered only in the 

bank account.  
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Mortgage interest 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      

  ×2,400    

  300    
 2,700 

Bank A/C 
 

Date Details € Date Details € 

 Only entry √2,000   √2,700 

      
      

€180,000 x .06 x 3/12 = €2,700 

Insurance 
 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      
 Trial B 17,700   300 
  2,000    

19,400 

VAT 
 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      
 Trial B 6,400   2,000 
      

4,400 

 
 

 

(iv)  Patent, which incorporates 4 months investment income, is to be written off over a five-

year period commencing in 2016.  

 

Patent (incorporating four months investment income) 68,000 

€68,000 + (€200,000 x .03 x 4/12) 

€68,000 + €2,000 = €70,000/5 

= €14,000 

Intangible Asset = €56,000 

 

(v)  Provision to be made for both investment income due and mortgage interest due.  

Investment Income = €200,000 x .03 x 8/12 
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= €4,000 SHOULD 

LESS €2,000 

= €2,000 CABS due 

Mortgage interest 

€180,000 x .06 x 12/12 

€10,800 SHOULD 

Less €2,100 

= €8,100 Crs less than 1 year. 

 

(vi)  A creditor who was owed €7,600 accepted office equipment with a book value of €6,500 in full

 settlement of the debt.  The office equipment had cost €11,000.  No entry was made in the books 

in respect of this transaction.  Provide for depreciation on office equipment held on 31/12/2016 at

 the rate of 20% of cost.  

 
Creditors 

Date Details € Date Details € 
  7,600  Trial B 78,000 
      
 Balance 70,400    

 

 
Office equipment 

Date Details € Date Details € 
 Balance  25,000  Disposal 11,000 
    balance 14,000 
      

 

 
Acc Dep equipment 

Date Details € Date Details € 
  4,500  Trial B 10,000 
 Balance 8,300  P + L 2,800 
      

 

 
Disposal 

 

Date Details € Date Details € 
 Equipment 11,000   4,500 
 Profit 1,100   7,600 
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(vii)  Provide for depreciation on buildings at the rate of 2% of cost per annum.  It was decided to r

evalue the buildings at €800,000 on 31/12/2016.  

 

Buildings €680,000 x .02 = €13,600 

Acc. Dep. €85,000 + €13,600 = €98,600 

Buildings =€680,000 + €120,000 RR1 = €800,000 

Revaluation Reserve + €120,000 RR1 + €98,600 = €218,600 

Acc Dep €98,600 - €98,600 = Nil 

 

(viii)  A cheque for €700 had been received on 31/12/2016 in respect of a debt of €1,200 previously

 written off as bad.  The debtor wishes to continue trading with Mullen and has undertaken to pay 

the remainder within 1 month.  No entry was made in the books in respect of this transaction.  

 

Bank overdraft €70,300 - €700 = €69,600 Crs less than 1 year 

Bad debt recovered + €1,200 OOI 

Debtors €70,500 + €500 = €71,000 CABS 

 

No record has been made in the books for ‘goods in transit’ on 31/12/2016.  The invoice for these 

goods has been received showing the recommended retail selling price of €16,000 which is cost pl

us 25%.  

€16,000 / 1.25 = €12,800 

Purchases €506,500 + €12,800 = €519,300 

Creditors €70,400 + €12,800 = €83,200 

Closing stock €75,000 + €12,800 = €87,800 

 

Goods taken by Mullen for own use during the year were not recorded.  These goods had a retail v

alue of €4,800 which is cost plus 20%.  

Drawings €15,600 + €4000 = €19,600 

Purchases €519,300 - €4,000 = €515,300 
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Accounting Higher Level Scheme ‐ 2017 
 
Question 1 – Sole Trader 
 
(a)  

  75 

Trading, Profit and Loss Account of M. Mullen for the year ended 31/12/2016 [1] 
    €  €  € 
Sales            792,000  [2] 
Less:  Cost of sales               

Opening stock        66,000  [2]     
Add purchases  W 1      515,300  [10]     

        581,300       
Less closing stock  W 2      (87,800)  [7]  (493,500)   

Gross profit            298,500   
               
Less: Expenses               
               
Administration               

Patent written off  W 8  14,000  [5]         
Salaries and general expenses    145,500  [2]         
Rent    10,400  [2]         
Insurance  W 7  19,400   [7]         
Depreciation – office equipment  W 14  2,800  [3]         
Depreciation – buildings  W 15  13,600  [2]  205,700       

               
Selling and Distribution               

Loss on sale of van  W 6  1,000  [6]         
Depreciation – delivery van  W 4  23,400  [5]         
Commission    16,500  [2]  40,900    (246,600)   

            51,900   
Add operating income               

Bad debt recovered            1,200  [2] 
Discount including profit on sale  W 11            4,300  [4] 
Operating profit            57,400   
Investment income  W 9            4,000  [4] 

            61,400   
Mortgage interest  W 10          (10,800)  [3] 
Net profit            50,600  [6] 
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(b)  45 

 
Balance Sheet of M. Mullen as at 31/12/2016 

 

    Cost    Acc. Dep.    Net    Total   

Intangible Fixed Assets  €    €    €    €   

Patent  W 8              56,000  [2] 

                   

Tangible Fixed Assets                   

Buildings    800,000  [1]  ‐‐‐    800,000       

Office equipment  W 13 & 14  14,000  [2]  8,300  [3]  5,700       

Delivery vans  W 3 & 5  158,000  [2]  67,400  [3]    90,600       

    972,000    75,700    896,300    896,300   

                   

Financial Assets                   

Investments                   200,000  [2] 

                1,152,300   

Current Assets                   

Stock            87,800  [2]     

Debtors  W 17      71,000  [2]         

Less provision        (3,500)  [1]  67,500       

Investment income due  W 9          2,000  [2]     

VAT  W 19              4,400  [2]     

            161,700       

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year           

Creditors  W 12      83,200  [6]         

Bank  W 18      69,600  [3]         

PAYE, PRSI & USC        21,600  [2]         

Mortgage interest due  W 10      8,100  [2]  (182,500)       (20,800)   

                1,131,500   

                   

Financed by                   

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year             

6% Fixed mortgage                180,000  [2] 

                   

Capital and Reserves                   

Capital 01/01/2016            701,900  [1]     

Revaluation reserve  W 16          218,600  [3]     

Net profit            50,600       

Less drawings  W 20          (19,600)  [2]     951,500   

Capital Employed                1,131,500   
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SECTION 1 (120 marks) 
Answer Question 1 OR any TWO other questions 

1. Company Final Accounts

West Ltd, has an Authorised Capital of €1,600,000 divided into 1,100,000 Ordinary Shares at €1 each and 500,000
4% Preference Shares at €1 each.

The following Trial Balance was extracted from its books at 31/12/2011:
€ €

Buildings at cost 800,000 
Delivery Vans (cost €260,000) 180,000 

 Discount (Net) 10,400 
Profit and Loss Balance 01/01/2011 25,100 
Stocks on hand 01/01/2011 71,200 
Debenture interest for the first four months 5,600 

 4% Investments 01/01/2011 300,000 
Patents (incorporating 3 months investment income) 20,400 

 Purchases and Sales 1,140,000 1,444,700 
 Dividends paid 23,300 

Bad Debts Provision 3,000 
Debtors and Creditors 98,400 82,200 

 Bank 33,000 
Salaries and general expenses (including Suspense) 194,300 

 9% Debentures 180,000 
Issued Share Capital – Ordinary Shares 700,000 

– 4% Preference Shares 400,000 
 Directors fees 40,200 
 Advertising 4,800 

Capital Reserve ________  50,000 
2,903,300 2,903,300 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i) Stocks at 31/12/2011 at cost were €81,200 – this figure includes damaged stock which cost €5,400 but which
now has a net realisable value of €2,300.

 (ii) Patents, which incorporated 3 months investment income, are to be written off over a 4 year period commencing
in 2011.

(iii) The suspense figure arises as a result of the incorrect figure for debenture interest (although the correct
entry had  been made in the bank account) and discount allowed €450 entered only in the discount account.

(iv) During the year, stock which had cost €5,000 was destroyed by fire.  The Insurance Company agreed to pay
compensation of €4,000.  The loss is to be treated as a separate item in the profit and loss account.

(v) Provide for depreciation on delivery vans at the annual rate of 10% of cost from the date of purchase to the date
of sale.  NOTE: On 31/3/2011 a delivery van which had cost €28,000 on 30/6/2005 was traded in against a new
van which cost €54,000.  An allowance of €6,000 was given on the old van.  The cheque for the net amount of
this transaction was incorrectly treated as a purchase of trading stock.  This was the only entry made in the books
in respect of this transaction.

(vi) The figure for bank in the Trial Balance has been taken from the firm’s bank account.  However, a bank
statement dated 31/12/2011 has arrived showing an overdraft of €31,280.  A comparison of the bank
account and the bank statement has revealed the following discrepancies:

1. A cheque for €640 issued to a supplier had been entered in the books (cash book and ledger) as €460.
2. A credit transfer of €900 had been paid direct to the firm’s bank account on behalf of a debtor who has

recently been declared bankrupt.  This represents a first and final payment of 30c in the €1.
3. A cheque for fees €1,000 issued to a director had not yet been presented for payment.

(vii) The advertising payment is for an 18 month campaign which began on 01/10/2011.
(viii) The Directors recommend that:

1. Provision be made for both Investment Income and Debenture Interest due.
2. Provision for bad debts to be adjusted to 4% of debtors.
3. Buildings to be depreciated by 2% of cost.

You are required to prepare a: 

(a) Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2011. (75) 
(b) Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2011. (45) 

(120 marks) 
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Accounting – Higher Level 2012 

Question 1 

75 

Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ending 31/12/2011 [1] 
€ € € 

Sales 1,444,700 [3] 
Less Cost of Sales 
        Stock 01/01/2011 71,200  [3] 
        Add Purchases W1 1,087,000  [8] 

1,158,200
        Less Stock 31/12/2011 W2 (78,100) [5] (1,080,100) 
Gross Profit 364,600 

Less Expenses 

Administration 
Patent written off W3 5,850 [4] 
Salaries and General expenses W4 194,950 [7] 
Directors fees 40,200 [2] 
Depreciation – Buildings W5 16,000 [3] 257,000 

Selling and Distribution 
Bad debts      W 14 2,100 [3] 
Depreciation –Delivery van W6 27,950 [4] 
Increase in Provision for Bad Debts W7 798 [5] 
Loss on sale of van W8 5,900 [5] 
Loss on insured stock 1,000 [3] 
Advertising W9 800 [4] 38,548 (295,548) 

69,052 
Add Operating Income 

Discount 10,400 [2] 
Operating profit 79,452 
Investment Income W10 12,000 [3] 

91,452
Less Debenture Interest W11 (16,200) [3] 
Net Profit 75,252
Less Appropriation 

Dividend paid (23,300) [2] 
Retained Profit 51,952 
Profit and Loss Balance 01/01/2011 (25,100) [2] 
Profit and Loss Balance 31/12/2011 26,852 [3] 
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45 
Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2011 

Accumulated
Cost Depreciation Net Total 

Intangible Fixed Assets € € € € 
Patents  17,550 [3] 

Tangible Fixed Assets 
Buildings      W 5 800,000 [2] 16,000 [1] 784,000 
Delivery Vans      W12 & 13    286,000 [3]   91,850 [3] 194,150  

1,086,000 107,850 978,150 978,150  

Financial Assets 
9% Investments    300,000 [2] 

 1,295,700 

Current Assets 
Stock      78,100 [2] 
Insurance Company 4,000 [3] 
Debtors            W14 94,950   [4] 
Less provision (3,798)  [1] 91,152 
Advertising prepaid 4,000 [2] 
Investment income due 9,000 [2] 186,252 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 
Creditors       W15 82,020 [3] 
Bank         W16 32,280 [4] 
Debenture interest due 10,800 [2] (125,100)      61,152 

 1,356,852 

Financed by 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

9% Debentures 180,000 [2] 

Capital and Reserves Authorised Issued 
Ordinary shares @ €1 each 1,100,000 [1] 700,000 [1] 
11% Preference shares @ €1 each    500,000 [1]    400,000 [1] 

 1,600,000 1,100,000 

Capital Reserve     50,000 [2] 
Profit and Loss Balance 26,852  1,176,852 

Capital Employed 1,356,852 
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Question 1 workings 

1. Purchases 1,140,000 – 5,000 – 48,000 1,087,000 

2. Closing stock 81,200 – 3,100 78,100 

3. Patent (20,400  + 3,000) * 4 5,850 

4. Salaries and general expenses 194,300 + 650 [450 + 200] 194,950 

5. Depreciation Buildings 2% x 800,000 16,000 

6. Depreciation Delivery van 6,500   + 21,450 27,950 
26,000 + 1,950 
23,200 + 700 + 4,050 
5,800   + 700 + 21,450 

7. Provision for bad debts 3,798 – 3,000 798  

8. Loss on sale of van 28,000 – 6,000 – 16,100 5,900 

9 Advertising 4,800 – 4,000 800 

10. Investment Income 9,000 + 3,000 12,000 

11. Debenture Interest 5,600 + 10,800 – 200 16,200 

12. Delivery vans at cost 260,000 + 54,000 – 28,000 286,000 

13. Provision for Dep – vans 80,000 + 27,950 – 16,100 91,850 

14. Debtors 98,400 – 3,000 – 450 94,950 
Bad Debts 3.000   – 900 2,100 

15. Creditors 82,200 – 180 82,020 

16. Bank Overdraft 33,000 + 180 – 900 32,280 

Penalties: Deduction of 2 x 1 mark for the omission of two expense headings in Profit & Loss Account. 
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Page 2 of 10 

SECTION 1 (120 marks) 
Answer Question 1 OR any TWO other questions 

1. Company Final Accounts

Melba Ltd, has an Authorised Capital of €1,500,000 divided into 1,100,000 Ordinary Shares at €1 each and 400,000
4% Preference Shares at €1 each.  The following Trial Balance was extracted from its books at 31/12/2014:

€ €
Buildings at cost 713,000 
Delivery vans (cost €250,000) 170,000 
Discount (Net) 12,200 
Profit and loss balance 01/01/2014 62,200 
Stocks on hand 01/01/2014 74,500 
Debenture interest for the first six months 16,200 
3% Investments 01/01/2014 350,000 
Patents (incorporating 4 months investment income) 21,500 
Purchases and sales 1,120,000 1,495,000 
Dividends paid 25,000 
Bad debts provision 4,000 
Debtors and creditors 99,200 81,100 
Bank 50,000
Salaries and general expenses (including suspense) 231,100 
8% Debentures 400,000 
Issued share capital – ordinary shares 500,000 

– 4% preference shares 300,000 
VAT 5,000
Advertising 9,600
Capital reserve ________  45,000 

2,892,300 2,892,300 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i) Stocks at 31/12/2014 at cost were €80,400 – this figure includes damaged stock which cost €6,600 but which now
has a net realisable value of €3,200.

(ii) Patents, incorporating 4 months investment income, are to be written off over a 5 year period
commencing in 2014.

(iii) The suspense figure arises as a result of the incorrect figure for debenture interest (although the correct entry had
been made in the bank account) and discount allowed €400 entered only in the discount account.

(iv) During the year, stock which had cost €6,000 was destroyed by fire.  The insurance company agreed to pay
compensation of €5,000.

(v) Provide for depreciation on delivery vans at the annual rate of 15% of cost from the date of purchase to the date
of sale.  NOTE:  On 31/03/2014 a delivery van which had cost €30,000 on 31/03/2011 was traded in against a
new van which cost €56,000.  An allowance of €8,000 was given on the old van.  The cheque for the net amount
of this transaction was entered in the bank account but was incorrectly treated as a purchase of trading stock.
These were the only entries made in the books in respect of this transaction.

(vi) A new warehouse was purchased during the year for €100,000 plus VAT 13%.  The amount paid to the vendor was
entered in the buildings account.  No entry was made in the VAT account.

(vii) The figure for bank in the Trial Balance has been taken from the firm’s bank account.  However, a bank statement
dated 31/12/2014 has arrived showing an overdraft of €46,690.  A comparison of the bank account and the bank
statement has revealed the following discrepancies:

1. Two months investment income had been paid directly into the bank.
2. A payment from a liquidator was received directly into the bank.  This represented a first and final payment

of 25c in the euro in respect of a debt of €4,000.
3. A cheque issued to an advertising firm for €560 had not been presented for payment by 31/12/2014.

(viii) The Directors recommend that:
1. Provision be made for both Investment Income and Debenture Interest due.
2. Provision for bad debts to be adjusted to 4% of debtors.
3. Buildings to be depreciated by 2% of cost.
4. The managing director should be paid a bonus commission of 3% on all sales in excess of €900,000 and

a further 5% in excess of all sales above €1,200,000.
Required: 
(a) Prepare a Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2014. (75) 
(b) Prepare a Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2014. (45)

(120 marks)
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Question 1 

75 

Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ending 31/12/2014 [1] 

€ € € 
Sales  1,495,000   [3] 

Less Cost of Sales 
Stock 74,500  [3] 
Add Purchases W 1 1,066,000  [8] 

1,140,500
Less Stock 31/12/2014 W 2  (77,000) [6] (1,063,500) 

Gross Profit 431,500 

Less Expenses 

Administration 
Patent written off W 3 5,000  [4] 
Salaries and General expenses W 5 231,700  [7] 
Loss on damaged stock W 6 1,000  [3] 
Depreciation – Buildings W 7  14,000  [3] 251,700 

Selling and Distribution 
Depreciation – Delivery van W 8 40,425  [4]  
Loss on sale of van W 9 8,500  [5] 
Bad debts W 10 3,000  [3] 
Advertising 9,600 [3] 
Sales commission W 12 32,600  [3] 94,125 

(345,825) 
85,675 

Add Operating Income 
Discount 12,200 [2] 
Reduction in Provision for bad debts  W 11  208  [5]  12,408 
Operating profit 98,083 
Investment Income W 4   10,500  [3]  

108,583
Debenture Interest W13  (32,000) [3] 
Net Profit 76,583
Less Dividends paid (25,000) [2] 
Retained Profit 51,583 
Profit and Loss Balance 1/1/2014 (62,200) [2] 
Profit and Loss Balance 31/12/2014 (10,617) [2] 
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45
Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2014 

Cost Acc.Dep Net Total 
Intangible Fixed Assets € € € € 

Patents  20,000  [3] 

Tangible Fixed Assets 
Buildings W 7 700,000  [2] 14,000  [1] 686,000 
Delivery Vans W 14 & 15 276,000  [3] 106,925  [3] 169,075 

976,000 120,925 855,075 855,075 

Financial Assets 
3% Investments   350,000  [2] 

1,225,075 

Current Assets 
Stock 77,000 [2] 
Debtors W 16 94,800 [4] 
Less provision (3,792) [1] 91,008 
Insurance Company 5,000  [3] 
Investment income due W 9    5,250  [3] 
VAT W 17    8,000  [3] 

186,258

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
Creditors  81,100 [2] 
Bank W 18 47,250 [4] 
Commission due 32,600  [2] 
Debenture interest due W 13 16,000  [2] (176,950)        9,308 

1,234,383 

Financed by 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

8% Debentures 400,000 [2] 

Capital and Reserves Authorised Issued 
Ordinary shares @ €1 each 1,100,000   500,000  [1] 
4% Preference shares @ €1 each   400,000   300,000  [1] 

1,500,000 800,000 
Capital Reserve 45,000  [1] 
Profit and Loss Balance (10,617)    834,383 
Capital Employed 1,234,383 
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Question 1 - workings 

1. Purchases 1,120,000 – 6,000 – 48,000 1,066,000 

2. Closing stock 80,400 – 3,400 77,000 

3. Patents (21,500 + 3,500) * 5 5,000 

4. Investment income [350,000 × 3%] = 10,500 
Investment income due 10,500 – 3,500 – 1,750 5,250 (due) 

5. Salaries and general expenses 231,100 + 200 + 400 231,700 

6. Fire Damage Loss 6,000 – 5,000    1,000 (P &L) 

7. Depreciation - Buildings [713,000 – 13,000]  =  700,000 x 2% 14,000 

8. Depreciation - Delivery van 33,000 + 1,125 + 6,300 
37,500 + 2,925 40,425 

9. Loss on sale of van 30,000 – 8,000 – 13,500 8,500 

10. Bad Debts a/c 4,000 – 1,000 3,000 

11. Reduction in Bad debts provision 4,000 – 3,792 208  (cr) 

12. Sales Commission 595,000 × 3% = 17,850 
295,000 × 5% = 14,750 32,600 

13. Debenture interest 400,000 × 8% 32,000 
Debenture interest due 32,000 – 16,200 + 200 16,000 (due) 

14. Delivery vans at cost 250,000 + 56,000 – 30,000 276,000 

15. Provision for Dep – vans 80,000 + 40,425 – 13,500 106,925

16. Debtors 99,200 – 4,000 – 400 94,800 

17. VAT 5,000 – 13,000 8,000 Current Asset 

18. Bank Overdraft 50,000 – 1,750 – 1,000 47,250 
Bank Overdraft 46,690 + 560  47,250 

Penalties: One mark each for the omission of two headings in the Profit & Loss Account and 
Authorised Capital in the Balance Sheet [3 x 1 mark]. 
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Leaving Certificate 2019  2
Accounting – Higher Level 

SECTION 1 (120 marks) 
Answer Question 1 OR any TWO other questions 

1. Company Final Accounts

Linken Ltd, has an authorised capital of €1,200,000 divided into 700,000 ordinary shares at
€1 each and 500,000 5% preference shares at €1 each.  The following trial balance was extracted
from its books at 31/12/2018:

€  € 

Land and buildings at cost  850,000

Accumulated depreciation ‐ land and buildings 55,000 

Delivery vans (cost €155,000)  120,000

Discount (net) 15,500 

Profit and loss balance 01/01/2018  71,500 

Stocks on hand 01/01/2018  64,500

Debenture interest for the first three months  6,400

3% Investments 01/04/2018  360,000

Patents (incorporating 5 months investment income)  43,500

Purchases and sales  1,045,000  1,590,000 

Dividends paid  55,000

Bad debts provision 4,000 

Debtors and creditors  98,200  69,100 

Bank 60,000 

Salaries and general expenses (including suspense)  243,100

7% Debentures (including €60,000  issued on 01/04/2018)  300,000 

Issued share capital   – ordinary shares 500,000 

– 5% preference shares 200,000 

VAT 6,800 

Advertising  31,200

Capital reserve  ________       45,000 

2,916,900  2,916,900 

045



Leaving Certificate 2019  3
Accounting – Higher Level 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i) Stock at cost on 31/12/2018 was €75,400 – this figure includes damaged stock which
cost €6,000 but which now has a net realisable value of 75% of cost.

(ii) During the year, stock which had cost €7,000 was destroyed by fire.  The insurance
company agreed to pay compensation of €5,100.

(iii) The cost of delivery vans is to be written off on a straight line basis over 5 years.
A full year’s depreciation is to be charged in the year of acquisition and none in the year
of disposal.  Delivery vans have a 5% scrap value of the original cost.

NOTE:  During the year a delivery van which had cost €25,000 in 2016 was traded in for
€14,000 against a new delivery van costing €40,000.  The cheque for the net amount of
this transaction was incorrectly treated as a purchase of trading stock but was entered
correctly in the bank account.  This was the only entry made in respect of this
transaction.

(iv) It was discovered that goods had been sent to a customer on 31/12/2018 on a
‘sale or return’ basis.  These goods had been entered in the books as a credit sale
of €7,500 which is a mark‐up on cost of 20%.

(v) Patents are to be written off over a 5 year period commencing in 2018.
(vi) The suspense figure arises as a result of the incorrect figure for debenture interest

(although the correct figure had been entered in the bank account) and discount
received €460 entered only in the creditors account.

(vii) The company revalued land and buildings at €975,000 on 01/01/2018.  The land
element of this new value is €150,000.  The revaluation has yet to be included in the
accounts.  Buildings are to be depreciated at the rate of 2% of cost per annum.

(viii) The figure for bank in the trial balance has been taken from the company’s own records.
However, a bank statement dated 31/12/2018 has arrived showing an overdraft of
€62,280.  A comparison of the bank account and the bank statement has revealed the
following discrepancies:

1. A cheque received from a debtor for €5,600 had been dishonoured by the bank.
This debtor had been declared bankrupt and had made a credit transfer for a
first and final payment of 30c for every €1 euro owed.

2. A direct debit to a local refuse company for €860 had not been recorded in the
company’s books.

3. A cheque for fees of €2,500 issued to a director had not been presented for
payment by 31/12/2018.

(ix) The Directors recommend that:
1. Provision should be made for both investment income due and debenture

interest due.
2. Provision for bad debts to be adjusted to 4% of debtors.
3. The managing director should be paid a bonus commission of 5% on all sales

in excess of €1,200,000.
4. A transfer of €10,000 should be made from profit to the capital reserve.

Required: 
(a) Prepare a trading and profit and loss account for the year ended 31/12/2018. (75) 
(b) Prepare a balance sheet as at 31/12/2018. (45) 

(120 marks) 
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Q.1

Trading Profit and Loss Account of Linken Ltd for the year ended 31/12/18 [1] 

€  €  € 

Sales 1,582,500 [3] 

Less cost of sales

Opening stock 64,500 [3]

Add purchases 1,012,000 [6] 

1,076,500

Less closing stock (80,150) [5]  (996,350) 

Gross profit 586,150 

Less Expenses 

Administration 

Patent written off 9,600 [4] 

Salaries and general expenses 246,620 [7] 

Depreciation ‐ buildings 16,500 [4]

Loss on damaged stock     1,900 [3] 

274,620

Selling and Distribution 

Depreciation – delivery vans  32,300 [4] 

Advertising  31,200 [2]

Loss on sale of van  1,500 [5]

Bad debts  3,920 [3]

Commission  19,125 [3]  88,045  (362,665) 

223,485 

Other Operating Income 

Discount received 15,960 [2]

Reduction in bad debts provision       372 [5]    16,332 

Operating Profit  239,817 

Investment income   8,100 [3] 

Debenture interest   (19,950) [3] 

Net profit 227,967 

Less dividends paid (55,000) [2]

Transfer to capital reserve (10,000) [2]  (65,000) 

Retained profit   162,967 

Profit and loss balance 01/01/2018 71,500 [2] 

Profit and loss balance 31/12/2018 234,467 [3] 

75 
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Balance Sheet of Linken Ltd as at 31/12/2018

Cost  Acc. 
Depreciation 

NBV 

€  €  € 

Intangible Assets

Patents 38,400 [3] 

Tangible Fixed Assets 

Buildings  975,000 [2]  16,500 [1]  958,500 

Delivery vans     170,000 [3]  57,800 [3]     112,200 

1,145,000  74,300  1,070,700 

Financial Assets 

3% Investments     360,000 [2] 

1,469,100 

Current Assets 

Debtors  90,700 [4] 

Less provision for bad debts  (3,628) [1]  87,072

Closing stock 80,150 [2] 

Investment Interest due 3,600 [2] 

Compensation due      5,100 [2] 

175,922

Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 

Creditors  69,100 [2] 

Commission due  19,125 [2] 

Debenture Interest due  15,750 [2] 

VAT  6,800 [2] 

Bank overdraft  64,780 [4]  (175,555)          367 

Total net assets 1,469,467 

Financed by: 

Creditors: amounts falling due after 1 year 

7% Debentures  300,000 [2] 

Capital and Reserves  Authorised  Issued 

Ordinary shares @ €1 each  700,000  500,000 [1]

Preference shares @ €1 each     500,000  200,000 [1] 

1,200,000  700,000

Revaluation reserve 180,000 [3]

Capital reserve 55,000 [1]

Profit and loss balance 31/12/2018 234,467  1,169,467 

Capital employed   1,469,467 

45
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Workings: 

1.  Sales  1,590,000 – 7,500  1,582,500 

2.  Purchases  1,045,000 – 7,000 – 26,000  1,012,000 

3.  Closing stock  75,400 – 1,500 + 6,250  80,150 

4.  Patents  (43,500 + 4,500) ÷ 5  9,600 

5.  Salaries and general exp.  243,100 + 2,200 + 460 + 860  246,620 

6.  Depreciation – buildings  (975,000 – 150,000) × 2%  16,500 

7.   Loss on damaged stock  7,000 – 5,100  1,900 

8.  Depreciation vans  (170,000 – 5%) ÷ 5  32,300 

9.  Loss on sale of van  25,000 – 14,000 – 9,500  1,500 

10.  Bad debts  5,600 × 70%  3,920 

11.  Commission  382,500 × 5%  19,125 

12.  Discount received  15,500 + 460  15,960 

13.  Reduction in provision  4,000 – 3,628  372 

14.  Investment income  (360,000 × 3%) × 9/12  8,100 

15.  Interest payable  (240,000 × 7%) + (60,000 × 7% × 9/12)  19,950 

16.  Patents  48,000 – 9,600  38,400 

17.  Delivery vans  155,000 – 25,000 + 40,000  170,000 

18.  Acc. depreciation ‐ vans  35,000 + 32,300 – 9,500  57,800 

19.  Debtors  98,200 – 7,500  90,700 

20.   Investment income due  8,100 – 4,500  3,600 

21.  Interest due  19,950 – 4,200  15,750 

21.  Bank overdraft  60,000 + 5,600 – 1,680 + 860  64,780 

21.  Bank overdraft  62,280 + 2,500  64,780 

22.  Revaluation reserve  (975,000 – 850,000) + 55,000  180,000 
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SECTJON 1 (120 marks) 
Answer Question 1 OR any TWO other questions 

I. Company Fina l Accounts including a Manufact uring Account

fisher Ltd. a manufacturing firm. has an Authorised Capital off700.000 divided imo 400.000 Ordinary Shares
at f I each and 300.000 4% Preference Shares a1 fl each.
The following Trial Balance was extracted from its books a1 31 /l 2/20 I 0:

Factory Buildings (cost €550,000) 
Plant and Machinery (cost €240,000) 
Discount (Net) 
Profit and Loss Balance J/ l/20IO 
Stocks on hand l/1/2010 

Sales 
Patents 

Finished Goods 
Raw Materials 
Work in Progress 

Carriage on raw materials 
Hire of special equipment 
Purchase of raw materials 
Dividends paid 
Sale of scrap material 
Debtors and Creditors 
Bank 
Direct factory wages 
Selling expenses (including suspense) 
9% Debentures (including €30,000 issued on 1/4/2010) 
Issued Share Capital Ordinary Shares 

4% Preference Shares 
General factory overheads 
VAT 

Debenture interest paid for the first 3 months 
Administration expenses 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

f 
440,000 
JJ0.000 

80,000 
49,500 
20.500 

100,000 
6,050 

12,000 
440,500 

30,000 

54,600 

201,450 
l08,000

50,400 
4,200 
1,000 

(i) Stocks on hand at 31/12/2010: Finished goods €85,000 
Raw materials €53,000 
Work in progress t'25,500 

f 

2,000 
36.400 

1,100.000 

6,000 
45,700 
8,600 

80,000 
250,000 
200,000 

1,728,700 

The figure for finished goods includes items which cost €6,000 to produce, but now have a sales value of€4,000. 
(ii) Patents are being written off over 10 years which commenced in 2008.
(iii) Included in the figure for sales is €4,000 received for the sale of old machinery. This machinery had

cost €24,000 on 1/10/2005 and was sold on 30/6/2010. The cheque had been entered in the bank
accotmt. This was the only entry made in the books.

(iv) The suspense figure arises as a result of discount received €300 entered only in the creditors account and of the
posting of an incorrect figure for the debenture interest paid to the interest account. The correct interest was
entered in the bank account.

(v) A bad debt of€450 should be written off and a provision for bad debts should be provided at 5% of debtors.
(vi) It was discovered that goods, which cost the firm €5,400 to produce, were sent to a customer on a sale or return

basis. In error these goods were charged to the customer at cost plus 25%.
(vii) An invoice has been received for raw materials costing €15,000 which were in transit on 31/12/2010.

No record has been made in the books.
(viii) Depredation is provided on fJXed assets as follows:

Factory Buildings at 2% of cost. 
Plant and Machinery at 20% of cost per annum from date of purchase to date of sale. 

At the end of20IO the company revalued the buildings at €650,000. 
(ix) The Directors are proposing that:

J. Provision should be made for debenture interest due.
2. Corporation tax of €24,000 be provided for.

You are required to prepare a: 
(a) Manufacturing, Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/20IO.
(b) Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2010.

Pagel of10 

(75) 
(45) 

(120 marks) 
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Question I 

{a) 
Manufacturing Account of Fisher Ltd for the year ended 31/12/2010 

€ 
Opening stock of raw materials 
Purchases of raw materials 
Carriage on raw materials 

Less Closing stock of raw materials 
Cost of raw materials consumed 
Direct costs 

Direct factory wages 
Hire of special equipment 

Prime cost 
Factory Overheads 

General factory overheads 

Wl 

W2 

Patent written off W3

Depreciation Plant and Machinery W4

Depreciation Factory Buildings WS

Factory cost 
Work in progress 1/J /20 IO 
Less Work in progress 31 /12/20 IO 

Less Profit on sale of machine W6 

Less sale of scrap material 
Cost of Manufacture 

49,500 [1'] 
455,500 f2] 

6.oso rfJ
511,050 

68,000 [jj 

201,450 tz'J 
12,000 t�1

50,400 J�
12,500 !t] 
45,600 i"J:J 

t,fa, ... 

11,000 .[2:j 

Trading and Profit and Loss account for the year ended 31/12/2010 
€ 

Sales W7 

Opening stock of finished goods 
Goods transferred at cost of manufacture 

Closing stock of finished goods W8 

Gross profit 
Less Expenses 
Administration 
Administration expenses 
Selling and Distribution 
Selling expenses W9 
Bad Debt written off 
Provision for bad debts WI 0 

Discount net W 11 
Operating profit 
Less Debenture interest W 12 
Net Profit before taxation 
Less Taxation 
Profit after Tax 
Less Dividends paid 
Retained Profit 
Profit and Loss Balancel/1/2010 

Profit and Loss Balance 31/12/2010 

2 

80 ,000 
762,200 
842,200 
(88,400) 

20,500 '[:ij 

108,175 [§] 
450 �j 

:ff] 110,995 

[l] 
€ 

443,050 

656,500 

119,500 
776,000 
20,500 ti] 

c2s,500) 'E�J 
771,000 
(2,800) [4] 
(6,000) ti] 

762.200 

€ 
1,089,250 [7] 

(753,800) 
335,450 

131,495 
203,955 

2.300 [�) 
206,255 
{6,525) E�l 

199,730 
(24,000) ii] 
175,730 
(30,000) �?]
145,730 

36.400 t�i
182 .130 'il3j 
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(b) 

Intangible Fixed Assets 
Patents 

Tangible Fixed Assets 
Factory Buildings 
Plant and Machinery W13, 14 

Current Assets 
Stock Raw materials 

Work in progress 
Finished goods 

Debtors W 15 

Less provision 
VAT 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2010

Cost 
€ 

650,000 [2] 
216,000 [2] 
866.000 

Acc. Dep
€ 

I 52,800 t3]
152,800 

68,ooo raJ 
25,500 }� 
88 400 tj.il� /;a,:ijf 
47,400 l�J
(2,370) t21] 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 
Creditors W 16 
Bank 
Debenture interest due 
Tax due 

Net Current Assets 

Financed by 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

9% Debentures 

Capital and Reserves 
Ordinary shares @ 0 each 
4% Preference shares @ €l each 

Revaluation Reserve W 17
Profit and Loss Balance 

Capital Employed 

3 

Authorised 
400,000}�1 
300,oootlD 
700.000 

Net 
€ 

650 ,000 
63,200 

713 200 

181,900 

45,030 

4,200 [2]
231,130 

(98,700) 

Issued 
250,000 '[;IJ 
200,000 fl] 
450,000 
221,000 k�J
182,130 

Total 
€ 

87,50013) 

713,200 

800,700 

80,000[2] 

055



Page 2 of 10 

SECTION 1 (120 marks) 
Answer Question 1 OR any TWO other questions 

1. Company Final Accounts including a Manufacturing Account
Ryan Ltd has an Authorised Capital of €850,000 divided into 600,000 Ordinary Shares at €1 each and 250,000
5% Preference Shares at €1 each.  The following Trial Balance was extracted from the books on 31/12/2015:

€ €
Factory buildings (cost €930,000) 910,000 
Plant and machinery (cost €320,000) 245,000 
Profit and loss balance 01/01/2015 68,900 
Sales 1,352,000
Sale of scrap materials 6,100 
Bank 42,600
Debtors and creditors 52,000 49,400 
Direct factory wages 220,000 
Purchase of raw materials 524,200 
Selling expenses 36,300 
Administration expenses 49,200 
General factory overheads (including Suspense) 86,400 
Stocks on hand 01/01/2015 

Finished goods 48,100 
Raw materials 46,500 
Work in progress 33,200 

8% Debentures (including €60,000 issued on 30/04/2015) 375,000 
Dividends paid 22,500 
Issued Share Capital - ordinary shares 500,000 

- 5% preference shares 200,000 
Hire of special equipment  35,700 
Discount (net) 6,000 
Royalty payments 30,500 
Rent  8,500 
4% Investments acquired on 01/05/2015  315,000 
PAYE, PRSI & USC ________  46,100 

2,654,600 2,654,600 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 
(i) Stocks on hand at 31/12/2015 Finished goods €77,600 

Raw materials €36,100 
Work in progress €34,200 

(ii) Included in the figure for sale of scrap materials is €3,600 received from the sale of an old machine on
30/06/2015.  This machine had cost €18,000 on 01/04/2010.

(iii) Provide for depreciation on Plant and Machinery at the annual rate of 10% of cost from the date of
purchase to the date of sale.

(iv) It was discovered that finished goods had been sent to a customer on 31/12/2015 on a ‘sale or return’ basis.
These goods had been entered in the books as a credit sale of €15,000 which is a mark-up on cost of 20%.

(v) The suspense figure arises as a result of discount allowed €1,200 entered only in the debtors account and
credit purchases of raw materials €5,000 entered on the incorrect side of the creditor account.

(vi) The figure for bank in the Trial Balance has been taken from the firm’s records.  However, a bank
statement dated 31/12/2015 had arrived showing an overdraft of €36,300.  A comparison of the bank
account and the bank statement revealed the following discrepancies:

1. A cheque for €800 received from a debtor has been dishonoured.  This has not been entered in the
books.

2. Rent of €5,100 for six months ending 30/04/2016 was paid directly into the firm’s bank account.
3. A cheque of €2,000 issued to a supplier had not been presented for payment.

(vii) During 2015 Ryan Ltd built an extension to the warehouse.  The work was carried out by the company’s
own employees.  The cost of their labour €12,000 is included in factory wages.  The materials, costing
€28,000, were taken from stocks.  No entry had been made in the books in respect of this extension.

(viii) Provide for a recent wage increase of 5% which has been backdated to cover the six months from 01/07/2015.
(ix) Provision should be made for the following:

1. Investment income due and debenture interest due.
2. The creation of a provision for bad debts equal to 4% of debtors.

Required: 
(a) Prepare a Manufacturing, Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2015. (75) 
(b) Prepare a Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2015. (45) 

(120 marks) 

25000
75000
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MANUFACTURING SOLUTION WORKINGS 2016 Q1 

Stocks on hand at 31/12/2015:  

 Finished goods €77,600   goes to Trading and CABS 

 Raw materials €36,100     Manufacturing and CABS 

Work in progress €34,200 Manufacturing and CABS 

Included in the figure for sale of scrap materials is €3,600 received from the sale of an old machine 

on 30/06/2015.  This machine had cost €18,000 on 01/04/2010. 

Sale of scrap €6,100 - €3,600 = €2,500 (M) 

DTD Machinery €18,000 x .1 x 5.25 = €9,450 

NBV = €8,550 

Proceeds = €3,600 

Loss on Disposal = €4,950 

Provide for depreciation on Plant and Machinery at the annual rate of 10% of cost from the date of 

purchase to the date of sale. 

Machinery 

Sold €18,000 x .1 x 6/12 = €900 

Rest €302,000 x .1 = €30,200 

Depreciation for year =€31,100 

Acc Dep machinery €75,000 + €31,100 - €9,450 = €96,650 

It was discovered that finished goods had been sent to a customer on 31/12/2015 on a ‘sale or 

return’ basis.  These goods had been entered in the books as a credit sale of €15,000 which is a 

mark-up on cost of 20%.  

Debtors €52,000 -€15,000 = €37,000 

Sales €1,352,000 - €15,000 = €1,337,000 

Closing stock €77,600 PLUS €12,500 = €90,100 

The suspense figure arises as a result of discount allowed €1,200 entered only in the debtors 

account and credit purchases of raw materials €5,000 entered on the incorrect side of the creditor 

account. 

M

10%d.t.d

Disposal rule 3
FOH

No new

MCFABS

15000/1.2SP

SP

COST

FGs

assume PORM account is correct
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Debtors 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      

   ONLY 
ENTRY 

 √1,200 

      
 

 
Discount 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      
  

BALANCE 
1200 
4800 

 BALANCE 
B/D 

6,000 

      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Suspense/GFO s A/C 
 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      
 BALANCE 

B/D 
86,400  discount 1200 

 creditors 10,000   95200 
 

 
PORM A/C 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      

  √5,000    

      
 

 
Creditors A/C 

Date Details € Date Details € 
    BALANCE 

B/D 
49,400 

 INCORRECT 
SIDE 

×5,000    

     10,000 
  Bal C/D   59,400 

 

Debit Disc all
Credit Suspense with 1200

PEA                                                                  RLS

PLUSMINUS

Debit suspense
Credit Creditors with 10000
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The figure for bank in the Trial Balance has been taken from the firm’s records.  However, a bank 

statement dated 31/12/2015 had arrived showing an overdraft of €36,300.  A comparison of the 

bank account and the bank statement revealed the following discrepancies: 

 1. A cheque for €800 received from a debtor has been dishonoured.  This has not been entered in 

the books. 

 2. Rent of €5,100 for six months ending 30/04/2016 was paid directly into the firm’s bank 

account.  

3. A cheque of €2,000 issued to a supplier had not been presented for payment. 

 

 
Our Bank A/C 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      
 Rent 5,100  Bal B/d 42,600 
 BAL C/D 38,300  R/D cheque 800 

 

 
 

Debtors A/C 

Date Details € Date Details € 
 Bal b/d 37,000  Balance c/d 37,800 
 Bank R/D 800    

 
Rent Rec 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      
 P + L 10,200  Balance  8,500 
 Bal c/d 3,400  Bank 5,100 

 

Bank rec  

Statement Balance €36,300 + €2,000 = €38,300 

During 2015 Ryan Ltd built an extension to the warehouse.  The work was carried out by the 

company’s own employees.  The cost of their labour €12,000 is included in factory wages.  The 

materials, costing €28,000, were taken from stocks.  No entry had been made in the books in 

respect of this extension 

Factory buildings €930,000 + €12,300 + €28,000 = €970,300 

Direct wages €225,500 - €12,300 = €213,200 

PORM €524,200 - €28,000 = €496,200 

 

 

 

Remember Company was up year before

Debit Debtors
Credit Bank 1

Our balance

Amount is 800

DINCO

TB
RLS

1360013600
4/6 NY

TY

Correct figure

We are reconciled

Similar to 2007 Q1 Amber

FABS
M

M
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Provide for a recent wage increase of 5% which has been backdated to cover the six months from 

01/07/2015. 

 

Note Wages €220,000 x .05 x 6/12 = €5,500 

New wages = €225,500 

Extension Portion. 

€12,000 x .05 x 6/12 = €300 

Adjusted wages for increase = €12,300 

 

Provision should be made for the following:  

 1. Investment income due and debenture interest due.  

 2. The creation of a provision for bad debts equal to 4% of debtors. 

 

Investment Income €315,000 x .04 x 8/12 = €8,400 P + L and CABS 

 

Debenture Interest 

Old €315,000 x .08 x 12/12 = €25,200 

New €60,000 x .08 x 8/12 = €3,200 

Total €28,400 P + L and Creditors less than 1 year 

BDP = €37,800 x .04 = €1,512 

Affects P and L and CABS 

 

 

Amount due

Normal adjustments

Due

None is paid yet

New 
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Accounting – Higher Level 2016 
Question 1 

(a) 75  

Manufacturing Account of Ryan Ltd for the year ended 31/12/2015   [1] 
 € € 
Opening stock of raw materials   46,500  [1] 
Purchases of raw materials W 1  496,200  [4] 
   542,700 
Less Closing stock of raw materials   (36,100) [1] 
Cost of Raw Materials Consumed   506,600 
Direct Costs:    

Factory wages W 2 213,200  [5]  
Hire of special equipment  35,700  [2]  
Royalty payments  30,500  [2] 279,400 

Prime Cost 786,000 
Factory Overheads:    

General factory overheads W 3 95,200  [6]  
Depreciation - plant and machinery W 4 31,100  [3]  
Loss on sale of machine W 5 4,950  [4] 131,250 

Factory Cost   917,250 
Add Work in progress 01/01/2015   33,200  [3] 
Less Work in progress 31/12/2015   (34,200) [3] 
   916,250 
Less Sale of scrap materials W 6     (2,500) [4] 
Cost of manufacture   913,750 
 
    

Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2015 
 € € 
Sales W 7  1,337,000  [5] 
Less Cost of Sales    

Opening stock of finished goods  48,100  [3]  
Cost of manufacture  913,750  [2]  
  961,850  
Less Stock of finished goods 31/12/2015 W 8 (90,100) [4] (871,750) 

Gross Profit   465,250 
Less Expenses    
Administration    

Administration expenses  49,200  [2]  
Selling and Distribution    

Provision for bad debts W 9 1,512  [3]  
Selling expenses 36,300  [2] 37,812   (87,012) 

   378,238 
Add Operating Income 

Discount W 10 4,800  [3]  
Rent W 11 10,200  [3]   15,000 

Operating profit   393,238 
Investment income W 12      8,400  [3] 
   401,638 
Less Debenture interest W 13  (28,400) [2] 
Net Profit   373,238 
Less Dividends paid    (22,500) [1] 
Retained profit   350,738 
Add Profit and loss balance 01/01/2015     68,900  [2] 
Profit and loss balance 31/12/2015   419,638  [1] 
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2 

 

(b) 45  

 
Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2015 

 Cost Acc. Dep. Net 
 
Tangible Fixed Assets € € € 

Factory buildings W 14 970,300  [2]  20,000  [1] 950,300 
Plant and machinery W 15    302,000  [2]   96,650  [3]    205,350 

 1,272,300 116,650 1,155,650 
 
Financial Assets 

Investments    315,000  [2] 
   1,470,650 
Current Assets 

Stock Raw materials 36,100  [3] 
 Work in progress 34,200  [2] 
 Finished goods 90,100  [2] 160,400 
 

Debtors W 16 37,800  [5] 
Less Provision (1,512) [1] 36,288 
Investment income due      8,400  [2] 

  205,088 
 
Less Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

Creditors W 17 59,400  [4] 
Bank W 18 38,300  [4] 
Rent prepaid 3,400  [1] 
Wages due 5,500  [1] 
PAYE, PRSI & USC 46,100  [2] 
Debenture interest due 28,400  [2] (181,100)      23,988 

   1,494,638 
 
Financed by 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  

8% Debentures  375,000 [2] 
 
Capital and Reserves Authorised Issued 

Ordinary shares @ €1 each 600,000  [1] 500,000  [1] 
5% Preference shares @ €1 each 250,000  [1] 200,000  [1] 
 850,000 700,000 
Profit and loss balance  419,638 1,119,638 

Capital Employed   1,494,638 
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Leaving Certificate 2018 2  
Accounting – Higher Level 

SECTION 1 (120 marks) 
Answer Question 1 OR any TWO other questions 

1. Company Final Accounts including a Manufacturing Account 

Austin Ltd has an authorised capital of €900,000 divided into 600,000 ordinary shares at €1 
each and 300,000 5% preference shares at €1 each.  The following trial balance was 
extracted from the books on 31/12/2017: 

  €  € 

Factory buildings (cost €940,000)  900,000   

Plant and machinery (cost €420,000)  255,000   

Profit and loss balance 01/01/2017    38,000 

Sales    1,400,000 

Sale of scrap materials    5,100 

Bank    43,600 

Debtors and creditors  62,000  49,400 

Direct factory wages  200,000   

Purchase of raw materials  514,200   

Selling expenses  45,000   

Administration expenses  59,200   

General factory overheads (including suspense)  91,400   

Stocks on hand 01/01/2017     

Finished goods   43,100   

Raw materials  41,500   

Work in progress  38,200   

8% Debentures (including €50,000 issued on 01/04/2017)  300,000 

Dividends paid  27,500   

Issued share capital  ‐ ordinary shares    550,000 

  ‐ 5% preference shares    250,000 

Hire of special equipment   39,800   

Discount (net)    8,000 

Royalty payments   26,900   

Rent to 30/09/2017    9,000 

4% Investments acquired on 01/03/2017  330,000   

PAYE, PRSI & USC  ________       20,700 

  2,673,800  2,673,800 
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Leaving Certificate 2018 3  
Accounting – Higher Level 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i)  Stocks on hand at 31/12/2017:  Finished goods  €68,100 
    Raw materials  €31,500 
    Work in progress  €40,200 

(ii)  It was discovered that finished goods had been sent to a customer on 31/12/2017 on 
a ‘sale or return’ basis.  These goods had been recorded as a credit sale of €17,500 
which is a mark‐up on cost of 25%. 

(iii)  The suspense figure arises as a result of discount allowed €600 entered only in the 
debtors account and credit purchases of raw materials €6,000 entered on the incorrect 
side of the creditor account. 

(iv)  The figure for bank in the trial balance has been taken from the firm’s records.  However, 
a bank statement dated 31/12/2017 shows an overdraft of €33,300.  A comparison of 
the bank account and the bank statement revealed the following discrepancies: 

1. A cheque for €1,000 had been lodged directly into the firm’s bank account on 
behalf of a debtor in respect of a debt previously written off.  This 
represented 40% of the original debt and the debtor has undertaken to repay 
the remainder in January 2018. 

2. Rent due 31/12/2017 was paid directly into the firm’s bank account. 
3. A cheque of €6,300 issued to a supplier had not been presented for payment. 

(v)  Provide for a recent wage increase of 5% to be backdated to cover the three months 
from 01/10/2017. 

(vi)  During 2017 (January to December) Austin Ltd built an extension to the warehouse.  
The work was carried out by the company’s own employees.  The cost of their labour 
€24,000 (before wage increase) was included in factory wages.  The materials, costing 
€31,500 were taken from stocks.  No entry had been made in the books in respect of 
this extension. 

(vii)  Included in the figure for sale of scrap materials is €3,000 received from the sale of 
an old machine on 30/06/2017.  This machine had cost €20,000 on 01/04/2011. 

(viii)  Provide for depreciation as follows: 

Plant and machinery at the annual rate of 10% of cost from the date of purchase to 
the date of sale. 
Buildings at 2% of the cost at 31/12/2017.  Depreciation on buildings is to be 
allocated 75% to factory and the remainder to office administration. 

(ix)  Provision should be made for the following: 

1.  Investment income due and debenture interest due. 
2.  The creation of a provision for bad debts equal to 6% of  
  debtors on 31/12/2017. 

Required: 

(a)  Prepare a manufacturing, trading and profit and loss account for the year ended 
31/12/2017.  (75) 

(b)  Prepare a balance sheet as at 31/12/2017.  (45) 
    (120 marks) 
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MANUFACTURING SOLUTION WORKINGS 2018 Q1 

Stocks on hand at 31/12/2017:  

 Finished goods €68,100   goes to Trading and CABS 

 Raw materials €31,500     Manufacturing and CABS 

Work in progress €40,200 Manufacturing and CABS 

 

It was discovered that finished goods had been sent to a customer on 31/12/2017 on a ‘sale or ret

urn’ basis.  These goods had been recorded as a credit sale of €17,500 which is a mark‐

up on cost of 25%.  

 

Debtors €62,000 -€17,500 = €44,500 

Sales €1,400,000 - €17,500 = €1,382,500 

Closing stock €68,100 PLUS €14,000 = €82,100 

 

(iii)  The suspense figure arises as a result of discount allowed €600 entered only in the debtors acc

ount and credit purchases of raw materials €6,000 entered on the incorrect side of the creditor acc

ount.  

 

 
Debtors 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      

   ONLY 
ENTRY 

 √600 

      
 

 
Discount 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      
  

BALANCE 
600 

7,400 
 BALANCE 

B/D 
8,000 
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Suspense/GFO s A/C 
 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      
 BALANCE 

B/D 
91,400  discount 600 

 creditors 12,000   102,800 
 

 
PORM A/C 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      

  √6,000    

      
 

 
Creditors A/C 

Date Details € Date Details € 
    BALANCE 

B/D 
49,400 

 INCORRECT 
SIDE 

×6,000    

     12,000 
  Bal C/D   61,400 

 

(iv)  The figure for bank in the trial balance has been taken from the firm’s records.  However, 

a bank statement dated 31/12/2017 shows an overdraft of €33,300.  A comparison of the bank acc

ount and the bank statement revealed the following discrepancies: 

  1. 

A cheque for €1,000 had been lodged directly into the firm’s bank account on behalf of a debtor in 

respect of a debt previously written off.  This represented 40% of the original debt and the debtor 

has undertaken to repay the remainder in January 2018.  

 2. Rent due 31/12/2017 was paid directly into the firm’s bank account.  

 3. A cheque of €6,300 issued to a supplier had not been presented for payment.  

 

 
Our Bank A/C 

Date Details € Date Details € 
 BDR 1,000    
 Rent 3,000  Bal B/d 43,600GIQ 
 BAL C/D 39,600    
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BDR A/C 

Date Details € Date Details € 
 P + L 2,500  Bank 1,000 
    Debtors 1,500 
      

 

 
 

Debtors A/C 

Date Details € Date Details € 
 Bal b/d 44,500  Balance c/d 46,000 
      
 BDR 1,500    

 

 
Rent Rec 

Date Details € Date Details € 
      
 P + L 12,000  Balance  9,000 
    Bank 3,000 

 

Bank rec  

Statement Balance €33,300 + €6,300 = €39,600 

 

Provide for a recent wage increase of 5% to be backdated to cover the three months from

  01/10/2017.  

Direct wages €200,000 x .05 x 3/12 = €2,500 

New figure €202,500 

€2,500 will be a current liability 

 

During 2017 (January to December) Austin Ltd built an extension to the warehouse.   The work wa

s carried out by the company’s own employees.  The cost of their labour €24,000 (before wage incr

ease) was included in factory wages.  The materials, costing €31,500 were taken from stocks.  No e

ntry had been made in the books in respect of this extension.  

 

Factory buildings €940,000 + €24,300 + €31,500 = €995,800 

Direct wages €202,500 - €24,300 = €178,200 

PORM €514,200 - €31,500 = €482,700 
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Included in the figure for sale of scrap materials is €3,000 received from the sale of an old machine

 on 30/06/2017.  This machine had cost €20,000 on 01/04/2011.  

Sale of scrap €5,100 - €3,000 = €2,100 (M) 

DTD Machinery €20,000 x .1 x 6.25 = €12,500 

NBV = €7,500 

Proceeds = €3,000 

Loss on Disposal = €4,500 

 

Provide for depreciation as follows:  Plant and machinery at the annual rate of 10% of cost from th

e date of purchase to the date of sale.  Buildings at 2% of the cost at 31/12/2017.  Depreciation on 

buildings is to be allocated 75% to factory and the remainder to office administration.  

Machinery 

Sold €20,000 x .1 x 6/12 = €1,000 

Rest €400,000 x .1 = €40,000 

Depreciation for year =€41,000 

Buildings adjusted = €995,800 x .02 = €19,916 

Split 75% =€14,937 FOH 

Split 25% = €4,979 ADMIN 

Acc Dep €40,000 + €19,916 = €59,916 

 

(ix)  Provision should be made for the following: 

  1.  Investment income due and debenture interest due.  

 2.  The creation of a provision for bad debts equal to 6% of debtors on 31/12/2017.  

 

Investment Income €330,000 x .04 x 10/12 = €11,000 P + L and CABS 

 

Debenture Interest 

Old €250,000 x .08 x 12/12 = €20,000 

New €50,000 x .08 x 9/12 = €3,000 

Total €23,000 P + L and Creditors less than 1 year 

BDP = €46,000 x .06 = €2,760 

Affects P and L and CABS 
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Accounting – Higher Level 2018 – Marking Scheme 
 

Q.1  Manufacturing Account  75 

 

Manufacturing Account of Austin Ltd for the year ended 31/12/2017 [1] 

  €  €  € 

Opening stock of raw materials      41,500  [1] 

Purchases of raw materials  (N1)      482,700  [3] 

Less closing stock of raw materials      (31,500) [1] 

Cost of Raw Materials Consumed      492,700 

Direct Costs:       

Factory wages  (N2)    178,200 [5]   

Hire of special equipment    39,800 [2]   

Royalty payments    26,900 [2]  244,900 

Prime Cost      737,600 

Factory Overheads:       

General factory overheads  (N3)    102,800 [6]   

Depreciation – plant and machinery (N4)    41,000 [3]   

Depreciation – buildings  (N5)    14,937 [3]   

Loss on sale of machine  (N6)    4,500 [4]  163,237 

Factory Cost      900,837 

Add work in progress 01/01/2017      38,200  [2] 

Less work in progress 31/12/2017      (40,200) [2] 

      898,837 

Less sale of scrap materials  (N7)      (2,100) [4] 

Cost of manufacture      896,737 
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2 

 

Trading, Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2017 

  €  €  € 

Sales  (N8)      1,382,500  [4] 

Less cost of sales       

Opening stock ‐ finished goods    43,100  [2]   

Cost of manufacture    896,737  [2]   

Less closing stock ‐ finished goods (N9)    (82,100) [3]  (857,737) 

Gross profit      524,763 

       

Less Expenses       

Administration       

Administration expenses  59,200 [1]     

Depreciation – buildings  (N5)   4,979 [2]  64,179   

Selling and Distribution       

Provision for bad debts  (N10)  2,760 [3]     

Selling expenses   45,000 [1]  47,760  (111,939) 

      412,824 

Add Operating Income       

Discount  (N11)    7,400  [3]   

Bad debt recovered    2,500  [1]   

Rent  (N12)    12,000  [4]    21,900 

Operating profit      434,724 

Investment income  (N13)      11,000  [3] 

      445,724 

Less debenture interest  (N14)      (23,000) [2] 

Net profit      422,724 

Less dividends paid        (27,500) [1] 

Retained profit      395,224 

Profit and loss balance 01/01/2017        38,000  [2] 

Profit and loss balance 31/12/2017      433,224  [2] 
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45 

Balance Sheet of Austin Ltd as at 31/12/2017 

  Cost  Acc. Depreciation  NBV 

Tangible Fixed Assets  €  €  € 

Factory buildings  (N15) + (N16)  995,800 [2]  59,916 [1]  935,884 

Plant and machinery  (N17) + (N18)     400,000 [2]  193,500 [3]  206,500 

  1,395,800  253,416  1,142,384 

       

Financial Investments        

4 % Investments          330,000 [3] 

      1,472,384 

Current Assets        

Closing stock:   finished goods  (N9)    82,100 [3]   

  raw materials    31,500 [2]   

  work in progress    40,200 [2]   

Debtors  (N19)  46,000  [4]     

Less provision for bad debts  (N10)  (2,760) [2]  43,240   

Investment income due    11,000 [2]   

    208,040   

Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year     

Creditors  (N20)  61,400 [4]     

Bank  (N21)  39,600 [4]     

Debenture interest due  (N14)  23,000 [2]     

PAYE, PRSI, USC  20,700 [2]     

Wages due    2,500 [1]  (147,200)       60,840 

      1,533,224 

Financed by:       

Creditors: amounts falling due after 1 year     

8% Debentures      300,000 [2] 

  Authorised  Issued   

Ordinary shares @ €1 each  600,000 [1]  550,000 [1]   

5% Preference shares @ €1 each  300,000 [1]  250,000 [1]   

  900,000  800,000   

Profit and loss balance    433,224  1,233,224 

Capital employed       1,533,224 
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1  Purchase of raw materials  514,200 – 31,500    482,700 

2  Factory wages  200,000 – 24,300 + 2,500    178,200 

3  Factory overheads  91,400 + 12,000 – 600  102,800 

4  Depreciation – plant and 
machinery  

400,000 @ 10% = 40,000 + 
20,000 @ 10% × 6/12 = 1,000 

41,000 

5  Depreciation buildings – 
manufacturing 

2% of 995,800 × 75%  14,937 

5  Depreciation buildings – profit 
and loss 

2% of 995,800 × 25%  4,979 

6  Loss on sale of machine  20,000 – 12,500 – 3,000  4,500 

7  Sale of scrap materials  5,100 – 3,000  2,100 

8  Sales  1,400,000  – 17,500  1,382,500 

9  Closing stock of finished goods  68,100 + 14,000  82,100 

10  Provision for bad debts  46,000 @ 6%  2,760    

11  Discount received  8,000 – 600  7,400 

12  Rent  9,000 + 3,000  12,000 

13  Investment income  4% of 330,000 × 10/12  11,000 

14  Debenture interest 
250,000 @ 8% = 20,000 + 
50,000 @ 8% × 9/12 = 3,000 

23,000 

15  Factory building  940,000 + [31,500 + 24,300]  995,800 

16  Acc. depreciation on buildings  40,000 + 19,916  59,916 

17  Plant and machinery  420,000 – 20,000   400,000 

18 
Acc. depreciation plant and 
machinery 

165,000 + 41,000 – 12,500    193,500 

19  Debtors  62,000 – 17,500 + 1,500  46,000 

20  Creditors  49,400 + 12,000  61,400 

21  Bank  (43,600) + 1,000 + 3,000  (39,600) 

21  Bank  (33,300) + (6,300)   (39,600) 

   

072



RATIOS 

"Interpretation of Accounts" 

• Calculations

• Comments on trends

• Comparing with ideal figures

• Shareholders point of view

• Would you buy shares

• Lenders point of views

• Extra theory questions at end.

Procedure 

1. Check "sector" of the business

25%of Paper 

2. Look at Trading, Profit & Loss 2 presentations: 

Sales 

Cost of sales 
Gross Prq.fit 

Less Operating expenses 

Operating Profit 

Interest 
= Net Profit 

Sales 

Cost of Sales 
Gross Profit 

Total Expenses 

Net Profit 

3. Sort Dividends into fixed portion and discretionary portion

Proposed Dividends = 

Pref Dividend = 

Ordinary Dividends = 

46,000 

4,000 (8% of SO) 

42,000 

4. Then calculate Ordinary Dividend per share

Ordinary Dividends X 

# of Issued Ordinary Shares 

100 

1 

DIVIDENDS PAID ONLY CAN 

APPEAR SINCE 2012
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42,000 

350,000 

12c 

5. Creditors falling due in less than one year

[Ex LCHL 2001] 

100 

1 

= Proposed Dividends 

+ Trade creditors

46,000 [Money owed to Shareholders] 

33,000 [bought goods on credit] 

79,000 

6. The formulae (usually 11-12% of paper)

Category ➔ Profitability 

Return on Capital Employed 

% 

Net Profit + Interest 

Balance Sheet Total 

X 100 

1 

This is the main profitability ratio and we look at the trend with last year and also does it 

better the return from risk free investments (bank deposits) of 2%. 

A lender compares it with his interest rate on his LOAN. 

It measures efficiency of resources. 

Return on funds 

Net profit - Pref Dividend X 

Issued Ordinary Shares+ reserves 

100 

1 

It gives the return on the shareholders own equity and is compared with last year. 
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Gross Profit Margin 

Gross Profit 

Sales 

X 100 

1 

This measures the efficiency of buying and selling of goods. 

The ideal depends on the industry 

General average 20% or better. 

Net margin 

Net Profit 

Sales 

100 

1 

Profit after expenses have been deducted 

It varies between industries and should be compared with that of similar firms and with last 

years figure. 

Mark up on cost 

Gross Profit 

Cost of Sales 

X 100 

1 

Measures trading efficiency ie. Before expenses 

LIQUIDITY 

Current ratio 

Current Assets = 

Current Liabilities 

: 1 

Measures our ability to pay short term debts as they fall due. It includes closing stock. 

Ideally it should b 2:1
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Acid test ratio QUICK RATIO 

Current Assets - Closing Stock = : 1 

Current Liabilities 

The main liquidity ratio as it excludes closing stock which is difficult to sell at short notice 

(net realisable value less for a quick sale). 

Ideally it should be 1:1 which means that for every€ that falls due in the short term we have 

€1 to meet it. 

Category ➔ 

Stock Turnover 

Cost of Sales 

Average Stock 

activity 

= #times 

The number of times our average stock passes through the business in a given year. 

Compare fresh bread with expensive jewellery. 

The level depends on the Industry. 

Period of Credit given 

Trade Debtors X 

Credit Sales 

It indicates average collection time (30 days) 

Indicates length of time cash is tied up. 

12 

1 

Remember Total Sales {GIQ) = Credit Sales + 

Period of Credit Taken 

Trade Creditors X 12 

Credit Purchases 1 

Lengthy credit terms helps to finance a business 

or 

or 

365 

1 

Cash Sales 

365 

1 

= months or days 

= months or days 
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Should check discount terms though. 

Period given should not exceed period taken. 

Remember Total Purchases = 

Category ➔ Gearing 

Gearing Ratio 

Debentures+ Preference Shares 

Balance Sheet Total 

Credit Purchases 

X 

+ 

100 

1 

Cash Purchases 

The firm would prefer low gearing (low portion of debt) where debt is less than the 50% of 

the Balance Sheet total. 

It is important to work out the dependence on debt. [example LCHL] 

2001 

Debenture Interest = 10% of €150,000 = 

The annual cost of servicing debt is €19,000. 

This leaves less funds for the Ordinary Shareholders. 

Compare it with Net Profit. 

€15,000 

High gearing means that the answer( debt) is above 50% of the balance sheet total. 

The problem with high debts are 

• Interest

• Full capital repayment

• Collateral needed (security)

Interest Cover 

Net profit + Interest = Times 

Interest 
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• Interest= Debenture interest

The business generates profits and is able to service interest charges. 

A firm whose profits are covering interest MANY times over is said to be a satisfactory risk for (long 

term creditors)[banks/debenture holders] 

Also watch the trends from last year. 

Category ➔ Investment 

Earnings per share [Profit per share] 

Net profit -Pref Dividend 

# of issued ordinary shares 

X 100 

1 

Each ordinary share is seen to contribute a small portion to overall profits. 

Price Earnings Ratio 

= 

Number of years that it takes one ordinary share to recover its market value 

based on current Performance 

P/E Ratio= Market Price of a share 

Earnings per share 

= 1 

It measures investor confidence and present earnings including future potential. 

A high ratio shows expeted profit increases in the future. 

Ordinary Dividend per share 

Ordinary Dividends X 

# of issued ordinary shares 

100 

1 

= cent 

Compare it with Earnings per share to see if there is a happy medium of Dividends and Retained 

Earnings. 
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Dividend cover 

Net Profit - Preference Dividend 

Ordinary Dividend 

= Times 

It shows the relationship between profits and dividends and retained earnings. 

Ideal 2 times 

Remember greater retained earnfngs means a more valuable company in the future with a greater 

prospect of capital gain. 

Dividend Yield 

DPS 

MPS 

100 

1 

Expresses the dividend per share as a% of present market price. 

It is compared with the return from risk free Investments, but remember shareholders also benefit 

from the earnings that are retained. 

Payout ratio 

The number of years that it would take one ordinary share to recoup the 

market value based on present Payout/ Dividend rate. 

MPS = Years 

DPS 
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Shareholders point of view 

Analysis of a company 

I PILGRIMSSDD

Profitability 

• The ROCE has improved/ disimproved from ___ % last year to __ % this year.
• This is bigger/ smaller than the return from risk free investments of 2%.
• The Earnings per share has increased / decreased from __ cent last year to __ cent this 

year.
• These trends show that the firm is more/ less efficient than previous years.
• The firm is profitable

Calculations reminder 

ROCE / ROEF / EPS 

Interest cover 

• The interest cover has fallen/ increased from __ times last year to __ times this year.
• This shows that the firm is able/ unable to generate adequate profits to service the debt.

*** Interest cover. ALWAYS LIINKED WITH GEARING 

Liquidity 

• The current ratio has improved/ disimproved from
• This is better/ worse than the ideal of 2:1.

last year to this year. 

• The acid test ratio has improved/ disimproved from___ last year to __ :1 this year.
• This is better than/ worse than the ideal of 1:1.
• The firm has good / poor cash flow. Is liquid

***Current ratio Acid Test 
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Gearing 

• The gearing% has improved/ disimproved from __ % last year to

• The cost of servicing external debt is

1 .  Calculate Preference Dividend

2. Calculate Debenture Interest

3. Add them

this year. 

• Compared with a Net profit figure of ______ there is no danger/ high risk to the

prospects of long term creditors being repaid.

• The firm is lowly geared

*** Gearing% 

Reserv es 

• The P&L Balance at 31/12 is bigger than/ smaller than the figure at 1:1 .

• This shows extra retained earnings of€ ___ 

• This policy strengthens the possibility of repaying the debt on time or of enhancing the

market value of one ordinary share.

****know how to work out retained earning for the year or where to find it in the question 

Investments 

• The cost of the investments are ___ and the market value is € __ _

• This has been a successful policy (if M.V. is bigger). They should sell the investments ( if MV

is smaller)

Market Price of a share 

• The MPS of a share has increased/ decreased from ___ cent last year to ___ cent this

year.

• This reflects a confidence/ lack of confidence in the future of the business based on trends.

***you might have to work out MPS in part (a). 

SECTOR 

Good sectors Bad sectors 

• Services • Textiles
• Health • Internet stock
• Software • Basic manufacturing
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• Value added food • Construction
• Niche markets • Luxury hotels
• Medical • Pork

*** General knowledge needed here 

Security 

• The Debenture loans is € __ and is secured against fixed assets of€ __ .
• We should examine the depreciation policy on the fixed assets.
• We should check if goodwill is part of fixed assets as it is only of benefit if and when the

business is sold.

***Fixed assets must exceed Debentures 

Dividend Policy 

• The EPS has increased/ decreased from cents last year to __ cent this year. 
• Of this last year __ cent was given out as Ordinary Dividend per share and this year __ -

cent is being paid out to ordinary shareholders.

• The amount per share retained last year was __ cent (EPS - DPS)
• The amount per share retained this year is __ cent (EPS - DPS)
• The dividend yield has increased / decreased from __ % last year to

This reflects a shareholders short term return. 

this year. 

• The dividend cove! has increased/ decreased from __ times last year to __ Jimes this

year.
• This reflects the future possible chances of selling the shares at a higher price.

*** EPS /DPS/ REPS/ Div yield/ Div cover 
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DEBENTURE HOLDER 

Sample Part B 

The Debenture holders would be interested in the following: 

Interest cover 

• The net profit figure covers the interest_ _____ times. 

• This figure is adequate/ not adequate and enough/ no enough. Funds are generated to

provide for the repayment of the loan in ____ years time. It has increased/ decreased

from ___ times last year.

Dividend Policy 

• Based on this years earnings the dividends are excessive/ ideal.

• More funds should be/ are being set aside to repay the loan.

• The dividend cover is (only) ___ times. Last year it was ____ times.

Liquidity 

• The acid test ration has fallen/ risen from

• This is close to /way off the ideal of 1:1.

last year to ___ :1 this year. 

• This firm has good/ poor cash flow. This year for every _ __ Euro that falls due, we have

__ cent to meet it.

• The firm is liquid./ not liquid

Profitability 

• The ROCE has fallen / risen from last year to __ % this year. 

• This is well above/ below the return from risk free investments of 2%.

• The loan interest is __ % and our return is less than / more than that figure.

• Enough/ not enough profits are being generated to pay off the loan in __ years time.

• The firm is profitable/not profitable

Real value of fixed assets 

• The real value of fixed assets and intangible assets should be questioned.

• There are no offs. 

• The debenture holders would be interested in the assets to see if there is adequate security

for the loan.
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Value of Shares 

• The EPS has increased / decreased from __ cent last year to __ cent this year.

• The market value has increased/ decreased from __ cent last year to __ cent this

year.

• There is confidence in the company

• Many companies in this sector are doing well/ facing difficulties because of ____ _
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5. Interpretation of Accounts

The following figures have been extracted from the final accounts of Whelan Pie, a manufacturer of
building materials. The company has an authorised capital of €800,000 made up of 550,000 ordinary
shares at €1 each and 250,000 8% preference shares at El each. Whelan Pie, has already issued 400,000
ordinary shares and all of the 8% preference shares.

Trading and Profit and Loss account for 
year ended 31/12/2007 

Ratios and information for year ended 

31/12/2006 

Sales 
Costs of goods sold 
Operating expenses for year 
Interest for year 
Net Profit for year 
Dividends paid 
Profit and Loss Balance 1/1/2007 
Profit and Loss Balance 31/12/2007 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2007 

Intangible Assets 
Tangible Assets 
Investments (market value €160,000) 

€ 
930,000 

(630,000) 
(200,000) 
{16,000) 
84,000 

(45,000) 
65,000 

104.000 

Current Assets (inc. Closing Stock €64,000) 
Trade Creditors 

10% Debentures (2011/2012) 
Issued Capital 

Ordinary Shares @€1 each 
8% Preference Shares@ €1 each 

Profit and Loss Balance 

Market Value of one Ordinary Share €1.30 

Earnings per Ordinary Share 
Dividend per Ordinary Share 
Interest cover 
Quick Ratio 
Market Value of one Ordinary Share 
Return on Capital Employed 
Gearing 
Dividend cover 
Dividend yield 

180,000 
(166,000) 

400,000 
250,000 
104,000 

€ 
130,000 
600,000 
170,000 
900,000 

14,000 
914.000 

160,000 

754,000 
914.000 

You are required to calculate the following for 2007: 

The Dividend Yield. 
The opening stock if the rate of stock turnover is JO (based on average stock). 
The earnings per ordinary share in 2007. 

18c 
5c 

8 times 
1.1: 1 
€1.35 

9% 
40% 

3 times 
6% 

(a) (i)
(ii)

(iii)
(iv) How long would it take one ordinary share to recoup (recover) its 2007 market price

based on present dividend payout rate?
(v) The Price/Earnings ratio.

(b) Indicate whether the ordinary shareholders should be satisfied with the performance, state of
affairs and prospects of the company. Use relevant ratios and other information to support
your answer.

(c) A rising liquidity ratio is a sign of prudent management. Briefly discuss.

(45) 

(40) 

(15) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 5 

Dividend Yield 

Opening stock 

Average stock 
Opening stock 

DPS x 100 
Market Price 

Cost of sales 
Average stock 

Earnings per share Net profit after Pref Div 
Number of ordinary shares 

Period to recoup price Market price 
Dividend per share 

Price/earnings Htio Market price 
EPS 

(b) 

Profitability 

6.25c X 100 
130c 

630 000 
10 x average stock 

63,000 
(63,000 x 2) less 64,000 

84,000 - 20,000 
400,000 

___llQ 
6.25c 

130 
16c 

4.81% 

€62,000 

16c 

20.8years 

8.125 times 
8.125 years 

Whelan Ltd is a profitable business. The return on capital employed was 10.94% in 2007 and 9% in 
2006. This indicates that the firm is earning over twice the return available from risk free investments 
of about 5%. The profitability has improved by 1.94 %. 

Dividend policy 

The Dividend Per Share in 2007 is 6.25c and was 5c in 2006. This has improved by 1.25c since 2006. 
The company's dividend cover in 2007 is 2.56 times but was 3 times in 2006. 
A smaller percentage of the profits is retained in 2007 than in 2006. 
The company is re investing ample profits for expansion purposes 
The dividend yield is 4.81% in 2007 and 6% in 2006. 
This yield has declined since last year but is still above the return from risk free investments of about 5%. 
The real return to ordinary shareholders would be 12.30% based on available profits. 
The shareholders would prefer a high dividend yield. 

IO 
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Liquidity 

The company has a liquidity problem. The quick ratio in 2006 was 1.1 to l but this deteriorated to 0 . 7 
to I in 2007. The company has only 70c available to pay every €1 owed in the short term. 
The deterioration of the ratio indicates a difficulty in paying debts and possible future interest. 
]f this trend continues, ability to pay interest would come under pressure and funds would not be available 
for the purpose of repaying the loan. 

Gearing 

The gearing of the company is 44.86%. [81.34%]. This is a lowly geared company and this means that 
the company is not dependant on outside borrowing 
This would please the shareholders as it increases their chance of getting a dividend and there is little 
risk from outside investors. 
However, the gearing has slipped from 40% of total capital in 2006. 
Interest cover was 8 times but it is now down to 6.25 times. If this trend continues it could jeopardise 
interest payment. 

Market value of shares II 

The market value of the share in 2006 was €1.35 while in 2007 it has dropped to €1 .30. 
The EPS has dropped from 18c to I 6c. 
The share may be overpriced as it takes 8.125 years to recover its market price. 
This would indicate a lack of public confidence in the company. 
Shareholders would be unhappy. 

The long term prospects in the building materials industry are not encouraging 
There has been a slow down in the construction industry which has led to unemployment and lower 
profits in the sector. Forecasts for the future indicate a slowing down in the sector. 

Investment Policy 

The investments made by the company cost €170,000. 
These investments now have a market value of €160,000 - a drop in value of 5.88%.or €10,000 
This indicates poor management of resources and would not please the shareholders. 

(c) 

A rising liquidity ratio is not always a sign of prudent management. 

A rising liquidity ratio could be a sign of prudent management because it indicates that it is easier for 
the firm to pay it's short term debts on time and thus avoid paying interest or enables it to avail of cash 
discounts. 

However, if the liquidity ratio rises significantly above I: I, it could mean that too much of the company's 
resources are tied up in liquid assets when they could be used to earn more profits. Management may be 
leaving cash resources idle. 
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5. Interpretation of Accounts

2009

The following figures have been taken from the Final Accounts of Watson pie, a manufacturer in the
construction industry for the year ended 31/12/2008. The company has an authorised capital of €600,000
made up of 500,000 ordinary shares at €1 each and I 00,000 6% preference shares at€ I each. The firm
has already issued 450,000 ordinary shares and all of the 6% preference shares.

Trading and Profit and Loss account for 
year ended 31/12/2008 

€ 
Ratios and information for year ended 
31/12/2007 

Sales 
Costs of goods sold 
Operating expenses for year 
Interest 
Net Profit for year 
Dividends paid 
Retained Profit 
Profit and Loss Balance 1/1/2008 
Profit and Loss Balance 31/12/2008 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2008 

Fixed Assets 

980,000 
(785,000) 
{125,000) 
(25,000} 

45,000 
(37,000) 

8,000 
40,000 
� 

Investments (market value 31/12/2008 €140,000) 

Current Assets (including Stock €29,500 and 
Debtors €100,000) 

Less Creditors: amount falling due 
within l year 

Trade Creditors 

Financed by 
I 0% Debentures (2012 secured) 

Capital and Reserves 
Ordinary Shares @€1 each 
6% Preference Shares @ €1 each 
Profit and Loss BaJance 

Market value of one ordinary share €1.20 

147,000 

(159,000) 

450,000 
100,000 
48.000 

You are required to calculate the following for 2008: 

Earnings per Ordinary Share 
Dividend per Ordinary Share 
Interest Cover 
Quick Ratio 
Return on Capital Employed 
Market value of an ordinary share 
Gearing 

€ 
670,000 
190,000 
860,000 

(12,000) 
�� 

250,000 

598,000 
848,000 

(a) (i) The Cash Sales if the period of credit given to debtors is 2 months 
Return on Capital employed 
The Earnings per Share 
The Dividend Yield 

19.05c 
12.7c 

4 times 
0.98 to 1 

10.6% 
€1.30 

34% 

(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v) How long it would take one Ordinary share to recover its value at present payout rate? (45) 

(b) Indicate if the Ordinary shareholders would be satisfied with the performance, state of affairs
and prospects of the company. Use relevant ratios and other information to support your answer. (40)

(c) Having assessed Watson pie what actions would you advise the company to take? (15) 
(100 marks) 
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Question 5 

Cash Sales 
Debtors x 12 = 2 
Credit sales 

Credit sales 

Cash sales 

Return on Capital Employed 

Credit Sales 

Net profit + Debenture interest x I 00 
Capital employed 

Earnings per share 
Net profit after preference dividend 
Number of ordinary shares 

Dividend Yield 
Dividend per share x 100 
Market price 

Period to recoup share 
Market price 
Dividend per share 

= 

= 

= 

= 

= 

= 

J00,000 X 12 
2 

600,000 

980,000 - 600,000 

45,000 + 25,000 X 100 
848,000 

39,000 
450,000 

6.89 X 100 
120 

120 
6.89c 

= 

= 

= 

= 

= 

€380,000

8.25% 

8.66c 

5.74% 

17.42 years  

Performance 

ProfitabiJity. Watson pie is a profitable business as its ROCE in 2008 is 8.25% and 10.6% in 2007. 
This indicates that the firm is earning nearly 4 times the return from risk free investments of about 2%. 
However, the profitability has disimproved by 2.35% since 2007 which shows a less efficient use of 
resources. 

Dividend Policy 
The Dividend per Share is 2008 is 6.89c and was 12.7c in 2007. This has disimproved by 5.81c since 
2007. The company's dividend cover is 1.2 times but was 1.5 times in 2007. Less profits are retained 
in 2008. The dividend yield is 5.74% in 2008 and was 9.77% in 2007. This has declined by 4.03% 
since last year. This is a worrying trend and the shareholders would prefer a higher dividend yield. 
The yield is above the return on a risk free investment of about 2%. The real return to ordinary 
shareholders would be 6.89% based on available profits as percentage of market value. In 2007 it was 
14.65% 
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State of Affairs  

Liquidity. Watson pie has a liquidity problem and would have great difficulty paying its debts as they fall 
due. The company only has 74c available in liquid assets to pay each €1 of short term debts. This has 
disimproved from 2007 when the company had 98c available to cover each €1 owed. In both years the ratio 
has been below the ideal of 1: l and is a cause of worry to shareholders. 

Gearing. This is a low geared company. The Gearing of the company is 41.27%. This would please the 
shareholders as it increases their chances of getting a dividend and there is little risk from outside investors. 
However the gearing was 34% in 2007. This trend would worry the shareholders. 
The interest cover is 2.8 times and shows that the ability of the company to meet their interest charges is 
satisfactory though not exceptionally good. Jt has fallen from 4 times in 2008. 

Investment Policy. The investments made by the company cost €190,000. These investments now have a 
market value of €140,000, a drop in value of 26.3%. This shows poor management of resources although 
one must take into account the economic downturn globally in 2008. This would not please the shareholders. 

Prospects  

Value of shares. The market value is €1.20 in 2008. In 2007, it was €1.30. The price has dropped by 7.7%. 
This would not please the shareholders as it shows a lack of public confidence in the company by the market. 

Sector. Watson pie is a manufacturer in the construction industry. This is not a good sector to be in at the 
moment as the construction industry has declined significantly in the past year due to the slow down in 
economic growth. Property developers are finding it hard to sell properties and this in turn has a knock on 
effect for companies in the building industry as building has almost come to a standsti11. 

(c) 

Acid Test Ratio is only 0.74 to l. Ratio dropped from 0.98 to l in 2007. Company has 
a liquidity problem 

Raise cash and improve liquidity by: 
I .  Paying out lower or no dividends 

2. Selling investments rather than issuing debentures.

3. Issuing the remaining 50,000 shares.

4. Improving gross profit percentage of 19.9% by reducing cost of sales or by passing on the

increased costs.

5. Diversifying into other areas

6. Collection of debts more quickly

7. Sale and lease back
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2010 

5. Interpretation of Accounts

The following figures have been extracted from the final accounts of Hebe pk, a manufacturer in the
dairy industry. The company has an authorised capital of€600,000 made up of 500,000 ordinary shares at
€1 each and 100,000 I 0% preference shares at €1 each. Hebe pk, has already issued 400,000 ordinary
shares and 50,000 of the 10% preference shares.

Trading and Profit and Loss account for 
year ended 31/12/2009 

Sales 
Opening stock 
Closing stock 

60,000 
65,000 

€ 
960,000 

Ratios and information for year ended 
31/12/2008 

Earnings per Ordinary Share 21c 
15c 

Costs of goods sold 
Operating expenses for year 
Interest for year 
Net Profit for year 

(725,000) 
(140,000) 
(30,000) 
65,000 

(50,000) 
15,000 
40,000 er 

Dividend per Ordinary Share 
Interest cover 
Quick Ratio 

4.7 times 
1:1 

€1.80 
13% 

Market Value of one Ordinary Share 
Return on Capita] Employed 

Dividends paid 
Retained Profit 

Gearing 
Dividend cover 

37% 
1.4 times 

Profit and Loss Balance O 1/01/2009 
Profit and Loss Balance 31/12/2009 � 

Dividend yield 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2009 

Intangible Assets 
Tangible Assets 
Investments (market value €95,000) 

Current Assets (Closing Stock €65,000 and 
"Debtors 45,000) 

Trade Creditors 
Bank 

8% Debentures (2014/2015) 
Issued Capital 

Ordinary Shares @€1 each 
10% Preference Shares @ € 1 each 

Profit and Loss Balance 

77,000 
48,000 

110,000 

(125,000) 

400,000 
50,000 
55,000 

You are required to calculate the following for 2009: 

(a) (i) The Interest Cover

€ 
180,000 
520,000 
120,000 
820,000 

(15,000) 
805,000 

300,000 

505,000 
805,000 

8.3% 

(ii) The Cash Purchases if the average period of credit received from trade creditors is 2 months.
(iii) The Ordinary Dividend Cover
(iv) The Market Price if PIE is 10
(v) The Dividend Yield. (45) 

(b) Indicate whether the Debenture Holders would be satisfied with the performance, state of
affairs and prospects of the company. Use relevant ratios and other information to support
your answer. (40) 

(c) A friend of yours has been given the opportunity to buy ordinary shares in Hebe pk but
before doing so asks your opinion. What advice would you give? Use ratios, percentages
and any other infonnation from the above to support your conclusions. (15) 
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Question 5 

(a) 

(i) Interest Cover

Net Profit before interest 
Interest 

(ii) Cash Purchases

Creditors x 12 
Credit Purchases 

2 

65,000 + 30,000 
30,000 

77,000 X 12 
2 

( opening stock + purchases - closing stock = cost of sales) 
(Purchases = 725,000 60,000 + 65,000 = 730,000) 

Cash Purchases 730,000 462,000 

(iii) Dividend Cover

Net Profit after Preference Dividend 
Ordinary Dividend 

(iv) Market Price

Market Price 
EPS 

(v) Dividend Yield

Dividend per share x I 00 
Market Price 

10 

65,000 - 5,000 

45,000 

Market Price 
15 

11.25 X 100 
150 

3.17 times 

462,000 

26s,ooo  

1.33 times  

IO 

1.s% 
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Question 5 (b) 

The debenture holders would be concerned with the following: 

Dividend Policy 
The dividend cover is 1.33 times. Last year's dividend cover was 1 . 4  times. This is a worsening 
trend. The DPS last year was 15 c while this year it is 11. 2 5 c. Based on this year's profit of 
€65,000, the dividends proposed of€ 50,000 are excessive. More of the profits should be retained 
for the repayment of debentures. The% of profits given out is 7 5%. In 2008, the% given out was 

71%. 

Security - Rea] Va]ue of the Assets 
The debentures are secured on the fixed assets. The debenture holders would be interested in the 
size of the assets to make sure that there is enough security for the loan. There are fixed assets of 
€8 20,000 of which, intangible assets are €180,000 leaving net assets excluding intangibles of 
€640,000 . It would be prudent to ascertain the real value of fixed assets as there are no write-offs 
like depreciation. However, the debenture holders would feel secure because of the excess in value 
of fixed assets over the loan of €300,000 . There are investments of €9 5,000 but the debenture 
holders would be disappointed at the fact that the investments have dropped from their value of 
€120,000 . 

ProfitabiHty

The return on capital employed for 2009 is 11.80%. Last year the return was 13%. It has 
disimproved by 1.20% and this fall indicates an unhealthy trend. If this downward trend continues, 
there is a risk of having to sell the fixed assets in.order to repay debentures. The company i� in a 
profitable position as the return of I I .80% is better than the return from risk free investments of less 
than 5% and is above the debenture interest rate of 8%. The company is making less efficient use of 
resources this year. 

�� ■ 
The company has a very serious liquidity problem. Last year the quick ratio was I: 1 but this year 
the quick ratio has fallen to 0 .36:1. The company now has only 36c available to pay every €1 owed 
in the short term. The worsening of the ratio indicates a difficulty in paying debts including future 
interest. If this trend continues, the ability to pay interest would come under pressure and funds 
would not be available to invest for the purpose of repaying the loan. 

G�q ■ 
The company is lowly geared. In 2009, the gearing was at 43 .48%. The gearing has worsened from 
37% of total capital in 2008 . Interest cover was 4 .7 times but is now down to 3 . 2  times. This 
worsening trend could make interest payments more difficult. 

Sector 
The overall worsening state of the economy is having a very negative effect on the dairy industry 
and there are also risks of over production and low cost competition. 
The long term prospects are not encouraging in the dairy industry due to outside influences. 
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Question 5 (c) 

I would advise my friend not to buy shares in Hebe pie for the following reasons: (3� 

Share Price {4] 
The share value has fallen from €1.80 to €1.50 (30c] since 2009 and is likely to continue in its 
downward movement based on current year performance. There is a lack of stock market 
confidence and may discourage investment. 

Dividends fl 
Dividend per share is 11.25c. The dividend per share has dropped from 15c 
The dividend yield has dropped from 8.3% to 7.5%. Whilst the rate is good the trend is not. 

Reserves II 
The dividend cover is low and dropping. The firm is not retaining enough profits to build up reserves. 
The company's dividend cover has dropped from 1.4 times to 1.33 times. 

Sector[I 
Dairy industry is not performing well and future is unsure. 

Liquidity 
Company has a serious liquidity problem. The company now has only 36c available to pay every €1 
owed in the short term. 

Profitability 
Profitability is worsening. The return on capital employed for 2009 is 11.80%. Last year the return 
was I 3%. It has disimproved by 1.20% and this fall indicates an unhealthy trend. 

Price Earnings Ratio 
Ratio is ten. It would take 10 years to earn back current price at current earnings. 
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5. Interpretation of Accounts

2011

The following figures have been taken from the final accounts of Sully pk, a company involved in the
construction industry for the year ended 31112/2010. The company has an authorised capital of €700,000
made up of 600,000 ordinary shares at E 1 each and I 00,000 5% preference shares at El each. The
company has already issued 550,000 ordinary shares and all of the 5% preference shares.

Trading and Profit and Loss account for 
year ended 31/12/2010 

Ratios and information for year ended
31/12/2009

Sales 
Costs of goods sold 
Operating expenses for year 
Interest 
Net Profit for year 
Dividends paid 
Retained Profit 
Profit and Loss Balance 1/1/2010 
Profit and Loss Balance 3 l /12/20 I 0 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2010 

Fixed Assets 
Intangible 
Tangible 

€ 
1,170,000 
(875,000) 
(230,000) 
(19,200) 
45,800 

(30,000) 
15,800 
27,000 

Investments (market value 3 l /12/20 IO €90,000) 

Current Assets (including Stock €80,400 and• Debtors €45,000) 
Less Creditors: amount falling due within 1 year 

Trade Creditors 

Financed by 
8% Debentures (2014 secured) 

Capital and Reserves 
Ordinary Shares @ €1 each 
5% Preference Shares @ € I each 
Profit and Loss Balance 

Earnings per Ordinary Share 
Dividend per Ordinary Share 
Interest Cover 
Quick Ratio 
Return on Capital Employed 
Market Value of one ordinary share 
Gearing 
Dividend Cover 
Dividend Yield 

€ € 

150,000 
642,000 792,000 

150,800 
942,800 

148,000 

(158,000) (10,000) 
932,800 

240,000 

550,000 
100,000 

42,800 692,800 
232,800 

Market value of one ordinary share at the end of 20 l 0 was €0.90 

Required 

(a) Calculate the following for 2010:
(i) The Opening Stock if the rate of stock turnover is IO based on average stock
(ii) The Gearing ratio
(iii) The Earnings per Ordinary Share
(iv) The Dividend Yield

IO.Sc 
5.6c 

5 times 
0.70 to I 

8.1% 
€0.95 
32% 

1.9 times 
5.9% 

(v) How long it would take one ordinary share to recoup (recover) its 2010 market price
based on present dividend payout rate? (50) 

(b) Advise the bank manager if a Joan of €400,000, on which an interest rate of 8% would be
charged, should be granted to Sul1y pie for future expansion. Use relevant ratios, percentages
and other information from above to support your answer. (40) 

(c) Explain the limitations of ratio analysis. (10) 
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Question 5 

(a) 

(i) Opening Stock

875,000 Cost of Sales = 10 
Average stock 10 x Average Stock 

Average Stock = 87,500 
Opening Stock = (87,500 x 2} less 80,400 

(ii) Gearing

Debt Capital x I 00 
Capital employed 

= 240,000 + 100,000 x I 00 
932,800 

(iii) Earnings per share

Net profit after preference dividend 
Number of ordinary shares 

(iv) Dividend Yield

(b) 

Dividend per share x I 00 
Market Price 

( v) Period to recoup share price
Market price 
Dividend per Share 

Bank Loan Application 

= 40,800 
550,000 

4.55 X 100 
90 

_2Q 
4.55c 

= 

= 

= 

 

Return on Capital Employed  
The company is profitable but less profitable in 2010 than in 2009. The ROCE has disimproved 
from 8.1 % to 7.0%. This is less than the 8% interest to be charged on the loan. Why borrow/ loan 
at 8% if the return is only 7%. 

Liquidity 
The acid test ratio of 0.43 to 1 is very poor. It has worsened from 0.7 to I since 2009. 
Sully pie has a serious liquidity problem. It has only 43c of liquid assets available for each €1 owed. 
The Liquidity problem will worsen if loan is granted. The company will/may not be able to pay 
extra interest 
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(c) 

Gearing 
The company is lowly geared but gearing has become less favourable after rising from 32% to 
36.45%. The gearing will get worse with a further loan of €+00,000. The gearing with the loan will be 
56%. The Interest Cover has disimproved from 5 times in 2009 to 3.3 times in 2010. This cover will 
get much worse if a Joan of €+00,000 is granted 

Security 
The Fixed Assets are valued at cost at €942,800 but one should question the depreciation policy to 
ascertain the real value of the tangible assets. One should also question the value of intangible assets 
The Investments have a market value of €90,000 but cost €150,800. 
Already €240,000 is committed to securing debenture. The balance sheet value of tangible fixed assets 
is ffi42,000 leaving €+02,000 after security committed to debentures. The security is not adequate. 

Dividend Cover/policy
The Dividend Cover is 1.6 times. This has worsened from 1.9 times in 2009. The Dividend Cover 
is low. Not enough of earnings are retained. This would jeopardise the repayment 
of the loan. 

Sector
Sully plc is involved in the construction industry. There is grave concern about the industry in the 
current climate and prospects in not encouraging in medium term 
Further questions about current value of fixed assets and serious question about the ability of Sully pie 
to generate any/enough profits to pay back/service loan as the construction industry has declined 
significantly in recent times due to the slow down in economic growth. 
Property developers are finding it hard to sell properties and this in tum has a knock on effect for 
companies in the construction industry as building has almost come to a standstill. The overall 
worsening state of the economy is having a very negative effect on the construction industry. 

OR 

Purpose for which loan is required 
The loan is required for future expansion. Future expansion should be more specific. 
It is questionable whether Sully pie could generate extra income to service the loan. 

Conclusion 

Limitations of ratio analysis 

• It analyses past figures only and these figures are quickly out of date (historical). It merely
gives us clues to the future.

• Ratios do not show seasonal fluctuations
• Firms use different accounting bases and therefore company comparisons are not accurate
• Financial Statements give limited pictures of a business. Other important aspects of a

company are not revealed in the Financial Statements. Accounts alone cannot measure
aspects which may be extremely significant such as monopoly position, economic climate,
staff morale and management/staff relationships.

097



5. Interpretation of Accounts

The following are the figures for the year ended 3l / l2/201 I and the projected figures for the year ended 
31/12/2012 of Glas pk, a manufacturer in the renewable energy industry. Glas pie has an authorised capital 
of €850,000 made up of 600,000 ordinary shares at €1 each and 250,000 6% preference shares at €1 each. 
The firm has already issued 300,000 ordinary shares and all the preference shares. 

Trading and Profit and Loss account for 
year ended 31/12/201 J 

€ € 
790,000 

Projected Ratios for year ended 31/12/2012 
Sales 
Opening Stock 
Closing Stock 
Costs of goods sold 
Gross Profit 

45,000 
50,000 

Operating expenses for year 
Net Profit 
Interest 
Dividends paid 
Retained Profit 
Profit and Loss Balance 0J/01/2011 
Profit and Loss Balance 31/12/2011 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2011 
Fixed Assets 

595,000 
195,000 
132,000 

63,000 
20,000 
25,000 
18,000 
39,000 

� 

Investments (market value 31/12/2011 €210,000) 

Current Assets 
Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 

Trade Creditors 

Financed by 
8% Debentures (2018 secured) 

Capital and Reserves 
Ordinary Shares @ € I each 
6% Preference Shares @ €1 each 

Profit and Loss Balance 

Market Value of one Ordinary Share € 1.15 

(a) You are required to calculate the following:

Earnings per Ordinary Share 
Dividend per Ordinary Share 
Interest Cover 
Quick Ratio 
Price/earnings ratio 
Return on Capital Employed 
Gearing 

€ 
650,000 
200,000 
850,000 

105,000 

(98,000) 7,000 
857,000 

250,000 

300,000 
250,000 
57,000 607,000 

857,00Q 

7c 
4.2c 

3 times 
0.85:1 

16: I 
8.1% 
51% 

(i) Cash purchases if the period of credit received from Trade Creditors is 2.5 months.
(ii) The Interest Cover.
(iii) The Dividend Cover
(iv) How long it would take one ordinary share to recover its value at present pay out rate.
(v) The projected market value of one share in 2012. (50) 

(b) Indicate if the ordinary shareholders would be satisfied with the performance, state of affairs and

(c) 

prospects of the company. Use relevant ratios and other info:nnation to support your answer. (35) 

The gross profit percentage in 2010 was 36%. 
(i) Calculate the gross profit percentage for 2011.
(ii) Give 5 different explanations for the decrease/increase in 2011. (15) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 5 

(a) 
(i) Cash Purchases: Total purchases less credit purchases 

Credit purchases 

Cash purchases 

(ii) Interest Cover
Profit before interest 

Interest 

(iii) Dividend Cover

98 000 X 12 
2.5 

600,000 470,400 

§3,000
20,000 

Profit after (Interest and Pref Dividend) 
Ordinary dividend 

(iv) Period to recoup price
Market price 

Dividend per share 

(v) Projected Market value

___ill_ 
3.333 

Price earnings ratio x Earnings per share 

470,400 

129,600 

43,000 - 15,000 
10,000 

}6 X 7C 

129,600 

3.15 times  

2.8times  

34.50 years  

€1.12 

5 points at 6 marks each 
1 point at 5 marks 

Profitability 
The ROCE was 7.35% in 2011. The ROCE is expected to rise to 8.1% in 2012 
Glass pie is a profitable company. This return is above the return from risk free investments of 
3% to 5%. This is satisfactory in the current economic climate and next year is expected to be 
better. However the ROCE of7.35% is lower than the company's cost of borrowing of 8%. 
Why borrow at 8% to finance a return of7.35%. The company did not make efficient use of 
resources in 2011. 

Dividend Policy 
The Dividend Cover is 2.8 times. The expected cover will be down in 2012 to 1.67 times 
Not enough of earnings are retained particularly in 2012 
Dividend per share in 201 I is 3.33 cent and expected to be 4.2 cent in 2012. Shareholders would be 
happy with this trend. 
The dividend yield is 2.90%. The dividend yield in 2012 will be 3.75%. 
Not enough return for taking a risk - only around the same as risk free investments of 3 to 5% 

Period to recoup price at current dividend per share is 34.50 years 
Price earnings ratio is 12.3 to I and expected to rise to 16 to 1 in 2012 
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(c) 

Liquidity 

The Quick Ratio is 0.56 to I in 201 l .  Glas pk has a liquidity problem. There is only 56c available 
for every €1 owed in the short tenn. This would be a cause for concern. 
Liquidity is expected to improve in 2012 to 0.85 to I. This will make 85c available for every €1 owed 
in the short term. The improving of this ratio indicates an ability to pay dividends, if declared in 2012. 

Market Price of Share

Market price of share in 201 I was 115c. Market price of share in 2012 is expected to fall to 112c. 
This indicates a reduced value over the next year. Shareholders would be concerned by this trend as it 
indicates a Jack of market confidence in the company. 
Price earnings ratio in 2011 was 12.3 years. However PER in 2012 is expected to be 16 to I. 
Based on Div Pay Out rate the price recoup period is 34.5 years and 26.7 years in 2011 and 2012 
respectively 

Gearing

The company is highly geared. Gearing in 2011 is 58.34% and is expected to improve to 51% in 2012. 
This is still high but the trend is good. This indicates that the company is dependent on outside borrowing 
and therefore at risk from outside investors. 
Interest Cover was 3.15 times in 2011. Interest cover is expected to be 3 times in 2012 
This worsening trend could make the payment of both interest and dividends more difficult. 

Sector

The company is in the renewable energy sector. This is a growing market with emphasis on the 
environment. 
The prospects are average in the short term - Government grants for insulation and water heating. 
Its prospects are good in the long term particularly because of oil shortages and rising oil prices 

(i) Gross Profit percentage

<H> 
Cash losses
Stock losses
Change in sales mix
Mark downs during sales
Incorrect valuation of stock
Increased cost of sales
Falling sales price

24.68% 

cash sales not recorded 
pilferage of stock or obsolescent stock 
more sales of low markup goods 
to get rid of out-of-date stock 
overvalue of opening stock, undervalue of closing stock 
without an increase in sales price 
without corresponding drop in cost of sales 
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5. Interpretation of Accounts

2013

The following figures have been taken from the Final Accounts of Dantzig pie, a manufacturer in food
processing sector, for the year ended 3J/12/2012. The company has an authorised capital of €700,000
made up of 600,000 ordinary shares at €1 each and 100,000 5% preference shares at €1 each. The firm
has already issued 550,000 ordinary shares and all of the 5% preference shares.

Trading and Profit and Loss account for
year ended 31/12/2012 

€ 
990,000 

Ratios and information for year ended 
31/12/201 J 

Sales 
Costs of goods sold 
Operating expenses for year 
Interest 

Dividends paid 
Retained Profit 
Profit and Loss Ba]ance 1/1/2012 
Profit and Loss Balance 31/12/2012 

(852,000) 
(91,000) 
(16,000) 
31,000 

(25,000) 
6,000 

20,000 

� 

Earnings per Ordinary Share 
Dividend per Ordinary Share 
Interest Cover 
Quick Ratio 
Return on Capital Employed 
Market value of an ordinary share 
Gearing 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2012 € € 
706,000 
180,000 
886,000 

Fixed Assets 
Investments (market value 31/12/2012 €80,000) 

Current Assets (including Stock €31,500 and 
Debtors €90,000) 

Less Creditors: amount falling due 
within 1 year 

Trade Creditors 

Financed by 
8% Debentures (2015 secured) 

Capital and Reserves 
Ordinary Shares @El each 
5% Preference Shares @€1 each 
Profit and Loss Balance 

158,000 

(168,000) 

550,000 
100,000 
26,000 

Market value of one ordinary share €0.85 on 31/12/2012. 

(10,000) 
876,000 

200,000 

676,000 
876,000 

5.5c 
4.7c 

4 times 
0.85 to 1 

6.1% 
€0.90 

30% 

(a) You are required to calculate the following for 2012: (where appropriate calculations
should be made to two decimal places).

(i) The opening stock if the rate of stock turnover is 10 based on average stock.
(ii) The Earnings per Share
(iii) The Dividend Yield
(iv) How Jong it would take one Ordinary share to recover its value at present earnings?
(v) Interest cover (50) 

(b) A friend of yours has been given the opportunity to buy 200,000 shares of the already issued
shares in Dantzig pie at 80c each but before doing so asks your advice. She would be using
money borrowed at a fixed rate of8% per annum. What advice would you give? Use
relevant ratios and other information to support your answer. (40) 

(c) Dantzig pie is considering expansion by purchasing another food business. The following
information for 2012 has been obtained on two possible purchases of similar companies:

Return on Capital Employed 
Current Ratio 
Liquid (Acid Test) Ratio 

AB Foods XY Traders 
8% 

3.2:l 
0.6:l 

6% 
1.9:1 
1.3:1 

Advise Dantzig plc which business, if any, should be purchased on the basis of the information 
provided. (10) 
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Question 5 

(a) 

(i) Opening stock Cost of sales 
Average stock 

85,200 

10 852,000 
JO x Av stock 

Average stock 

Opening stock (85,200 x 2) less 3 l ,500 

(ii) Earnings per share
Net profit after preference dividend

Number of ordinary shares 

(iii) Dividend Yield
Dividend Per Share x I 00
Market price 

(iv) Period_to recoup share
Market price 
Earnings per share 

(v) Jnterest Cover
Net profit before interest

Debenture Interest 

26,000 
550,000 

3.64c X l00

85c 

85c 
4.73c 

31,000 + l 6,000 
16,000 

47,000 
16,000 

€138,900 

74. 3c

4.2 8% 

18years 
17.97 years 
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(b) 

l would advise my friend not to borrow money to purchase 200,000 shares in Dantzig pie. {I

Market price/value of shares 
The share price is on a downward slide. The trend is negative. The shares can be purchased at 80c. 
This is below the market price of85c and further below market price in 2011 of90c. This is a 
worrying trend and should not be ignored. lt indicates a lack of confidence by the stock market. 
The purchase price may seem good value but one should be cautious and question why such a large 
block of the shares is available. 
By purchasing 200,000 shares a shareholder would own 36% of the company and may well have to 
bid for the remaining 64% of the shares 
Price earnings ratio is ] 8 years and in 2011 it was 16.4 years. This is not very appealing if one is 
seeking a quick return on investment. 

Dividend Policy II 
The dividend yield was 4.28% in 2012 but was 5.22% in 2011. 
The dividend cover in 2012 was 1.3 times and in 2011 was 1.17 times. Although the dividend per share 
has been reduced from 4.7c in 201 J to 3.64c in 2012, Dantzig pie is paying out too much of profits in 
dividends. 
In the short-term the interest on borrowings of €160,000 would amount to €12,800. The income 
available from dividends is €7,280. This annual shortfall of€5,620 would have to be funded by the 
purchaser. 
The real return to ordinary shareholders would be 5.56% compared to 8% interest on borrowed 

money. 

Profitability lffl 
Dantzig pie is not a very profitable finn. Its Return on Capital Employed was 6.1% in 2011 and 
disimproved to 5.37% in 2012. This trend is a cause for concern and ifit continues the firm could 
find itself in a very serious position. 
It indicates that the firm is making poor use of its resources. Dantzig is currently earning 5.37% on 
capital employed but is paying 8% on €200,000 {debentures] of this investment. Although the 
ROCE is above the return from risk free investments of [I% to 3%] it leaves little return for risk 
taking but perhaps it is satisfactory in the current economic climate. 
lt will take 22 years for the friend to receive back the cost of the shares at the current payout rate. Jt 
will take longer if dividends decline further. 

Liquidity IJ 
The company has a liquidity problem. The quick ratio in 2011 was 0.85 to I but this deteriorated to 
0.75 to I in 2012. The company has only 75c available to pay every €1 owed in the short term. 
The deterioration of the ratio indicates a difficulty in paying debts and possible future interest. 
This would be a worry for both current shareholders and purchaser as it could result in the company 
becoming unable to pay interest and dividends even though it had made a profit. 

103



(c) 

Gearing 
Dantzig pie is a low geared company. Its gearing is 34.24%. Its gearing in 2011 was 30%. 
This is a worsening situation as the gearing has risen by 4.24% and gives more control to outside 
investors. If this trend continues they could be at risk from outside investors. However, at the 
moment, there is little risk from outside investors. 
The interest cover is 2.94 times and this shows that the company has the ability to meet its interest 
charges. However the cover has dropped from 4 times in 2011 and this reveals that the profit has 
dropped from €64,000 in 201 I or by 26.6%. lfthis trend continues there is a risk that the company 
will not be able to meet its interest charges. 

Sector 
Dantzig pie is in the food processing sector. In the short tenn the sector is under pressure from 
cheap imports and shortage of ready cash in the economy. 
However in the Jong-tenn the prospects are more encouraging. It is expected that demand for food 

will increase due to food shortages as the world population continues to grow. 

Or 

Investment Policy and Long-term liability. 
The investments made by the company cost € 180,000. These investments now have a market value 
of €80,000. This shows poor management of resources although one must take into account the 
economic downturn globally in 2012. lfthese investments are sold in the near future there will be a 
loss of€100,000. This will reduce the real vaJue of assets and consequently the value of 
shareholders funds. The debentures are due to be repaid in 2015. This will require further 
borrowing or sale of fixed assets. 

AB Foods 

The Return on Capital Employed in AB Foods is 8%. This is better than XY Traders at 6% and 
also better than Dantzig pie at 5.37%. 
The current ratio of AB Ltd of3.2 to I is very high. This is possibly indicating excess stock. This is 
well above that ofXY Traders of 1.9 to I. This indicates poor stock control. 
Acid Test ratio of0.6 to I is low. It is well below the ratios of both XY Traders and Dantzig pie. 
This indicates a shortage of cash. 

XY Traders 
The Return on Capital Employed of 6% is lower than in AB Foods but higher than Dantzig pie at 
[5.37%]. Both these figures are below the cost of borrowing of8%. 
Current Ratio is good and within range of accepted nonns. 
Acid Test ratio at 1.3 to I is better than AB Foods at 0.6 to 1, but high. This high ratio indicates 
high debtors or excess cash. Either there is poor cash management or poor debt collection. 

My advice to Dantzig pie is to purchase XY Traders 
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Page 6 of 10 

SECTION 2 (200 marks) 
Answer any TWO questions 

 
5. Interpretation of Accounts 
 

The following figures have been extracted from the final accounts of Shannon plc, a company involved 
in the construction industry for the year ended 31/12/2013.  The company has an authorised capital of 
€700,000 made up of 500,000 ordinary shares at €1 each and 200,000 5% preference shares at €1 each. 
The firm has already issued 350,000 ordinary shares and 100,000 of the preference shares. 

 
Trading and Profit and Loss Account for    
year ended 31/12/2013  

  
 € 

Sales 950,000 
Costs of goods sold (755,000) 
Operating expenses for year (130,000) 
Interest for year (18,000) 
Net Profit for year 47,000 
Dividends paid (40,000) 
Profit and Loss balance 01/01/2013 35,000 
Profit and Loss balance 31/12/2013 42,000 

 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2013 
Fixed Assets € € € 

Intangible Assets 100,000 
Tangible Assets 480,000 
Investments (market value €200,000) 210,000 

 790,000 
Current Assets (inc. Closing Stock  €62,000 
  & Debtors €43,000)  

 
112,000 

 
  

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year    
Trade Creditors 65,000   
Bank overdraft 45,000 (110,000)     2,000 

   792,000 
Financed by    

6% Debentures (2018/2019)   300,000 
Capital and Reserves    

Ordinary Shares @ €1 each  350,000  
5% Preference Shares @ €1 each  100,000  
Profit and Loss balance    42,000 492,000 

   792,000 
Market value of one ordinary share €1.30 

  
You are required to calculate the following for 2013: (where appropriate calculations should be 
made to two decimal places). 
(a) (i) Cash sales if the period of credit given to debtors is 2 months. 

(ii) Return on capital employed. 
(iii) The earnings per ordinary share in 2013. 
(iv) The dividend yield.  
(v) How long would it take one ordinary share to recoup (recover) its 2013 market price 

based on present dividend payout? (50) 
 

(b) Advise the bank manager if a loan of €350,000, on which an interest rate of 9% would be charged, 
should be granted to Shannon plc for future expansion.  Use relevant ratios and other information to 
support your answer.  (40) 

 
(c) Explain the difference between the terms ‘Liquidity’ and ‘Solvency’ when used in Ratio Analysis.  

Refer to relevant ratios in your explanation. (10) 
(100 marks) 

  

Ratios and information for year ended 
31/12/2012 
Earnings per ordinary share 15c 
Dividend per ordinary share 12c 
Interest cover 4 times 
Quick ratio 0.90:1 
Market value of one ordinary share €1.35 
Return on capital employed 10.1% 
Gearing 48% 
Dividend cover 1.25 times 
Dividend yield 8.9% 
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Question 5  
 
 

(a) 

50 

(i) Cash Sales 
Debtors x 12    =   2 Credit sales = 43,000 x 12  
Credit sales 2 

 
Credit Sales = €258,000 

 
Cash sales  = €950,000 – €258,000 = €692,000  [12] 

 
 
(ii) Return on Capital Employed 

Profit before interest x 100 = €65,000 x 100 = 8.21%  [8] 
Capital employed  €792,000 

 
 
(iii) Earnings per share 

Net profit after pref. dividend = €47,000 – €5,000 = 12 cent  [10] 
Number of ordinary shares  €350,000 

 
 
(iv) Dividend Yield 

Dividend per share  x 100 = 10c x 100 = 7.69%  [12] 
Market Price 130c 

 
 
(v) Period to recoup price 

Market price = 130 = 13 years  [8] 
Dividend per share 10c 
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(b) 

 40 

Bank Loan Application 
 

Profitability  [6] 
The company is profitable but less profitable in 2013 than in 2012.  The ROCE has disimproved from 
10.1% to 8.21%.  This is less than the interest of 9% to be charged on the loan.  The manager would have 
to question why the company would borrow at 9% if the ROCE in the company was only 8.21%. 
 
Liquidity  [6] 
The acid test of 0.45:1 is very poor.  It has worsened from 0.90:1 in 2012.  Shannon plc has a serious 
liquidity problem.  It has only 45c of liquid assets available for each €1 owed in the short term.  The 
liquidity problem will worsen if the loan is granted.  The company will have difficulty in making interest 
repayments if the current trend continues. Annual interest on loan would be €31,500 
 
Gearing  [6] 
The company is just above the neutral gearing point at 50.5% [1.02 to 1] and now can be termed highly 
geared.  This gearing has become less favourable after rising from 48% to 50.5%.  The gearing will get 
worse if a loan of €350,000 is given.  The gearing with the loan would rise to 65.67% [1.91 to 1].   
The interest cover has disimproved from 4 times to 3.61 times.  This cover will get much worse if a loan 
of €350,000 is given.  
 
Security  [6] 
The fixed assets are valued at cost €790,000 but one should question the depreciation policy to ascertain 
the real value of the tangible assets.  One should also question the value of the intangible assets.  The 
investments have a market value of €200,000 but cost €210,000.  Already, €300,000 is committed to 
securing the debentures.  The balance sheet value of tangible fixed assets is €480,000 leaving €180,000 
after security committed to debentures.  The security is not adequate. 
 
Dividend Cover/Policy  [5] 
The dividend cover is 1.2 times.  This has worsened from 1.25 times in 2012.  The dividend cover is low 
and will get worse.  Not enough of the company’s earnings are being retained.  This would jeopardise 
repayment of the loan.  
 
Sector  [5] 
Shannon plc is in the Construction Industry.  There is grave concern about the industry in the current 
economic climate and prospects are not encouraging in the medium term. Property developers are finding 
it hard to sell properties and this has a knock on effect on the building industry and building has almost 
come to a standstill. In the short term prospects are not good due to lack of finance   
Long term prospects are better as demand is/will be greater than supply.  
 
Purpose of Loan [4] 
The loan is required for future expansion.  This expansion should be more specific.  It is questionable 
whether Shannon plc could generate extra income to service the loan. 
 
Conclusion  [2] 
The bank manager should not grant the loan based on the above figures. The company has a falling profit 
and a serious liquidity problem.  The company is highly geared making it vulnerable to outside investors.  
It has a very generous dividend policy and not enough profits are being retained in the business. 
 
 

(c) Liquidity and Solvency 10 

Liquidity measures the ability of the company to pay its short term debts as they fall due.  The acid test 
ratio is a good indicator of liquidity as it includes only liquid assets i.e. cash and debtors. [5] 
 
Solvency is the ability of a company to pay all of its debts as they fall due for payment (long term).  
Solvency is the most important indicator of a business’s ability to survive in the long term.  A business is 
solvent if its total assets exceed its outside liabilities. Debt to equity or total debt to total assets are good 
guides. [5] 
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Page 6 of 10 

SECTION 2 (200 marks) 
Answer any TWO questions 

 
5. Interpretation of Accounts 
 

The following figures have been taken from the Final Accounts of GJ plc, a manufacturer in the food 
processing sector, for the year ended 31/12/2014. The company has an authorised capital of €900,000 
made up of 800,000 ordinary shares at €1 each and 100,000 5% preference shares at €1 each.  The firm 
has already issued 650,000 ordinary shares and all of the 5% preference shares. 

 
Trading and Profit and Loss account for 
year ended 31/12/2014 
 € 
Sales 878,000 
Cost of goods sold (720,000) 
Operating expenses for year   (90,000) 
Interest (14,000) 
Net profit 54,000 
Dividends paid (44,000) 
Retained profit 10,000 
Profit and loss balance 01/01/2014 15,000 
Profit and loss balance 31/12/2014 25,000 

 
 
 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2014 € € 
Fixed Assets  855,000 
Investments (market value 31/12/2014 – €100,000)  110,000 
  965,000 
Current Assets (including stock €51,500 and    

debtors €80,000) 131,500  
Less Creditors: amount falling due within 1 year   
Trade creditors (121,500)   10,000 
  975,000 
Financed by   

7% debentures (2016 secured)  200,000 
Capital and Reserves   

Ordinary shares @ €1 each 650,000  
5% preference shares @ €1 each 100,000  
Profit and loss balance   25,000 775,000 

  975,000 
Market value of one ordinary share €0.95 on 31/12/2014. 

 
(a) You are required to calculate the following for 2014: (where appropriate calculations should be made to 

two decimal places). 
(i) The opening stock if the rate of stock turnover is 12 based on average stock. 
(ii) The earnings per share. 
(iii) The dividend yield. 
(iv) Price earnings ratio. 
(v) Interest cover. (50) 

 
(b) An investor, Tom Murphy, is considering purchasing 150,000 of the already issued shares in 

GJ plc at 90c each.  He intends using €50,000 of his own savings and the remainder would be 
borrowed at a fixed rate of 9%.  Tom has consulted you, Barry Ryan, Financial Consultant, for 
advice.  Write a report to Tom with your recommendations.  You should include relevant 
ratios and other information in your report. (40) 

 
(c) State the limitations of ratio analysis as a financial analysis technique. (10) 

(100 marks) 
  

Ratios and information for year ended  
31/12/2013 
 
Earnings per ordinary share 9.1c 
Dividend per ordinary share 8.0c 
Interest cover 6 times 
Quick ratio 0.90 to 1 
Return on capital employed 8.2% 
Market value of an ordinary share  €0.97 
Gearing  28% 
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Question 5 

(a) 50  
 
 
(i) Opening stock 

Cost of sales   = 12 
Average stock 

 
Average stock  ×  12 = 720,000 

  
Average stock   = 720,000 

   12 
 

Average stock  = 60,000 
 

Opening stock  = (60,000 × 2) less 51,500 = €68,500  [12] 
 
 

(ii) Earnings per share 
Net profit after preference dividend =   49,000 

Number of ordinary shares  650,000 7.54c  [10] 
 
 

(iii) Dividend Yield 
Dividend per share × 100  = 6c × 100 

Market price   95c 6.32%  [12] 
 
 

(iv) Price earnings ratio 
   Market price      =  95c 
Earnings per share  7.54c 12.60 years  [8] 

 
 

(v) Interest Cover 
Net profit before interest  = 54,000 + 14,000 

Debenture Interest  14,000 
 

  = 68,000 4.86 times  [8] 
   14,000 
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(b) 40  
 

Advice concerning the possible purchase of 150,000 shares @ €0.90 per share 

[3] 

To:  Tom Murphy 

From: Barry Ryan (Financial consultant) 

Date: 15th June 2015 
 
 
Market Price/value of shares  [8] 
The share price is on a downward trend.  This trend is negative.  The shares can be purchased at 90c. This 
is below the market price of 95c and further below the market price in 2013 of 97c.  This is a worrying 
trend and should not be ignored.  It indicates a lack of confidence by the stock market.  The purchase 
price may seem good value but one should be cautious and question why such a large block of shares is 
available.  By purchasing 150,000 shares a shareholder would own 23.08% of the company.   
The price/earnings ratio is 12.6 years and in 2013 was 10.66 years.  This is not very appealing if one 
is seeking a quick return on investment.  It indicates that the period necessary to get ones investment 
back is getting longer. 
 
 
Dividend Policy  [8] 
The dividend yield is 6.32% in 2014 but was 8.25% in 2013. 
The dividend cover is 1.26 times in 2014 and in 2013 was 1.14 times.  Although the dividend per share has 
been reduced from 8c in 2013 to 6c in 2014, GJ plc is still paying out too much of its profits in dividends. 
In the short term the interest on borrowings of €85,000 [(150,000 x €0.90) – 50,000] would amount to 
€7,650.  The income available from dividends of €9,000 seems favourable when compared to this interest. 
This annual surplus of €1,350 would need to be compared to the loss of interest which could have been 
earned on €50,000. 
The real return to ordinary shareholders would be 7.94% compared to 9% interest on borrowed money. 
 
 
Profitability [6] 
GJ plc is a reasonably profitable firm.  Its ROCE was 8.2% in 2013 and disimproved to 6.97% in 2014.  This 
trend is a cause for concern and if it continues the firm could find itself in a very serious position. 
It indicates that the firm is making poor use of its resources.   
GJ plc is currently earning 6.97% on Capital employed but paying 7% on €200,000(Debentures) of this 
investment.  Although the ROCE is above the return from risk free investments of 1% to 3%, it leaves little 
return for risk taking but perhaps it is satisfactory in the current economic climate. 
It will take 15 years for the friend to receive back the cost of the shares at the current pay out rate.  It will 
take longer if dividends decline further. 
 
 
Liquidity[6] 
The company has a liquidity problem.  The quick ratio in 2013 was 0.90 to 1 but this deteriorated to 0.66 to 1 
in 2014.  The company has only 66c of liquid assets available to pay every €1 owed in the short term.  The 
deterioration of this ratio indicates difficulty in paying debts and possible future dividends.  This would be a 
worry for both current shareholders and the purchaser of shares as it could result in the company becoming 
unable to pay dividends even though it had made a profit. 
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Gearing [6] 
GJ plc is a low geared company.  Its gearing is 30.77%.  Its gearing in 2013 was 28%.  This is a worsening 
situation as the gearing has risen by 2.77% and gives more control to outside investors.  If this trend 
continues they could be at risk from outside investors.  However, at the moment there is little risk from 
outside investors. 
The interest cover is 4.86 times and this shows that the company has the ability to meet its interest charges.  
However the cover has dropped from 6 times in 2013 and this reveals that the profit before interest has 
dropped from €84,000 in 2013 to €68,000in 2014.  If this trend continues there is a risk that the company 
will not be able to meet its interest charges. 
 
Sector  [3] 
 
GJ plc is in the food processing sector.  In the short term the sector is under pressure from cheaper imports 
and shortage of ready cash in the economy. 
However, in the long-term the prospects are more encouraging.  It is expected that demand for food will 
increase due to food shortages as world population continues to grow and spending power increases.  
 

Or 
 
Investment Policy and Long-term liabilities.  
 
The investments made by the company cost €110,000.  These investments now have a market value of 
€100,000.  This shows poor management of resources although one must take into account the economic 
downturn globally in 2014.  If these investments are sold in the near future there will be a loss of €10,000.  
This will reduce the real value of the assets  and consequently the value of shareholder’ funds.  The 
debentures are due to be repaid in 2016.  This will require further borrowing or sale of fixed assets. 
 
 
Recommendations/advice/conclusions: 

I would advise you not to borrow money to purchase 150,000 shares in GJ plc. 

 
 
Signature:  Barry Ryan 

 
 
 

(c) 10  
Limitations of ratio analysis [5] + [5] 
 

It analyses past figures only and these figures are quickly out of date (historical).  It merely gives us 
clues to the future. 
Ratios do not show seasonal fluctuations 
Firms use different accounting bases and therefore company comparisons are not accurate  
Financial Statements give limited pictures of a business. 
Financial Statements do not reveal other important aspects of a company 
Accounts alone cannot measure aspects which may be extremely significant such as monopoly position, 
economic climate, staff morale and management/staff relationships. 
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SECTION 2 (200 marks) 
Answer any TWO questions 

 

5. Interpretation of Accounts 
 

The following figures have been extracted from the final accounts of Doherty Ltd, a service provider in 
the tourist industry, for the year ended 31/12/2015.  The company has an authorised capital of €900,000 
made up of 600,000 ordinary shares at €1 each and 300,000 5% preference shares at €1 each.   
Doherty Ltd has already issued 500,000 ordinary shares and all of the 5% preference shares. 

 

Trading and Profit and Loss Account for year 
ended 31/12/2015 

€ € 
Sales 980,000 
Opening stock 55,000  
Closing stock 65,000  
Costs of goods sold (752,000) 
Operating expenses for year (83,000) 
Interest for year (12,000) 
Net Profit for year 133,000 
Dividends paid (50,000) 
Retained profit 83,000 
Profit and loss balance 01/01/2015   45,000 
Profit and loss balance 31/12/2015 128,000 

 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2015 
 € € 

Fixed Assets   856,000 
Investments (market value 31/12/2015 €200,000)     150,000 
  1,006,000 
Current Assets (including stock €65,000 and debtors €95,000)  212,000  
Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year   
Trade creditors  (90,000)    122,000 
  1,128,000 
Financed by:   
6% Debentures (2017 Secured)  200,000 
Capital and Reserves   
Ordinary shares @ €1 each  500,000  
5% Preference shares @ €1 each  300,000  
Profit and loss balance 128,000    928,000 

  1,128,000 

Market value of one ordinary share on 31/12/2015 is €1.25 
  

You are required to calculate the following for 2015: (where appropriate calculations should be 
made to two decimal places). 

(a) (i) Cash purchases if the period of credit received from trade creditors is 2 months. 
(ii) Dividend yield. 
(iii) Price earnings ratio 
(iv) Return on capital employed. 
(v) Dividend cover. (50) 

 

(b) Would you as a shareholder be prepared to purchase more shares in Doherty Ltd?  Use relevant 
ratios and other information to support your answer.  (35) 

 
(c) (i) Explain the term ‘Gearing’. 

(ii) What are the benefits to a business of having a low gearing?  
(iii) State two ways to reduce the gearing of a company. (15) 

(100 marks) 

Ratios and information for year 
ended 31/12/2014 
Earnings per ordinary share 13.2c 
Dividend per ordinary share 6c 
Interest cover 6 times 
Quick ratio 1.2:1 
Market value of one ord. share €1.15 
Return on capital employed 10.3% 
Gearing 54% 
Dividend cover 2.2 times 
Dividend yield 5.22 % 
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Question 5 
 
(a) 

 50  

(i) Cash Purchases = total purchases less credit purchases 
 

Total purchases = cost of sales + closing stock - opening stock 
 
Total purchases = 752,000 + 65,000 - 55,000 
  
Total purchases = 762,000 
  
Credit purchases = 90,000  ×  12 = 540,000 

 2 
 

Cash purchases  = 762,000 - 540,000 = 222,000 [12] 
 
 
(ii) Dividend Yield   
 

Dividend per share  ×  100 = 7  ×  100 = 5.6% [10] 
Market price 125 

 
 
(iii) Price earnings ratio 
 

Market price =  125  = 5.3 to 1 
EPS 23.6 5.3 years [10] 

 
 
(iv) Return on Capital Employed 
 

Operating profit × 100 = 145,000 × 100 = 12.85% [9] 
Capital employed 1,128,000 

 
 
(v) Dividend Cover 
 

Net profit  -  preference dividend = 133,000 - 15,000 = 3.37 times [9] 
Ordinary dividend 35,000 

 
 
(b) 

 35  

Profitability [6] 
The ROCE has improved from 10.3% in 2014 to 12.85% in 2015.  Doherty Ltd is a profitable company.  The 
return is well above the return from risk free investments of 2%.  The return is also above the company’s 
cost of borrowing of 6%.  The company is making efficient use of its resources.  
Shareholders will be pleased with this.  If this upward trend continues the debentures can be paid in 2017 
without having to sell the secured assets. 
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Dividend Policy [6] 
The dividend per share has improved from 6c in 2014 to 7c in 2015.  The dividend yield has improved from 
5.22% in 2014 to 5.6% in 2015.  This is above the return from risk free investments of 2%.  The dividend 
cover has also improved from 2.2 times in 2014 to 3.37 times in 2015.  While shareholders will be happy 
with the improving trends, they will feel that the company has the scope to pay a higher proportion of profits 
in dividends.  Alternatively they could be pleased that profits and cash are retained for the purpose of 
repaying debenture holders/expansion. 
 
Liquidity [5] 
The quick ratio has improved from 1.2 to 1 in 2014 to 1.63 to 1 in 2015.  Doherty Ltd. has good liquidity.  It 
should have no problem paying short term debts when they fall due.  There is 163c available in liquid assets for 
every €1 owed in the short term.  Shareholders will be pleased with this as there is good ability to pay a 
dividend and interest as well as having funds available for investment. 
 
Market Price of a Share [4] 
The market price of a share has improved from €1.15 in 2014 to €1.25 in 2015.  This indicates market 
confidence in the company which will please shareholders.  The price earnings ratio has fallen from  
8.7 years to 5.3 years and this means it will take a shorter time-period for an ordinary shareholder to recover 
his/her investment in one share.  
 
Gearing [6] 
The gearing has improved from 54% in 2014 to 44.33% in 2015.  The company has moved into a low geared 
position.  The company is not dependent on outside borrowing and is not at risk from outside investors. 
The interest cover has improved from 6 times in 2014 to 12.08 times in 2015.  The company has no problem 
paying its interest charges. 
 
Sector [5] 
The company is in the tourist sector. This is a growing industry at the moment.  As economies around the 
world recover, people have more disposable income to spend on holidays.  The weakness of the euro against 
sterling and the dollar also makes Ireland a cheaper destination for foreign visitors.  If there is continued 
economic growth and the euro remains weak, then future prospects are good. 
 
Overall shareholders will be happy with this and I would buy the shares in the company. [3] 

 

(c) 15  

 
(i) Gearing - This is a measure of how a business is financed on a long-term basis.  It measures the 

relationship between fixed interest debt (loans/debentures + preference shares) and total capital 
employed/equity.  When this is less than 50%/100%, the business is lowly geared.  Above 50%/100% 
is highly geared.  Low gearing is preferable. 

 
(ii) Benefits of low gearing - When fixed interest debt is a small proportion of overall capital it has the 

following benefits: 
1. Low interest repayments means more profits are available for investment elsewhere in the 

business. 
2. Shareholders are more likely to get a dividend when gearing is low. 
3. The business should find it easier to raise additional loan finance. 
4. Less risk of liquidation due to not being able to make interest payments. 

 
(iii) Possible ways to reduce gearing: 

1. Sell more ordinary shares. 
2. Reduce or repay loans. 
3. Increase reserves/retained profits. 
4. Convert long-term debt to ordinary shares. 
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SECTION 2 (200 marks) 
Answer any TWO questions 

 

5.  Interpretation of Accounts 
 

The following figures have been taken from the final accounts of JB plc, a health food 
manufacturer, for the year ended 31/12/2016.  The company has an authorised capital of 
€1,000,000 made up of 700,000 ordinary shares at €1 each and 300,000 5% preference shares 
at €1 each.  The firm has already issued 450,000 ordinary shares and 150,000 of the 5% 
preference shares. 

 

Trading and Profit and Loss account for 
year ended 31/12/2016 

  €  € 

Sales    880,000 

Opening stock   73,000   

Cost of goods sold  (565,000) 

Operating expenses for year    (185,000) 

Interest  (16,000) 

Net profit  114,000 

Dividends paid  (50,000) 

Retained profit  64,000 

Profit and loss balance 01/01/2016  15,000 

Profit and loss balance 31/12/2016  79,000 
 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2016  €  €  € 

Fixed Assets       

Intangible    150,000   

Tangible     580,000  730,000 

Investments (market value 31/12/2016 – €120,000)      100,000 

      830,000 

Current Assets (including debtors €45,000)    130,000   

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year       

Bank overdraft  (26,000)     

Trade creditors  (55,000)  (81,000)    49,000 

      879,000 

Financed by       

8% debentures (2019 secured)      200,000 

Capital and Reserves       

Ordinary shares @ €1 each    450,000   

5% preference shares @ €1 each    150,000   

Profit and loss balance      79,000  679,000 

      879,000 

Market value of one ordinary share €1.35 on 31/12/2016. 
 

Continued on page 9 
   

Ratios and information for year ended  
31/12/2015 
 
Earnings per ordinary share  18c 
Dividend per ordinary share  8c 
Interest cover  6 times 
Quick ratio  0.80 : 1 
Return on capital employed  12% 
Market value of an ordinary share  €1.20 
Gearing   45% 
Dividend cover  2.25 times 
Dividend yield  6.67% 
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(a)  You are required to calculate the following for 2016: (where appropriate calculations should be 
made to two decimal places). 

(i)  The closing stock if the rate of stock turnover is 10 based on average stock. 

(ii)  The dividend yield. 

(iii)  The earnings per ordinary share. 

(iv) The return on equity funds. 

(v)  Interest cover.  (50) 

 

(b)  Advise the bank manager if a loan of €300,000, on which a rate of 6% would be 
charged, should be granted to JB plc. 

The loan is to finance the modernisation of their manufacturing plant. 

Use relevant ratios, percentages and other information to support your answer.  (40) 

 

(c)  (i)  Employees are users of financial information.  If you were an employee of JB  plc 
  explain why the financial information of the company would be of interest to 
  you. 

 

(ii)  Identify two other users of financial information.  (10) 

 

(100 marks) 
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Question 5 – Interpretation of Accounts  50 

 

(a) 
   

(i)  Closing Stock         
             

  Cost of sales 
Average stock 

 
=  10   

   
       
               

  Average stock × 10    =  565,000       
               
  Average stock    =  565,000       
        10       
               

  Average stock    =  56,500       
               

  Closing stock  =  (56,500 × 2) less 73,000  =  €40,000  [12] 

 
(ii)  Dividend Yield         
             
  Dividend per share × 100 

Market price 
=  9.44c × 100 

135c 
=  6.99%  [12] 

         
 

 
(iii)  Earnings per Ordinary Share         

             
  Net profit after preference dividend 

Number of ordinary shares 
=  114,000 – 7,500 

450,000 
=  23.67c  [10] 

         
 
 
(iv)  Return on Equity Funds         

           

  Net profit after tax and dividends 
Equity funds 

=  114,000 – 7,500 × 100 
450,000 + 79,000 

=  20.13%  [8] 
         
 
(v)  Interest Cover           

             

  Operating Profit 
Interest 

=  130,000 
16,000 

=  8.13 times  [8] 
         

 

(b)  Bank Loan Application  40 

Profitability  [7] 
The company is profitable.  The return on capital employed has improved from 12% in 2015 to 
14.79% in 2016.  This is well above the return from risk free investments of 2% and the company’s 
present cost of borrowing of 8%.  It is also well above the 6% interest being charged on the loan. 
 
Liquidity  [6] 
The company is liquid.  The acid test ratio has improved from 0.8:1 in 2015 to 1.11:1 in 2016.  It 
has €1.11 in liquid assets to cover each €1 owed in the short term.  There should be no difficulty 
paying short term debts as they fall due.  If the loan is granted the company should be able to 
pay the interest of €18,000.   
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Gearing  [6] 
The company is lowly geared.  The gearing position has improved from 45% in 2015 to 39.82% in 2016 
(or if using the debt/equity ratio it has disimproved from 45% to 66.16%).  If the €300,000 loan is 
granted, the gearing will worsen to 55.13% (122.87%).  This means the business will become highly 
geared.  The business will be financed, on a long‐term basis, more by debt than by equity.  The interest 
cover has improved from 6 times in 2015 to 8.1 times in 2016.  
 
 
Security  [6] 
The total value of fixed assets at cost is €830,000/€580,000/€680,000.  The lender should question the 
depreciation policy of the company, to ascertain the real value of the fixed assets.  The investments 
cost €100,000 but now have a market value of €120,000.  There is already €200,000 of the fixed assets 
committed to securing the existing debenture.  The value of tangible fixed assets is €580,000 leaving 
€380,000 as security against the new loan.  The security for the new loan is adequate. 
 
 
Dividend Policy [5] 
The dividend cover has improved from 2.25 times in 2015 to 2.51 times in 2016.  This indicates that 
sufficient profits are being retained while shareholders are receiving a reasonable dividend.  This high 
retention of profits will ensure that the new loan is more easily repaid. 

 
 
Sector  [5] 
JB plc is a health food manufacturer.  This is currently a growth industry.  People are more health 
conscious and are more careful about what they eat.  Many people take a variety of supplements as 
part of their diet.  Future prospects are good as our population starts to age.  There are a few notes of 
caution.  Health foods tend to be ‘faddy’ by nature.  What is fashionable now can go out of fashion very 
quickly.  There is also a view that taking enough exercise and avoiding processed food is the best way to 
good health. 
 
 
Purpose of the loan  [3] 
The loan is required for the modernisation of the manufacturing facility.  This is specific and is for a 
productive purpose which will help to reduce the unit cost of production and make the company more 
competitive.  The extra production will generate more income to repay and service the loan. 
 
Conclusion – Yes the bank manager should grant the loan.  [2] 

 

  10 

(c)  As an employee I would be interested in the financial information for the following reasons: 

To assess job security. 
To see if shareholder dividends are increasing which could be used as a negotiation strategy. 
To see if the company can continue to pay existing wage rates or can it afford a pay rise. 
To see if the company plans to expand and thereby assess the prospects for promotion.  
To assess pension security. 

Identify two other users of financial information: 

Lending institutions, trade creditors, shareholders, the revenue, competitors, directors. 

118



Leaving Certificate 2018 8  
Accounting – Higher Level 

SECTION 2 (200 marks) 
Answer any TWO questions 

 
5.  Interpretation of Accounts 
 

The following figures have been extracted from the final accounts of Born2Run plc, a retailer 
in the sportswear industry, for the year ended 31/12/2017.  The company has an authorised 
capital of €650,000 made up of 400,000 ordinary shares at €1 each and 250,000 8% 
preference shares at €1 each.  Born2Run plc has already issued 350,000 ordinary shares and 
200,000 8% preference shares. 

 

Trading and Profit and Loss Account 
for year ended 31/12/2017 

€  € 

Sales  880,000 

Opening stock  60,000   

Closing stock  90,000   

Costs of goods sold  (560,000) 

Operating expenses for year  (220,000) 

Interest for year  (18,000) 

Net profit for year  82,000 

Dividends paid  (45,000) 

Retained profit  37,000 

Profit and loss balance 01/01/2017  43,000 

Profit and loss balance 31/12/2017  80,000 

 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2017 

  €  € 

Fixed Assets     650,000 

Investments (market value 31/12/2017 €150,000)    200,000 

    850,000 

Current Assets  160,000   

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year     

Trade creditors   (80,000)    80,000 

    930,000 

Financed by:     

6% Debentures (2024 secured)    300,000 

Capital and Reserves     

Ordinary shares @ €1 each   350,000   

8% Preference shares @ €1 each   200,000   

Profit and loss balance    80,000  630,000 

    930,000 

Market value of one ordinary share on 31/12/2017 is €1.35. 
   

Ratios and information 
for year ended 31/12/2016 

Earnings per ordinary share  20c 
Dividend per ordinary share  10c 
Interest cover  6.3 times 
Quick ratio  1.3:1 
Market value of one ord. share  €1.60 
Return on capital employed  12.4% 
Gearing  41% 
Dividend cover  1.3 times 
Dividend yield  6.25% 
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(a)  You are required to calculate the following for 2017: (where appropriate 
calculations should be made to two decimal places). 

(i)  Cash purchases if the period of credit received from trade creditors is 
2½ months. 

(ii)  Dividend yield. 

(iii) Price earnings ratio. 

(iv) Return on capital employed. 

(v)  Interest cover.  (50) 
 
(b)  Indicate whether the debenture holders would be satisfied with the performance, 

state of affairs and prospects of the company.  Use relevant ratios and other 
information to support your answer. 

    (40) 
 
(c)  Born2Run plc is considering expansion by purchasing a small sportswear company.  It 

has obtained the following information relating to this company: 
 

  2014  2015  2016  2017 

Period of credit allowed to debtors  60 days  54 days  46 days  40 days 

Period of credit received from creditors  20 days  26 days  30 days  34 days 

Stock turnover  12 times  11 times  9 times  6 times 

 

Having analysed the information in the above table, what advice would you give 
Born2Run plc regarding this purchase? 
    (10) 

(100 marks) 
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Q.5  Interpretation of Accounts  50 

(a) 

(i)  Cash purchases if the period of credit received from trade creditors is 2½ months 
 

Creditors   ×  12  =  2½ months 
Credit purchases 

 
80,000  ×  12  =  2½  960,000  =  2½x  x  =  384,000 

X 
 

Total purchases = cost of sales + closing stock – opening stock 
  560,000 + 90,000 – 60,000 = 590,000 
 
Cash purchases = total purchases – credit purchases 
  590,000 – 384,000 = €206,000  [12] 

(ii) 
Dividend yield  =  dividend per share  ×  100  =  x% 

    market value 
 

DPS = ordinary dividend  ×  100  =  29,000  ×  100  =  8.29 cent 
market value  350,000 

Dividend yield  =  dividend per share  ×  100  =  8.29  ×  100  =  6.14%  [10] 
  market value  135 
 
(iii) 

Price earnings ratio  =  market value  =  x years 
  earnings per share 
 

Earnings per share  =  net profit – preference dividend  ×  100  =  x cent 
    no. of issued ordinary shares 
 

EPS  =  82,000 – 16,000  =  66,000  ×  100  =  18.86 cent 
  350,000  350,000 
 

P/E Ratio  =  market value  135  =   7.16 years   [10] 
  earnings per share  18.86 
 
(iv) 

Return on capital employed  =  net profit + interest   ×  100  =  x% 
  capital employed 
 

82,000 + 18,000  ×  100  =  10.75%  [9] 
930,000 
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(v) 
Interest cover =  net profit + interest 

interest 
 

82,000 + 18,000   =  5.56 times   [9] 
18,000 

 

(b) 40 

The debenture holders would not be satisfied with the performance, state of affairs and prospects 
of the company for the following reasons: [4] 
 
Performance 
Profitability [7] 
The company is profitable earning a return on capital employed in 2017 of 10.75% which is well 
above the return from risk‐free investments of 2% and the cost of borrowing of 6%.  Profitability, 
however, has disimproved (negative trend) by 1.65% compared to 2016 when the return was 
12.4%.  Born2Run plc is definitely making less efficient use of its resources this year and the 
debenture holders would not be pleased with the dip in performance in 2017. 
The earnings per share has fallen from 20 cent in 2016 to 18.86 cent in 2017.  This is also a 
negative trend and cause for concern. 
 
Dividend Policy [4] 
The dividend cover is 2.28 times and this is an improvement on last year’s dividend cover of 1.3 
times (2 times).  Debenture holders would be happy that Born2Run plc is retaining more of its 
profits for expansion and future repayments of loans. 
The percentage of the profits distributed to shareholders is 43.96% which is an improvement on 
the 50% distributed in 2016. 

If there is any evidence that candidates’ dividend cover figure has been affected by the incorrect 
dividend cover figure in 2016 accept candidates own figure for dividend cover. 
 

State of Affairs 

Liquidity [7] 
Born2Run plc has liquidity problems with an acid test ratio of 0.88:1, for every €1 of short‐term 
debt the firm has only 88 cent in liquid assets.  This is also a disimproving trend compared to 2016 
when the acid test ratio was 1.3:1.  The worsening of the ratio is a major cause of concern to 
debenture holders because the company may have difficulty paying future interest.  If this trend 
continues, the ability to pay interest would come under pressure and funds would not be available 
to invest for the purpose of repaying the loan. 
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Gearing [7] 
Born2Run plc is highly geared with a debt to capital employed of 53.76% and a debt to equity ratio 
of 116.28%.  The company’s long‐term finance is sourced more by long‐term debt than by equity 
which means it is a higher risk and will have high interest payments.  The gearing position has 
worsened from 2016 when it was lowly geared with a gearing percentage of 41%.  Born2Run are 
now more dependent on outside borrowing.  
Interest cover has worsened from 6.3 times in 2016 to 5.5 times in 2017.  The company is still well 
able to meet its interest commitments, but the worsening trend combined with poor liquidity 
would concern debenture holders. 

Security [6] 
Fixed assets are valued at €650,000.  Debenture holders would like to know does this reflect their 
true value and has depreciation been accounted for.  However, as the debentures are €300,000, it 
would appear that there is more than adequate security to cover the loans.  
Born2Runplc also has investments which cost €200,000 but the debenture holders would be 
disappointed at the fact that the investments now have a market value of €150,000.  This would 
indicate poor investment decisions by management. 

Prospects 

Sector [5] 
Short‐term prospects are not that encouraging due to the fact that the company operates as a 
retailer in the sportswear industry, which is highly competitive, with leading brands dominating 
the industry. 
Long‐term prospects are better with rising incomes and a greater emphasis on keeping fit and 
buying new sportswear, on a regular basis.  However to protect itself from the intense 
competition in the industry, Born2Run would need to spend large amounts of money on brand 
proliferation and advertising but considering their current liquidity situation, this may prove 
difficult. 

(c)  10 

Period of credit allowed to debtors 

The length of time it takes a debtor to settle their account has improved by 20 days (from 60 days 
to 40 days).  This is a good trend.  The liquidity position of the business is improving as it is 
collecting debts more efficiently/quickly.  However, while its liquidity position has improved, the 
collection period from debtors is longer than the average credit period of 34 days received from 
creditors. 

Period of credit received from creditors 

The length of time the business has to settle accounts with suppliers has improved by 14 days.  (It 
has increased from 20 – 34 days.)  This is improving the liquidity position as it is taking longer to 
settle its accounts with suppliers.  However, the business may lose out on discounts for prompt 
payment which may have a negative effect on its liquidity. 

Stock Turnover 

Stock turnover has worsened.  It has fallen from 12 times to 6 times.  This is a negative trend.  The 
liquidity position of the business has worsened as it is taking much longer to sell stock.  This may 
mean it may have too much money tied up in stock, when it could have been used for other 
purposes.  If the decrease in stock turnover is as a result of decreasing sales, this will also have a 
negative effect on liquidity as it will have less revenue. 
 
I would not recommend that Born2Run plc should invest in this business.   
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Accounting – Higher Level 

SECTION 2 (200 marks) 
Answer any TWO questions 

5.  Interpretation of Accounts 

The following figures have been extracted from the final accounts of Shannon plc, a company 
involved in the renewable energy industry, for the year ended 31/12/2018.  The company has 
an authorised capital of €900,000 made up of 600,000 ordinary shares at €1 each and 300,000 
8% preference shares at €1 each. 

Shannon plc has already issued 500,000 ordinary shares and 250,000 8% preference shares. 

Trading and Profit and Loss Account for year 
ended 31/12/2018 

€  € 

Sales  960,000 

Opening stock  50,000   

Closing stock  60,000   

Costs of goods sold  (760,000) 

Operating expenses for year  (95,000) 

Interest for year  (15,000) 

Net profit for year  90,000 

Dividends paid  (55,000) 

Retained profit  35,000 

Profit and loss balance 01/01/2018    52,000 

Profit and loss balance 31/12/2018  87,000 

 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2018 

  €  € 

Fixed Assets    811,000 

Investments (market value 31/12/2018, €250,000)       210,000 

    1,021,000 

Current Assets (including debtors €78,000)  150,000   

Less creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year     

Trade creditors  (84,000)        66,000 

    1,087,000 

Financed by:     

6% Debentures (2025 secured)    250,000 

Capital and Reserves     

Ordinary shares @ €1 each  500,000   

8% Preference shares @ €1 each  250,000   

Profit and loss balance  87,000     837,000 

    1,087,000 

Market value of one ordinary share on 31/12/2018 is €1.35.   

Ratios and information for year 
ended 31/12/2017 

Earnings per ordinary share  10c 
Dividend per ordinary share  5c 
Interest cover  4.3 times 
Acid test ratio  0.86:1 
Market value of one ord. share  €1.25 
Return on capital employed  5.8% 
Gearing  56% 
Dividend cover  2 times 
Dividend yield  4% 
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Accounting – Higher Level 

(a)  You are required to calculate the following for 2018: (where appropriate 
calculations should be made to two decimal places). 

(i)  Cash sales if the period of credit given to debtors is 1.5 months. 

(ii)  Dividend yield. 

(iii) Dividend cover. 

(iv) Return on capital employed. 

(v)  Price earnings ratio.  (50) 

(b)  Indicate if the ordinary shareholders would be satisfied with the performance,  
state of affairs and prospects of the company.  Use relevant ratios and other 
information to support your answer. 

(40) 

(c)  Shannon plc is considering acquiring a solar panel company, Gener8 Ltd in 2019.  
Gener8 Ltd has supplied the following balance sheet information for 31/12/2018. 

Closing stock  €47,000 

Creditors  €45,000 

Debtors  €39,000 

Expenses accrued  €15,000 

Expenses prepaid  €13,000 

Bank overdraft  €16,500 

Based on the information given in the above table: 

(i)  Calculate the current ratio for Gener8 Ltd. 

Calculate the acid test ratio for Gener8 Ltd. 

(ii)  Using the calculated figures explain why it is important for Shannon plc to 
analyse the liquidity position for Gener8 Ltd. 

(10) 
(100 marks) 

125



11 

Q.5  Interpretation of Accounts 

(a) 

(i)  Cash sales if the average period of credit given to debtors is 1.5 months 

Debtors  ×  12  =  1.5 months 
Credit sales 

 
78,000     × 12 = 1.5  936,000 = 1.5x   x = 624,000 

X 
 

Cash sales = total sales–credit sales 

960,000 – 624,000 = €336,000   [10] 

(ii) 
Dividend yield = dividend per share × 100 

  market value 
 

DPS = Ordinary dividend  × 100 = 35,000 × 100 = 7 cent 
Issued ord. shares  500,000 

Dividend yield = dividend per share × 100 =  7 × 100 = 5.19%   [10] 
  market value  135 

 
(iii)  Dividend cover  net profit – preference dividend 
    Ordinary dividend 
 

90,000 ‐ 20,000  =  2 times 
35,000 

 
  [10] 
(iv) 

Return on capital employed = net profit + interest × 100 
capital employed 

90,000 + 15,000 × 100 = 9.66%  
1,087,000  [10] 

 
(v)  EPS = 90,000 – 20,000 = 70,000 × 100 = 14 cent   
  500,000  500,000 
 

Market value   =   135  = 9.64 years 
EPS    14    [10] 

   

50 
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(b) 

The shareholders would be very satisfied with the performance, state of affairs and 
prospects of the company for the following reasons: [2] 

Performance 

Profitability [7] 

The return on capital employed for 2018 is 9.66%.  In 2017 the return was 5.8%.  It has 
increased by 3.86%, this indicates a healthy trend.  Shannon plc is a profitable company as 
the return of 9.66% is better than the return from risk free investments of 1 ‐ 2% and is 
better than the debenture rate of 6%.  They are making more efficient use of their resources 
this year. 

Dividend Policy [7] 

The dividend cover is 2 times.  Last year’s dividend cover was also 2 times.  Shareholders 
would like to see slightly more profits being retained for expansion purposes and the 
repayment of loans. 

The dividend per share has risen from 5c in 2017 to 7c in 2018.  Shareholders would be 
happy with this improvement, based on current performance this trend is likely to continue.  
Dividend yield has improved from 4% to 5.19%.  Shareholders would be happy that the 
dividend yield is above the return from risk free investments of 1 – 2%. 

State of Affairs 

Liquidity [7] 

The quick ratio has improved from 0.86:1 to 1.07:1.  This is a positive trend and would 
please shareholders.  Shannon plc does not have a liquidity problem.  This ratio is above the 
ideal ratio of 1:1.  For every euro Shannon plc owes in the short term it has €1.07 available 
in liquid assets.  This improvement indicates Shannon plc will have no difficulty in paying 
shareholders a reasonable dividend.  

Gearing [7] 

The gearing has improved.  It has gone from being highly geared in 2017 at 56% to being 
lowly geared in 2018 at 46%/85.18%.  The firm is now financed more by equity than debt.  
Interest cover has improved from 4.3 times in 2017 to 7 times in 2018.  This improving trend 
would please shareholders as it will make the payment of interest easier.   

40 
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Investment Policy  

Investments which cost €210,000 now have a market value of €250,000, which represents 
an increase of €40,000 (19%).  This indicates efficient use of resources by management and 
would please shareholders. 
 
Prospects 

Sector [5] 

Short term prospects are encouraging as the company operates in the renewable energy 
industry which is a growing industry as more people are becoming environmentally aware 
e.g. households can receive grant aid for the insulation of solar panels.  Long term prospects 
are even more encouraging as oil supplies are anticipated to be depleted in approximately 
forty five years.  People are actively looking to employ renewable sources of energy. 
 

Market Value of Shares [5] 

The share price has risen from €1.25 to €1.35 (10c/8%) since 2017 and this trend is likely to 
continue based on this year’s performance.  This will please shareholders as it indicates 
stock market confidence in the company.  Based on current earnings, the time it takes to 
recover its value is 9.6 years which is also an improvement from 2017 of 12.5 years. This 
means the share is becoming relatively less expensive to buy as it will take a shorter time 
period for a shareholder to recover his/her investment in one ordinary share. 

(c)  (i)  The current ratio is 1.29:1.  This is below the ideal ratio of 2:1. 
The acid test ratio is 0.68:1.  This is also below the ideal of 1:1. 

 
(ii)  Gener8 Ltd is not liquid which is very serious, as a company that is not liquid 

may be forced into bankruptcy.  Therefore Shannon plc will want to know can 
the company take any positive action to improve its liquidity position. 
The poor liquidity of Gener8 Ltd could be a significant factor in whether Shannon 
plc decides to buy this company or not. 

   

10 
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Incomplete Records 

Method A 

This article looks at a summary of the topic and there is also a fully worked solution 

of the 2007 question 

Step 1 Test for Goodwill 

The owner buys a business and acquires assets and liabilities we add the assets and 

deduct the liabilities to find the net worth. 

We ask why the purchase price is bigger than the net worth. 

Owner is paying for the goodwill of the business. 

This is an intangible asset on the balance sheet. 

Step 2 Find credit sales 

Open a debtor's account 

Opening Balance ✓ 

CREDIT SALES ????? 

Missing figure = credit sales 

Step 3 Find cash sales 

Open a cash account 

Debtors a/c 

Bank 

Closing balance 

Put in the three obvious payments on the credit side 

Do not forget cash drawings or the closing cash balance 

Opening cash balance 

Cash sales 

Cash sales + credit sales

This goes in the Trading account 

Step 4 Find credit purchases 

Open a Creditors account 

Cash a/c 

Bank 

General Expenses 

Purchases 

DRAWINGS 

CLOSING BALANCE 

= total sales 

Creditors a/c 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

Bank ✓ Opening Balance ✓ 

Closing balance ✓ CREDIT PURCHASES ???? 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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Cash purchases is always given in the question 

Cash purchases + credit purchases = total purchases 

At this point we deduct drawings of stock from purchases 

The resultant net purchases figure goes in the trading account 

Complete the Trading account 

Open a bank account and put in the obvious lodgements and payments 

Bank a/c 

Debtors ✓ Vans ✓ 

Cash ✓ Creditors ✓ 

Dividends ✓ Light & Heat ✓ 

LOAN RECEIVED Interest ✓ 

Annual Insurance ✓ 

Covenant for charity ✓ 

Furniture/Equipment ✓ 

PREMISES 

FUND 

CLOSING BALANCE 

Step 7 Go to beginning of question and take every adjustment in order 

Example 

The purchase price is capital introduced 

Step 8 

Premises at the beginning 
+ 

New premises 
= 

New fixed asset figure 

Step 9 Insurance adjustment 

Prepaid at 1/1 

e.g. 3 months
+ 

¾ of annual insurance premium 

9 months 
= 

insurance expense for the year 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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Step 10 Wages due at the beginning are always deducted from general expenses 

as the wages are from last year. 

Rest of general expenses are this year's expense 

Step 11 

Light & Heat paid 

+ 

due at end 
= 

Light & heat used 

Drawings portion 
= 

Light & heat expense 

Step 12 

Loan x 
= 

To calculate loan interest= 

% x # months/12 

interest PAYABLE 

interest PAID 
= interest DUE 

Don't forget to remove drawings of interest from interest payable 

Rest of interest payable is an expense 

Step 13 Covenant for charity is an expense 

Step 14 Buying furniture or equipment increases fixed assets but there's usually a 

private portion which goes in drawings. 

Step 15 

Investment fund = # months x monthly transfer to fund + interest earned by the fund 

This is an intangible asset 
Note: interest earned by the fund is also added to gross profit as it is a gain 

Step 16 

Step 17 

The usual drawings are 

Stock 

Cash 

Light & Heat 

Interest 

Furniture or equipment 

Dividends without any obvious source are capital introduced 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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Incomplete Records 
On 1/1/2006, P. Lynch purchased a business for €590,000 which included the following 
tangible assets and liabilities: Premises €560,000; Stock €19,000; Debtors €12,000; 3 
months Premises Insurance prepaid €1,600; Trade Creditors €18,200; Wages due €2,600 
and Cash €200 

During 2006 Lynch did not keep a full set of accounts but was able to supply the 
following information on 3 l /12/2006. 

Cash Payments: Lodgements €116,000, General Expenses €73,800, Purchases €10 5,200. 

Bank Payments: Furniture €14,000, Creditors €38,800, Light and Heat €5,400, Interest 
€2,250, annual Premises Insurance Premium €6,800, Delivery Van €28,400. 

Bank Lodgements: Debtors €61,000, Cash €116,000, Dividends €3,000. 

Each week Lynch took goods from stock to the value of€150 and cash €200 for 
household expenses. 

Lynch borrowed €180,000 on 1/9/2006, part of which was used to purchase an adjoining 
premises and residence costing €155,000. It was agreed that Lynch would pay interest on 
the last day of each month at a rate of 5% per annum. The capital sum was to be repaid in 
a lump sum in the year 2015 and to provide for this the bank was to transfer €1,200 on 
the last day of each month from Lynch's business bank account into an investment fund 
commencing on 30/9/2006. 

Lynch estimated that 25% of the Furniture, 20% of interest payable for the year and 25% 
of Light and heat used should be attributed to the private section of the premises. 
Included in the assets and liabilities of the firm on 31/12/2006 were: Stock €16,400, 
Debtors €20,200, 
Trade Creditors €30,400, Cash €400, Electricity due €480 and €25 interest earned by the 
fund to date. 

You are required to: 
(a) Prepare with workings the Trading and Profit and Loss Accounts for the year ended
31/12/2006. (52)
(b) Show the Balance Sheet with workings as at 31/12/2006. ( 40)

( c) (i) Explain the term Accounting Concept?

(ii) Name TWO fundamental accounting concepts.
(iii) Illustrate an accounting concept applying to the accounts of P. Lynch. (8)
(100 marks)

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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Step 1 Test for Goodwill 

SOLUTION TO P. LYNCH 

The owner buys a business and acquires assets and liabilities we add the assets and 

deduct the liabilities to find the net worth. 

We ask why the purchase price is bigger than the net worth. 

Owner is paying for the goodwill of the business. 

This is an intangible asset on the balance sheet. 

Assets= 560,000 + 19000 +12000 +1600 +200 = 592,800 

Liabilities= 18200 +2600 = 20,800 

Net worth A-l = 572,000 

Purchase price - net worth = Goodwill 

590,000 - 572,000 = 18,000 

Step 2 Find credit sales 

Open a debtor's account 

Opening Balance 12000 

CREDIT SALES 69200 

Missing figure = credit sales 

Step 3 Find cash sales 

Open a cash account 

Debtors a/c 

Bank 

Closing balance 

Put in the three obvious payments on the credit side 

Do not forget cash drawings or the closing cash balance 

Cash a/c 

=O....,p e__ n=i=n""'g-B=a=la:.::.:n=ce"'--------'2=0=0 Bank 
Cash sales 305600 General Expenses 

Purchases 

DRAWINGS 

CLOSING BALANCE 

Cash sales + credit sales = total sales 

This goes in the Trading account 

305600+ 69200 = 374,800

Step 4 Find credit purchases 

Open a Creditors account 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 

Creditors a/c 

61000 

20200 

116000 

73800 

105200 

10400 

400 
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Debtors 61000 

Cash 116000 

Dividends 3000 

LOAN RECEIVED 180000 

Bank a/c 

Furniture 14000 

Creditors 38800 

Light & Heat 5400 

Interest 

Annual Insurance 6800 

Vans 28400 

PREMISES 155000 

FUND (4x1200) 4800 

CLOSING BALANCE 104550 

2250 

Step 7 Go to beginning of question and take every adjustment in order 

Example 

The purchase price is capital introduced = 590000 

Step 8 

Premises at the beginning =560000 

+ 

New premises 155000 
= 

New fixed asset figure 715000 

Step 9 Insurance adjustment 

Prepaid at 1/1 

e.g. 3 months = 1600

+ 

¾ of annual insurance premium 

9 months (¾ of 6800) =5100 
= 

insurance expense for the year = 1600 +5100 = 6700

Prepaid at end= 1700 (1/4 of annual premium) 

Step 10 Wages due at the beginning are always deducted from general expenses 

as the wages are from last year. 

Rest of general expenses are this year's expense 

73800 -2600 = 71200

Step 11 

Light & Heat paid = 5400 
+ 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 24 
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due at end 480 
= 

Light & heat used 5880 

Drawings portion 1470 

= 

Light & heat expense = 4410 

Step 12 

Loan x 

180000 X 

To calculate loan interest = 

% x # months/12 

5% X 4/12 

= interest PAYABLE =3000 

interest PAID 2250 

= interest DUE 750 

Don't forget to remove drawings of interest from interest payable 

3000 - 600 = 2400 

Rest of interest payable is an expense 

Step 13 Buying furniture or equipment increases fixed assets but there's usually a 

private portion which goes in drawings. 

Furniture 14000 - 3500 = 10500 

Step 15 

Investment fund = # months x monthly transfer to fund + interest earned by the fund 

This is an intangible asset 

Note: interest earned by the fund is also added to gross profit as it is a gain 

1200 X 4 =4800 + 25 =4825 

Step 16 The usual drawings are 

Stock =7800 

Step 17 

Cash = 10400 

Light & Heat= 1470 

Interest = 600 

Furniture = 3500 

23770 

Dividends without any obvious source are capital introduced 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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Question 7 - solution 

Trading and Profit and loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2006 

Sales 
Less Cost of Sales 
Opening stock 
Purchases (156,200 - 7,800) 

Closing stock 
Gross Profit 
Less Expenses 

General expenses 
Insurance 
Interest 
Light and heat 

Add Income from Investment Fund 
Net Profit 

(b) 

Intangible Fixed Assets 
Goodwill 

Tangible Fixed Assets 
Buildings 
Delivery Vans 
Furniture 

Financial Assets 
Investment Fund 

Current Assets 
Stock 
Debtors 
Bank 
Cash 
Prepayments (Insurance) 

€ € 

19,000 1 
148,400 

167,400

(16,400. 

71,200 1···.
6,700

2,400

4,410 

374,800 111 

(151,000) 
223,800

84,71 0 

139,090 

_
25 1 

139.115 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2006 

€ € € 

18,00o■ 

715,000 1 
28,400

10,500 753,900

4,825■ 
776,725

16,400

1 
20,200 

104,550 

400

1,700 143,250 

Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 30,400 1 Creditors 
Interest due 750 

Electricity due 480 

Financed By 

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 
Loan 

Capital 
Capital introduced 
Net Profit 

Less Drawings 

(31,630) 

590,000 1 
3,000

139,115 

732,115 

(23,770. 

111,620

888,345 

180,000■ 

708,345 

888.345 
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(c) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

Accounting concepts 
Accounting concepts are the accounting practices or rules that are applied in the 
preparation of financial statements. 

Fundamental Accounting concepts 
Accruals, Going Concern, Consistency and Prudence 

The accruals Concept - All expenses incurred in a particular period must be included 
in the accounts of that period regardless of whether they are paid or not. Similarly, all 
revenue income must be included in the accounts of that period whether received or not. 
E.g Electricity due for the current year must be included in the accounts, although the bill
may not be paid until the following year as the expense refers to the current year.
Insurance prepaid should not be included in the current year's accounts as the payment
refers to the following year.

Workings 

I. Sales - Credit (61,000 + 20,200- 12,000)
- Cash (116,000 + 73,800 + 105,200 + 10,400 + 400 - 200) 

Total Sales 

2. Purchases
Credit purchases (-18,200 + 30,400 + 38,800)
Cash purchases 
Total Purchases 
Less drawings of stock 
Total purchases 

3. General Expenses (73,800 - 2,600)

4. Insurance (l ,600 +6,800 - I, 700)

5. Interest (3,000 - 600)

6. Light and heat (5,400 + 480 1,470)

7. Drawings (7,800 + 10,400 + 1,470 +600 + 3,500)

71,200 

6,700 

2,400 

4,410 

23,770 

69,200 
305,600 
374,800 

51,000 
105,200 
156,200 

(7,800) 
148,400 
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7. Incomplete Records

On 1/1/2012, E. Kelly purchased a business for €205,000 consisting of the following tangible assets and
liabilities: Premises €174,000; Stock €14,300; Debtors €14,000; 3 months premises Insurance prepaid
€430; Trade Creditors €17,200 and Wages due €1,200.

During 2012 Kelly did not keep a full set of accounts but was able to supply the following information on
31/12/2012.

Cash Payments: 

Bank Payments: 

Bank Lodgements: 

Lodgements €94,000, General Expenses €22,500, Purchases €51,000. 

Equipment €30,000, Creditors €34,200, Light and Heat €4,600, Interest €2,400, 
annual Premises Insurance Premium €3,000, Standing Order for Charitable 
Organisation €2,500, Vehicle €32,000, Rent for one year €22,800. 

Debtors €32,000, Cash €94,000, Dividends €3,600. 

Kelly took goods from stock to the value of €80 per week and cash €60 per week for household expenses 
during the year. 

Kelly borrowed €72,000 on 1/7/2012, part of which was used to purchase an adjoining warehouse costing 
€60,000. It was agreed that the sum borrowed would be repaid in 12 equal instalments over a six year 
period commencing on the 1 January 2013. Interest was to be charged at the rate of IO% per annum and 
paid monthly. 

The figure for Rent was in respect of an adjoining building rented by Kelly on 1/8/2012. It was payable 
in advance and Kelly estimated that half of the building was used as a private residence and that 25% of 
the Light and Heat used should also be attributed to the private section of the building. 

Included in the assets and liabilities of the firm on 31/12/2012 were: Stock €15,500 ( including stock of 
heating oil €500), Debtors €16,600, Trade Creditors €14,300, Cash €550, Electricity due €640. 

You are required to show, with workings, the: 

(a) Trading and Profit and Loss Accounts for the year ended 31/12/2012 . (52) 
(b) BalanceSheet as at31/12/2012. (40) 
(c) What additional information would be available to Kelly ifhe used the 'double entry'

system to record financial transactions? (8) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 7 

(a) 
Trading and Profit and Loss account for the year ending 31/12/2012 

€ € 
205,770 

(b) 

Sales 
Less Cost of sales 

Opening stock 
Add Purchases 

Less Closing stock 
Gross Profit 
Less Expenses 

General expenses 
Light and heat 
Interest 
Insurance 
Charitable Organisation 
Rent 

Net Profit 

Intangible Assets 
Goodwill 

Tangible fixed Assets 
Buildings 
Vehicles 
Equipment 

Current Assets 
Closing Stock 
Stock of oil 
Debtors 
Bank 
Cash 
Insurance prepaid 
Rent prepaid 

Wl 

W2 

W3 
W4 
W5 
W6 

W7 

Balance sheet as at 31/12/2012 
€ 

W8 

15,000 

500 

16,600 

WlO 10,100 

550 

750 

6,650 

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within l year

Creditors 14,300 

I
Electricity due 640 

Interest due 1,200 

Loan instalment due 12,000 

Financed by: 
Loan 
Capital 
Capital introduced 
Net Profit 

Less Drawings W9 

14,300

78,140 

92,440 

(15,000)■ 

21,300 

3,555 
3,600 

2,680 

2,500 

4,750 

€ 

234,000 

I32,000 

30.000 

50,150 

(28,140) 

205,000 

I3,600

89,945 
298,545 
19,865 ■ 

(77,440) 
128,330 

(38,385) 

�-

€ 
20,670 ■ 

296,000

316,670 

22,010 
3382680 

60,000 ■ 

278,680 
338.680 
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(c) Additional information

General/Nominal Ledger Accowits 
Trial balance 
Total sales figure [credit and cash] 
Total purchases figure [ credit and cash] 
Bank balance 
Capital and drawings 
Bad debts, Expenses due and prepaid 
Discounts allowed or received 

Workings 
1. Sales

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

Credit sales
Cash sales 
Total Sales 

Purchases 

32,000 + 16,600- 14,000 
94,000 + 22,500 + 51,000 + 3,120 + 550 

Credit purchases 34,200 + 14,300 17,200 
Cash purchases 

Less Drawings of stock 
Total purchases 

General expenses 22,500 1,200 

Light and heat 4,600 + 640 - 500 1,185 

Interest 2,400 + 1,200 

Insurance 430 + 3,000 - 750 

Rent 22,800 - 11.400 - 6,650 

Goodwill 205,000 - 184,330 

Drawings 4,160 + 3,120 + 11,400 + 1,185 

10. Bank
Lodgements

Debtors 
Lodgement 
Loan 
Dividends 

Less Payments 
Equipment 
Creditors 
Light and heat 
Interest 
Insurance premium 
S/O Charitable organisation 
Vehicle 
Warehouse 
Rent 

32,000 
94,000 
72,000 
3,600 

30,000 
34,200 
4,600 
2,400 
3,000 
2,500 

32,000 
60,000 
22,800 

201,600 

191.500 
� 

I 

34,600 
I 71,170 
205,770 

31,300 
51,000 
82,300 
(4,160) 
78,140 

21,300 

3,555 

3,600 

2,680 

4,750 

20,670 

19,865 
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Incomplete records (Method B} 

This article looks at the more difficult incomplete records type where a balance sheet is 

prepared first to obtain the net profit and then we work backwards to find the sales 

figure. Unlike the type asked last year we cannot balance the question to give us the all 

important peace of mind. 

This topic has been examined in 2001 and 2003. 

Sample Question and fully worked solution 

C Mc Donald lodged €380,000 to a business bank account on 1/1/2005 and on the same 

day purchased a business for €350,000, including the following assets and liabilities: 

buildings €280,000, stock €26, 700, three months rates prepaid €3,600, debtors 

€42,500, wages due €8,600 and trade creditors €63,000. 

Mc Donald did not keep a full set of books during 2005 but estimates that the gross 

profit was 40% of sales and he was able to supply the following additional 

information on 31/12/2005: 

(i) Each week Mc Donald took from stock goods to the value of €110 and cash €160

for household expenses.

(ii) On 1/10/2005 Mc Donald borrowed €400,000, part of which was used to

purchase an adjoining premises costing €230,000. It was agreed that Mc Donald

would pay interest on the last day of the month at the rate of 8% per annum.

The capital sum was to be repaid in one lump sum in the year 2012 and, to 

provide for this, the bank was instructed to transfer €2,800 on the last day of 

every month from Mc Donald s business account into an investment fund. 

(iii) During the year, Mc Donald lodged dividends €2,400 to the business bank

account and made the following payments: light and heat €7,600, interest

€5,000, wages and general expenses €96,000, equipment €26,000, rates for

twelve months €15600 and college fees €4,500.

(iv) Mc Donald estimated that 25% of the following: equipment, light and heat used

and interest payable should be attributed to the private section of the

premises. He further estimates that 70% of college fees should be attributed to

a family member and the remainder to an employee.

(v) Included in the assets and liabilities of the firm on 31/12/2005 were stock

€17,200 (including stock of fuel 200), debtors €37,500, trade creditors €26,400,

cash at bank €67,382, electricity due €460 and €95 interest earned by the 

investment fund to date. 

You are required to prepare, with workings, a: 

(a) Statement/Balance Sheet showing Mc Donald's profit or loss for the year ended

31/12/2002. (SO)

(b) Trading, Profit and Loss Account, in as much detail as possible, for the year ended

31/12/2002. (40)

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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(c) Summary of the advice you would give to Mc Donald in relation to the information

given above. (10)

(100 marks) 

Step 1 Open a skeleton Balance Sheet (just the headings) and put in the obvious assets and 

liabilities given in part (v) of the question except interest earned by the fund. 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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Step 2 Test for Goodwill 

The owner buys a business and acquires assets and liabilities we add the assets and 

deduct the liabilities to find the net worth. 

We ask why the purchase price is bigger than the net worth. 

The owner is paying for the goodwill of the business. 

This is an intangible asset on the balance sheet. 

Assets 

Buildings 280,00( 

Stock 26,70( 

Debtors 42,50( 

Rates Prepaid 3,60( 

352,800 

Net worth is 352,800- 71,600 = 281,200 

Purchase price is 350,000 

350,000 - 281,200 = 68,800 

Liabilities 

Creditors 

Wages due 

Step 3 Go to beginning of question and take every adjustment in order 

Example 

The lodgement of 380,000 is capital introduced 

Step4 

Opening stock goes to the trading a/c = 26,700 

Steps 

Premises at the beginning= 280,000 

+ 

New premises 230,000 

= 

New fixed asset figure 510,000 

Step 6 Rates adjustment 

Prepaid at 1/1 

= 3 months = 3,600 

+ 

¾ of the12 month (annual) figure (3/4 of 15,600) 

3,600 + 11,700 

The Rates expense for the year is = 15,300 

(¼ of 15,600) is prepaid for next year and goes into current assets 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 

63,00 

860 

71,600 
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This figure= 3,900 

Step 7 Wages due at the beginning are always deducted from general expenses as 

the wages are from last year. 

The rest of general expenses are this year's expense 

Wages paid 96,000-8,600 = 87,400 

We must add on a portion of college fees for the employee which are a part of 

wages 

= 30% of 4,500 = 1,350 

Overall wages = 88,750 

The rest of college fees are for the family member and are drawings 

The amount is 70°/4 of 4500 = 3,150 

Step 8 

light & Heat paid 7,600 
+ 

due at end 460 

= 

Less prepaid at end (200) 

Light & heat used 7,860 

Drawings portion 25% 1,965 

= 

Light & heat expense 5,895 

Step 9 To calculate loan interest = 

Loan 400,000x 8% x 3/12 = 

interest PAYABLE= 8,000 

interest PAID 5000 

= interest DUE 3,000 

Don't forget to remove drawings of interest from interest payable¾ of 8,000 = 2,000 

The rest of interest payable is an expense = 8000 - 2,000 = 6000 

Step 10 Buying equipment increases fixed assets but there is usually a private 

portion which goes to drawings. 26,000-6,500 (1/4) = 19,500 

Step 11 

Investment fund= 3 months x 2,800 (monthly transfer to fund)= 8,400 + 95 ( 

interest earned by the fund) 

This is an intangible asset = 8,495 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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Note: interest earned by the fund is also added to gross profit as it is a gain 

Step 12 The usual drawings are 

Stock 110 x 52 = 5,720 

Cash 160 x 52 = 8,320 

Light & Heat 1,965 

Interest 2,000 

Equipment 6,500 

College fees 3,150 

27,655 

Step13 Dividends without any obvious source are capital introduced 

Trading Profit and loss AC for year ending 31-12-04 

Sales 

Less Cost of Sales 

Opening stock (step 4 ) 

Purchases (step 17} 

- Closing stock

Cost of sales

Gross Profit 

Add interest earned by the fund 

Less expenses 

Interest (step 9) 

Wages and general expenses (step 7) 

Light and heat (step 8 ) 

Rates (step 6) 

NET LOSS 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/04 

Fixed assets 

Premises (step 5) 

Equipment (step 10) 

Goodwill (step 2) 

Fund (step 11) 

Current assets 

Stock (step 1 ) 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 

26,700 

86,333 

(17,000) 

Step 15 

6,000 

88,750 

5,895 

15,300 

Step14 

17,000 

160,055 

Step 16 

96,033 

64,022 

95 

----,,. 64,117 

(115,945} 

111(51,828) 

510,000 

19,500 

68,800 

8,495 

606,795 
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Debtors (step 1) 

Bank (step 1) 

Rates Prepaid (step 6 ) 

Fuel prepaid (step 1) 

Current liabilities 

Creditors (step 1 ) 

Electricity due (step 1} 

Interest due (step 9 } 

Working capital 

Financed by: 

Capital (step 3) 

+ Introduced (step 13}

+ Net profit

- Drawings (step 12)

+ Loan

FOOTNOTE 

26,400 

The most difficult part is finding net profit. 

Let our missing net profit = x 

460 

37,500 

      67,382 

3,900 

200 

125,982 

(29,860) 

380,000 

2,400 

X 

(27,655} 

400,000 

In the financed by section 380,000 +2,400 + X- 27,655 + 400,000 = 702,917 

Step 14 

Solving for X 

X = 702,917 -380,000-2,400 +27,655 -400,000 

= net loss of 51,828 

Step 15 

Net loss (51,828} + total expenses 115,945 = Gross profit plus gains 64,117 

Step16 

96,122 

702,917 

702,917 

If gross profit is 64,022 (after deducting interest earned} and this is 40% of sales we 

can find sales by dividing by O .4 

This gives us 160,055 

Step17 

If we know gross profit and sales we can find cost of sales 160,055 -64,022 

=96,033 

Opening stock + purchases -closing stock = Cost of sales 

26,700 + purchases -17000 = 96,033 

Purchases= 96,033 +17,000-26,700 = 86,333 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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7. Incomplete Records

On 1/1/2008, E. Fuller purchased a business for €400,000 which included the following tangible assets
and liabilities: Premises €292,000; Stock €36,000; Debtors €32,200; 3 months Rates Prepaid €450;
Equipment €20,000, Trade Creditors €35, 700; Wages Due €1 ,200 and 5% Investments €50,000.

During 2008 Fuller did not keep a full set of accounts but estimates that gross profit was 20% of sales
and was able to supply the following information on 3 l /12/2008.

(i) Each week Fuller took goods from stock to the value of €80 and cash €170 for household
expenses.

(ii) On 1/8/2008 Fuller borrowed €120,000 which, together with €30,000 ofFuller's personal funds,
was used to purchase an adjoining premises. It was agreed that the sum borrowed would be
repaid in 20 equal half-yearly instalments. The first instalment becomes due on 1/2/2009.
Interest was to be charged at the rate of 6% per annum to be paid monthly at the end of each
month.

(iii) During the year Fuller lodged to the business bank account, EU grant €6,000 and Investment
Interest €2,500.

Fuller made the following payments from the business bank account during the year:
Light and Heat €7 ,500, Interest €2,000, Equipment (purchased on 1/7/2008) € 15,000, Delivery
Vans (purchased on 1/9/2008) €30,000, Wages and General Expenses €80,000, Rates for 12
months €7,000. The payment for wages and general expenses includes €3,000 petrol bill for
Fuller's private use.

(iv) Fuller estimated that 20% of rates payable for the year, 20% of light and heat used and 25% of
interest payable should be attributed to the private use.

(v) Fuller has decided to set up a Provision for Bad Debts amounting to 3% of debtors and to charge
depreciation at 15% per annum on the delivery vans and 10% per annum on equipment held on
31/12/2008.

(vi) Included in the assets and liabilities of the firm on 31/12/2008 were stock €20,500 (which
includes a stock of heating oil €300), debtors €34,000, trade creditors €35,400, bank overdraft
€5,400 and electricity due €460.

You are required to prepare, with workings, a 

(a) Statement/Balance Sheet showing Fuller's profit or loss for the year ended 31/12/2008. (50) 

(b) Trading, Profit and Loss Account, in as much detail as possible, for the year ended 31/12/2008. (40)

(c) Summary of the advice you would give to Fuller in relation to the information given above. (10) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 7 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2008 

Intangible Assets 
Goodwill 

Tangible Fixed Assets 
Premises (292,000 + 150,000) 
Equipment (20,000 + 15,000) 
Delivery Vans 

Financial Assets 
5% Investments 

Current Assets 
Closing stock W 2 
Stock of heating oil 
Debtors 
Less Provision for bad debts 
Rates prepaid W 3 

Wl 
Wl 

€ € € 
Cost 442,000 1·.' 35,000 30,000 

507,000 

34,oootB 

Dep Net 442,000 2,750 I... 32,250 

1,500 . 28,500 4,250 502,750 

20.;�I
<1.020> 11 32,9so 

1.1so II ss,230 

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within one year. 
Creditors 
Bank overdraft 
Loan instalments due 
Interest due W 4 
Electricity due 

Financed by 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
Loan 

Capital - Balance 1/1/2008 
Capital introduced 
Net Profit W 8 

35,400 
5,400 12,000 1,000 460 (54,260) 

1H:I 471,392 

€ 
6,250 [11 

502,750

so,oooll 
559,000 

970 559.970 
108,000

Less Drawings W 5 
Capital Employed 

09,422> 11 451,970 559.970 
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Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ending 31/12/2008 

Sales WlO 
Less Cost of Sales 
Opening stock 
Purchases 
Less drawings W12 

Less closing stock Wll 
Gross Profit 
Add Investment interest 

Less Expenses 
Rates W3 
Light and heat W7 

Interest W4 
Wages and general expenses W 6 
Bad debts provision 
Depreciation Equipment 
Depreciation Vans 

Net Profit W9 

€ 

495,960 
(4,160) 111 

€ 

36,ooofl 

491,80011 
527,800 

(20,200) 

4,560. 
6,128 
2,250 

75,800 
1,020 
2,750 
1,500 

€ 

634,500 

507,600 
126,900 

2,soolJ 
129,400 

Fuller should keep a detailed cash book and general ledger supported by appropriate subsidiary day books. 
This would enable Fuller to prepare an accurate Trading and Profit and Loss Account and therefore avoid 
reliance on estimates. 
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Workings: 

1. Depreciation
Equipment: 10% x 20,000 = 2,000 

½ X 10% X 15,000 = 750 2,750 

Vans: 1/3 x 15% x 30,000 = 1,500 

2. Closing stock 20,500 

Less heating oil (300) 20,200

3 Rates 7,000 
Add rates prepaid 1/1/2008 450 
Less rates prepaid 31/12/2008 (1,750) 
Less drawings (1,140) 4,560 

4. Interest paid 2,000 
Add interest due 1,000 
Less drawings (750) 2,250

5. Drawings
Purchases 4,160 
Cash 8,840 
Petrol 3,000 
Light and Heat 1,532 
Rates 1,140 
Interest 750 19,422 

6 Wages and General expenses 80,000 
Less wages due (1,200) 
Less drawings of petrol (3,000) 75,800 

7 Light and Heat 7,500 
add electricity due 460 
less stock of oil (300) 
less drawings (1,532) 6,128 

8. Net profit for the year (balancing figure in Balance Sheet) € € 

Total Net Assets 559,970 
Less loan (108,000) 
Less capital after drawings and before profit (416,578) 35,392 

9. Gross Profit
Net Profit + Expenses - Gains (35,392+ 94,008- 2,500) = 126,900 

10. Sales Gross Profit = 20% of sales 126,900 X 5 634,500 

11. Cost of sales
Sales less gross profit 634,500 - 126,900 = 507,600 

12. Purchases
Cost of sales + closing stock - opening stock
507,600 + 20,200 - 36,000 = 491,800 

151



Q 4 Incomplete Records 

On 1/1/2010 R. O'Hagan lodged €480,000 to a business bank account and on the same day 
purchased a business for€420,000, consisting of the following tangible assets and liabilities: 
buildings €400,000, stock €14,200, three months rates prepaid €1,800, debtors €24,400, 
wages due €2,900 and trade creditors €49,000. 

During 2010 O'Hagan did not keep a full set of books but was able to supply the following 
additional information on 31/12/2010: 

(i) Each week O'Hagan took from stock, goods to the value of€160 and a cheque for €120 to
pay household expenses.

(ii) On 1/10/2010 O'Hagan borrowed €360,000, part of which was used to purchase an adjoining
premises costing €280,000. It was agreed that interest would be paid on the last day of each
month at the rate of 4% per annum. The capital sum was to be repaid in one lump sum in the year
2017 and to provide for this the bank was instructed to transfer €4,800 on the last day of every
month from O'Hagan's business account into an investment fund.

(iii) During the year, O'Hagan lodged receipts from cash register €120,000 and
dividends €3,800 to the business bank account.

O'Hagan also made the following payments by cheque: light and heat €8, 100, interest €2,400,
wages and general expenses €86,000, equipment € 11,000, rates for twelve months €8,400 and
son's college fees €2,000.

(iv) O'Hagan estimated that 20% of the following: equipment, light and heat used and interest
payable should be attributed to the private section of the premises.

(v) Included in the assets and liabilities of the firm on 31/12/2010 were stock €16,700,
debtors €31,200, trade creditors €27,300, electricity due €620 and €36 interest earned by the
investment fund to date.

Required: 

(a) Prepare a Statement/Balance Sheet showing O'Hagan's profit or loss for the
year ended 31 /12/20 IO. (Show your workings).

(b) What advice would you give O'Hagan in relation to record keeping?

(52) 

(8) 

(60 marks) 
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Question 4 

(a) 

(b) 

Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2010 
Intangible Assets 

Goodwill 
Fixed Assets 

Buildings 
Equipment

Financial Assets 
Investments 

Current Assets 

(400,000 + 280,000) 

Stock at 31 December 2010 

Trade Debtors 
Bank 
Rates prepaid

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year
Creditors 
Interest due 
Electricity due 

Net Current assets

Financed by 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than 1 year
Loan 

Capital - Balance at 1/1/2010 

Add Capital introduced
Less Drawings 

Add Net Profit
Capital Employed 

16,700 1 
31,200 

125,260 
2,100 

27,300 1 
1,200

620 

€ 

680

8,8
,000

00 

175,260 

(29,120) 

480.000 

I 3,800 

(21,224) 

O'Hagan should keep a detailed cash book and general ledger supported by appropriate
subsidiary day books. This would enable O'Hagan to prepare an accurate trading and 
profit and loss account and therefore would avoid reliance on estimates. 

Workings 

Light and heat - amount paid 
Add electricity due 31/12/2010 

Less drawings 

Rates • amount paid 
Add rates prepaid 1/1/2010 

Less rates prepaid 31/12/2010 

Interest • amount paid 
Add interest due 
Less drawings 

8,100
620 

{1,744)

8,400
1,800 

(2,100) 

2,400
1,200 

(720) 

€ 
31,soo 11

688,800 

14,436
734,736

146,140 

880,876

360,000 11 

462,576 
822,576 

58,300 ■
880,876 

I 
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Drawings 
Drawings of stock 
Cash/bank 
College fees - family member 
Equipment 
Light and heat 
Interest 

Balance/Lodgment 
Loan 
Capital introduced 
Cash lodgments 

Bank Account 
480,000 Business 
360,000 Drawings 

3,800 Wages 
120,000 Equipment 

963.800 

Purchases 
Investments 
Light & heat 
Interest 
Rates 
College Fees 
Balance 

8,320 
6,240 
2,000 
2,200 
1,744 

720 

� 

420,000 
6,240 

86,000 
ll,000 

280,000 
14,400 
8,100 
2,400 
8,400 
2,000 

125,260 
963,800 
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Page 8 of 10 

7. Incomplete Records 
 

On 01/01/2014, A. Murphy purchased a business for €220,000 consisting of the following tangible 
assets and liabilities:  Premises €180,000; Stock €17,000; Debtors €18,000; 3 months Premises 
Insurance prepaid €1,200; Trade Creditors €22,500; Wages due €1,800 and Cash €400. 

 
During 2014 Murphy did not keep a full set of accounts but was able to supply the following 
information on 31/12/2014. 

 
Cash Payments: Lodgements €110,000, General Expenses €45,800, Purchases €86,200. 
 
Bank Payments: Creditors €42,100, Light and Heat €6,800, Interest €1,500, annual 

Premises Insurance Premium €3,800, Standing Order for Charitable 
Organisation €3,000, Delivery Vans €35,200. 

 
Bank Lodgements: Debtors €34,000, Cash €110,000, Dividends €4,000. 
 
Murphy took goods from stock to the value of €100 per week and cash €120 per week for household 
expenses during the year.   
 
Murphy borrowed €120,000 on 01/09/2014, part of which was used to purchase an adjoining 
showroom costing €90,000. The remainder of the loan was used to purchase furniture.  It was agreed 
that Murphy would pay interest on the last day of each month at a rate of 5% per annum.  The capital 
sum was to be repaid in a lump sum in the year 2022 and to provide for this the bank was to transfer 
€1,250 on the last day of each month from Murphy’s business bank account into an investment fund 
commencing on 30/09/2014.  
 
Murphy estimated that 25% of the furniture, 20% of interest payable for the year and 25% of light and 
heat used should be attributed to the private section of the premises.  
 
On the 31/12/2014 goods with a sales value of €6,000 which had been sold on credit at a mark-up of 
20% on cost had not been recorded in the books.  An invoice was issued to the debtor on the same date.  
The goods were still in the warehouse and were included in closing stock. 
 
Included in the assets and liabilities of the firm on 31/12/2014 were: Stock €16,200, Debtors €20,400, 
Trade Creditors €32,600, Cash €600, Electricity due €380 and €30 Interest earned by the fund to date. 
 
 
Required: 

 
(a) Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2014.  (Show workings) (52) 
(b) Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2014.  (Show workings) (40) 
(c) Explain the ‘Accruals Concept’ and why it is fundamental to Accounting practice. (8) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 7 

(a) 52  
Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2014 

 € € 
Sales W 1 290,840 [9] 
Less Cost of sales 
Opening stock 17,000 [3] 
Purchases (138,400 – 5,200) W 2 133,200 [7] 
 150,200 
Closing stock (16,200 – 5,000) (11,200) [5] (139,000) 
Gross Profit 151,840 
Less Administration expenses  

General expenses W 3 44,000 [5] 
Donation 3,000 [2] 
Insurance W 4 4,050 [7] 
Light and heat W 6 5,385 [7] (56,435) 

  95,405 
Less Interest W 5 (1,600) [2] 

  93,805 
Add Income from Investment Fund        30 [2] 
Net Profit 93,835 [3] 

 

(b) 40  
Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2014 

Intangible Fixed Assets € € € 
Goodwill   27,700 [3] 

Tangible Fixed Assets 
Buildings  270,000 [2] 
Delivery Vans  35,200 [1] 
Furniture  W 7 22,500 [2] 327,700 

Financial Assets 
Investment Fund        5,030 [2] 

   360,430 
Current Assets 

Stock 11,200 [1] 
Debtors W 8 26,400 [3] 
Bank 50,600 [7] 
Cash 600 [1] 
Prepayments (Insurance) 950 [2] 89,750 

Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 
Creditors 32,600 [1] 
Interest due W 5 500 [2] 
Electricity due 380 [1] (33,480)   56,270 

   416,700 
Financed By 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

Loan   120,000 [2] 
Capital  220,000 [2] 
Capital introduced  4,000 [3] 
Net Profit    93,835 
  317,835 
Less Drawings W 9  (21,135) [5] 296,700 

   416,700 
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(c) 8 
 
The accruals Concept – The accruals concept matches  expenses and gains to a specific period. 
All expenses incurred and income gained in a particular period must be included in the accounts of that 
period regardless of whether they are paid/received or not  e.g  electricity due for the current year must 
be included in the accounts, although the bill may not be paid until the following year as the expense 
refers to the current year. Advertising prepaid should not be included in the current year’s accounts as 
the payment refers to the following year. 
Similarly, all revenue income must be included in the accounts of that period whether received or not. 
Items sold on credit must be treated as income immediately and not when the money is actually received. [4] 

Financial Statements are prepared on an accruals rather than on a cash basis. If Financial Statements are not 
prepared on an accruals basis profits and assets will be overstated or understated for the period covered by 
the statements because expenses and income included or excluded may refer to a past or future period.   [4]    

 
Workings 
1. Sales - credit  [34,000 + 26,400 – 18,000)] 42,400 
 Sales - cash [110,000 + 45,800 + 86,200 + 6,240 + 600 – 400] 248,440 
 Total Sales 290,840 

2. Purchases 

Credit purchases  [42,100 + 32,600 -22,500 ] 52,200 
Cash purchases   86,200 
Total Purchases  138,400 
Less drawings of stock (5,200) 
Total purchases 133,200 

 
3. General Expenses  [45,800 – 1,800] 44,000 

4. Insurance   [1,200 + 3,800 – 950] 4,050 

5. Interest [2,000 – 400] 1,600 
Interest due [2,000 – 1,500] 500 

 
6. Light and heat [6,800 + 380 – 1,795] 5,385 

7. Furniture [120,000 – 90,000 = 30,000 – 7,500] 22,500 

8. Debtors [20,400 + 6,000] 26,400 

9. Drawings  [6,240 + 5,200 + 7,500 + 400 + 1,795] 21,135 

10. Bank Account 
Lodgements – sales 110,000 Creditors 42,100 
Debtors 34,000 Light and heat 6,800 
Dividends 4,000 Interest 1,500 
Bank 120,000 Insurance 3,800 

   Standing order  3,000 
   Delivery van 35,200 
  Showroom 90,000 
  Furniture 30,000 
  Investment fund 5,000 
  _______ Balance   50,600 
  268,000  268,000 
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Leaving Certificate 2018 5  
Accounting – Higher Level 

3.  Incomplete Records 
 

On 01/01/2017, T. Walsh purchased a business for €425,000 consisting of the following 
tangible assets and liabilities: premises €300,000, equipment €30,000, stock €22,600, 
debtors €28,300, 3 months premises insurance prepaid €4,800, trade creditors €25,400 and 
wages due €800. 
 
During 2017 Walsh did not keep a full set of accounts but was able to supply the following 
information for the year ended 31/12/2017: 

 
Cash Payments:  Lodgements €141,000, general expenses €43,200,  
  purchases €76,000. 
 
Bank Payments:  Light and heat €11,500, annual premises insurance premium €19,600, 

creditors €47,000, interest €1,200, rent for one year €24,000, 
equipment €12,000, standing order for charitable donation €2,000. 

 
Bank Lodgements:  Debtors €52,000, cash €141,000. 
 
Walsh took from stock goods to the value of €70 per week and cash €90 per week for 
household use during the year. 

Walsh borrowed €120,000 on 01/07/2017 to purchase an adjoining premises.  It was agreed 
that Walsh would pay interest at the rate of 6% per annum.  One quarter of this building was 
used as a private residence.  The capital sum is to be repaid using an investment fund which 
has been set up.  This fund has earned interest of €900 to date. 

Walsh estimated that 20% of the light and heat used as well as 25% of the interest payable 
for the year should be attributed to the private section of the premises. 

The figure for rent was in respect of an adjoining building rented by Walsh on 01/08/2017, 
payable in advance. 

Equipment owned on 31/12/2017 is to be depreciated at a rate of 14% of cost per annum. 

Included in the assets and liabilities of the business on 31/12/2017 were: stock €24,200, 
debtors €23,400, trade creditors €18,200, cash €860 and electricity due €1,300. 

Required: 

(a)  Prepare the trading, profit and loss account, for the year ended 31/12/2017.  
Show your workings. 

(52) 
(b)  (i)  Explain why Walsh should keep records of the amounts taken out as drawings. 

(ii)  Explain the importance of double entry bookkeeping for Walsh. 
(8) 

(60 marks) 
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Q.3  Incomplete Records  52 

(a) 

Trading profit and loss account for year ended 31/12/2017 

  €  €  € 

Sales (N1)      312,840  [9] 

Less cost of sales       

Opening stock    22,600  [2]   

Purchases (N2)    112,160  [7]   

    134,760   

Less closing stock    (24,200) [2]  (110,560) 

Gross profit      202,280 

Less Expenses       

General expenses (N3)    42,400  [4]   

Light and heat (N4)    10,240  [5]   

Insurance (N5)    19,500  [5]   

Interest (N6)    2,700  [5]   

Rent (N7)    10,000  [4]   

Standing order    2,000  [2]   

Depreciation on equipment (N8)    5,880  [2]   (92,720) 

      109,560 

Add Operating Income       

Interest on fund             900  [2] 

Net profit      110,460  [3] 
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Workings 

Sales (N1)       

Credit  52,000 + 23,400 – 28,300  47,100   

Cash  141,000 + 43,200 + 76,000 + 4,680 + 860  265,740  312,840 

Purchases (N2)       

Credit  47,000 + 18,200 – 25,400  39,800   

Cash    76,000   

Less drawings of stock  (3,640)  112,160 

Gen. expenses (N3)  43,200 – 800    42,400 

Light and heat (N4)  11,500 + 1,300 – 2,560    10,240 

Insurance (N5)  19,600 + 4,800 – 4,900    19,500 

Interest (N6)  1,200 + 2,400 – 900    2,700 

Rent (N7)  24,000 – 14,000    10,000 

Dep. equip (N8)  42,000 × 14%    5,880 

(b)    8 

(i)  If drawings are not treated correctly they may be entered in error as a business 
expense with the result that the profit figure will be reduced/understated.  It is also 
essential to control/monitor how much is taken from the business in the form of 
drawings. 

(ii)  Importance of double entry bookkeeping for Walsh: 

 It provides a more accurate look at the financial position of a business than single 
entry bookkeeping due to the matching principle which uses accrual accounting 
rules to record revenue and expenses. 

 It reduces errors by providing checks and balances. 

 It reduces fraud because it allows transactions to be traced/audited. 

 It can be used in the preparation of financial statements. 
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4. Incomplete Records 
 

On 01/01/2015 H. O’Neill lodged €560,000 to a business bank account and on the same day purchased 
a business for €490,000, consisting of the following tangible assets and liabilities: buildings €450,000, 
stock €15,700, three months rates prepaid €2,400, debtors €26,600, wages due €4,800 and trade 
creditors €51,000. 

 
During 2015 O’Neill did not keep a full set of books but was able to supply the following additional 
information on 31/12/2015: 
 
(i) Each week O’Neill took from stock, goods costing €190 and issued a cheque each week for €150 

to pay household expenses. 
 
(ii) On 01/10/2015 O’Neill borrowed €350,000, part of which was used to purchase an adjoining 

premises costing €295,000.  It was agreed that interest would be paid on the last day of each 
month at the rate of 6% per annum. 
The capital sum was to be repaid in one lump sum in the year 2021.  To provide for this the bank 
was instructed to transfer €5,200 on the last day of every month from O’Neill’s business account 
into an investment fund. 

 
(iii) During the year O’Neill made lodgements to the business bank account as follows: 

€145,000 from the cash register; 
€4,200 dividends. 

 
(iv) O’Neill also made the following payments by cheque: light and heat €9,200,  

interest €3,500, wages and general expenses €94,000, equipment €16,000, rates for twelve 
months €10,800 and diesel for private car €4,600. 
 

(v) O’Neill estimated that 30% of the following: equipment, light and heat for the year and loan 
interest for the year should be attributed to the private section of the premises. 
 

(vi) Included in the assets and liabilities of the firm on 31/12/2015 were stock €17,300,  
 debtors €37,300, trade creditors €44,600, electricity due €760 and €39 interest earned by the 

investment fund to date. 
 

 
Required: 
 
(a) Prepare a Statement/Balance Sheet showing O’Neill’s profit or loss for the year ended 

31/12/2015.  (Show your workings.) (52) 
 
(b) What advice would you give O’Neill in relation to record keeping? (8) 

 
(60 marks) 
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Question 4 
 
(a) 

 52  

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2015 
Intangible Assets € € 

Goodwill W 1 51,100  [3] 
Fixed Assets  

Buildings (450,000 + 295,000) 745,000  [4]  
Equipment W 2  11,200  [3] 756,200 

Financial Assets 
Investments    15,639  [5] 

 822,939 
Current Assets 

Stock at 31/12/2015 17,300  [2]  
Trade debtors 37,300  [2]  
Bank W 3 112,700  [5]  
Rates prepaid W 4 2,700  [3] 170,000 

 
Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 

Creditors 44,600  [2]  
Interest due  W 5 1,750  [3]  
Electricity due  760  [2]  (47,110) 

Working capital   122,890 
   945,829 
Financed by 
 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than 1 year 

Loan 350,000  [2] 
 
Capital - Balance at 01/01/2015  560,000  [2]   

Add Capital introduced   4,200  [3]   
Less Drawings W 6 (31,643) [7]  532,557 

 882,557 
Add Net profit    63,272  [4] 
Capital employed   945,829 

 
 
 
(b) 

  8  

 
O’Neill should keep a detailed cash book and general ledger supported by appropriate 
subsidiary day books.  This would enable O’Neill to prepare an accurate trading and profit 
and loss account and therefore would avoid reliance on estimates or net worth to ascertain 
profit. 
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Workings 
 
1. Goodwill account – (Purchase price less net worth) € 

Purchase price  490,000 
Assets 
Buildings 450,000 
Stock 15,700 
Rates prepaid 2,400 
Debtors 26,600 494,700 
Less Liabilities 
Wages due 4,800 
Creditors 51,000 (55,800) 
Net worth (438,900) 
Goodwill 51,100 

 
2. Equipment less drawings 30% [16,000 - 4,800] 11,200 
 
 
3. Bank Account 

 € € 
Lodgement 560,000 Business 490,000 
Loan 350,000 Drawings 7,800 
Capital introduced 4,200 Wages 94,000  
Cash lodgements 145,000 Equipment 16,000 

  Purchases-premises 295,000 
  Investments 15,600 
  Light and heat 9,200 
  Interest 3,500 
  Rates 10,800 
  College fees 4,600 
 ________ Balance    112,700 
 1,059,200  1,059,200 
 
4. Rates - amount paid 10,800 

Add rates prepaid 01/01/2015 2,400 
Less rates prepaid 31/12/2015 [25% × 10,800] (2,700) 

 
5. Interest - amount paid 3,500 

Add interest due 1,750 
 5,250 

Less drawings (1,575) 
 
6. Drawings 

Drawings of stock 9,880 
Cash/bank 7,800 
College fees – family member 4,600 
Equipment 4,800 
Light and heat 2,988 
Interest   1,575 
  31,643 

 
7. Light and heat - amount paid  9,200 

Add electricity due 31/12/2015     760 
 9,960 
Less drawings [30% × 9,960] (2,988) 
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6. Cash Flow Statement 
 

The following are the Balance Sheets of Quig plc as at 31/12/2013 and 31/12/2014. 
 

Balance Sheets as at 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 
Fixed Assets € € € € 
Cost 640,000 470,000  
Less accumulated depreciation (200,000) 440,000 (80,000) 390,000 
Financial Assets     
Investments at cost  100,000  200,000 
Current Assets     
Stock 350,000  295,000  
Debtors  170,000  110,000  
Less bad debt provision (8,500) (5,500) 
Government Securities 56,000 ---------- 
Cash   34,000    60,000  
 601,500  459,500  
Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year    
Trade creditors 202,000  235,000  
Bank 18,000  31,000  
Taxation   55,000    47,000  
 275,000 326,500 313,000 146,500 
 866,500  736,500
Financed by     
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year    
10% Debentures  180,000  130,000 
Capital and Reserves     
Ordinary shares @ €1 each 310,000  250,000  
Share premium 15,000  ---------  
Profit and Loss account 361,500 686,500 356,500 606,500 
 866,500  736,500

 
The following information is also available: 

1. 60,000 shares were issued at €1.25 per share. 
2. Fixed assets, which cost €50,000 and on which total depreciation of €25,000 had been provided 

were sold for €30,000. 
3. €50,000 Debentures were issued on 01/01/2014 
4. Dividends paid during the year amounted to €55,000. 
5. Taxation charge on profits for the year 2014 was €65,000 
6. Investments which cost €100,000 were sold for cash at their book value. 
 

Required: 
(a) (i) Prepare an Abridged Profit & Loss account to ascertain the operating profit for the year 

 ending 31/12/2014. 
(ii) Prepare the Cash Flow Statement of Quig plc for the year ending 31/12/2014, including 

Reconciliation statements. 
 (88) 

(b) (i) Outline the purposes of cash flow statements. 
(ii) Explain, why having earned a profit during 2014, the company’s cash balance declined. (12) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 6 

88 
 
 
 Abridged Profit and Loss account for the year ending 31/12/2014 € 

Operating profit 143,000 [3] 
Less interest (18,000) [3] 
Profit before tax 125,000 
Taxation (65,000)  [3] 
Profit after tax 60,000 
Dividends (55,000)  [3] 
Retained profit 5,000 
Profit and loss balance 1/1/2014 356,500 [3] 
Profit and loss balance 31/12/2014 361,500   [3] 
 
 
 
Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flow from operating activities 
 € 
Operating profit 143,000 [2] 
Depreciation charge for the year W 1 145,000 [4] 
Profit on sale of fixed assets W 2 (5,000) [2] 
Increase in provision for bad debts W 3 3,000 [3] 
Increase in stock (55,000) [3] 
Increase in debtors (60,000) [3] 
Decrease in creditors (33,000) [3] 
Net cash inflow from operating activities 138,000 

Cash Flow Statement of Quig plc for the year ended 31/12/2014 
Operating Activities € € 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  138,000 [2] 
Return on Investment and Servicing of Finance  [1] 

Interest paid  (18,000) [3] 
Taxation  [1] 

Tax paid W 4  (57,000) [3] 
Capital Expenditure and Financial Investment  [1] 

Sale of fixed assets 30,000 [5] 
Purchase of fixed assets W 5  (220,000) [5] 
Sale of investments 100,000 [4] (90,000) 

Equity Dividends paid  [1] 
Dividends paid  (55,000) [3]  

Net cash outflow before liquid resources and financing  (82,000)  
Management of Liquid Resources  [1] 

Government securities  (56,000) [3] 
Financing  [1] 

Issue of debentures 50,000 [3] 
Issue of ordinary shares 60,000 [2] 
Share premium 15,000 [2] 125,000 

Decrease in Cash (13,000) [5] 
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Reconciliation of net cash to movement in net debt € 
Decrease in cash (13,000)  
Cash used to purchase liquid resources 56,000 [1] 
Cash received from issue of debentures (50,000) [1] 
Change in net debt (7,000) 
Net debt at 1/1/2014 (101,000) [1] 
Net debt at 31/1/2/2014 (108,000) [1]  

 

 12  
(b) (i) Purposes of Cash Flow Statements [8] 

To show that profits do not always equal cash 
To show the cash inflows and outflows during the past year 
To help predict future cash flows  
To help financial planning 
To provide information to assess liquidity/solvency 
To comply with legal requirements 
To aid application for loans 

 
(ii) Explain decline in Company’s cash balance in 2014 [4] 

Purchase of fixed assets reduced cash by €220,000 but did not reduce profit. 
Purchase of Government securities reduced cash by €56,000 but did not reduce profit 
Payment of dividends €55,000 and tax €57,000 reduced cash by €112,000 but did not reduce 
profit 
Increase in stock, debtors and decrease in creditors reduced cash by €148,000 but didn’t reduce 
profit 

 
 
Question 6 – Workings 
 
W 1 -  Depreciation  
 Depreciation provision on fixed assets 1/1/2014 80,000 
 Less Depreciation on disposed  (25,000) 
 55,000 
 Add Depreciation charge for the year 145,000 
 Depreciation provision on fixed assets on 31/12/2014 200,000 
  
 
W 2 - Profit on disposal of fixed assets  

Cost of asset disposed 50,000 
Less Depreciation on disposed asset (25,000) 
Book value of asset 25,000 
Less receipts from sale  30,000 
Profit on disposal 5,000 

 
W 3 - Provision for Bad Debts  

Increase in BDP   [8,500 – 5,500] = 3,000 

W 4 - Taxation  
Taxation due 31/12/2013 47,000 
Taxation for year 2014   65,000 

 112,000 
Less taxation due 31/12/2014 (55,000) 
Tax paid  57,000 

 
W 5 - Fixed assets 640,000 – [470,000 – 50,000] = 220,000
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Leaving Certificate 2019  12   

Accounting – Higher Level 

7.  Cash Flow Statement 

The following are the balance sheets of Jackson plc as at 31/12/2017 and 31/12/2018. 

Balance Sheets as at  31/12/2018  31/12/2017 

Intangible Assets  €  €  €  € 

Goodwill    55,000    66,000 

Fixed Assets         

Fixed assets at cost  650,000    550,000   

Less accumulated depreciation  (125,000)  525,000  (80,000)  470,000 

Financial Assets         

Quoted investments      40,000      40,000 

    620,000    576,000 

Current Assets         

Stock  107,500    89,000   

Cash  4,000    850   

Debtors  54,000    56,000   

Provision for bad debts  (1,600)    (1,200)   

Government securities  27,000    ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐   

Investment interest due     2,100        1,800   

  193,000    146,450   

Less creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year     

Creditors  64,000    72,000   

Bank overdraft  15,000    25,000   

Taxation  55,000    51,200   

Interest payable due      1,400        2,000   

  135,400    57,600  150,200     (3,750) 

    677,600    572,250 

Financed by:         

Creditors: amounts falling due after 1 year       

8% Debentures  120,000    80,000   

Capital and Reserves         

Ordinary shares @ €1 each  510,000    450,000   

Share premium  12,000    ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐   

Profit and loss account  35,600    42,250   

    677,600    572,250 

   

192



Leaving Certificate 2019  13   

Accounting – Higher Level 

The following information is also available: 

(i) The shares were issued at €1.20 per share on 01/01/2018. 

(ii) Fixed assets which cost €70,000 and on which total depreciation of €27,000 had 
been provided, were sold for €41,300. 

(iii) Debentures, €40,000, were issued on 30/09/2018. 

(iv) The total dividend paid for the year was 6c per share. 

(v) Taxation charged on profits for the year was €51,000. 

(vi) The quoted investments yield a fixed return of 6% per annum. 

(vii)  Goodwill is to be amortised over a six year period, commencing in 2018. 

Required: 

(a)  (i)  Prepare an abridged profit and loss account to ascertain the operating profit for the 
year ending 31/12/2018. 

(ii)  Prepare the cash flow statement of Jackson plc for the year ended 31/12/2018 
including reconciliation statements. 

(88) 

(b)  (i)  Explain what is meant by a non‐cash item. 

Give three examples, using the figures provided. 

(ii)  Explain two items that affect cash but not profit. 

(12) 

(100 marks) 
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Q.7  Cash Flow Statement 

(a)  (i) 

Abridged Profit and Loss Account of Jackson plc for the year ending 31/12/2018 

  €   

1. Operating profit  79,750  [1] 

2. Investment income  2,400  [3] 

3. Debenture interest  (7,200)  [3] 

4. Profit before tax  74,950   

5. Taxation  (51,000)  [2] 

6. Profit after tax  23,950   

7. Dividends  (30,600)  [3] 

8. Retained profit  (6,650)   

9. Profit and loss balance 01/01/2018  42,250  [3] 

10. Profit and loss balance 31/12/2018  35,600  [3] 

 

Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flow from operating activities 

  €   

Operating profit  79,750  [1] 

Depreciation charge for the year  72,000  [1] 

Loss on sale of fixed assets  1,700  [2] 

Increase in bad debts provision  400  [2] 

Goodwill written off   11,000  [2] 

Increase in stock  (18,500)  [3] 

Decrease in debtors  2,000  [3] 

Decrease in creditors  (8,000)  [3] 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  140,350   

   

18 
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(ii)  Cash Flow statement of Jackson plc for the year ended 31/12/2018 

  €  € 

Operating Activities     

Net cash inflow from operating activities    140,350 [2] 

     

Return on Investment and Servicing of Finance [1]     

Interest paid   (7,800) [4]   

Investment income  2,100  [4]  (5,700) 

     

Taxation [1]     

Corporation tax paid    (47,200) [4] 

     

Capital expenditure and financial investment [1]     

Receipts from sale of fixed assets  41,300  [3]   

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets  (170,000) [5]  (128,700) 

     

Equity Dividends paid [1]     

Equity dividends paid    (30,600) [3] 

Net cash outflow before liquid resources and financing    (71,850) [2] 

     

Management of Liquid resources [1]     

Purchase of government securities    (27,000) [3] 

     

Financing [1]     

Issue of debentures   40,000  [3]   

Receipts from share issue  60,000  [3]   

Receipts from share premium  12,000  [2]  112,000 

Increase in cash    13,150  [4] 

Reconciliation of net cash to movement in net debt 

  €   

Increase in cash  13,150  [1] 

Cash received from debentures  (40,000)  [1] 

Cash used to purchase liquid resources  27,000  [1] 

Change in net debt  150   

Net debt 01/01/2018  (104,150)  [1] 

Net debt 31/12/2018  (104,000)  [1] 

   

48 

5 
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(b) 

(i)  Non‐cash items are items in the profit and loss account that affect the net 
profit, but they do not affect the cash situation. 

E.g. depreciation €72,000, increase in bad debt provision€ 400, goodwill 
written off €11,000, loss on sale of fixed asset €1,700. 

(ii)  The purchase of fixed assets decreases cash but does not affect profit. 

Or 

The sale of fixed assets increases cash but does not affect profit. 

The introduction of capital increases cash but not profit. 

Or 

Drawings reduce cash but has no effect on profit. 

Loans received or repaid can also be used as an example, as can investments 
bought or sold. 

12 
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2.  Cash Flow Statement 

The following are the balance sheets of Grant plc as at 31/12/2016 and 31/12/2015 together 
with an abridged profit and loss account for the year ended 31/12/2016. 

Abridged Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2016 

  € 

Operating profit  157,000 

Investment income for the year     2,000 

Interest for the year  (12,000) 

Profit before taxation  147,000 

Taxation for the year  (44,000) 

Profit after taxation  103,000 

Dividends paid  (32,000) 

Retained profit for the year  71,000 

Retained profit on 01/01/2016    85,000 

Retained profit on 31/12/2016  156,000 
 

Balance Sheets as at  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Fixed Assets  €  €  €  € 

Land and buildings at cost  720,000    635,000   

Less accumulated depreciation    (75,000)  645,000   (60,000)  575,000 

Machinery at cost  405,000    325,000   

Less accumulated depreciation  (185,000)  220,000  (163,000)  162,000 

    865,000    737,000 

Financial Assets         

Investments at cost    75,000    280,000 

Current Assets         

Stock  151,000    144,000   

Debtors   148,000    135,000   

Investment income due  300    400   

Government securities  40,000    ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐   

Cash      3,500        2,000   

  342,800    281,400   

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year       

Trade creditors  180,000    210,000   

Bank  8,000    12,000   

Interest due  2,800    3,400   

Taxation    36,000      45,000   

  226,800     116,000  270,400       11,000 

    1,056,000    1,028,000 

Financed by         

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year     

8% Debentures    180,000    350,000 

Capital and Reserves         

Ordinary shares @ €1 each  700,000    580,000   

Share premium  20,000    13,000   

Profit and loss account  156,000     876,000  85,000     678,000 

    1,056,000    1,028,000 

Continued on page 5 
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The following information is also available: 

1.  There were no disposals of machinery during the year but new machines were acquired. 

2.  New buildings were purchased during the year for €200,000.  Buildings were sold 
during the year at a loss of €15,000. 

3.  Depreciation charged for the year on buildings in arriving at the operating profit was €42,000. 

 
Required: 

(a) Prepare the cash flow statement of Grant plc for the year ended 31/12/2016 including 
reconciliation statements.  (52) 

(b) (i)  Cash flow statements are useful in assessing solvency.  Explain the underlined term. 

(ii)  Financial Reporting Standard 1 requires companies to prepare a cash flow statement. 
  What is a Financial Reporting Standard? 

(iii)  Grant plc has reduced its gearing significantly between 2015 and 2016. 
  What are the implications of this change?  (8) 

(60 Marks) 
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Question 2 – Cash Flow Statement 
 
(a) 

  52 

Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flow from operating activities 

  €   

Operating profit  157,000  [2] 

Deprecation charge for the year  64,000  [3] 

Loss on sale of fixed assets  15,000  [2] 

Increase in stock  (7,000)  [3] 

Increase in debtors  (13,000)  [3] 

Decrease in creditors   (30,000)  [3] 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  186,000  [2] 

     

 

Cash Flow Statement of Grant plc for the year ended 31/12/2016 

           

Operating Activities    €    €   

Net cash inflow from operating activities      186,000   

Return on Investment and Servicing of Finance       

Interest paid    (12,600)  [2]     

Interest received    2,100  [2]  (10,500)   

Taxation           

Corporation tax paid        (53,000)  [2] 

Capital Expenditure and Financial Investment  [1]       

Sale of investments    205,000  [2]     

Sale of buildings    73,000  [2]     

Purchase of machinery    (80,000)  [2]     

Purchase of buildings    (200,000)  [2]  (2,000)   

Equity Dividends Paid    [1]       

Equity dividends Paid        (32,000)  [1] 

Net cash inflow before liquid resources and financing    88,500  [2] 

Management of Liquid Resources    [1]       

Purchase of government securities        (40,000)  [1] 

Financing    [1]       

Repayment of debentures    (170,000)  [1]     

Receipts from issue of ordinary shares    120,000  [1]     

Receipts from share premium    7,000  [1]  (43,000)   

Increase in cash        5,500  [4] 

           

 
Reconciliation of net cash to movement in net debt  € 
Increase in cash  5,500  [1] 
Cash used to purchase liquid resources  40,000  [1] 
Cash used to repay debentures  170,000  [1] 
Change in net debt  215,500   
Net debt 01/01/2016  (360,000)  [1] 
Net debt 31/12/2016  (144,500)  [1] 
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(b)  8 

 
(i) Solvency is the ability of the company to pay all its debts as they fall due for payment (long 

term).  A firm is solvent if total assets are greater than total external liabilities.   

 
(ii)  A Financial Reporting Standard is a rule that must be applied to all financial statements in 

order to give a true and fair view of the company’s financial position.  It sets out best practice 
in accounting that allows accounts to be compared from year to year and from company to 
company. 
 

(iii)  Implications of reduced gearing. 

1.  Low interest repayments increase the amount of profits available for investment 
elsewhere in the business.   

2.  Shareholders are more likely to get a dividend when gearing is low. 
3.  The business has greater financial stability as it is less affected by rises in interest rates. 
4.  The business should find it easier to raise additional loan finance. 

 

Workings 

Cost of disposed building  635,000 + 200,000 – 720,000  =  115,000 

       

Dep. to date on disposed building  60,000 + 42,000 – 75,000  =  27,000 

       

Cash received from disposed building  115,000 – 27,000 – 15,000  =  73,000 

       

Depreciation  42,000 + 22,000  =  64,000 

       

Taxation paid  44,000 + 45,000 – 36,000  =  53,000 

       

Interest paid  12,000 + 3,400 – 2,800  =  12,600 

       

Interest received  2,000 + 400 – 300  =  2,100 
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The key areas are Receipts & Payments Account and the Income and Expenditure Account. 

Receipts & Payments is the Bank account and records all cash inflows and outflows. 

Its opening Balance at 1/1 is either a current asset or a current liability on our opening 

statement in part (a). 

The closing Balance goes in the Balance Sheet at 31/12. 

The Income & Expenditure account is the profit and loss account and shows all the Income 

that the club SHOULD receive in the given year e.g. subscriptions. 

It also shows the Expenditure that the club SHOULD have paid in the year. The key here is the 

time frame. All expenditure in the l&E e.g. green-keeper's wages whereas Purchase of 

Equipment or a pool table is long term item and goes into FIXED ASSETS. 

Procedure for a Question 

Open a statement of assets and liabilities as at 1/1 

Include all the obvious items 

Assets 

o Clubhouse

o Bar Stock

o Machinery

o Debtors

o Investments

Not so obvious assets would include 

o Investment interest due (to the club)_

o Subscriptions due (to the club)

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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l&E figure 

Levy Reserve at 1/1/03 

+ 2003's figure

12,000 

12,000 

24,000 

39000 

No change to Life members but you usually write off a % as Annual Income 

0 Investment Interest received= 

- due at 1/1

€2000 is the 8% Interest on investments 

€2,000 X 100 

8 

= 100% at the capital (investments) 

= €25,000 asset at 1/1 

The l&E figure is €2,000 

9 Prize Bonds are an intangible asset 

NOW TREATED AS A CURRENT ASSET. 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 

€2,200 

€200 

€2,000 

40 

206



3 Club Account 

Included among the assets and liabilities of the Bard's Valley Golf Club on 1/1/2007 were the 
following: 
Clubhouse and Course €750,000, Bar stock €7,000, Equipment (at cost) €26,000, Life membership 
€40,000, Bar Debtors €535, Bar creditors €6,000, Levy Reserve Fund €50,000, Investment interest 
receivable due €400 Wages due €2,500, Subscriptions received in advance €1,600. 

The club treasurer has supplied the following account of the club's activities during the year ended 
3 l/ 12/2007. 

Receipts 
Bank Current account 
Investment Interest from 
5% Government Investments 
Entrance fees 
Catering receipts 
Annual sponsorship 
Subscriptions 
Bar receipts 

€ 
14,000 

1,600 
15,000 
14,000 
25,000 

250,000 
I 10,460 

430,060 

Payments 

Bar purchases 
Catering costs 
Sundry expenses 
Equipment 
Golf lessons for club teams 
Repayment of €30,000 loan on 

31/5/2007 together with I½ 
years interest 

Transfer to Building Society 
on 31/12/2007 

Balance 

You are given the following additional information and instructions: 
1. Bar stock on 31/12/2007 was €8,500

€ 
78,500 
8,000 

186,400 
45,000 
4,600 

33,600 

60,000 
13,960 

430.060 

2. Equipment owned on 31/12/2007 is to be depreciated at the rate of 20% of cost.
3. Clubhouse and course to be depreciated by 2%.
4. Bar Debtors and Creditors on 31/12/2007 were €275 and €3,220 respectively.
5. Subscriptions include:

(i) One Life membership bringing total Life membership to 21.
(ii) Subscriptions for 2008 amounting to €2,600.
(iii) Levy for 2007 of €250 on 200 members.
(iv) Levy of €250 on 10 members for 2006

6. Life membership was to be written off over a l O year period commencing in 2007.

You are required to: 

{a) Show the Club's Accumulated Fund (Capital) on 1/1/2007. 

(b) Show the Income and Expenditure Account for the year ending 31/12/2007

( c) (i) Explain with the use of an example what is meant by a Special Purpose
Profit & Loss Account. 

(ii) If it were proposed to introduce a further four year levy to fund a €250,000 extension

(25) 

(25) 

what points would you as an ordinary member now make. (10) 

(60 marks) 

(9 Page 4 of12 
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Question 3 

Assets 
Clubhouse 
Bar stock 
Equipment 
Bar Debtors 
Investments 
Investment interest due 
Bank current account 
Levy due (250xl0) 

Less Liabilities 
Life membership 
Bar creditors 
Levy reserve fund 
Wages due 
Loan 

Accumulated Fund 1/1/2007 
€ 

750,000 
7,000 

26,000 
535 

W 1 24,000 
400 

14,000 
2,500 

Loan interest due W 2 

40,000 
6,000 

50,000 
2,500 

30,000 
2,600 
1,600 Subscriptions prepaid 

Accumulated Fund/Capital 1/1/2007 

(b} 

824,435 

Income & Expenditure Account for year ended 31/12/2007 
Income 

Bar profit 
Investment interest 
Entrance fees 
Catering profit (14,000-8,000) 
Annual sponsorship 
Subscriptions 
Life membership 

Less Expenses 
Sundry expenses (186,400-2,500) 
Golf lessons 
Loan interest 
Depreciation - equipment 
Depreciation - clubhouse 

W3 

W4 

Surplus oflncome over Expenditure for the year 

35,980 
1,200 

15,000 
6,000 

25,000 
194,500 

4,200 

183,900 1 
4,600 
1,000 

14,200 
15,000 

281,880 

(218,700) 

awl■ 
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Bar Trading Account 

Sales [110,490 + 275 -535] 
Less Cost of goods sold 

Stock 1/1/2007 
Add Purchases [78,500 + 3,220 - 6,000] 

Closing Stock 
Bar Profit 

Workings: 

1. Investments

2. Loan interest due 1/1/2007

3. Investment interest

€ 

7,000 
75,720 
82,720 
(8,500) 

5% 1,200 100% 

3,600 - 1,000 

1,600 - 400 

4. Subscriptions 1,600 + 250,000 - 2,000 - 50,000 - 2,500 - 2,600 

(c) 

€ 

110,200 

(74,220} 

24,000 

2,600 

1,200 

194,500 

(i)
Sometimes non profit making organisations such as a club prepare a Profit and Loss account for 

activities that are carried out to make a profit e.g. running a club lottery, dances, bar, restaurants 

etc. All expenses and revenues relating to that particular activity are entered in a special profit and 

loss account and the profit is then transferred to the income and expenditure account.

(ii)

The proposed levy would raise €200,000 over 4 years [250 x 200 x 4]

Yes/No

As a member I would make the case that the club is capable of generating enough income from 

within as it has a surplus of income of €63, 180. The club is financially sound as it has cash of

€13,960, building society investment of€60,000 and 5% government investments €24,000 

totalling €97,960 even after it has paid off a loan and interest of €33,600 and

had purchased equipment for €45,000.

However a sizeable proportion of the surplus is provided by Entrance Fees of€ 15,000 and 

Sponsorship of €25,000. This income cannot be guaranteed in future years.
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6. Club Accounts

Included among the assets and liabilities of the Glen Tennis Club on 1/1/2010 were the following: 

Clubhouse and courts €250,000, equipment (at cost) €75,000, bar stock €15,000, bar debtors €1,280, 
bar creditors €8,400, life membership €24,000, levy reserve fund €20,000, wages prepaid €400, 
subscriptions due €500. 

The Club Treasurer has supplied the following account of the club's activities during the year ended 
31/12/2010 

Receipts and Payments Account of Glen Tennis Club for year ended 31/12/2010 

Receipts 

Bank current account 
Interest from 4% investments 
Bar receipts 
Catering receipts 
Subscriptions 
Annual sponsorship 
Sale of equipment ( cost €4,000) 

€ 
1,140 
1,500 

74,000 
12,700 
84,000 
7,500 
2,500 

183.340 

Payments 
Bar purchases 
Sundry expenses 
Repayment of €30,000 loan on 

30/9/2010 with 15 months interest 
Equipment 
Catering costs 
Prize Bonds 
Coaching lessons 
Travel expenses 
Balance at bank 31/12/2010 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i) Bar stock on 31/12/2010 was €13,300.

€ 
38,500 
24,000 

33,960 
8,000 

15,800 
4,400 
3,500 

10,000 
45,180 

183.340 

(ii) Equipment owned on 3 l /12/20 l O is to be depreciated at the rate of 25% of cost.
(iii) Clubhouse and courts to be depreciated by 2% of cost.
(iv) Bar debtors and bar creditors on 31/12/20 IO were €300 and €8,600 respectively.
(v) Subscriptions include:

Two life memberships, bringing total life membership to ten. 
Subscriptions for 2011 amounting to €300 
Levy for 2010 of €100 each on 200 members 
Levy of€100 on 8 members for 2009. 

(vi) Investment interest due on 31/12/2010 was €500.
(vii) Life membership to be written off over a five year period commencing in 20 I 0.

Required 

(a) Show the Club's Accumulated Fund (Capital) on 1/1/2010.

(b) Show the Income and Expenditure account for the year ended 31/12/2010.

(c) Show the Club's Balance Sheet on 31/12/2010.

(d) (i) State and explain two limitations of a Receipts and Payments Account.

(ii) The club is considering the installation of floodlights at a cost of€70,000.
What advice would you give to the Treasurer of the club?

(30) 

(35) 

(20) 

(15) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 6 

(a) 

(b) 

Accumulated Fund at 1/1/2010 
Assets 

Clubhouse and Grounds 
Equipment 
Bar stock 
Bar debtors 
Wages prepaid 
Subscriptions due 
Bank 
4% Government investments 
Levies due 

Less Liabilities 
Bar creditors 
Life membership 
Levy Reserve 
Loan 
Loan Interest due 

Accumulated Fund/Capital 1/1/2010 

250,000 
75,000 
15,000 
1,280 

400 
500 

1,140 
50,000 

800 

8,400
1

24,000 
20,000 
30,000 
1,584 •. 

Income and Expenditure Account for the Year ending 31/12/2010 
€ 

Income 
Bar profit WI 32,620 1 
Interest from investments 2,000 
Subscriptions W2 56,400 
Annual sponsorship 7,500 
Life membership written off W3 6,000 

Expenditure 
Catering Loss W4 3,100 
Loss on sale of equipment 1,500 
Sundry expenses ws 24,400 
Coaching lessons 3,500 
Travel expenses 10,000 
Loan Interest 2,376 
Depreciation Equipment 19,750 
Depreciation Clubhouse and grounds 5,000 

Surplus of income 

394,120 

(83,984) 
310.13611 

€ 

104,520 

(69,626) 

34.894 ■ 
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(c) 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2010 

€ 

Fixed Assets 
Clubhouse and Courts 250,000

11 Equipment 79,000 

Investments 
4% Government Investments 

Current Assets 
Closing Stock 
Debtors 
Bank 
Investment Interest due 
Prize Bonds 

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 
Creditors 
Subscriptions prepaid 

Total Net Assets 

Financed by 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than 1 year 

Life membership 

Accumulated Fund 
Balance at 1 January 2010 
Add surplus of income 
Levy Reserve 

Capital Employed 

3291000 

13.,ool 300 
45,180 

500 
4,400 

8,600

1 300 

€ 

5,000
1 19,750 

24,750 

63,680 

(8,900) 

310,136

11 .. 34,894 

€ 

245,000 

59,250 
304,250 

50,000 

354,250 

54,780 
409,030 

24,000■ 

345,030 
40.000 

409,030 

(d) (i)

Limitations of a Receipts and Payments Account. ■

• does not show whether the club is raising enough funds to cover its running costs
• amounts due but unpaid at the end of the accounting period are not included
• only shows an increase or decrease in cash although there could be outstanding bills
• does not take into account losses such as depreciation
• does not show whether the club bar or restaurant are profitable
• does not distinguish between receipts for the current year and other years
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(d) (ii) II

Yes I would advise the treasurer to go ahead and install the floodlights. The improved facilities
would allow longer use of club courts resulting in added income from usage. This could
enable the club to increase its membership and thereby increase the annual surplus of income
as well as greater usage of restaurant and bar.

The club is in a strong financial position: It has a surplus of income over expenditure of
04,894 in the current year. At this rate of surplus enough funds would be generated in little
over two years.
The club has increased its bank balance to €1-5,180 after paying off a loan of 00,000 during
the year. [includes levy €20,000}
To fund the expenditure of €70,000 the club could use the cash balance of €1-5,180, the prize
bonds of €1-,400 and withdraw €20,420 from the investment fund.

The club should avoid using any of the funds raised through the levy as this is more than likely
earmarked for other purposes and these funds may be needed for future capital expenditure.

Funds available without Reserve Fund 
Investments 50,000 
Prize bonds 4,400 
Bank balance 45.180 

Less Levy 
Net available 

99,580 
(40,000) 

� 

Borrow the remainder in the short term as the club is capable of paying back quickly through 
its regular income sources. 

Question 6 - Workings 
I. Bar Trading account for the year ending 31/12/2010

Sales (74,000 + 300 1,280)
Less Cost of Sales

Opening stock 
Purchases (38,500 + 8,600 - 8,400) 

Closing stock 
Bar profit 

2. Subscriptions
Received
Less subs due 1/1/2010
Life membership
Levy 2010
Levy 2009
Subs prepaid 31/12/2010

3. Life Membership
1/1/2010
Amount received
less transferred to P&L account

4. Catering Loss
Receipts
Costs

5. Sundry Expenses
Payments
Add wages prepaid

15,000 
38,700 
53,700 

(13,300) 

84,000 
(500) 

(6,000) 
(20,000) 

(800) 
(300) 

24,000 
6,000 

(6,000) 

12,700 
(15,800) 

24,000 
400 

73,020 

(40,400} 
� 

56,400 

24,000 

3,100 

24,400 

213



4. Club Accounts

Included among the assets and liabilities of the Tallones Basketball Club on 1/1/2012 were
the following:
Clubhouse and Arena €680,000, Bar stock €2,200, Equipment (at cost) €23,000, Life membership
€25,000, Bar Debtors €421, Bar creditors €1,600, Levy Reserve Fund €12,000, Wages due €2,800,
Subscriptions received in advance €1,400.

The club treasurer has supplied the following account of the club's activities during the year ended 
3 l /12/2012. 

Receipts and Payments account for the year ended 31/12/2012 

Receipts € Payments 
Bank Current account 11,300 Bar purchases 
Interest from 4% Government Catering costs 
Investments 900 Sundry expenses 
Arena rent 15,000 Equipment 
Catering receipts 12,400 Coaching expenses 
Annual sponsorship 73,000 Repayment of €40,000 loan on 
Subscriptions 65,000 31/05/2012 together with 
Bar receipts 42,410 16 months interest 
Lotto receipts 52,500 Transfer to Building Society 

on 31/12/2012 
Lotto costs 
Balance 

212,510 

You are given the following additional information and instructions: 

1. Bar stock on 31/12/2012 was €2,450.
2. Equipment owned on 31/12/2012 is to be depreciated at the rate of 20% of cost.
3. Clubhouse and Arena to be depreciated by 2%.
4. Bar debtors and creditors on 31/12/2012 were €190 and €1,330 respectively.
5. Investment interest due on 31/12/2012 was €300.
6. Subscriptions include:

(i) Five Life memberships bringing total Life membership to 30.
(ii) Subscriptions for 2013 amounting to €2,400.
(iii) Levy for 2012 of€80 each on 150 members.
(iv) Levy of€80 each on 15 members for 201 I.

€ 
28,700 

9,900 
103,600 
41,000 

4,600 

44,800 

28,000 
7,600 
4,310 

212,510 

7. Life membership was to be credited to income over a 5 year period commencing in 2012.

You are required to: 

(a) Show the Club's Accumulated Fund {Capital) on 1/1/2012. (25) 
(b) Show the Income and Expenditure Account for the year ending 31/12/2012 (25) 

(c) (i) Explain with the use of an example what is meant by a Special Purpose 
Profit & Loss Account. 

(ii) The club has decided to lay an all-purpose floor at a cost of€150,000. The Treasurer
has proposed to increase the levy by €120 per annum and extend it for five more years.
As an ordinary member what arguments would you make against this proposal? ( I 0) 

(60 marks) 
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Question 4 

(a) 

(b) 

Accumulated Fund 1/1/2012 

Assets 
Clubhouse 
Bar stock 
Equipment 
Bar debtors 
Investments 
Bank current account 
Levy due (80 xl5) 

Less Liabilities 
Life membership 
Bar creditors 
Levy reserve fund 
Wages due 
Loan 
Loan interest due 
Subscriptions prepaid 

Accumulated Fund/Capital 1/1/2012 

WI 

W2 

€ 
680,000 

2,200 

23,000

421 
30,000

11,300 

1,200 

25,000 

1,600 

12,000 

2,800 

40,000 
3,300 
1,400 

Income & Expenditure Account for year ended 31/12/2012 

Income € 

Bar profit Wt 13,999 
Investment interest W2 1,200

Arena rent 15,000

Catering profit [12,400 - 9,900] 2,500

Annual sponsorship 73,000 
Lotto [52,500 7,600] 44,900 

Subscriptions W4 45,800 

Life membership ws 6,000

Less Expenditure 
Sundry expenses [103,600 - 2,800] 100.800 

I
Coaching expenses 4,600 
Loan interest W3 1,500 
Depreciation - Equipment 12,800 

Depreciation - Clubhouse and arena 13,600 

Surplus oflncome over Expenditure for the year 

€ 

202,399 

€ 

748,121 

86,100

662,021 II 

(133,300} 
69,092 ■ 
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(c) (i)■

Sometimes non-profit making organisations such as a club prepare a profit and loss account for
activities that are carried out to make a profit e.g. running a club lotto, dances, bar, restaurant etc.
All expenses and revenues relating to the particular activity are entered in a special purpose profit
and loss account and the profit/loss is then transferred to the income and expenditure account.

(ii)

The proposed levy would raise€ 150,000 over the next 5 years [200 x 150 x 5]
The club has funds amounting to:

Investments 30,000 
Building society 28,000 
Cash 4,310 

62,310 

As a member I would make the case: 
The proposed levy of€200 [120 +80] amounts to 66% of the annual subscription. 
An increased levy would discourage new members and perhaps cause a drop in membership. 

The club is capable of generating enough income from within as it has a surplus of income 
amounting to €69,099 and it is financially sound as it has a cash balance of €4,310, building 
society investment of €28,000 and 4% government investments €30,000 totalling €62,310. 

Although a sizeable proportion of the surplus is provided by sponsorship of€73,000 and it cannot be 
guaranteed in future years it should be noted that this figure is well below the non-recurring capital amounts 
paid during the year i.e. equipment €41,000 and loan €44,800 amounting to €85,800. 

The club should use the cash and investments total] ing €62,310 and borrow the remainder of €90,000 
approx or continue with current levy of€80 for 5 years plus use current funds and borrow €28,000 approx. 
The improved facilities could: 

Increase the rent earned from the arena 
Increase membership 
Encourage increased advertising income 

Workings: 

I. Bar Trading Account € € 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

Sales [42,410 + (190 421)] 42,179 
Less Cost of sales 

Stock 1/1/2012 2,200 
Add Purchases [28,700 + (1,330 - 1,600)] 28,430 

Less Closing Stock 
Bar Profit 

Investments 
Investment interest 

[4% 1,200] 
[900 + 300] 

30,630 
(2,450) (28,180} 

100% 

Loan interest due 1/1/2012 [4,800 1,500] 

Subscriptions 

Life membership 

[65,000 + 1,400- 5,000-2,400 1,200 12,000] 

1/5 [25,000 + 5,000] 

= 13,999 

30,000 
1,200 

3,300 

45,800 

6,000 
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3. Club Accounts

Included in the assets and liabilities of Stretford Golf Club on 01/01/2015 were the following:
clubhouse and course €650,000, bar stock €6,000, equipment at cost €24,000, bar debtors €355,
life membership €40,000, bar creditors €3,000,wages due €1,500, levy reserve fund €50,000,
subscriptions received in advance €1,400, investment interest due €300.

The club treasurer has supplied the following account of the club’s activities during the year ended
31/12/2015.

Receipts and Payments account for the year ended 31/12/2015 

Receipts € Payments €
Subscriptions  102,900 Bank current account balance 01/01/2015 8,500 
Catering receipts  6,500 Bar purchases 33,600 
Interest on 4% investments 2,400 Catering purchases  4,800 
Bar receipts 76,300 Equipment  18,000 
Entrance fees 10,000 Sundry expenses  124,350 
Annual sponsorship 11,400 Competition prizes  22,100 
Equipment grant 25,000 Dishonoured cheque – bar debt  80 
Competition receipts 25,600 Bank loan plus 15 months interest paid at 

8% on 31/12/2015 33,000 
______ Balance 31/12/2015   15,670 

260,100 260,100 

You are given the following information and instructions: 

(i) Stocks on 31/12/2015; bar stock €16,900, catering stock €600.
(ii) Investment interest due on 31/12/2015 was €400.
(iii) Equipment owned on 31/12/2015 is to be depreciated at the rate of 20% of cost.
(iv) Clubhouse and course to be depreciated by 2%.
(v) Subscriptions include:

1. Two life memberships bringing total life membership to 10.
2. Subscriptions for 2016 amounting to €800.
3. Levy for 2015 of €50 each on all 500 members.
4. Levy for 2014 of €50 each due from 20 members.

(vi) The club has decided that life membership is to be credited to income over a 10 year period
commencing in 2015.

(vii) The dishonoured cheque was not subsequently recovered and was written off as a bad debt.
(viii) Bar debtors and creditors on 31/12/2015 were €500 and €1,230 respectively.

Required: 

(a) Show the club’s accumulated fund (capital) on 01/01/2015. (25) 
(b) Show the income and expenditure account for the year ending 31/12/2015. (27) 
(c) Distinguish between ‘levy’ and ‘life membership’.  Explain how both are

treated in the accounts. (8) 
(60 marks) 
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Question 3 

(a) 

25
Accumulated Fund 01/01/2015 

Assets € €
Clubhouse and course 650,000  [1] 
Bar stock 6,000  [1] 
Equipment 24,000 [1] 
Bar debtors 355  [1] 
Investments W 1 62,500 [2] 
Levy due 1,000  [2] 
Investment interest due W 2 300  [2] 744,155 

Less Liabilities 
Life membership 40,000  [2] 
Bar creditors 3,000  [1] 
Wages due 1,500  [1] 
Levy reserve fund 50,000  [2] 
Subscriptions prepaid 1,400  [2] 
Loan 30,000 [1] 
Loan interest due W 3 600 [3] 
Bank current account 8,500  [1] (135,000) 

Accumulated fund 01/01/2015 609,155  [2] 

(b) 

27
Income and Expenditure Account for the year ended 31/12/2015 

Income € €
Bar profit W 4 55,515 [4] 
Investment interest W 2 2,500 [2] 
Subscriptions W 5 67,500  [6] 
Life membership W 6 5,000 [2] 
Catering profit W 7 2,300 [2] 
Competition profit W 8 3,500 [1] 
Entrance fees 10,000  [1] 
Annual sponsorship 11,400  [1] 

157,715

Less Expenditure 
Sundry expenses W 9 122,850  [2] 
Loan interest W 3 2,400 [1] 
Depreciation - clubhouse and course 13,000  [1] 
Depreciation - equipment 8,400  [1]
Bad debt      80  [1] (146,730) 

Surplus of income over expenditure 10,985  [2] 
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Leaving Certificate 2019  10
Accounting – Higher Level 

6. Club Accounts

Included in the assets and liabilities of Crest Wood Golf Club on 01/01/2018 were the
following:

Clubhouse and course €550,000, bar stock €5,800, equipment at cost €26,000,
investment interest due €400, bar debtors €480, life membership €45,000,
bar creditors €750, wages due €1,640, levy reserve fund €30,000,
subscriptions received in advance €1,900.

All fixed assets have 2 years accumulated depreciation on 01/01/2018.

The club treasurer has supplied the following account of the club’s activities during the
year ended 31/12/2018.

Receipts and Payments account for the year ended 31/12/2018 

Receipts  €  Payments  € 

Subscriptions  126,900  Balance 01/01/2018  7,300 

Catering receipts  8,500  Bar purchases  38,700 

Interest on 4% investments  2,800  Catering purchases  4,900 

Bar receipts  66,200 
Purchase of equipment on 
01/04/2018  15,000 

Entrance fees  12,000  Sundry expenses  81,500 

Annual sponsorship  7,400  Competition prizes  20,100 

National Lottery grant  15,500  Coaching expenses  5,600 

Competition receipts  28,000 
Bank loan and 18 months’ interest at 
3% per annum on 31/05/2018  20,900 

Transfer from building society    10,000  Balance 31/12/2018    83,300 

277,300  277,300 
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Leaving Certificate 2019  11
Accounting – Higher Level 

You are given the following additional information and instructions: 

(i) Bar stock (including catering stock €400) on 31/12/2018 was €13,600.

(ii) Bar debtors and bar creditors on 31/12/2018 were €500 and €1,230 respectively.

(iii) Investment interest due on 31/12/2018 was €300.

(iv) Subscriptions include:

1. Five new life memberships in addition to the fifteen from 2017.
2. Subscriptions for 2019 amounting to €900.
3. Levy for 2018 of €50 each from 600 members.
4. Levy for 2017 of €50 each due from 20 members.

(v) The club has decided that life membership is to be credited to income over a 10 year
period commencing in 2018.

(vi) The grant from the National Lottery was received on a once‐off basis to support the
day‐to‐day activities of the club.  It is to be treated as a revenue item.

(vii) Equipment owned on 31/12/2018 is to be depreciated at the rate of 20% of cost per
annum.  Clubhouse and course are to be depreciated by 2% of cost.

(viii) Wages due on 01/01/2018 were owed to the club coach.  Provide for a further
€2,500 wages due on 31/12/2018.

Required: 

(a) Show the club’s accumulated fund (capital) on 01/01/2018. (30) 

(b) Show the income and expenditure account for the year ending 31/12/2018. (35) 

(c) Show the club’s balance sheet as at 31/12/2018. (25) 

(d) The club would like to build a new driving range at a cost of €350,000.

Outline the options available to the club in funding this project with
reference to the accounts.

(10) 

(100 marks) 
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14 

Q.6   Club Account

(a) Accumulated Fund 01/01/2018 

Assets  €  € 

Clubhouse and course (NBV)  528,000 [2] 

Bar stock  5,800 [1] 

Equipment (NBV)  15,600 [2] 

Bar debtors  480 [2] 

Investment interest due  400 [1] 

4% Investments  67,500 [2] 

Building society  10,000 [1] 

Levy due    1,000 [2]  628,780 

Liabilities

Life membership  45,000 [2] 

Bar creditors  750 [2] 

Wages due  1,640 [1] 

Levy reserve fund  30,000 [2] 

Subscriptions  1,900 [2] 

Bank  7,300 [2] 

Loan due  20,000 [2] 

Loan interest due       650 [2]  (107,240) 

Accumulated fund 01/01/2018 521,540 [2] 

(b) Income and Expenditure Account year ended 31/12/2018

Income  €  € 

Bar profit  34,440 [6] 

Subscriptions  81,900 [6] 

Investment interest  2,700 [3] 

Profit on catering  4,000 [3] 

Entrance fees  12,000 [1] 

Annual sponsorship  7,400 [1] 

Profit on competition  7,900 [1] 

Life membership w/o  6,000 [2]

National Lottery grant  15,500 [1]  171,840 

Expenditure

Sundry expenses  81,500 [1] 

Coaching lessons  6,460 [3] 

Loan interest  250 [2] 

Dep: Clubhouse and course  11,000 [1] 

Equipment  7,450 [2]  (106,660) 

Excess/surplus income over expenditure  65,180 [2] 

30

35 
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15 

(c)  Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2018 

Fixed Assets  €  €  € 

Clubhouse and course  550,000 [1]  33,000 [2]  517,000 

Equipment    41,000 [2]  17,850 [2]    23,150 

591,000  50,850  540,150 

Financial Assets

4% Government investment  67,500 [2] 

Current Assets

Closing stock (13,200 + 400)    13,600 [2] 

Debtors  500 [1] 

Investment interest due 300 [1] 

Bank  83,300 [2] 

    97,700 

Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year

Creditors  1,230 [1] 

Wages due  2,500 [1]

Subscriptions prepaid  900 [2]  (4,630)    93,070 

Total net assets  700,720 

Financed by:

Creditors: amounts falling due after 1 year

Life membership  54,000 [2] 

Accumulated fund 01/01/2018  521,540 [1] 

Surplus of income/expenditure  65,180 [1] 

Levy reserve  60,000 [2]  646,720 

700,720 

25 
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(d) The club would like to build a new driving range at a cost of €350,000.  Outline the
options available to the club in funding this project with reference to the accounts.

They could fund it as follows:

Sales of investments  €67,500 
Bank balance  €83,300 
Total  €150,800 
Less levy  (€60,000) 
Net available  €90,800 

1. Investments can be sold which would realise €67,500.

2. They have a very healthy bank balance of €83,300 and would have no problem
meeting interest repayment.

They could fund this extension by borrowing the remainder of €259,200 without
having to touch their levy reserve fund.  A loan could be obtained as the club is a
profitable concern with more than adequate security in the form of its
clubhouse and course.

3. Based on the financial results for the year 2018, the club had a surplus of income
of €65,180 when this is added to the depreciation of €18,450, a non‐cash item.
It would indicate a cash inflow from operating activities in the region of €83,630.
This shows that the club, based on existing performance is very capable of
repaying a loan.

They have also repaid a loan with interest of €20,900 and bought equipment of
€15,000, and transferred €10,000 from their building society.

4. A sizeable part of their surplus, €34,900 of the income is coming from annual
sponsorship, entrance fees and lottery funding.  These are not guaranteed as a
source of income.

10 
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Workings: 

1. Investment income 2,800 – 400 + 300 = 2,700 = 4% 

4 % Investment  2,700/4 × 100 = 67,500 

2. Loan 3/12 × 18 = 4.5% 

104.5% = 20,900 

100% = 20,000 

Interest = 900  = 18 months 

Due 01/01 (13 months) €650, P and L (5 months) €250 

3. Bar trading account

€  € 

Bar receipts (66,200 – 480 + 500) 66,220 

Less cost of sales

Opening stock  5,800

Purchases (38,700 – 750 + 1,230)  39,180

Less closing stock   (13,200)  (31,780) 

Bar profit 34,440 

4. Subscriptions 126,900 + 1,900 – 15,000 – 900 – 30,000 – 1,000  81,900 

5. Catering 8,500 – 4,900 + 400 4,000 

6. Life membership w/o (45,000 + 15,000)/10  6,000 

7. Coaching expenses 5,600 – 1,640 + 2,500  6,460 

8. Dep: clubhouse and course  550,000 × 2% 11,000 

9. Dep: equipment 26,000 × 20% =   5,200 
15,000 × 20% = 3,000 × 9 ÷ 12 =  2,250 
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 Service Firm

The following were included in the assets and liabilities of the Oak Health Centre Ltd, on 1/1/2006:
Buildings €500,000; Equipment €70,000; Furniture at cost €20,000; Stock of health food for sale €1,300; Heating
oil €640; Creditors for supplies to Health Centre €1,250; 5% Investments €70,000; Contract cleaning prepaid
€250; Clients' fees paid in advance €4,300; Authorised Capital €430,000 and Issued Capital €300,000.

All fixed assets have 2 years accumulated depreciation on 1/1/2006.

The following is the Receipts and Payments Account for the year ended 31/12/2006:

Receipts and Payments Account of Oak Health Centre for year ended 31/12/2006 

Balance at Bank 1/1/2006 
Clients' fees 
Investment Income 
Shop receipts 

€ 
7,250 

252,600 
3,000 

65,000 

Laundry 
Wages & Salaries 
Repayment of€50,000 loan on 

l /5/2006 with 18 months interest
Equipment 
New extension 
Cleaning 
Light and heat 
Insurance 
Telephone 
Purchases shop 
Purchases supplies 
Balance at Bank 31/12/2006 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

I. Closing stocks at 3 l /12/2006: Shop €1,600, Heating oil €250.

€ 
800 

86,220 

57,200 
14,000 
70,000 
2,600 
2,800 
6,200 
1,660 

42,100 
36,800 
7,470 

2. Cleaning is done under contract payable monthly in advance and includes a payment of€300 for January
2007.

3. Clients' fees includes fees for 2007 of €3,000. Clients' fees in arrears at 31/12/2006 €450.
4. The closing figure for bank does not take into account a dishonoured cheque €100 received from a client

and lodged in late December.
5. Wages and Salaries include €12,000 per annum paid to the receptionist, who also runs the shop. It is

estimated that 70% of this salary, €200 of the light and heat, €500 of the insurance and €340 of the
telephone are attributable to the shop.

6. On 3 l /12/2006 the Oak Health Centre Ltd. decided to re-value Buildings at €680,000.
7. Electricity due 31/12/2006 €270.
8. Creditors for supplies to the Health Centre Ltd. at 31/12/2006 are €1,400
9. Depreciation to be provided as follows:

Buildings 2% of cost for the full year. 
Equipment 15% of cost per annum. 
Furniture 25% of cost per annum. 

You are required to: 

(a) Calculate the company's reserves on 1/1/2006.

{b) Calculate the Profit/Loss from the shop for the year ended 31/12/2006. 

(c) Prepare a Profit and Loss account for the year ended 31/12/2006.

(d) Prepare a Balance Sheet on 31/12/2006.

(20) 

(12) 

(36) 

(32) 
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Question 6 - solution 

(a) 
Statement of Capital and Reserves on 1/1/2006 

Assets 
Buildings and grounds (500,000 -20,000) 
Equipment (70,000 21,000) 
Furniture (20,000 l 0,000) 
Investments 
Stock -health food for resale 
Stock-oil 
Contract cleaning prepaid 
Cash at bank 

Liabilities 
Creditors for supplies 
Customers advance deposits 
Loan 
Interest on loan (14 months @€400 per month) 
Issued Capital 

Reserves 1/1/2006 

(b) 

€ 

480,000 

49,000 

10,000 

70,000 

1,300 

640 

250 

7,250 

1,250

1 

4,300 

50,000 

5,600 

300,000 

€ 

618,440 

361 150 

257,290 

Health Shop Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2006 

Shop receipts 
Less expenses 

Cost of goods sold (1,300 + 42, I 00 -1,600) 
Light and heat 
Insurance 
Telephone 
Wages and salaries (70% x 12,000) 

Profit from Health shop 

(c) 

€ € 

41,800

1 

200 

500 

340 

8,400 

65,ooo ■ 

Profit and Loss Account for year ended 31/12/2006 
Income 

Interest received 
Profit from health shop 
Customer's fees W I 

Less Expenses 
Wages and salaries (86,220 8,400) 
Insurance ( 6,200 500)
Light and heat W 2 
Purchases -supplies W 3 
Loan interest W 4 
Laundry 
Postage and telephone (1,660 -340) 
Depreciation Buildings 

Equipment 
Furniture 

Contract cleaning W 5 
Net Profit for year 
Add Reserves 1/1/2006 

Profit and Loss balance 31/12/2006

3,500

1 
13,760

254,350 

77,820 
5,700 

3,260 

36,950 

1,600 

800

1,320 

11,400

12,600 

5,000 

2,550

271,610 

(159,000) 
112,610 1
257,290 

369,900
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(d) 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2006 

Cost Depreciation 
Fixed Assets € € 

Buildings and grounds 680,000 1 
Equipment (70,000 + 14,000) 84,000 33,600 1 
Furniture 20.000 15.000 

784,000 48,600 

Investments 

Current Assets 
Investment income due 500 

Closing stock shop goods 1,600 

Oil 250 

Cleaning prepaid 300 

Customer's fees due (450 +100) 550 

Bank W 6 7,370 10,570 

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 
270

1 
Electricity due 
Customer's advance deposits 
Creditors for supplies 

Financed by 
Share Capital and Reserves 
Ordinary Shares 
Revaluation Reserve 
Profit and Loss balance 

Workings 

W I Customer's fees 
Amount received 
Less Dishonoured cheque 
Fees due 
Advance deposits 
Less fees prepaid 

W 2 Light and heat
Amount paid 
Stock oil 1/1/2006 

Electricity due 
Stock oil 31/12/2006

Charge to shop 

W 3 Purchases 

W 4 Loan Interest 

W 5 Contract cleaning 

W 6 Bank 

3,000 

1,400 {4,670) 

Authorised 
430,000■ 

Issued 
300,000 1 
141,400 

369,900

€ 
252,600

(100) 
550 

4,300 

(3,000) 

€ 
252,600

450 

4,300 

(3,000) 

2,800

640 

270 

(250) 
(200) 

36,800 + 1,400 - 1,250 

7,200/]8 X 4 

2,600 + 250 - 300 

7,470-100 

254,350 

3,260 

36,950 

1,600

2,550 

7,370 

Net 
€ 

680,000

50,400

5.ooo
735,400

10,000■ 
805,400 

5,900

811,300 

811,300

811,300 
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6. Service Firm

The following were included in the assets and liabilities of the Elms Nursing Horne Ltd, on 01/01/2009:
Buildings and Grounds €550,000; Equipment €45,000; Mini Bus at cost €50,000; Stock in shop €3,300;
Stock of Heating oil €1,600; Creditors for supplies to Nursing Horne €1,000; 5% Investments €30,000;
Contract cleaning prepaid €200; Clients deposits paid in advance €4,000; Authorised Capital €450,000;
Issued Capital €320,000.

All fixed assets have 3 years accumulated depreciation on 01/01/2009

The following is a Receipts and Payments Account for the year ended 31/12/2009:

Receipts and Payments Account of Elms Nursing Home Ltd for year ended 31/12/2009
€ 

Balance at Bank 01/01/2009 
Clients fees 
Investment Income 
Shop receipts 
Balance c/d 

8,250 
340,000 

1,000 
40,000 
75,450 

464.700 

Laundry 
Telephone 
Wages & Salaries 
Repayment of€40,000 loan on 01/05/2009 

with 18 months Interest. 
Equipment 
New extension 
New Mini Bus 
Contract cleaning 
Light and heat 
Insurance 
Purchases - shop 
Purchases supplies 
Dishonoured cheque fees 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i) Closing stocks at 31/12/2009: Shop €1,500, Heating oil €300.

€ 
2,000 
1,600 

85,500 

48,100 
15,000 

200,000 
35,000 

3,500 
3,100 
6,400 

28,000 
35,900 

600 
464.700 

(ii) Cleaning is done under contract payable monthly in advance and includes a payment of €400
for January 2010.

(iii) Clients' fees include fees for 2010 of€5,000. Clients' fees in arrears at 31/12/2009 €500.
(iv) The dishonoured cheque was not subsequently recovered, and was written off as a bad debt.
(v) Wages and Salaries include €18,000 per annum paid to the secretary, who also runs the shop.

It is estimated that 40% of this salary, €250 of the light and heat, €800 of the insurance and
€350 of the telephone is attributable to the shop.

(vi) Creditors for supplies to the Nursing Home at 31/12/2009 are €1,800.
(vii) Electricity due on 31/12/2009 €320.

(viii) Depreciation to be provided as follows:
Buildings 2% of cost for the full year 
Equipment 15% of cost per annum 
Mini bus at 20% of cost per annum from date of purchase to date of sale 
The mini bus held on O 1/0 l /2009 was purchased on O l /01/2006 and was traded in on 
01/07/2009 against a new mini bus. The trade in allowance was €7,000 against a 
new bus valued at €42,000. 

(ix) On 31/12/2009 the Elms Nursing Home Ltd decided to re-value buildings at €900,000

Required: 

(a) Calculate the company's reserves (profit and loss balance) on 01/01/2009 (18) 
(b) Calculate the profit/loss from the shop for the year ended 31/12/2009 (10) 
(c) Prepare the Profit and Loss Account of Elms Nursing Home Ltd

for the year ended 31/12/2009 (36) 
(d) Prepare the Balance Sheet of Elms Nursing Home Ltd on 31/12/2009 (30) 
( e) The management of the nursing home is considering an increase of 10% in the clients' fees.

What advice would you give? Explain your answer. (6) 

 
 (lO0marks) 
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Question 6 

(a) 

Statement of Capital and Reserves on 1/1/2009 

Assets 
Buildings and grounds (550,000 33,000) 
Equipment (45,000 - 20,250) 
Mini Bus (50,000 30,000) 
5% Investments 
Stock in shop 
Stock of oil 
Contract cleaning prepaid 
Cash at bank 

Liabilities 

(b) 

Creditors for supplies 
Clients' fees paid in advance 
Loan 
Interest on loan (14 months@450 per month) 
Issued Capital 

Reserves 

€ 

517,000 

24,750 

20,000 

30,000 

3,300 

1,600 

200 

8,250 

1.000 I
4,000 

40,000 

6,300 

320,000 

Shop Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/l2n009 

Shop receipts 
Less expenses 
Cost of goods sold (3,300 + 28,000 - 1,500) 
Light and heat 
Insurance 
Telephone 
Wages and salaries (40% x 18,000) 
Profit from shop 

 

29,800 I250 

800 

350 

7,200 

€ 

605,100 

(371,300) 
233.800 ■ 

40,000 ■ 

(38,400) 
� 
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(c) 

Profit and Loss Account for year ended 31/12/2009 
Income 

Interest received 
Profit from shop 
Clients' fees 

Less Expenses 
Wages and salaries (85,500 -7,200) 
Insurance (6,400 -800) 
Light and heat 
Purchases - supplies 
Loan interest 
Laundry 
Telephone (1,600 - 350) 
Bad debt 
Depreciation Buildings 

Equipment 
Mini Bus 

Loss on sale of Bus 
Contract cleaning 

Net Profit for year 
Add Reserves 1/1/2009 
Profit and Loss balance 31/12/2009 

Workings 

Clients' fees 

Amount received 
Fees due 31/12/2009 (500 + 6 00 -600) 
Advance deposits l/l /2009 
Less fees prepaid 31/12/2009 

Light and heat 
Amount paid 
Stock oil 1/1/2009 
Electricity due 31/12/2 009 
Stock oil 31/12/2009 
Charge to shop 

Purchases 

Contract cleaning 

35,900 + 1,800 -1,000 

3,500 + 2 00 400 

€ 
1,500 

I1,600 

339,500 < 

78,300 

5,600 

4,470 
36,700 
1,800 

2,000 

1,250

600 

15,000 

9,000 

9,200 

8,000 

3,300 

340,000 

500

4,000 

(5,000) 

3,100 

1,600

320 

(300) 
(250) 

€ 

342,600 

(175,220) 
167,380 

I233,800 

401.180 

339,500

4,470 

36,700

3,300 

230



(d) 

Balance sheet as at 31/12/2009 
Cost Depreciation Net 

Fixed Assets € € € 
Buildings and grounds 900,000 1 900,000 

Equipment (45,000 + 15,000) 60,000 29,250 1 30,750

Mini Bus 42,000 4,200 37,800 

1.002.000 � 968,550

Investments 30.000 ■
998,550 

Current Assets 
Investment income due 500

1 
Closing stock - shop 1,500 

-oil 300 

Cleaning prepaid 400 

Clients' fees due 500 3,200 

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within l year
Electricity due 

3WI 
Client's advance deposits 5,000 

Bank 75,450 
.. Creditors for supplies 1,800 (82,570} (79,370} 

919,)80 

Financed by 

Share Capital and Reserves Authorised Issued 
Ordinary Shares 450,000■ 320,000 1
Revaluation Reserve 198,000 

Profit and Loss balance 401,180 919,180 

9]9J80

(e) 

I 
A 10% increase in clients' fees would increase income by €33,950. 

There is no need to increase fees for viability or profitability purposes. 
The company is profitable as its return on capital employed is 18.4% particularly in the current
climate. 
The company is generating ample cash. It has repaid a loan of €40,000, purchased equipment 
€15,000, contributed €35,000 towards a new mini bus and has financed about 58% of a €200,000

extension from cash receipts. 
In the current climate costs are dropping, there is increased competition and consequently charges
should not be increasing. 

231



6. Service Firm

The following were included in the assets and liabilities of the New Era Gym and Health Centre Ltd,
on 01/01/2011:
Buildings and Grounds €520,000; Equipment €75,000; Vehicles at cost €60,000; Stock in shop €3,600;
Stock of heating oil € 1,800; Creditors for supplies to Gym and Health Centre € 1,500;
5% Investments €40,000; Contract cleaning prepaid €300; Clients deposits paid in advance €5,000.
The Authorised Capital of the company was €400,000 and the Issued Capital was €350,000.

All fixed assets have 3 years accumulated depreciation on 01/01/2011.

The following is a Receipts and Payments Account for the year ended 31/12/2011:

Receipts and Payments Account of New Era Gym & Health Centre Ltd for year ended 31/12/2011
€ € 

Balance at Bank 01/01/201 l 6,500 Laundry 3,000 
Clients fees 320,000 Telephone 1,400 
Investment Income 
Shop receipts 
Balance 3 l /  12/2011 

1,100 Wages & Salaries 84,300 
42,000 Repayment of€30,000 loan on 01/04/2011 

108,600 with 15 months interest 

478,200 

Equipment 
New extension 
New vehicle 
Contract cleaning 
Light and heat 
Insurance 
Purchases shop 
Purchases - supplies 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i) Closing stock at 31/12/2011: Shop €1,600, Heating oil €400.

36,000 
20,000 

220,000 
40,000 

3,400 
3,300 
6,200 

26,000 
34,600 

478,200 

(ii) Cleaning is done under contract payable monthly in advance and includes a payment of
€700 for January 2012.

(iii) Clients fees includes fees for 2012 of €5,500. Clients fees in arrears at 31/12/2011 €600.
(iv) Wages and Salaries include €20,000 per annum paid to the secretary, who also runs the

shop. It is estimated that 40% of this salary and €300 of the light and heat, €900 of the
insurance and €400 of the telephone is attributable to the shop.

(v) Creditors for supplies to the Gym & Health Centre at 31/12/2011 are €2,000.
(vi) Electricity due on 31/12/2011 €340.
(vii) Depreciation to be provided as follows:

Buildings 2% of cost for the full year 
Equipment 10% of cost for the full year 
Vehicles 20% of cost per annum from date of purchase to date of sale. 
The vehicle held on 01/01/2011 was purchased on 01/01/2008 and was traded in on 
01/07/2011 against a new vehicle. The trade in allowance was €8,000 against a 
new vehicle valued at €48,000. 

(viii) On 31/12/2011 the New Era Gym and Health Centre Ltd decided to re•value buildings at €850,000.

Required: 

(a) Calculate the company's reserves (profit and loss balance) on 01/01/2011. (18) 
(b} Calculate the profit/loss from the shop for the year ended 31/12/2011. (10) 
(c) Prepare a Profit and Loss Account of New Era Gym and Health Centre Ltd for the year ended

31/12/2011. (36) 
(d) Prepare a Balance Sheet on 31/12/2011. (30) 
(e) The company now wishes to purchase equipment for the new extension.

Advise the company on how to fund the expected cost of€150,000. (6) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 6 

(a) 

(b) 

Statement of Capital and Reserves on 1/1/2011 
Assets 

Buildings and grounds 
Equipment 
Vehicles 
Stock in shop 
Stock of oil 
5% Investments 

(520,000 - 31,200) 
(75,000 - 22,500) 
(60,000 - 36,000) 

Contract cleaning prepaid 
Cash at bank 

Less Liabilities 
Creditors for supplies 
Clients fees paid in advance 
Loan 
Interest on loan ( 12 months @ 400 per month) 
Issued Capital 

Reserves 

Shop Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2011 
Shop receipts 
Less Expenses 

Cost of goods sold W 1 
Light and heat 
Insurance 
Telephone 
Wages and salaries (40% x 20,000) 

Profit from shop 

€ 
488,800

52,500 

24,000 

3,600

1,800 

40,000 

300 

6,500 

1,500

1 
5,000 

30,000 

4,800 

350,000 

28,000

1 
300 

900 

400 

8,000 

€ 

617,500 

(391,300} 
226.200■ 

42,000■ 

(37,600) 
� 
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(c) 

Profit and Loss Account for year ended 31/12/2011 
Income Investment income 2,000 1 Profit from shop 4,400

Clients' fees W2 320,100 326,500

Less Expenditure Wages and salaries (84,300 8,000) 76,300Insurance {6,200 900) 5,300 Light and heat W3 4,740 Purchases supplies W4 35,100Loan interest 1,200Laundry 3,000Postage and telephone (1,400 - 400) 1,000 Depreciation Buildings 14,800-Equipment 9,500- Vehicles 10,800 Loss on sale of Vehicle 10,000 Contract cleaning W5 3,000 (174,740)Net Profit for year 151,760 Add Reserves 01/01/2011 226 200 Profit and Loss balance 31/12/2011 377,960 

(d) 

Balance sheet as at 31/12/2011 
Cost Depreciation Net 

Fixed Assets € € € Buildings and grounds 850,000 1 850,000Equipment (75,000 + 20,000) 95,000 32,000 1 63,000Vehicles 48,000 4.800 43,200993.000 � 956,200 5% Investments 40,000 11996,200 

Current Assets Investment income due

�I
Closing stock shop 1,600 Closing stock oil 400 Cleaning prepaid 700 Clients' fees due 600 4,200

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year Electricity due 

3401 

Clients' advance deposits 5,500 Bank 108,600 Creditors for supplies 2,000 (116,440) (112,240) 
883.260 

Financed by 
Share Capital and Reserves Authorised Issued Ordinary Shares 400.000■ 350,000 1Revaluation Reserve 156,000 Profit and Loss balance 377,960 883,360 

8831260 
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(e) 

Funding options for new equipment 

My advice to the company would be: € 
Sell investments 40,000 
Sell remaining shares 50,000 
Borrow 60,000 

150.000 

I 

The company would be well able to pay back the loan quickly as the accounts show that it had a 
surplus €151,760 in 2011 and the company is generating enough cash. Although it owes the bank 
€108,600 it has paid out amounts up to €310,000 on non-recurring and non-trading items. 

Workings 

1. Cost of goods sold
Stock 1/1/2011 

Add Purchases 
Less Stock 31/12/2011 

2. Clients' fees
Amount received 
Advance deposits 
Fees due 
Less fees prepaid 

3. Light and heat
Amount paid 
Stock oil 1/1/2011 
Electricity due 
Stock oil 31/12/2011 
Charge to shop 

4. Purchases

5. Contract cleaning

3,600 

26,000 
(1,600) 

320,000 
5,000 

600 
(5,500) 

3,300 
1,800 

340 
(400) 
(300) 

34,600 + 2,000 - 1,500 

3,400 +300- 700 

28,000 

320,100 

4,740 

35,100 

3,000 
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6. Service Firm

The following were included in the assets and liabilities of the Serenity Gym and Health Centre Ltd, on 
01/01/2013: 
Buildings and Grounds €620,000; Equipment €70,000; Vehicles at cost €90,000; Stock in shop €3,400; 
Stock of heating oil €1,900; Creditors for supplies to Gym and Health Centre €1,600; 5% Investments 

€40,000; Contract cleaning prepaid €400; Clients' deposits paid in advance €6,000, Authorised Capital 
€600,000, Issued Capital €450,000. 

All fixed assets have 3 years accumulated depreciation on 01/01/2013. 

The following is a Receipts and Payments Account for the year ended 31/12/2013: 

Receipts and Payments Account of Serenity Gym and Health Centre Ltd for year ended 31/12/2013 
€ € 

Balance at bank 01/01/2013 6,000 Laundry 2,500 
Clients' fees 330,500 Telephone 1,600 
Investment income 
Shop receipts 
Balance 31/12/2013 

1,200 Wages & salaries 85,400 
45,000 Repayment of€50,000 loan 

135,000 on 01/04/2013 with 

517,700 

15 months interest 
Equipment 
New Extension 
New Vehicle 
Contract cleaning 
Light and heat 
Insurance 
Purchases - shop 
Purchases - supplies 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 
(i) Closing stock at 31/12/2013: Shop €1,400, Heating oil €600.

56,000 
15,000 

230,000 
50,000 
3,600 
3,400 
6,800 

28,000 
35,400 

517.700 

(ii) Cleaning is done, under contract, payable monthly in advance and includes a payment of €500
for January 2014.

(iii) Clients' fees include €6,500 for 2014. Fees due from Clients at 31/12/2013 were €800.
(iv) Wages and salaries include €22,000 per annum paid to the secretary, who also runs the shop. It

is estimated that 40% of this salary and €400 of the light and heat, €800 of the insurance and
€500 of the telephone is attributable to the shop.

(v) Creditors for supplies to the Gym & Health Centre at 31/12/2013 were €2,500.
(vi) Electricity due on 31/12/2013 was €360.
(vii) Depreciation to be provided as follows:

Buildings 2% of cost for the full year. 
Equipment l 0% of cost for the full year. 
Vehicles 20% of cost per annum from date of purchase to date of sale. 
On O l /07/2013 a vehicle which cost €40,000 on O l /0 l /20 l O was traded in against a new 
vehicle which cost €59,000. An allowance of €9,000 was given on the old vehicle. 

(viii) On 31/12/2013 the Serenity Gym and Health Centre Ltd decided to revalue buildings at
€900,000.

Required: 
(a) Calculate the company's reserves (profit and loss balance) on 01/01/2013. (18) 
(b) Calculate the profit/loss from the shop for the year ended 31/12/2013. (10) 
( c) Prepare a Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2013. (36) 
(d) Prepare a Balance Sheet on 31/12/2013. (30) 
(e) The owners of the Serenity Gym and Health Centre Ltd have proposed a 15% increase in

clients' fees to help clear the bank overdraft. What arguments would you make against
this proposal? (6) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 6 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

Statement of Capital and Reserves on 1/1/2013 
Assets 

Buildings and grounds 
Equipment 
Vehicles 
5% Investments 
Stock in shop 
Stock of oil 
Contract cleaning prepaid 
Cash at bank 

Liabilities 

(620,000 - 37,200) 
(70,000 21,000) 
(90,000 54,000) 

Creditors for supplies 
Clients' fees paid in advance 
Loan 
Interest on loan (12 months@ 400 per month) 

Issued Capital 
Reserves 1/1/2013 

€ 
582,800

49,000 

36,000 

40,000 

3,400

1,900 

400 

6,000 

1,600

1

·,
6,000 

50,000 •. 
4,800 

450,000 

€ 

719,500 

(512,400) 
201,100 II 

Shop Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2013 
Shop receipts 4s,ooo m 

(30,000)■ 
15,000 

Less Cost of goods sold (3,400 + 28,000 - 1,400) 

Less expenses 
Light and heat 
Insurance 
Telephone 
Wages and salaries (40% x 22,000) 

Profit from shop 

Profit and Loss Account for year ended 31/12/2013 
Income 

Profit from shop 
Investment income received 
Clients' fees 

Less Expenses 
Wages and salaries (85,400 8,800) 
Insurance (6,800 - 800) 
Light and heat 
Purchases - supplies 
Loan interest 
Laundry 
Telephone (1,600 - 500) 
Depreciation Buildings 

Equipment 
Vehicles 

Loss on sale of vehicle 
Contract cJeaning 

Net Profit for year 
Add Reserves 1/1/2013 
Profit and Loss balance 31/12/2013 

€ 
4,500 

2,000 

I 330,800 

76,600

6,000 

4,660 

36,300

1,200 

2,500 

1,100 
17,000 

8,500

19,900

3,000 

3,500 

€ 

337,300 

(180,260) 
157,040 

I 207.100 

364.140 

(10,500) 
� 
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(d) 

(e) 

Balance sheet as at 31/12/2013 

Fixed Assets 
Buildings and grounds 
Equipment (70,000 + 15,000) 
Vehicles 

Investments 

Current Assets 
Investment income due 
Closing stock - shop 

oil 
Contract cleaning prepaid 
Clients' fees due 

Cost Depreciation 
€ € 

900,000 

85,000 II 
109,000 •;

1,094.000 

800 I
1,400 

. , :··.600 

500 

800 

29,500 11· 
45,900 .• 
� 

4,100 

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 
Electricity due 360 IClients' advance deposits 
Bank 
Creditors for supplies 

Financed by 
Share Capital and Reserves 

Ordinary Shares 
Revaluation Reserve [54,200 + 50,000] 
Profit and Loss balance 

6,500 

135,000 

2,500

Authorised 
600,000 ■ 

(144,360) 

Issued 
450,000 I ... 104,200 

364,140 

Net 
€ 

900,000

55,500 

63,100 

1,018,600 

40,000 11 
1,058,600 

(140,260) 
218,34!!

� 

918,340/ 
918.340 

I 
The Centre is profitable and is generating enough cash to clear the overdraft without taking 
any remedial action that could have negative effects on profitability. 
The proposed increase of 15% in clients' fees would raise only €49,620 based on this year's 
figures. This is only one third of the overdraft of €135,000 and so would not be adequate. This 
increase in fees could however cause a drop in membership with loss of income. 
Based on this year's figures the overdraft will have been cleared by the end of next year without 
taking any remedial action now. The Centre this year has repaid a loan of €50,000 plus interest 
€6,000 and had capital expenditure of€295,000 (Equipment €15,000, Extension €230,000, 
Vehicles €50,000). This is all non-recurring expenditure. 

The Centre had a surplus of€157,040 this year and is clearly being run profitably and will 
continue to be profitable. Its return on capital employed is 17.l %. 

Workings 

Clients' fees Amount received 
Advance deposits 
Fees due 
Less fees prepaid 

Light and heat Amount paid 
Stock oil 1/1/2013 
Electricity due 
Stock oil 31/12/2013 
Charge to shop 

330,500 

6,000 

800 

(6,500) 

3,400

1,900

360 

(600) 
{400) 

Purchases 
Contract cleaning 

35,400 + 2,500 -1,600 
3,600 + 400 500 

330,800

4 ,660 

36,300 
3,500 
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6. Service Firm

The following were included in the assets and liabilities of Fitpro Fitness Centre Ltd on
01/01/2016:

Buildings and grounds at cost €600,000, equipment at cost €80,000, furniture at cost €40,000,
stock in shop €5,000, stock of heating oil €1,800, contract cleaning prepaid €200, investment
interest due €300, creditors for supplies to the fitness centre €2,000, members’ fees paid in
advance €3,000.  The authorised capital of the company was €500,000 and the issued capital was
€350,000.

All fixed assets have 3 years accumulated depreciation on 01/01/2016.

The following is a receipts and payments account for the year ended 31/12/2016:

Receipts and Payments Account of Fitpro Fitness Centre Ltd for year ended 31/12/2016 

€  € 

Balance at bank 01/01/2016  59,500  Wages and salaries  83,000 

Members’ fees  270,000  Telephone and broadband  1,700 

Interest on 3% investments  3,000  Insurance  7,200 

Shop receipts  85,000  Purchases – shop  38,600 

Sale of furniture (cost €20,000)  10,000  Purchases – supplies for fitness centre  43,200 

    Contract cleaning  8,300 

    Light and heat  5,600 

   
Purchase of adjacent building on 
01/04/2016  150,000 

    Furniture  12,000 

    Laundry  11,600 

Bank loan plus 15 months interest at 
4% per annum on 01/04/2016  63,000 

Balance at bank 31/12/2016       3,300 

427,500  427,500 

Continued on page 11 
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The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i) Closing stock at 31/12/2016: shop €1,800, heating oil €400.

(ii) Cleaning is done under contract payable monthly in advance and includes a payment of
€600 for January 2017.

(iii) Members’ fees include €4,200 for 2017.  Members’ fees in arrears at 31/12/2016 were
€2,700.

(iv) The closing bank figure does not take into account bank charges €110 and a dishonoured
cheque €950 received from a member in respect of fees.

(v) The payment for laundry includes €2,700 for three weeks wages paid to a replacement
fitness instructor.  Provide for a further two weeks wages due.

(vi) Wages and salaries include €24,000 per annum paid to the secretary, who also runs the
shop.  It is estimated that 60% of this salary and €300 of the light and heat, €850 of the
insurance and €400 of the telephone and broadband is attributable to the shop.

(vii) Creditors for supplies at 31/12/2016 were €3,600.

(viii) Depreciation is to be provided as follows:

Buildings and grounds 2% of cost from date of purchase. 
Equipment 20% of cost. 
Furniture held on 31/12/2016 is depreciated at 20% of cost.  No depreciation is charged 
on furniture in the year of disposal. 

Required: 

(a) Prepare a statement of the company’s reserves (profit and loss balance)
on 01/01/2016. (18) 

(b) Calculate the profit/loss from the shop for the year ended 31/12/2016.
Show workings. (10) 

(c) Prepare a profit and loss account for the year ended 31/12/2016. (32) 

(d) Prepare a balance sheet on 31/12/2016. (30) 

(e) Fitpro Fitness Centre Ltd have decided to purchase and install new gym equipment.
They have received a quote of €225,000.  Can Fitpro Fitness Centre Ltd afford this
investment?  Explain your answer.

(10) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 6 – Service Firm 

(a) 18
Statement of Reserves on 01/01/2016 

Assets € €
Buildings and grounds  [600,000 – 36,000]  564,000  [2]
Equipment  [80,000 – 48,000]  32,000  [2]
Furniture  [40,000 – 24,000]  16,000  [2]
3% Investments 90,000  [1]
Stock in shop 5,000  [1]
Stock of oil 1,800  [1]
Contract cleaning prepaid 200  [1]
Investment income due 300  [1]
Cash at bank 59,500  [1] 768,800   

Less Liabilities
Creditors for supplies 2,000  [1]
Member fees paid in advance 3,000  [1]
Loan 60,000  [1]
Loan interest due 2,400  [1]
Issued capital 350,000  [1] (417,400) 

Reserves 01/01/2016 351,400  [1] 

(b) 10
Shop Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2016 

€  €
Shop Receipts 85,000  [1] 
Less cost of goods sold  [5,000 + 38,600 – 1,800]    (41,800)  [5] 

43,200 
Less expenses  

Light and heat 300  [1]
Insurance 850  [1]
Telephone 400  [1]
Salary (24,000 × 60%) 14,400   [1]  (15,950) 

Profit from shop 27,250 
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(c) 32
Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2016 

Income  € €
Profit from shop  27,250   
Investment interest  2,700  [1]
Profit on disposal of furniture  2,000  [1]
Member fees  271,500  [5] 303,450

Less Expenditure
Wages and salaries  73,100   [2]
Insurance (7,200 – 850)  6,350   [2]
Light and heat  6,700   [5]
Telephone (1,700 – 400)  1,300   [2]
Purchases – supplies  44,800  [3]
Loan interest  600  [1]
Laundry  8,900   [1]
Contract cleaning  7,900   [3]
Bank charges  110  [1]
Depreciation – Buildings  14,250  [1]

– Equipment 16,000  [1]
– Furniture 6,400   [1] (186,410) 

Net profit  117,040  [1]
Add reserves 01/01/2016  351,400  [1]
Profit and loss balance 31/12/2016  468,440 

(d) 30
Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2016 

Cost Depreciation    Net
Fixed Assets  € € €

Buildings  750,000  [2]  50,250  [2] 699,750
Equipment  80,000   [1]  64,000  [2] 16,000
Furniture    32,000  [2]    18,400  [3] 13,600

862,000    132,650  729,350
3% Investments   90,000  [2] 

819,350
Current Assets

Closing stock – shop  1,800  [1]
Closing stock – oil  400  [1]
Bank  2,240  [3]
Contract cleaning prepaid  600  [1]
Member fees due  3,650  [3]  8,690

Less Creditors: amounts due within 1 year
Wages due  1,800  [2]
Creditors for supplies  3,600  [1]
Member fees prepaid  4,200  [1]  (9,600)    (910) 

  818,440 
Financed by
Share Capital and Reserves  Authorised    Issued

Ordinary shares  500,000  [1]  350,000  [1] 
Profit and loss balance 468,440  [1]  818,440 

242



Page 13 of 19 

10

(e) Fitpro Ltd can afford the new gym equipment.  It can finance the cost of €225,000 by selling the
investments and receive €90,000 cash and issuing extra ordinary shares and collect €135,000 in
cash (or €150,000 from shares and €75,000 from investments).

It has just repaid a loan including interest of €63,000 and spent a net €152,000 on fixed assets both
of which are of a non‐ recurring nature.  The company made a profit this year of €117,040 and has
cash in the bank of €2,240. The company has no need to borrow to fund the project which will
eliminate interest payments and result in higher future profits.

Workings 

1. Cost of goods sold 5,000 + 38,600 – 1,800  =  41,800 

2. Member fees 270,000 + 3,000 + 2,700 – 4,200  =  271,500 

3. Light and heat 5,600 – 300 + 1,800 – 400  =  6,700 

4. Purchases – supplies 43,200 – 2,000 + 3,600  =  44,800 

5. Contract Cleaning 8,300 + 200 – 600  =  7,900 

6. Wages 68,600 + 4,500  =  73,100 

7. Bank 3,300 –  950 – 110  =  2,240 
 

8. Furniture disposal 20,000 – 12,000 – 10,000  =  2,000  Profit 
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Accounting – Higher Level 

4. Service Firm

The following were included in the assets and liabilities of M. Noctor, a doctor, on
01/01/2017:

Surgery €160,000, equipment €90,000, stock of medical supplies €8,000,
7% investments €70,000, creditors for medical supplies €10,400, furniture €30,000,
amount owing from medical card scheme €9,500, capital and reserves €284,700,
insurance prepaid €700.

The following is a receipts and payments account for the year ended 31/12/2017:

Receipts and Payments account for the year ended 31/12/2017 

Receipts  €  Payments  € 

Balance at bank 01/01/2017  4,000  Purchase of medical supplies  20,600 

Sale of equipment (cost €12,000)  6,000  Cleaning expenses  3,200 

Medical card scheme  72,000  Insurance  2,400 

Receipts from private patients  40,750  Sponsorship of prize at local GAA club  2,000 

Investment income  3,500  Drawings   37,000 

Light and heat  3,000 

Telephone  8,450 

Wages of receptionist  15,500 

Investment bonds (purchased 
31/12/2017)  30,000 

_______  Balance at bank 31/12/2017      4,100 

126,250  126,250 
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Accounting – Higher Level 

The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 

(i) Stock of medical supplies at 31/12/2017 was €8,300.

(ii) The figure for cash drawings includes €1,600 for 2 weeks wages paid to a locum
doctor and you are required to provide for a further 4 weeks’ wages due.

(iii) The figure for bank does not take into account bank charges of €120 and a
dishonoured cheque €150 received from a private patient and lodged in December.

(iv) 70% of light and heat and telephone relate to the practice and the remainder is for a
private residence.

(v) Provide for depreciation as follows:

Equipment  – 20% of cost 
Furniture  – 15% of cost 
Surgery  – 2% of cost 

Note:  Fixed assets are given at cost and depreciation on them has been accumulated 
for 3 years to 01/01/2017.  The depreciation policy is to charge a full year’s 
depreciation in the year of acquisition and none in the year of disposal. 

(vi) Fees due from medical card scheme and private patients are €9,100 and €430
respectively.  Creditors for medical supplies 31/12/2017 are €5,000.

(vii) The insurance payment is for the year ended 01/05/2018.

Required: 

(a) Prepare an income and expenditure/profit and loss account for the year ended
31/12/2017. (34) 

(b) Prepare a balance sheet as at 31/12/2017. (20) 

(c) Dr. Noctor is considering updating the IT system and requires a loan of €150,000.
Outline the factors a lender should consider before granting this loan.

(6) 

(60 marks) 
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Q.4  Service Firm 34 

Income and Expenditure (Profit and Loss) Account of M. Noctor for the year ended 
31/12/2017 

Income  €  € 

Profit on sale of equipment (N1) 1,200 [3] 

Medical card scheme (N2) 71,600 [3] 

Private patients (N3) 41,180 [2] 

Investment income (N4)    4,900 [2] 

118,880 

Expenditure 

Medical supplies (N5)  14,900 [5] 

Cleaning expenses  3,200 [1] 

Insurance (N6)  2,300 [3] 

Sponsorship of local GAA prize  2,000 [1] 

Light and heat (N7)  2,100 [2] 

Telephone (N8)  5,915 [2] 

Wages of receptionist  15,500 [1] 

Locum doctor (N9)  4,800 [2] 

Bank charges  120 [1] 

Depreciation:

- Surgery 3,200 [1] 

- Equipment (N10) 15,600 [2] 

- Furniture 4,500 [1]  (74,135) 

Net profit  44,745 [2] 
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20 

Balance Sheet of M. Noctor as at 31/12/2017 

Fixed Assets  Cost  Depreciation  Net Book 
Value 

€  €  € 

Surgery  160,000  [1]  12,800  [1]  147,200 

Equipment  (N11) (N12)  78,000  [1]  62,400  [1]  15,600 

Furniture    30,000  [1]  18,000  [1]    12,000 

268,000  93,200  174,800 

Financial Assets

7% Investments 70,000  [1] 

Investment bonds 30,000  [1]  100,000 

Current Assets

Stock of medical supplies 8,300  [1] 

Bank 3,830  [1] 

Medical card fees due 9,100  [1] 

Private patients fees due    580  [2] 

Investment income due 1,400  [1] 

Insurance prepaid       800  [1] 

24,010 

Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year

Locum wages due      3,200 [1]

Creditors for medical supplies   5,000 [1] 

(8,200)    15,810 

Total net assets 290,610 

Financed by

Capital 01/01/2017 284,700  [1] 

Net profit 44,745 

Less drawings (N13) (38,835) [2]  290,610 

290,610 
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(c)    6 
Factors to be considered before granting loan of €150,000: 

 Gearing – The firm has no long term loans at the moment which would encourage a
lender to grant a loan.

 Ability to pay interest – The net profit is €44,745 with no interest charges at
present.  The acid test ratio is 1.92:1 meaning the firm is liquid and could easily
meet future interest charges.

 What is the purpose of the loan?  The purpose of the loan is to update the IT system
making the company more efficient going into the future.

 What security can she offer?  Security is adequate with fixed assets of €174,800 and
investments of €100,000 to cover a loan of €150,000.

Workings 

1  Disposal  12,000 – 7,200 – 6,000  1,200 

2  Medical card scheme  72,000 – 9,500 + 9,100  71,600 

3  Private patients  40,750 + 430  41,180 

4  Investment income  3,500 + 1,400   4,900 

5  Medical supplies  8,000 + 20,600 – 10,400 + 5,000 – 8,300  14,900 

6  Insurance  2,400 + 700 – 800  2,300 

7  Light and heat  3,000 – 900  2,100 

8  Telephone  8,450 – 2,535  5,915 

9  Locum  1,600 + 3,200  4,800 

10  Depreciation equipment  78,000 × 20%  15,600 

11  Equipment  90,000 – 12,000  78,000 

12   Acc. dep. equipment  54,000 + 15,600 – 7,200  62,400 

13  Drawings  37,000 – 1,600 + 900 + 2,535  38,835 
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4. Farm Accounts 
 

Among the assets and liabilities of John and Elaine Daly, who carry on a mixed farming business, on 
01/01/2014 are: Land and Buildings at cost €450,000; Vehicles and Machinery at cost €82,000; 
Electricity due €330; Value of Cattle €60,000; Value of Sheep €24,000; Milk cheque due €1,800; 
Stock of Fuel €620; three months Investment Interest due €300. 

The following is a summary taken from their cheque payments and lodgements books for the year 
ended 31/12/2014: 

 
 

Lodgements € Cheque Payments € 
Balance 01/01/2014 27,200 Fertiliser 2,500 
Milk 29,000 General farm expenses 14,200 
Sheep 28,000 Dairy wages 2,600 
Cattle 14,000 Sheep 18,500 
Lambs  10,400 Cattle 12,600 
Calves  6,500 Light, heat and fuel 2,210 
Single payment – Sheep 2,100 Machinery 6,200 
Single payment – Cattle 3,500 Repairs 5,000 
Wool 1,400 Veterinary fees and medicines 2,480 
Forestry premium 1,800 Bank Loan plus 18 months’ 

interest at 6% per annum on 
30/4/2014 21,800 

Interest from 3% 
investment bond       600 

 _______ Balance 31/12/2014     36,410 
 €124,500  €124,500 

 
The following information and instructions are to be taken into account: 
 Cattle Sheep 
(i) Value of Livestock on 31/12/2014 was €75,000 €23,000 
 
(ii) Farm produce used by the family during the year – Milk €750; Lamb €580. 
 
(iii) Veterinary fees and medicines include a cheque for family health insurance for €1,500. 
 
(iv) General farm expenses, fertiliser, veterinary fees and medicines are to be apportioned 

70% to ‘Cattle and Milk’ and 30% to ‘Sheep’. 
 
(v) Other expenses and costs are to be apportioned 75% to general farm and 25% to household. 
 
(vi) Depreciation to be provided on the following:  

Vehicles and Machinery at the rate of 10% of cost per annum. 
Buildings at 2% per annum.  (Land at cost was €175,000.) 

 
(vii) On 31/12/2014 a Milk cheque for €1,500 was due, Creditors for fertilisers amounted to €450 and 

Stock of Fuel was €560. 
 

Required: 
 

(a) Prepare a Statement of Capital for the farm on 01/01/2014. (20) 
(b) Prepare an Enterprise Analysis Account for ‘Cattle and Milk’ and ‘Sheep’ for the year ended 

31/12/2014. (20) 
(c) Prepare a General Profit & Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2014 (10) 
(d) Prepare the Dalys’ Drawings Account. (5) 
(e) (i) For what purposes does a farmer prepare a General Profit & Loss Account?  

(ii) Outline the advantages of preparing farm enterprise analysis accounts. (5) 
(60 marks) 
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Question 4 

(a) 20
 Statement of Capital 1/1/2014 

Assets €  €  
Land & buildings  450,000  [2] 
Machinery 82,000  [2] 
Cattle 60,000  [1] 
Sheep 24,000  [1] 
Milk cheque due 1,800  [1] 
Fuel 620  [1] 
Investments  40,000  [2] 
Investment interest due 300  [1] 
Bank 27,200  [1]  685,920 

Less Liabilities  
Electricity due 330  [1] 
Bank loan 20,000  [2] 
Loan interest due W1  1,400  [3]  (21,730) 

Capital (1/1/2014) 664,190  [2] 
 
 
 

(b) 20 
 Enterprise Analysis Account – Cattle and Milk 

Income € € 
Sales – Milk W2 28,700  [2] 
 Cattle & Calves (14,000 + 6,500) 20,500  [1] 
Single payment cattle   3,500  [1] 
Increase in stock 15,000  [1] 
Drawings by family 750  [1] 68,450 

Less Expenditure 
Purchases – Cattle 12,600  [1] 
Dairy wages 2,600  [1] 
General farm expenses 9,940  [1] 
Fertiliser W 3 2,065  [1] 
Veterinary fees W 4 686  [1] (27,891) 

Profit on cattle and milk 40,559 
 

 Enterprise Analysis Account –Sheep 
Income € € 

Sales – Sheep & Lambs (28,000 + 10,400) 38,400  [1]  
Single payment sheep 2,100  [1]  
Wool 1,400  [1] 
Drawings family      580  [1]  42,480  

Less Expenditure 
Decrease in stock 1,000  [1] 
Purchases – sheep 18,500  [1] 
General farm expenses  4,260  [1] 
Fertiliser W 3 885  [1] 
Veterinary fees W 4 294  [1] (24,939) 

Profit on sheep 17,541 
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(c) 10 
 General Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31/12/2014 

Income € € 
Profit – Cattle and Milk 40,559 
 – Sheep 17,541 
Investment Interest W5 1,200  [1] 
Forestry premium 1,800  [1] 61,100 

Less Expenditure 
Light, heat and fuel (75%) W6 1,455  [2] 
Repairs (75%) 3,750  [1] 
Machinery Depreciation 6,615  [1] 
Buildings Depreciation 4,125  [1] 
Loan Interest W1 300  [1] (16,245) 

Net Profit 44,855  [2] 
 
 
 

  
(d) [5] 

Drawings Account 
  € € 

Milk 750 Capital 8,245 
Lambs 580 
Interest 100 
Light and heat 485 
VHI 1,500 
Repairs 1,250 
Dep. Machinery 2,205 
Dep. Buildings 1,375 _____ 

 8,245  8,245 
 

 

(e) [5] 
 

(i) Purposes of a general Profit & Loss Account 

Expenses or gains that cannot be allocated directly to the individual farm enterprises are 
included in this account. 
It is used to ascertain the overall profit or loss of a farm. 

 

(ii) Advantages of preparing farm enterprise analysis accounts 
This allows better planning and decision making and resources can be diverted elsewhere if 
necessary. 
Preparing farm enterprise analysis accounts allows costs to be allocated to the relevant  
individual activity within the farm. 
The farmer can find the profit/loss on each individual farm activity.  The contribution of an 
individual enterprise towards total profit can be seen. 
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Workings 

1. Interest for 18 months [6% x 1.5] = 9% 
109% = 21,800 
»   9% = 1,800 
Interest for 2014 Less Drawings [400 – 100] = 300 

 
 
2. Milk sales 29,000 
 Add due 31/12 1,500 
 Less due 1/1 (1,800) 28,700 
 
 
3. Fertiliser 2,500 

Add due 31/12      450 
 2,950 

70% of 2,950 = 2,065 
30% of 2,950  = 885 

 
 
4. Veterinary fees Less VHI [2,480 - 1,500] =  980 

70% of 980 = 686 
30% of 980 = 294 

 
 
5. 3% Investment Bond  1,200 × 100 ÷ 3 40,000 
 
 
6. Light, heat and fuel  2,210 

Add stock 1/1 620 
Less due 1/1 (330) 
Less stock 31/12 (560) 

 1,940 
Less drawings (25% of 1,940) (485) 1,455  
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3. Tabular Statement 
 
The financial position of Watt Ltd, a grocer, on 01/01/2014 is shown in the following balance sheet: 
 

Balance sheet as at 01/01/2014 
 

Cost 
Dep  

to date 
Net  Total 

Fixed Assets € € € € 
Goodwill (cost €55,000)    45,000 
Land & buildings 690,000 55,100 634,900  
Equipment 30,000 2,500 27,500  
Delivery vans   86,000 32,000   54,000  
 806,000  89,600 716,400 716,400 
    761,400 
Current Assets     
Stock  73,600   
Insurance prepaid  1,000   
Debtors  52,900  127,500  
Less Creditors: amount falling due within 1 year     
Creditors  82,300   
Bank  11,900   
Expenses due  3,700 97,900   29,600 
    791,000 
Financed by     
Capital and Reserves      
Authorised - 750,000 ordinary shares @ €1 each     
Issued  - 480,000 ordinary shares @ €1 each   480,000   
Share premium  75,000   
Profit and loss balance  236,000   791,000 
    791,000 

The following transactions took place during 2014: 
 
Jan Watt Ltd bought an adjoining business on 01/01/2014 which included buildings €240,000, delivery 

vans €42,000 and creditors €54,000.  The purchase price was discharged by granting the seller 
220,000 shares in Watt Ltd at a premium 20c per share. 

  
Feb A creditor who was owed €2,500 by Watt Ltd accepted a fridge freezer, the book value of which 

was €2,200, in full settlement of the debt.  This fridge freezer had cost €4,000. 
 
April Watt Ltd decided to re-value the land and buildings on 01/04/2014 at €990,000.  The land element 

of the new value is €170,000. 
 
May Received a bank statement at the end of May showing a direct debit of €3,600 to cover fire 

insurance for year ended 31/03/2015 and a credit transfer received of €8,600 to cover 10 month’s 
rent receivable in advance from May 1. 

  
July A delivery van, which cost €15,000 and had a net book value of €3,000, was traded-in against a 

new van costing €24,000 on 01/07/2014.  An allowance of €4,500 was made for the old van. 
 
Nov A payment of €1,260 was received from T McDonagh, a debtor, whose debt had been previously 

written off and who now wishes to trade with Watt Ltd again.  This represents 90% of the 
original debt and the debtor had undertaken to pay the remainder of the debt in January 2015.  
On the same day goods to the value of €720 were sold on credit to McDonagh.  This is a mark-
up of 20%. 

 
Dec The depreciation charge on buildings for the year is to be of 2% of value at 01/04/2014. 
 Depreciate delivery vans at 20% of cost per annum from date of purchase to date of sale. 
 

Required: 
 

Record on a tabular statement the effect each of the above transactions had on the relevant asset and  
liability and ascertain the total assets and liabilities on 31/12/2014.  
  (60 marks)
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Page 12 of 15 

7.  Tabular Statement 
 
The financial position of Delaney Ltd on 01/01/2016 is shown in the following balance sheet: 

Balance Sheet as at 01/01/2016 

 
Cost 

Dep. 
to date 

Net  

Fixed Assets  €  €  € 

Land and buildings  630,000  25,000  605,000 

Vehicles  50,000  27,000  23,000 

Equipment    15,000    3,000    12,000 

  695,000  55,000  640,000 

Current Assets       

Stock  73,000     

Debtors (less provision 4%)  86,400  159,400   

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year     

Creditors  54,000     

Bank  32,000     

VAT  8,400     

Expenses due    6,000  100,400    59,000 

      699,000 

Financed by       

Capital and Reserves       

Authorised – 800,000 ordinary shares @ €1 each     

Issued  – 560,000 ordinary shares @ €1 each   560,000   

Share premium    30,000   

Profit and loss balance    109,000  699,000 

      699,000 

Continued on page 13 
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Page 13 of 15 

The following transactions took place during 2016: 
 

Jan  Delaney Ltd decided to revalue land and buildings on 01/01/2016 at €800,000.  The land 
element of the new value is €110,000. 

Feb  Delaney Ltd bought an adjoining business on 01/02/2016 which included buildings 
€180,000, equipment €50,000, debtors €12,000 and creditors €20,000.  The purchase price 
was discharged by granting the seller 200,000 shares in Delaney Ltd at a premium of 20c per 
share. 

Mar  Management decided that the provision for bad debts should be increased to 6% of debtors 
at the end of March. 

April  Purchased goods on credit for €14,760.  This included VAT of 23%. 

June  Received a bank statement on June 30 showing a credit transfer received of €7,200 to cover 
8 month’s rent received in advance from June 1 and a direct debit of €4,800 to cover 
security (costs) for the year ended 30/04/2016. 

July  Paid by cheque a creditor account balance of €1,800 and received a discount of €100. 

Aug  A payment of €900 was received from J. Barry, a debtor, whose debt had been previously 
written off.  This represents 60% of the original debt and Barry has undertaken to pay the 
remainder of the debt. 

On the same day goods to the value of €369 were sold on credit to Barry.  This includes 
23% VAT and a mark‐up on cost of 20%. 

Sept  Received €50,000 from the issue of the remaining shares. 

Oct  Goods previously sold for €738 by Delaney Ltd were returned.  This figure includes VAT 
at 23% and a mark‐up on cost of 20%.  Delaney Ltd issued a credit note for €700 due to 
a delay in returning these goods. 

Nov  A creditor who was owed €4,000 by Delaney Ltd, accepted equipment, the book value of 
which was €3,200, in full settlement of the debt.  The equipment cost €5,400. 

Dec  The buildings depreciation charge for the year is 2% of book value.  The depreciation charge 
is to be calculated from the date of valuation and date of purchase.  The total depreciation 
charge on vehicles for the year is €8,000. 

Required: 

Record on a tabular statement the effect each of the above transactions had on the relevant asset 
and liability and ascertain the total assets and liabilities on 31/12/2016. 

(100 marks) 
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Leaving Certificate 2019  6   

Accounting – Higher Level 

4.  Tabular Statement 

The financial position of Miller Ltd, a grocer, on 01/01/2018 is shown in the following  
balance sheet: 

Balance Sheet as at 01/01/2018 

  Cost  Dep. to date  Net 

Fixed Assets  €  €  € 

Land and buildings  660,000  33,000  627,000 

Delivery vans    85,000  38,000    47,000 

  745,000  71,000  674,000 

       

Current Assets       

Stock    57,120   

Debtors (less provision 5%)      78,280   

    135,400   

Less creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year     

Creditors  64,000     

Bank  24,000     

Expenses due    7,000  (95,000)    40,400 

      714,400 

Financed by:       

Capital and Reserves       

Authorised ‐ 800,000 ordinary shares @ €1 each     

Issued  ‐ 450,000 ordinary shares @ €1 each  450,000   

Share premium    59,000   

Profit and loss balance    205,400  714,400 

      714,400 
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Leaving Certificate 2019  7   

Accounting – Higher Level 

The following transactions took place during 2018: 

Jan.  Miller Ltd decided to revalue the land and buildings on 01/01/2018 at €800,000.   
The land element of the new value is €130,000. 

Feb.  Miller Ltd bought an adjoining business on 01/02/2018 which included  
buildings €120,000, delivery vans €35,000, debtors €15,300 and creditors €11,000.  
The purchase price was discharged by granting the seller 140,000 shares in Miller Ltd 
at a premium of 30c per share. 

Mar. Management decided that the provision for bad debts should be reduced to 4% of 
debtors at the end of March. 

May  Received a bank statement at the end of May 2018 showing a direct debit of €4,800 to 
cover insurance for the year ended 30/4/2019 and a credit transfer received of €8,800 
to cover rent received in advance for the period May 1 2018 to March 31 2019. 

Sept. A dividend of 5c per share was paid on all issued shares. 

Nov.  A payment of €840 was received from P. Ryan, a debtor, whose debt had been 
previously written off and who now wishes to trade with Miller Ltd again.   
This represents 70% of the original debt and the debtor has undertaken to pay the 
remainder of the debt in February 2019.   

On the same day, goods to the value of €780 were sold on credit to Ryan.  This was a 
mark‐up on cost of 20%. 

Dec.  The depreciation charge on buildings for the year is to be 2% of book value.   
The depreciation charge is to be calculated from date of revaluation or date of 
purchase as appropriate.  The total depreciation charge on delivery vans for the year 
was €21,000. 

Required: 

Record on a tabular statement the effect each of the above transactions had on the relevant 
asset and liability and ascertain the total assets and liabilities on 31/12/2018. 

(60 marks) 
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CORRECTION OF ERRORS 

EASTER  2020

This article looks at one of the core topics of double entry which is often ignored by 

students but not by examiners. Here, we will cover the basic rules needed and then 

we will use these rules on the 100 mark question 7 from 2004. 

A suspense account is used only when the trial balance has failed to balance. There 

are several reasons why but we will look at a simple system based on the original 

debit entry and the original credit entry. Any imbalance between debit and credit will 

mean that suspense is used. 

We will use the following steps when dealing with the standard 5 error type question 

asked at higher level. 

1 Put in the original entries into the original accounts and put the entries into boxes. 

DID

2 Put in the correct entries into the correct accounts SHOULD

3 Correct the mistake FIX

We will apply these rules later in the S. Craddock question 

S. Craddock is a furniture dealer and this is important when it comes to trading in 

goods (furniture) as opposed to buying and selling fixed assets

The 3 basic bookkeeping principles from first year are essential when dealing with 

double entry 

THIS TOPIC APPEARS EVERY SECOND YEAR AND USE THE EARL RULE ALWAYS
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7. Corrtttion of en'Or.i and suspense account

The Trial Balance of S. Craddock, a furniture and carpet trader, failed to agree on 3 l/1212003. The
difference was entered in a Suspense Account and the following Balance Sheet was prepared.

Balance Sheet as at 31/l2/Z003 
Fixed Assets € € 

Premises 650,000 
Fixtures & fittings 72.000 722,000 

CutTE'nt Assets 
Stock (including suspense) 88,600 
Debtors 33,300 
Cash 400 

122,300 
Less: Current Liabilities 

Creditors 52,000 
Bank 27.000 79.000 43.300 

:Z!2j 300 
Financed by: 

Capital 730,000 
Add: Net profit 63.300 

793,300 
Less: Drawings 28,000 765300 

76S 300 

On checking the books, the following errors were discovered: 

(i) Furniture, purchased on credit from J. Dolan fut-€16,500, had been entered as €6,500 on the
incorrect side of Dolan' s account and credited as €1,650 in the Fixtures & Fittings account

(ii) A debtoJ- who owed Craddock €900 sent a cheque for €750 and €100 in cash in full settlement
This was correctly recorded in the books. Ho,,tever,no entry had been made in the books of the
subsequent dishonouring of this cheque or of the writing off of the remaining debt in full bec-ause
of bankruptcy.

(iii) Bedside Lockers, previously sold on credit for €340, had been returned to Craddock:. These
goods had been incorrectly entered as €34 on the credit of the Fixtures & fittings account and as
€40 on the debit of the Purchases account.

{iv) A private debt fut-€1,600, owed by Craddock, had been offset in full against a business debt of 
€1, 700, owed to the firm fut-carpet repairs previously carried out. No entry ha.d been made in the 
books in respect of this offset 

(v) Craddock had returned furniture, previously pmcliased on credit from a :supplier for €8,800, and
had entered this ttansaction in the relevant ledges- accounts incorrectly as €8,880. However, a
credit note subsequently arrived from the supplier in respect of the return shov,-ing a transport
charge of €200 to cover the cost of the return. The only entry made in respect of this credit note
was a credit of€8,600 in the creditor's account.

You arr requiffd to: 

(a) Journalise the necessuy corrections.
(b) Show the Suspense Account.
{c) Prepare a Statement showing the correct net profit.
(d) Prepare a corrected Balance Sheet

(55) 
(10) 
(15) 
(20) 

(IOOmarks) 

Furniture, puccbased ou credit from J. Dolan for €16,500, had been eotered as €6,500 on the 
incorrect side of Dolan' s account and credited as €1,650 in the Fixtures & Fittings account. 

1 Put in the original entries into the original accounts and put the entries into boxes 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 

295



We are told that the purchase of furniture {stock} was entered as 6,500 on the
incorrect side of J. Dolans account {creditor). Remember the rule for personal 
accounts of debiting the receiver (us) and crediting the giver (Dolan) .As we are
receiving and Dolan is giving the incorrect side must be the debit 

J Dolan A/C 
Incorrect side ----- � I 

And credited as 1,650 in the Fixtures and Fittings account 

Fixtures & Fittings A/C 

I 
We now have the wrong side of the right account (Dolan} and an incorrect use of a
fixed asset account even though we bought stock (furniture} 

At this crucial stage of step 1 we ask do original debits and original credits balance
and how much is the difference (if any) 

They do not balance and the difference is 4850. This will be our suspense figure and 
we can check it in the journal later 

2 Put in the correct entries into the correct accounts
J Dolan A/C 

Incorrect side 

Purchases A/C 
16500 

I 

3 Correct the mistake 

16500 

Dolan has 6500 on the debit side that should not be there and it can be cancelled by
6500 on the credit side. 
Likewise the fixtures account should not have been used and this can too be 
cancelled by an entry on the opposite side. As we can not put in single entry 
corrections at step 3 we use the suspense account 
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Step 1 

Step 3 

Step 2 

Step 3 

.I Dolan A/C

Fixtures A/C

1650 
I 

Purchases A/C

16500 I 

Suspense A/C

6500 
I 

Step 2 
Step 3 

Step 1 

Step 3 

16500 

6500 

l!@ 

1650 

Only the fresh items in bold affect the general journal and the original entries in the
boxes are ignored. 

p� & Fittinp
� 

C:reditonlDolan
Suspense 
Bcmgoorrection of i� recording of the
� of fwniturc on cm=dit 

These entries were worth 3 marks each. 

U.000 e 

A debtor who owed Craddock €900 ,ent a cheque for €750 and €100 in cam in full settlement.
This was c�y recoafed in the boob. However,no entry had been made in the boob of the 
subsequent dimooouring of this cheque or of the writing off of the remaining debt in full because
ofbanbuptcy. 

1 Put in the original entries into the original accounts and put the entries into boxes 

Debtors 
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Bank 

Cash 

Discount allowed 

At this stage we know that suspense will not be used as the debits and credits 

balance. To dishonour the cheque we reverse step 1 except the CASH which is ok 

Step 2 

Step 2 

Step 1 

Step 1 

Step 1 

Debtors 

750 

50 

Bank 

�1 
Cash 

�1 

Step 1 

Step 1 

Step 1 

Step 2 

Discount allowed 

�1 
Step 2 

We now write off the remaining 800 as bad 

Debtors 

Step 2 750 Step 1 

Step 2 so Step 1 

Step 1 

Step 2 

Bad debts 
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Step 3 correct the error 

After step 1 we had a debit of 40 and a credit of 34 and so suspense will be needed 

and the difference will be 6. 
We can now fix the mistake 

Fixtures & Fittings 

Step 3 34

1 

Step 1 

Purchases 

Step 1 Step 3 40 

Fixtures & Fittings 

Step 3 34

1 

Step 1 

Suspense 

Step 3 40 I Step 3 34 

Only the fresh items in bold affect the general journal and the original entries in the 

boxes are ignored. 

Fbcwrcl aod Ymiop 
p� 

su..
Sllllltilals 

Dobtcn 

Being� .............. tnlenid � 
intbebooks 
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A pnirate debt toc�l,600, owed by Craddock, had been offset m full agamst a bus.me.ss debt of 
€1, 700, owed to the :fum foe caipet repain previously carried out. No entry had been made in the 
boob m respect of this offset. 

As no entry was made in the books we will not need suspense as there is no 
imbalance 
This is a case of the owner wiping a private debt against a business debt and leaving 
the business worse off as assets are reduced. 

It looks like this. 

Drawings 
Diseoum Allowed 

Debtors 
� �ngof M off'setof a priqlc debt owed by 
Craddock apimt a ck:bt owed by a �to the rum

1.600 9 
100• 

Craddock: had returned fbmitute, previously purehased on credit from a supplier for €8,800, and 
had entered this transaction in the relevant ledger accounts incottect:ly as €8,880. However, a 
credit note subsequently am"v'M from the supplier in respect of the return mowing a transport 
clw'ge of €200 to co�w the cost of the return. The only entry made in respect of this credit note 
was a credit of€8,600 in the creditor's account 

Error 5 needs great care as it involves purchases returns, creditors and a transport 
charge. 
We will use sentence 1 and sentence 3 to put in the original entries 

Purchases Returns 

I 

Step 1 

Creditors 
Step 1 Step 1 

As the 8600 causes the imbalance this will be our suspense figure. 
The correct figure will be 8800 MINUS the 200 for transport= 8600 

Step 2 & 3 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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.. 

301



Step 1 

Step 2 &3 8320 
Step 1 

Step 2 & 3 
Step 2 & 3 

The explanation here is that purchases returns had 8880 instead of the correct 
amount of 8600 hence the entry of 280. 

8600 

8320) 
280 

The creditors had 8600 on the owe more side (credit) and 8880 on the owe less side 
(debit) This suggests owing 280 less when the correct figure is 8600. The 8320 on the
debit side (owe less) sorts out the problem 

These are the journal entries 

Creditors 
SUspense 

Pwdmesllduml 
kml •ree&lt of mcomd � of a mdit mn 
-�_. . .., .�

1.)208 

280 e

We can now prepare the full suspense based on the suspense entries in the journal 
(i) (iii) and (v).

Pm� (i) 
� (ii) 
• Oripw �

Supeme AfflMlllt 
e 

411.50. 
,. 

�• CNditots 
Mt!I. 

• Origimd.ly iooluded in stock. The l1fook flauro is tiOW Ell.600 .. £3,144 • �

To correct the net profit we look at all journal entries and tick those that would 
affect the trading, profit and loss 

For these items 

A debit in the journal reduces the net profit 
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A credit in the journal increases the net profit 

This is because debiting an expense increases it and debiting a revenue item reduces 

it and vice versa 

Statemat of COffe\Ct Net Pnftt 

Original oet protlt. pct" boob 
Add � nllcMal 

� 

Lui PurdmN 
Bldddlls 
Sala Retur11:$ 
Distotmt allowed 
�tdsnll 

�NdPftllll 

f 

16,500 9 
BOO 9 
3409 
100 8 
•• 

£ 

63.300 9 
50 0 
�· 
63.l'JO 

�-

The remaining entries in the journal must be assets and liabilities and we can now 

correct the Balance Sheet as follows 

Remember that by debiting an asset it increases but by debiting a liability it 

decreases 

Remember that by crediting an asset it decreases but by crediting a liability it 

increases 

C.nut ... 
Stock 
Debtor5 
Cm 

Balflnee SIMlt u atllll2/l803 

€ 

(IUOO-J.14') 
()J,.300- l.700 � 340) 

I.AM CftldUon: •-••,...du....._ I ptr 
Cndltorl ($400() -1.mJ + 21.000) 
Baa (27.,000 + ,., 

�Drawmp

EXTRA ADJUSTMENT FROM LCHL 1991 
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wm 
ffl,J?O 

f 
650.0009 

7JA149 
72J.614 
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7. Correction of errnrs and suspense accotmt

The Trial Balance ofM. O'Meara, a garage owner, failed to agree on 3 l/I2/2005. The difference was
entered in a Suspense Account and the following Balance Sheet was prepared.

Fixed Assets 
Premises 
Equipment 
Furniture 

Current.Assets 
Stock (including suspense) 
Debtors 
Cash 

Less: Cu.rent Liabmtics 
Creditors 
Bank 

Financed by: 
Capita! 
Add: Net profii 

Drawings 

B:11:Jnce Sheet as at 31/12/2005 

54,000 
28.000 

On checking the books, the following errors were discovered: 

€ 
700,000 
60,000 
20,000 

91,400 
35,200 

127,100 

790,000 
64,100 

854,100 
29.000 

780,000 

45.JOO
825,!00 

825.100 
.8.25_JQQ 

(i) A motor car, purchased on credit from D. Foran for €13,000, had been entered on the
incorrect side of Foran's account as El ,300 and credited as €3,100 in the Equipment account.

(ii) O'Meara had returned a motor car, previously purchased on credit for €14,600 from a supplier.
O'Meara entered this transaction as€ 16,400 on the correct sides of the correct accounts in the ledger.
A credit note subsequently arrived from the supplier showing a restocking charge of €500 to cover the
cost of the return. The only entry made in respect of this credit note was a credit of€14,100 in the
creditor's account.

{iii) A debtor who owed O'Meara €1,000 sent a cheque for€800 and €l50 in cash in full 
settlement. This was correctly recorded in the books. However, no entry has been made in the 
books of the subsequent dishonouring of this cheque or of the writing off of the remaining debt in 
full because of bankruptcy. 

(iv) A private debt for €770, owed by O'Meara, had been offi;et in full against a business debt of €820
owed to the finn for car repairs previously carried out. No entry had been made in the books in
respect of this offset.

(v) A cheque for €2,250 paid by O'Meara out of a private bank account for 15 months hire of diagnostic
equipment up to 31/3/2006 had not been entered in the books.

You ar-e required to: 

(a) Journalise the necessary corrections.
(b) Show the Suspense Account.
{c) Prepare a Statement showing the correct net profit. 
(d) Prepare a corrected Balance Sheet. 
(� Explain with examples the difference between 'error of commission' and 

'error of principle'. 

(50) 
(6) 

(14) 
(20) 

(] 0) 
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Question 7 - continued

(c) 

Statement of corrected net profit 

Original Net Profit as per books 
Add Discount allowed disallowed

Less Purchases 
Purchases returns
Bad debts 
Discount 
Rent 

Correct Net Profit 

(iii)

(i) 
(ii) 
(iii)
(iv)
(v) 

€ 
64,JOO�

50 �N
---=-= 

64,150 

(18.000} 
Afi.15-0 �

(d) 

(e)

� 
Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2005 

Fixed assets 
Premises 
Equipment (60,000 + 3,100)
Furniture 

Current Assets 
Stock (9 I ,400 15,900) 
Debtors (35,200 + 850 - 850 - 820)
Cash 
Rent prepaid

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within l year 
Creditors (54,000 + 14,300 I 1,800)
Bank (28,000 + 800) 

Financed by 
Capital (790,000 + 1,250)
Add Net Profit 

Less Drawings (29,000 + 770)

E

75,500�
34,380ff 

500�t>tg 
� 

€

J 10,830

792,250 �
46.150 

838,400 
(29.770) �

€ 

7����t., 
,r. 

20.000 
783, l 00 

25.530
filIBJilQ

808,630 
808.630 m!}

An error of commission occurs when the correct amount is posted to the correct side of the incorrect
account. E.g Goods sold on credit to Pat O'Brien debited in error to John O'Brien's account 

An Error of Principle arises when an item is posted to the incorrect class of account. E.g. An electrical
shop owner purchased a vehicle and entered it in the purchases account instead of the vehicles account
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7. Correction of errors and susoense account

The Trial Balance ofL O'Shea, a boutique owner, failed to agree on 3 l/l 2/2007. The difference
was entered in a suspense account and the following Balance Sheet was prepared.:

Balance Sheet as nt 31/12/2007 

Fixed Assets 
Premises 
Motor Vehicles 
Furniture and equipment 

• Current Assets
Stock 
Debtors 
Cash 

Less: Current Liabilities

Creditors (including suspense) 
Bank 

Financed by: 
Capital 
Add: Net profit 

Draw ings 

12,200 
5.600 

On checking the books, the following errors were discovered: 

€ 

400,000 
20,000 
J 6.000 

17,000 
5,600 
3.200 

25,800 

(l 7 .800)

441,000 
15.000 

456,000 
12,000 

436,000 

8,000 
444.000 

(i) An overdraft of €400 in the bank account had been brought down on the incorrect side of the
nominal ledger and consequently had been entere d on the incorrect side of the trial balance.

(ii} O'Shea sold privately owned jewetlery to a debtor of the business on credit for €2,800. This 
sale had been treated in error as a cash sale of stock. O'Sheo intended that the proceeds of 
this sale were to be retained in the business. 

(iii} A debtor who owed L O'Shea €700 sent a cheque for €550 and €!00 in cash in full 
settlement. This was correctly entered in the books. However, no entry hnd been made in the 
books of the subsequent dishonouring of this cheque or of the writing off of the remaining 
debt in full because ofbunkruptcy. 

(iv} O'Shea won a motor vehicle valued at €20,000 in a grand prize draw. L O'Shea gave the 
vehicle to the business and took an old van from the business valued at €8,000, which was to 
be used for private purposes. The only entry made in the firm's books regarding both mowr 
vehicles was n debit in the cash book of €8,000. 

(v) Cash payments of fl 60 for repairs Lo the business motor vehicle and £JOO for repairs to
private motor vehicles had both been credited lo the creditors account and also credited to 
motor vehicles accouut.

You are required to: 

{a) Journalise the necessary corrections. 

{b) Show the Suspense account. 

(c} Prepare a Slatemenl showing the correct Net profit. 

( d) Prepare n corrected Balance Sheet.

(e) Explain with examples what is meant by:

(i} Error of Commission;

(50) 

(6) 

(}4) 

(20) 

(ii} Error of Principle. (10) 

(100 marl<s} 
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Question 7 - Correction of errors 

(a) 

{i) 

Journal entries 

Suspense 
Bank 

Being correction of overdraft brought down on [l] 
incorrect side of bank account 

(ii) Sales

(iii) 

(iv) 

Casb
Debtors

Capital
Being recording of sale of private jewellery to a
business debtor treated incorrectly ns a cash sole [l J

Debtor
Bank 
Discount allowed disallowed 

Bad debts account 
Debtor 

Being recording of dishonouring a cheque[!] 
and recording bad debt. 

Suspense 
Bank 

€ 

800 [2] 

2,800 [;!] 

2,800 [2] 

600 [3] 

600 [2] 

8,000 [2] 

Motor vehicles 12,000 [2] 

(v) 

(b) 

Capitol 
Being capital introduced in the form of a motor van and [I] 
!he cancellation of on incorrect entry in the bank accoun1.

Creditors 
Motor vehicles 

Suspense 
Repairs 
Drawings 

Bank 
Being repairs and drawings omitted from cash book {1] 
And entered in error in both creditors and motor vans 
account 

Bank (I) 
Bank (4) 

Suspense Account 
800 [2] Original di ffermce 

8.000 [2J Creditors (5) 

l4 

260 [2J 
260 [2] 

160 [2] 
I 00 [2J 

€ 

800 fij 

2,800 [2] 

2,800 [2j 

550 [3] 
50 [3] 

600 

8,000 [!2] 

12,000 [2] 

520 [2] 

260 [2] 

8,280 
[2} 
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Question 7 - continued 

(c) 

Statement of corrected net profit 

Original Net Profit as per books 
Add Discount disallowed (3) 

Less 
Sales (I) 
Bad Debts (3) 
Repairs (5) 

Corrected Ne! Profit 

(d) 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2007 

Fixed Assets 
Premises 
Motor vehicles (20,000 + I 2,000 + 260) 
Furniture and Equipment 

Current Assets 
Stock 
Debtors 
Cash 

(5,600 + 2,800 + 600 - 600) 
(3,200 2,800) 

Credilors: Amounts falling due within l ye:ir 
Creditors (12,200 - 260 8,280) 
Bank (5,600 + 800 + 550 + 8,000 + 260) 

Financed By 
Capital 
Net Profit 

Drawings 

(e} 

(441,000 + 2,800 +12,000) 

{J 2,000 + I 00) 

f 

2,800 
600 
]60 

€ 

17,000 [I] 
s,4oo m 

400 DJ

3,660 m
I5.2l0 [4] 

€ 
15,000 fJJ 

[2j 
15,050 

3.560 
[3] 

€ € 
400,000 [l] 
32,260 m 

fjJ 448,260 

25,800 

18.870 

455,800 [2] 
ll,490 [1] 

467,290 
12.IOO [2]

An error of commission occurs when the correct a mo uni is posted to the correct side of the incorrect 
account. Example: Goods sold on credit to Brian Brady debited in error to John Brady's account. [5] 

An error of principle arises when an item is posted to the incorrect class of account. [5] 
sxamp!e: A boutique owner purchased a vehicle and treated it as a purchase of stock 
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7. Correction of crrnrs :rnd suspense account

The Trial Balance ofC. McCarthy, a mo(or dealer, failed to agree on 31/12/2009. The difference was
entered in a suspense account and the following Balnnce Sheet was prepared:

Balance Sheet :is at 31/12/2009 

Fixed Assets 
Premises 
Equipment 
Motor Vehicles 

Current Assets 
Stock (including suspense) 
Debtors 
Cash 

Less: Creditors; amounts falling due within 1 ye:i, 
Creditors 
Bank 

Financed by: 
Capital 
Net profit 

Drawings 

On checking the books the following errors were discovered: 

56,000 
31.000 

€ € 

600,000 
30,000 
60.000 690,000 

182,400 
38,200 

1.000 
221,600 

(87,000) 134,600 

750,000 
81,200 

83] ,200
(6,600)

,a24.600 

824,600 
8?4.600 

(i} McCarthy sent a cheque for £620 in full settlement of a business debt of €660 and this was 
recorded correctly in the books. However, no entry had been made in the books ofU1e 
subsequent dishonouring of this cheque and the payment on account of€300 cash by McCarthy. 

(ii) McCarthy had returned a motor car previously purchased on credit for €15,600 from a supplier.
McCarthy entered this transaction as €16,500 on the correct sides of the correct accounts in the
ledger. A credit note subsequently arrived from the supplier showing a transport charge of €600
to cover the cost of the return. The only entry made in respect of this credit note was a credit of
€] 5,000 in the creditor's account.

(iii) McCarthy won a motor vehicle valued at €30,000 in a draw. McCarthy gave this vehicle to the
• business and took an old vehicle from the business valued at €22,500 which was to be used for 

private purposes. The only entry made in lhe firm's books regarding both vehicles was a debit in
the cash book of €22,500.

(iv) Cosh payments of €450 for repai:rs to equipmen t had been credited to the creditors account and
also credited to the motor vehicles account.

(v) A cheque for €5,250 paid by McCurthy out ofa private bank account for l 5 momhs hire of
diagnostic equipmenl up to 3 l/03/20 IO had not been entered in !he books.

You are rcqufrcd to; 

(a) Journalise the necessary corrections.
(b} Show the Suspense Account. 
(c) Prepare a Statement showing the correct net profit.
(d} Prepare a corrected Balance Sheet. 
(e) Identify three different types of errors that affect the balancing of a

Trial Balance.

(50) 
(6) 

(]4) 
(20) 

(JO) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 7 

(a} 

(i) Bank
Discount

Creditor 
Creditors 

Cash 
Being recording of dishonoured cheque issued by 
McCarthy and payment on account of€300 in co.sh [f] 

(ii) Purchases returns
Creditors

Suspense
Being recording of return of motor vehicle and credit note,
incorporating a restocking charge. [l]

(iii} Suspense
Bank 

Purchases 
Capital 

Being Capital introduced in the form of a motor van 
and the cancellation of an incorrect entry in the bank 
account [1] 

(iv) Creditors
Motor Vehicles

Suspense 
Repairs 

Bank/cash 
Being cash payments for repairs credited in error 
lo creditors and motor vehicles account. [1] 

(v) Rem -Profit & Loss
Rent Account -Balance Sheet

Capital
Being privale funds used to pay twelve months rent for the
current year and three months rent prepaid. [ l J

(b) 

Suspense Account 

Dr 
£ 

620 [2] 
40 [2] 

300 [2] 

l ,500 (3]
13,500 [3)

22,500 [3] 

7,500 t21 

450 ti]
4sor:n 

450 [?J 

4,200[2} 
1,050 [2] 

Bank (iii} 22,500 [2] 
Original difference 
Creditors (ii) 
Creditors (iv} 

Cr 

€ 

660�J 

300 [2] 

15,000 ($] 

22,500 [Jj 

7,500 [i] 

900 [2J 

450 (2:l 

5,250 [2} 

6,600 
15,000 [2] 
_-2.QQ['.l] 

22.500 

-
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(c) 

(d) 

Statement of Corrected Net Profit 

Original Net Profit a.s per books 
Less Discount (i) 

Purchases Returns (ii) 
Purchases (iii) 
Repairs (iv) 
Rent - P&L (v) 

Correct Net Profit 

Balance Sheet as at 3]112/2009 

Fucd Assets 
Premises 

f 

40 [7] 
1500 [?-J 

7,500 Ct] 
450 [2.J 

4,200 [2J 

600,000 ['JJ 
60,450 f-2.1 

€ 

81,200 [2] 

Motor vehicles (60,000 + 450) 
Equipment 30.000 HJ 69o,4so 

Current Assets 
Stock (182,400 + 6,600) 
Debtors 
Cash (1,000 - 300 450) 
Renl 

189,000 [2] 
38,200 [I] 

2so l2J 
1.050 fi-] 228,500 

Less Creditors; amounts falling due within 1 year 
Creditors (56,000 + 360 13,500 450) 42,410 [3] 
Bnuk {3 I ,000 - 620 + 22,500) 52.880 [2.] (95.290) 

Financed by 

(e) 

Capital (750,000 + 7,500 + 5,250) 
Corrected Ne1 Profit 

Less Drawings 

762,750 f2J 
67.510 

830,260 
[J] 

Entering one amount on the debit side of one ledger account and entering a 
difTcrem amount on the credil side of another ledger account. [4] 
Mathematical errors - figures and additions [3] 
Posting only one side of the double enlry [3J 

133210 
Ji2ll6!} [ I ]

823,660 
8?3 660 [J] 
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2. Correctic:m of errors and suspense account

The Trial Balance ofN. O'Connell, a garage owner, foiled to agree on 31/12/201 l. TI}e difference was
entered in a Suspense Account and tlic final accounts were prepared which showed a net profit of 
€41,000.

On checking the books, the following errors and omissions were discovered:

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

4 

(iv} 

(v) 

O'Connell's private car valued at €7,000 was presented to the business. This car was 
later sold on credit to a debtor of tbe business for €7,600. The sale had been treated ns a 
cash sale. 
O'Connell hnd returned a motor car, previously purchased on credit from a supplier, for 
€9,000 and had entered this transaction in the relevant ledger accounts incorrectly as 
£9,900. However, a credit note subsequently arrived from a supplier showing a 
restocking charge ofE'300 to cover !he cost of the return. The only entry made in 
respect oftbis credit note was a credit entry of€8,700 in the creditors account. 
A private debt offl,000 owed to O'Connell had been offset in full settlement against a 
business debt of€1,260 owed by O'Connell. No entry had been made in the books in 
respect of this trnnsaction. 
Payments from a business bank account for repairs to business premises €600 and 
insurance of private dwelling €520 were entered correctly in the bank account but 
respectively credited lo premises account and credited to insurance account. 
Car parts, previously sold on credit for €920, had been returned lo O'Connell. These 
returns had been incorrectly entered as €20 on the credit of equipment account and as 
€290 on the debit of purchases account. 

Required: 

(a) Journalise the necessary corrections.
(b) Prepru-e a statement showing the corrected net profit.
(c) (i) What is the purpose of preparing a Trial Balance? 

(40) 
( I4) 

(ii) State and explain two types of errors not revealed by the Trial Balnnce. (6) 

(60 Marks} 
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Q�estion 2 Correction of errors 

{a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

Debtor 
Bank 

Being transfer from bank account to debtors account due to 
previous incorrect entry 

Purchases returns/Purchases 
Creditor 

Suspense 
Being correction ofinc�ect entries in purchases rerums 
.:ind creditors account. t11 

(iii} Creditor 
Capital 
Discount 

Being private debt owed to O'Connell offset against 
a debt owed to a creditor ofO'ConneH's business. [hl 

(iv} Premises 
Insurance 
Repairs 
Dmwings/Capilal 

Suspense 
Being recording of payments of repairs and drawings and 
cnncellali(}!l_ofincorrect entries in buildings and insurance 
accounts. [J] 

(v) Equipment
Suspense

Purchases 
Sales returns 

Debtors 
Being sales returns 920 entered in error ns 20 in equipment 
account and 290 irr purchases :iccounL [fJ 

Debit 

7,600 [2] 

1,200 [2J 
7,500 ffi1 

l,260 [lJ 

600 fi.J 
520 (2] 
600 [�] 
520 [�] 

20 E?J 
270@ 

920 

, ,. '-, I

Credit 

7,600 [?J 

8,700 &J 

1,000 ['.?] 
260@] 

2,240 [IJ 

290�} 

920 [2] 
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(b} 

(c) 

(i) 

Statement of Corrected Nef Profit 

Original Net Profit as per books 
Add: Discount received 

Purchases 

Less: Purchases Returns 
Jnsurance 
Repairs 
Saies returns 
Corrected Net Profit 

{iii) 
(v} 

(ii} 
{iv) 
(iv) 
(v) 

260 [�] 
290 [1] 

l,200 [2) 
s2orn 
600 Hu 
920 ti] 

€ 
41,000 ITiJ 

---2J_Q 
41,550 

(3,240) 
3s,310 G4J 

A Trial Balance is prepared in order to test the accuracy of double entry bookkeeping before 
preparing Final Accounts. A Trial Balance should have lhe same total of debits and credils 
and have the same amounts because under double entry bookJceeping every debit entry should 
have a corresponding credit entry. 

(ii) Errors not revealed by a trial balance:
Errors of original entry errors made in books of first entry
Errors of principle incorrect class of account - entering an asset io an expense account 
Errors of complete omission - where both debit and credit are omitted 
Errors of commission posting to wrong nccount but to tJ1e correct side of correct rype of account 
Compensating errors - where errors of equal value cancel ench other out 
Reversal of entries where the debit entry is on the credit side and t!1e credit entry is on the debit 
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7. Correction of Errors and Suspense Account

The Trial Balance of E Cagney, a grocer, failed to agree on 31/12/2013.  The difference was entered in 
a Suspense Account and the following Balance Sheet was prepared. 

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2013 

Fixed Assets € € € 
Premises 650,000
Equipment 35,000
Motor Vehicles   72,000 757,000

Current Assets 
Stock (including suspense) 185,400 
Debtors 36,300
Cash     1,500

 223,200
Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 

Creditors 58,500
Bank 32,000 (90,500) 132,700 

 889,700 
Financed by: 

Capital  810,000 
Add: Net profit   87,200

 897,200
Less Drawings    (7,500) 889,700 

889,700 

On checking the books, the following errors were discovered: 

(i) A debtor, who owed Cagney €830, sent a cheque for €780 in full settlement and this was recorded
correctly in the books.  However, no entry was made in the books of the subsequent dishonouring
of this cheque or of the closing of the debtor’s account after the receipt of a first and final payment
of 10c in the €1.

(ii) Cagney had returned goods, previously purchased on credit for €15,800 from a supplier.
Cagney entered this transaction as €18,500 on the correct sides of the correct accounts in the
ledger.  A credit note subsequently arrived from the supplier showing a restocking charge of
€800 to cover the cost of the return.  The only entry made in respect of this credit note was a
credit of €15,000 in the creditor’s account.

(iii) A cheque for €4,260 was paid by Cagney out of a private bank account to cover 15 months
hire of equipment for the business up to 31/03/2014.  No entry had been made in the books.

(iv) Cagney won a private holiday prize for two worth €6,000 in total.  One ticket had been given
to a salesperson as part payment of sales commission for the year and the other to an
advertising firm as payment in full of a debt of €3,250.  No entry had been made in the
books.

(v) Cagney’s private car valued at €8,800 was presented to the business.  He took a used freezer
from the business for an agreed value of €800.  The only entry made in the books was a debit
of €800 in the equipment account.  The freezer had a book value of €1,300.

You are required to:  

(a) Journalise the necessary corrections. (54) 
(b) Show the Suspense Account. (6) 
(c) Prepare a statement showing the correct net profit. (14) 
(d) Prepare a corrected Balance Sheet. (20) 
(e) Identify three types of errors that affect the balancing of a Trial Balance. (6) 

(100 marks) 
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Question 7  

(a) 54
Dr. Cr.

€ €
(i) Debtors a/c 830  [2] 

Bank a/c 780  [2] 
Discount allowed a/c - disallowed 50  [2] 

Bank a/c 83  [2] 
Bad debts a/c 747  [2] 

Debtors a/c 830  [2] 

Being recording of dishonoured cheque received by 
Cagney and the payment 10 cent in the €1 as a first and 
final payment of debt  [1] 

(ii) Purchases returns a/c 3,500  [2] 
Creditors a/c 11,500  [2] 

Suspense a/c 15,000  [3] 
Being recording of return of goods and credit note
incorporating a restocking charge.  [1]

(iii) Rent a/c - (P&L) 3,408  [2] 
Debtors for Rent a/c (Balance Sheet) 852  [2] 

Capital a/c 4,260  [2] 
Being recording of private funds used to pay twelve months
rent for the current year and three months rent prepaid.  [1]

(iv) Sales commission a/c 3,000  [2] 
Creditors (advertising) a/c 3,250  [2] 

Capital a/c 6,000  [2] 
Discount received a/c 250  [2] 

Being recording of capital introduced used for the 
purpose of clearing a debt and payment of commission  [1] 

(v) Vehicles a/c 8,800  [2] 
Capital a/c 8,800  [2] 

Drawings a/c 800  [3] 
Loss on transaction(disposal) – P & L a/c 500  [3] 
Suspense a/c 800  [3]  

Equipment a/c 2,100  [3] 
Being recording of a private motor car given to the
business by Cagney and freezer taken as part payment  [1]

(b) 6
Suspense Account 

Original difference 14,200 [2] Creditors/ purchases returns(ii) 15,000  [2] 
Equipment (v)     800 [2] _____ 

15,000 15,000 
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(c) 14
Statement of Corrected Net Profit 

€ €
Original Net Profit as per books 87,200  
Add Discount disallowed (i) 50  [1] 

Discount received (iv) 250  [1]      300 
87,500 

Less Bad debts (i) 747  [2] 
Purchases Returns (ii) 3,500  [1] 
Loss on Freezer transaction (v) 500  [2] 
Rent a/c (iii) 3,408  [1] 
Sales commission (iv) 3,000  [1] (11,155) 

Correct Net Profit 76,345  [5] 

(d) 20
Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2013 

€ € € 
Fixed Assets 

Premises 650,000  [1] 
Motor vehicles  (72,000 + 8,800) 80,800  [2] 
Equipment (35,000 – 2,100) 32,900  [2] 763,700 

Current Assets 
Stock  (185,400 – 14,200) 171,200  [1] 
Debtors  (36,300 + 830 – 830) 36,300  [1] 
Cash  1,500  [1] 
Rent prepaid 852  [1] 209,852 

Less Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 
Creditors  (58,500 – 11,500 – 3,250) 43,750  [2] 
Bank  (32,000 + 780 – 83) 32,697  [2] (76,447) 133,405 

897,105 

Financed by 
Capital  (810,000 + 4,260 + 8,800 + 6,000) 829,060  [3] 
Corrected Net Profit   76,345  [1] [2] 

 905,405
Less Drawings  (7,500 + 800) (8,300) [1] 897,105  

 897,105 

(e) 6
Errors in figures and addition 

Posting only one side of the double entry 

Entering one amount on the debit side of one ledger account and entering a different amount 

on the credit side of another ledger account. 
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6. Correction of errors and suspense account

The trial balance of D. Sexton Ltd, a furniture retailer, failed to agree on 31/12/2015.  The difference
was entered into a suspense account and the following balance sheet was prepared.

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2015 

Fixed Assets € € € 
Cost Dep. 

To date 
Net 

Premises 630,000 630,000 
Equipment 56,000 12,000 44,000 
Motor vehicles   92,000 26,000   66,000 

778,000 38,000 740,000 
Current Assets 

Stock (including suspense) 98,000
Debtors  41,600
Cash    2,400 

142,000
Less: Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year

Creditors 72,000
Bank 22,000 (94,000)   48,000 

 788,000 
Financed by: 

Issued – 700,000 ordinary shares @ €1 each 700,000
Profit and loss balance   88,000 788,000 

 788,000 

On checking the books, the following errors and omissions were discovered: 

(i) Coffee tables purchased on credit for €2,800, had been entered on the incorrect side of the
creditor’s account and credited as €1,800 to the equipment account.

(ii) A delivery van which cost €2,400 and with a book value of €1,500 was sold for cash €1,350.
This had been entered as €1,530 on the debit side of the sales account and on the credit side of
the debtor’s account.

(iii) Insurance due €340 and rent prepaid to Sexton €460 were not recorded in the books.

(iv) A credit note sent to a debtor for €620 had been entered in the day books as €260 and was
subsequently posted to the incorrect side of the relevant ledger accounts.

(v) Sexton returned furniture previously purchased on credit for €27,000.  This was entered in the
accounts as €37,000.  However, a credit note subsequently arrived from the supplier showing a
transport charge of €500.  The only entry made in respect of this credit note is a credit entry of
€26,500 in the creditor’s account.

Required: 
(a) Journalise the necessary corrections. (54) 
(b) Show the suspense account. (6) 
(c) Prepare a statement showing the corrected net profit. (14) 
(d) Prepare a corrected balance sheet. (20) 
(e) Explain:

(i) Compensating errors.
(ii) Errors of original entry. (6) 

(100 Marks) 
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Question 6  

(a) 54

Dr Cr
€ €

(i) Equipment a/c 1,800 [2] 
Creditors a/c 5,600 [2] 
Purchases a/c 2,800 [3] 
Suspense a/c 1,000 [3] 

Correction of an incorrect treatment of a credit purchase [1]

(ii) Debtors a/c 1,530 [3] 
Sales a/c 1,530 [3] 
Motor vehicles a/c 2,400 [3] 
Provision for depreciation on motor vehicles a/c 900 [3] 
Cash a/c 1,350 [3] 
Loss on sale – profit and loss a/c 150 [3] 

Correction of an incorrect treatment of a delivery van sale [1]

(iii) Profit and loss a/c 800 [2] 
Insurance company a/c (balance sheet) 340 [3] 
Tenant rent a/c (balance sheet) 460 [3] 

Being recording of insurance due and rent receivable prepaid
omitted from books [1]

(iv) Sales returns a/c 880 [2] 
Debtors a/c 880 [2] 

Being correction of incorrect recording of credit note to debtor [1]

(v) Purchases/purchases returns a/c 10,500 [3] 
Creditors a/c 16,000 [3] 
Suspense a/c 26,500 [3] 

Being correction of the incorrect treatment of purchases returns [1]

(b) 

6
Suspense Account 

 Original difference 25,500 [2] Creditors/purchases (v) 26,500 [2] 
Equipment/creditors (i)   1,000 [2] ______ 

26,500 26,500 
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(c) 

14
Statement of Corrected Net Profit 

€ €
Original net profit as per books 88,000 
Add Sales/motor vehicles (ii)   1,530 [2] 

89,530 
Less Purchases (i) 2,800 [2] 

Loss on sale (ii) 150 [2] 
Rent/insurance (iii) 800 [1] 
Sales returns (iv) 880 [1] 
Purchases returns (v) 10,500 [1] (15,130) 

Correct net profit 74,400 [5]  

(d) 20
Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2015 

Fixed Assets € € € 
Premises 630,000 --- 630,000 [1] 
Equipment [56,000 + 1,800] 57,800 [1] 12,000 [1] 45,800 
Motor vehicles [92,000 – 2,400]  [26,000 – 900]   89,600 [1] 25,100 [1]   64,500 

777,400 37,100 740,300
Current Assets 

Stock (including suspense) [98,000 – 25,500] 72,500 [1] 
Debtors [41,600 + 1,530 - 880] 42,250 [3] 
Cash [2,400 + 1,350]     3,750 [2] 

118,500 
Less: Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 

Creditors [72,000 + 5,600 - 16,000] 61,600 [3] 
Insurance company  340 [1] 
Creditor - tenant 460 [1] 
Bank 22,000 [1] (84,400)   34,100 

 774,400 
Financed by: 
Capital 700,000 [2] 
Profit and loss account 74,400 [1] 774,400 

774,400 

(e) 6
Compensating errors:  This is where an error on the debit side of one account is compensated by another 
error of an equal amount on the credit side of another account.  For example, a cash payment of €550 for 
repairs entered as €55 on the debit of the repairs account and on the credit side of the cash account. 

Errors of original entry:  These are errors made in the books of first entry which are then, subsequently, 
posted to the appropriate ledger accounts.  For example, credit purchases from T. Long €223 entered as 
€322 in the purchases book and posted accordingly to both the purchases account and to Long’s account. 
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Leaving Certificate 2018 
Accounting – Higher Level 

7. Correction of Errors and Suspense Account

The trial balance of D. Fahy, a garage owner, failed to agree on 31/12/2017.  The difference
was entered in a suspense account and the following balance sheet was prepared:

Balance Sheet as at 31/12/2017 

Fixed Assets  €  €  € 

Premises 500,000

Motor vehicles 35,000 

Equipment 24,000  559,000 

Current Assets 

Stock 60,500 

Debtors 10,800

Cash 12,200 

83,500

Creditors: amounts falling due within I year 

Creditors (including suspense)  52,300 

Bank  18,400

VAT    7,500  78,200 

Net current assets       5,300 

Total assets less current liabilities 564,300 

Financed by 

Capital 550,000

Net profit 40,000 

590,000

Less drawings   (25,700)  564,300 

564,300 
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Leaving Certificate 2018 
Accounting – Higher Level 

On checking the books the following errors and omissions were discovered: 

(i) A car lift purchased on credit for €4,000, had been entered on the incorrect side
of the creditors account.  The only other entry made was a debit of €400 to the
purchases account.

(ii) D. Fahy’s private car valued at €10,000 was presented to the business for resale.
No entry was made in the books regarding this transaction.  This car was later
sold on credit to a debtor of the business for €10,000.  The sale had been
treated as a cash sale.

(iii) D. Fahy had returned a motor car, previously purchased on credit from a
supplier, for €12,000 and entered this transaction in the relevant ledger
accounts incorrectly as €1,200.  However, a credit note subsequently arrived
from a supplier showing a restocking charge of €200 to cover the cost of the
return.  The only entry made in respect of this credit note was a credit entry of
€11,800 in the creditors account.

(iv) A payment of €500 was received from F. Mc Fadden, a debtor, whose debt had
previously been written off and who wishes to trade with D. Fahy again.  This
represents 80% of the original debt and the debtor has undertaken to pay the
remainder of the debt by January 2018.  No entry had been made in the books.

(v) D. Fahy purchased goods on credit from Car Parts Ltd for €3,000 plus VAT @
13.5%.  The only entries in the accounts were that the VAT inclusive figure was
entered on the debit side of the equipment account and the VAT exclusive figure
entered on the credit side of Car Parts Ltd account.

Required: 

(a) Journalise the necessary corrections. (54) 

(b) Show the suspense account. (6) 

(c) Prepare a statement showing the corrected net profit. (14) 

(d) Prepare a corrected balance sheet. (20) 

(e) Outline the purpose of a suspense account. (6) 

(100 marks) 
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Q.7  Correction of Errors and Suspense Account 54 

(a) General Journal

(i)  Dr  Cr 

€  € 

Equipment a/c  4,000 [3] 

Creditors a/c 8,000 [3] 

Purchases a/c   400 [3] 

Suspense a/c  4,400 [3]

Being correction of purchase of car lift entered incorrectly [1]

(ii) 

Purchases a/c  10,000 [3] 

Capital a/c 10,000 [2] 

Debtors a/c  10,000 [3]

Cash/bank a/c 10,000 [2] 

Being recording of capital introduced and correction of credit sale treated as a cash sale [1] 

(iii) 

Creditors a/c  22,400 [2] 

Purchase returns a/c 10,600 [2] 

Suspense a/c 11,800 [2] 

Being correction of purchase returns and subsequent restocking charge entered incorrectly [1] 

(iv) 

Cash/bank a/c  500 [2] 

Debtors a/c  125 [2]

Bad debts recovered (P & L) 625 [2] 

Being recording of bad debt recovered and promise of remaining debt [1] 

(v) 

Purchases a/c  3,000 [3]

VAT a/c   405 [3]

Creditors a/c 405 [3] 

Equipment a/c 3,405 [3] 

Suspense a/c  405 [3]

Being correction of VAT inclusive figure for purchases entered in equipment and VAT 
exclusive figure entered in creditors account [1] 
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(b) Corrected Suspense Account 6 

Suspense a/c 

Original Difference   6,995  (iii)  Creditors/purchase returns [2]  11,800 

(i)  Purchases/creditors  4,400 [2] 

(v)  Equipment/creditors       405 [2]  ______ 

11,800  11,800 

(c) Statement of Corrected Net Profit 14 

€  € 

Original net profit  40,000 

Add: 

(i) Purchases 400 [2] 

(iii) Purchase returns 10,600 [2] 

(iv) P & L (bad debt recovered)      625 [2]  11,625 

Less:

(ii) Purchases 10,000 [2] 

(v) Purchases   3,000 [2]  (13,000) 

Corrected net profit 38,625 [4] 
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(d)  20 
Corrected Balance Sheet 

Fixed assets  €  €  € 

Premises 500,000 [2]

Motor vehicles 35,000 [2] 

Equipment  (24,000 + 4,000 – 3,405) 24,595 [2]  559,595 

Current assets 

Stock   60,500  [1] 

Debtors (10,000 + 125) 20,925  [2]

Cash  (‐10,000)   2,200  [1] 

83,625

Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 

Trade creditors (8,000 – 22,400 + 405 + 6,995)  45,300 [4] 

Bank (‐500)  17,900 [1]

Vat (‐405)   7,095 [1]  (70,295) 

Net current assets     13,330 

Total assets less current liabilities   572,925 

Financed by 

Capital (+10,000) 560,000  [2]

Net profit   38,625  [1] 

598,625

Less drawings   (25,700) [1]  572,925 

572,925 

(e) Purpose of a suspense a/c 6 

 A suspense a/c is used when there is a mistake in the accounts that prevents the trial
balance from balancing.

 The difference between the debit and the credit side of the trial balance is entered in the
suspense a/c, until the errors are discovered, in order to allow the trial balance to
balance.  The relevant errors are corrected through the suspense account and the balance
is then eliminated.
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Net value at 01/01/04 

Net value at 31-12-04 

738,000 (780000-42000) 

900,000 

187,000 

143,000 

3 items from a Directors report 

Dividends for the year 
Retained Earnings for the year 
Any change in the nature of the Business 

Exceptional items 

These are large items that must be shown separately due to their size e.g. unusually 
large bad debts. 

Other possible theory areas based on Published accounts. 

1.) Accounting concepts are broad basic assumptions, which underlie the 
periodic financial accounts of business enterprises. 

Four main accounting concepts 

• Going concern means the firm is being kept in its present trading use

• Accruals -Income we should have received/ Expenses should have been

paid

• Consistency -use the same accounting systems

• Prudence -the firm should overstate it's losses and understate it's gains

Other concepts 

• Entity -the business is separate from the person

• Money measurement -monetary transactions only are included in the

accounts.

• Realisation -when sale occurs is important and not when we are paid

• Double entry : Assets = Liabilities + Capital

• Objectivity-Accountant should not use personal bias

2.) Accounting bases are the methods chosen to apply the concept e.g. 

depreciation at cost 

3.) Accounting policies are the specific bases chosen e.g. First In First Out 

© Philip Curry, Ashfield College 
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Page 8 of 10 

7. Published Accounts 

Atkinson plc has an authorised share capital of €900,000 divided into 600,000 ordinary shares at €1 
each and 300,000 8% preference shares at €1 each.  The following trial balance was extracted from 
the books at 31/12/2015. 

 € € 
Vehicles at cost 290,000  
Vehicles - accumulated depreciation on 01/01/2015  104,000 
6% Investments 250,000  
Buildings at cost 700,000  
Buildings - accumulated depreciation on 01/01/2015  121,300 
Investment income  5,400 
Debtors and creditors 129,000 94,000 
Stock 01/01/2015 91,000  
Patent 01/01/2015 33,000  
Administrative expenses 203,000  
Distribution costs 121,000  
Purchases and sales 1,165,000 1,799,700 
Rental income  46,000 
Profit on the sale of land  35,000 
Dividends paid 43,000  
Bank 90,000  
VAT  21,300 
Profit and loss account at 01/01/2015  72,000 
Issued capital   

Ordinary shares  480,000 
8% Preference shares  120,000 

Provision for bad debts  15,500 
7% Debentures 2018/2019  200,000 
Discount  13,000 
Debenture interest paid      12,200 ________ 
 3,127,200 3,127,200 

The following information is relevant: 
(i) Stock on 31/12/2015 is €76,000. 
(ii) The patent was acquired on 01/01/2011 for €77,000.  It is being amortised over 7 years in equal 

instalments.  This amortisation is to be included in cost of sales. 
(iii) Provide for debenture interest due, investment income due, auditors’ fees €18,000, 

directors’ fees €26,000 and corporation tax €56,000. 
(iv) Included in administrative expenses is the receipt of €8,250 for rental income. 
(v) During the year, land adjacent to the company’s premises, which had cost €85,000 was sold for 

€120,000.  At the end of the year the company revalued its buildings to €800,000 and wishes to 
incorporate this value in this year’s accounts. 

(vi) Provide for depreciation:  Buildings 2% straight line. 
  Vehicles 20% of cost. 
(vii) A former employee has made a claim of €60,000 for unfair dismissal.  The company’s legal 

advisers have advised that the company will probably be liable for the full amount. 
Required: 

 

(a) Prepare the published profit and loss account for the year ended 31/12/2015 and a balance sheet 
as at that date in accordance with the Companies Acts and appropriate accounting standards 
showing the following notes: 
1. Accounting policy note for tangible fixed assets and stock 
2. Operating profit 
3. Dividends 
4. Tangible fixed assets 
5. Contingent liability. (88) 

 
(b) (i) Explain why it is important that financial statements are properly regulated. 
 (ii) How does the European Union regulate the presentation of accounts? (12) 

 (100 marks) 
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Question 7 

40
Profit and Loss Account of Atkinson plc for the year ended 31/12/2015 

€ 
Turnover 1,799,700 [2] 
Cost of sales W 1  (1,191,000) [5] 
Gross profit 608,700   
Distribution costs W 2 (179,000) [3] 
Administrative expenses W 3 (329,250) [7] 

100,450 
Other operating income W 4   67,250  [4] 
Operating profit 167,700 
Investment income W 5 15,000 [3] 
Profit on the sale of land   35,000  [2] 

217,700 
Interest payable  (14,000) [3] 
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation [1] 203,700   
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (56,000) [2] 
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 147,700 
Dividend paid (43,000) [2] 
Profit retained for the year 104,700 
Profit brought forward on 01/01/2015   72,000  [2] 
Profit carried forward on 31/12/2015 176,700  [4] 

26
Balance Sheet of Atkinson plc as at 31/12/2015 

Fixed Assets € € € 
Intangible assets 22,000  [1] 
Tangible assets 928,000  [2]  
Financial assets    250,000  [1] 

1,200,000 
Current Assets 

Stock 76,000 [1] 
Debtors W 6 123,100 [3] 
Bank  90,000  [1] 289,100 

Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year [1] 
Trade creditors 94,000  [1] 
Taxation W 7 77,300 [2] 
Other creditors W 8 105,800  [4] (277,100)  

Net current assets       12,000 
Total assets less current liabilities 1,212,000 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than 1 year 
7% Debentures [2] 200,000

Capital and Reserves 
Issued shares 600,000  [2]  [1] 
Revaluation reserve W 9 235,300 [3] 
Profit carried forward 176,700  [1]

1,012,000
1,212,000 
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Notes to the Accounts 

 22 

1. Accounting policy notes on Tangible Fixed Assets and Stock [5] 

Buildings were re-valued at the end of 2015 and were included in the accounts at their re-valued 
amount.  Vehicles are shown at cost.  Depreciation is calculated in order to write off the value/cost of 
the tangible assets over their estimated useful economic life, as follows: 
Buildings - 2% per annum - straight line basis. 
Vehicles - 20% of cost. 
Stocks  - Stocks are valued on a first in first out basis at the lower of cost and net realisable 

 value. 

 
2. Operating Profit [5] 

Operating profit is arrived at after charging: 
Depreciation on tangible assets 72,000 
Patent amortised 11,000 
Directors’ remuneration 26,000 
Auditors’ fees 18,000  

 
3. Dividends [2] 

Ordinary dividend 
Paid 6.96c per share 33,400 

 
Preference dividend 
Paid 8c per share 9,600 

 
4.  Tangible Fixed Assets [7] 
 Land/Buildings Vehicles Total 

Value 01/01/2015 785,000 290,000 1,075,000 
Disposal (85,000)  (85,000) 
Revaluation surplus 31/12/2015 100,000 _______ 100,000 
Value at 31/12/2015 800,000 290,000 1,090,000 
    
Depreciation 01/01/2015 121,300 104,000 225,300 
Charge for the year   14,000   58,000   72,000 
 135,300 162,000 297,300 
Transfer on revaluation (135,300)       -      (135,300) 
Depreciation 31/12/2015 ------ 162,000 162,000 
    
Net book value 01/01/2015 663,700 186,000 849,700 
    
Net book value 31/12/2015 800,000 128,000 928,000 

 
 
5. Contingent Liability [3] 

 
The company has provided €60,000 for a claim made by an employee for unfair dismissal.  The 
company’s legal advisers have advised that the company will probably be liable for the full €60,000 of 
the claim. 
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Workings 
 
1. Cost of sales 91,000 + 1,165,000 + 11,000 - 76,000 = 1,191,000 
 
2. Distribution costs 121,000 + 58,000 = 179,000 
 
3. Administrative expenses 203,000 + 18,000 + 26,000 + 8,250 + 14,000 + 60,000 = 329,250 
 
4. Other operating income 46,000 + 8,250 + 13,000 = 67,250 
 
5. Investment income 5,400 + 9,600 = 15,000 
 
6. Debtors 129,000 - 15,500 + 9,600 = 123,100 
 
7. Taxation 21,300 + 56,000 = 77,300  
 
8. Other creditors 18,000 + 26,000 + 1,800 + 60,000 = 105,800 
 
9. Revaluation reserve 100,000 + 121,300 + 14,000 = 235,300 
 
 
 

(b) 12 

 
(i) Regulation is important for the following reasons: 
 

1. To ensure that financial statements are consistent from year to year. 
2. To ensure that financial statements can be easily compared with other businesses. 
3. To ensure that financial statements comply with national and international law. 
4. To ensure that the required accounting information is available to external users (e.g. banks). 
5. Good regulation makes fraud less likely and builds trust among the investing public. 

 
(ii) The European Union influences regulation by issuing directives.  Directives are instructions that are 

binding on member states.  Member states are given a fixed period of time to implement the directive 
into national law.  The purpose of directives is to harmonise accounting practice in member states.  An 
example would be the fourth directive. 
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Leaving Certificate 2018 10
Accounting – Higher Level 

6. Published Accounts

Capital plc has an authorised share capital of €800,000 divided into 600,000 ordinary
shares at €1 each and 200,000 8% preference shares at €1 each.  The following trial balance
was extracted from the books at 31/12/2017:

€  € 

Delivery vans at cost  280,000

Delivery vans ‐ accumulated depreciation on 01/01/2017 116,000 

6% Investments (purchased 01/04/2017)  300,000

Buildings at cost  760,000

Buildings ‐ accumulated depreciation on 01/01/2017 81,300 

Investment income 8,400 

Debtors and creditors  139,000  108,000 

Stock 01/01/2017  91,000

Patent 01/01/2017  42,000

Administrative expenses  205,000

Distribution costs  144,000

Purchases and sales  1,170,000  1,800,300 

Carriage in   6,600

Returns inwards  20,300

Rental income 28,000 

Profit on the sale of land 87,000 

Dividends paid  55,000

Bank  82,000

VAT 34,200 

Profit and loss account at 01/01/2017  42,500

Issued capital

Ordinary shares 600,000 

8% Preference shares 120,000 

Provision for bad debts 28,500 

7% Debentures 2022/2023 300,000 

Discount 39,000 

Debenture interest paid       13,300  ________ 

3,350,700  3,350,700 

376



Leaving Certificate 2018 11  
Accounting – Higher Level 

The following information is relevant: 

(i)  Stock on 31/12/2017 was €86,000. 

(ii)  The patent was acquired on 01/01/2014 for €63,000.  It is being amortised over 9 years in 
equal instalments.  This amortisation is to be included in cost of sales. 

(iii)  Provision should be made for debenture interest due, investment income due, 
auditors’ fees €16,000, directors’ fees €32,000 and corporation tax €49,000. 

(iv)  Included in distribution costs is the receipt of €15,000 for patent royalties. 

(v) During the year, land adjacent to the company’s premises, which had cost €80,000 was sold 
for €167,000.  At the end of the year the company revalued its buildings to €850,000 and 
wishes to incorporate this value in this year’s accounts. 

(vi) Depreciation on buildings is to be provided at the rate of 2% p.a. straight line, and is to be 
allocated 40% to distribution costs and 60% to administration expenses.  There was no 
purchase or sale of buildings during the year.  Delivery vans are to be depreciated at the rate 
of 20% per annum on a reducing balance basis. 

(vii)  The company is being sued by a former employee who is claiming unfair dismissal and is 
seeking damages of €100,000.  Company legal advisors have stated that it is unlikely that any 
compensation will have to be paid to the former employee.  The company has received an 
invoice for legal fees to the value of €5,000 which must be provided for. 

(viii)  On the 31/12/2017, Capital plc entered into a preliminary contract agreement with Stewarts 
Ltd (a construction company) to build an extension to its premises at a cost of €400,000.  It 
also intends to carry out improvements to existing premises at a cost of €120,000. 

 
Required: 

 
(a)  Prepare the published profit and loss account for the year ended 31/12/2017 and a balance 

sheet as at that date in accordance with the Companies Acts and appropriate accounting 
standards showing the following notes: 

1.  Accounting policy note for tangible fixed assets and stock 
2.  Operating profit 
3.  Dividends 
4.  Capital expenditure commitments note 
5.  Tangible fixed assets.  (90) 

 
(b)  Explain how an auditor safeguards the interests of shareholders.  (10) 

  (100 marks) 
   

377



15 

Q.6  Published Accounts 40 

Published Profit and Loss Account of Capital plc for year ended 31/12/2017 

€  € 

Turnover  1,780,000  [2] 

Cost of sales  (1,188,600)  [5] 

Gross profit  591,400

Distribution costs  (197,880)  [5] 

Administration expenses  (267,120)  [6] 

Other operating income     82,000  [3] 

Operating profit  208,400

Exceptional item/profit from sale of land  87,000  [2] 

Income from financial investments  13,500  [3] 

Interest payable    (21,000)  [3] 

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation [1]  287,900

Tax on profit on ordinary activities    (49,000)  [2] 

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation  238,900

Dividends paid   (55,000)  [2] 

Retained profit  183,900

Profit and loss balance 01/01/2017  (42,500)  [3] 

Profit and loss balance 31/12/2017  141,400  [3]
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  26 
Balance Sheet of Capital plc as at 31/12/2017 

Fixed assets  €  €  € 

Intangible assets      35,000 [2] 

Tangible assets      981,200 [2] 

Financial assets        300,000 [1] 

      1,316,200 

Current assets       

Stock    86,000 [1]   

Debtors    115,600 [3]   

Bank      82,000 [1]   

    283,600   

Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year [1]     

Trade creditors  108,000 [1]     

Other creditors  60,700 [4]     

Taxation  83,200 [2]  (251,900)   

Net current assets           31,700 

Total assets less current liabilities      1,347,900 

       

Creditors: amounts falling due after 1 year     

7% Debentures      300,000 [2] 

Capital and Reserves       

Called up share capital    720,000 [2]   

Revaluation reserve    186,500 [3]   

Profit and loss balance    141,400 [1]  1,047,900 

      1,347,900 
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Workings 

1  Turnover  1,800,300 – 20,300  1,780,000 

2  Cost of sales  91,000 + 1,170,000 + 6,600 – 86,000 + 7,000  1,188,600 

3  Distribution costs  144,000 + 6,080 + 32,800 + 15,000  197,880 

4  Administration expenses  205,000 + 9,120 + 16,000 + 32,000 + 5,000  267,120 

5  Other operating income  39,000 + 15,000 + 28,000  82,000 

6  Investment income  8,400 + 5,100  13,500 

7  Interest payable  13,300 + 7,700  21,000 

8  Intangible assets  42,000 – 7,000  35,000 

9  Debtors  139,000 – 28,500 + 5,100  115,600 

10  Other creditors  16,000 +  32,000 + 5,000 + 7,700  60,700 

11  Revaluation reserve  90,000 + 96,500  186,500 

 

Notes to the Accounts   24 
1. Accounting Policy Notes 

Tangible Fixed Assets [6] 

Buildings were revalued at the end of this year and have been included in the accounts at 
their revalued amount.  Depreciation is calculated in order to write off the value or cost of 
tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful economic life, as follows: 

Buildings  2% per annum straight line basis 
Delivery vans  20% per annum reducing balance basis 

Stocks are valued on a first in first out basis at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

2. Operating Profit [5] 

The operating profit is arrived at after charging: 

Depreciation on tangible fixed assets  €48,000 
Patent amortised  €7,000 
Directors’ fees  €22,000 
Auditors’ fees  €16,000 
Legal fees  €5,000 

3. Dividends [4] 

Ordinary Dividend Paid 
  7.57 cent per share  €45,400 
Preference Dividends Paid 
  8 cent per share  €9,600 
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4. Capital expenditure commitments note [2] 

The company has entered into a preliminary contract with Stewart Ltd for the building of an 
extension to its premises for the sum of €400,000.  They also intend to carry out further 
capital improvements to existing premises at a cost of €120,000. 
 

5. Tangible Fixed Assets [7] 

  Land and 
Buildings 

Delivery 
Vans 

Total 

  €  €  € 

Cost 01/01/2017  840,000  280,000  1,120,000 

Disposal  (80,000)    (80,000) 

Revaluation surplus    90,000  _______         90,000 

  850,000  280,000  1,130,000 

       

Accumulated depreciation 01/01/2017  81,300  116,000  197,300 

Charge for year 31/12/2017  15,200  32,800  48,000 

Transfer to revaluation  (96,500)  _______   (96,500) 

  ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐  148,800  148,800 

       

Net book value 01/01/2017  758,700  164,000  922,700 

Net book value 31/12/2017  850,000  131,200  981,200 

(b)  10 

How does the auditor safeguard the interests of the shareholders? 

 By examining the financial statements and giving an assurance that they give a true and 

fair view. 

 By preparing an audit report and giving an assurance that the financial statements have 

been prepared in accordance with the Companies Acts and accounting standards and 

practices. 

 By being able to threaten a qualified audit report thereby discouraging fraud. 

 Being independent of the directors, the auditor is appointed by the shareholders and is 

responsible to them. 
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MARGINAL COSTING (COST- VOLUME PROFIT 

ANALYSIS) 

This topic from the Management Accounting section has appeared in 1997, 1999, 
2001 and 2004. 2006 2008 2011 2014 2017 It is popular with students but all angles 
of the topic must be covered to obtain full marks in the section. 

In order to answer a Marginal Costing with confidence it is essential to know the key 
definitions and key formulae. 

1 Fixed Costs ; These costs do not change over certain levels of output e.g. Annual 
Rent 
2 Variable Costs ; These costs vary as output changes e.g. Raw Materials 
3 Contribution is the difference between total sales and total variable costs and is 
used to firstly cover fixed costs and then the remainder is profit. 
4 Contribution per Unit = Selling Price per Unit Variable Cost per Unit 
5 Breakeven Point Total Costs =Total Revenue 
6 Margin o(Safetv Actual Sales Breakeven point 
7 Formulae 
C/S ratio = contribution ; sales
(a) Breakeven point = Fixed Costs 

Contribution Per Unit 

(b) Target Profit formula = Fixed Costs+ Target Profit
Contribution Per Unit 

( c) Sample Marginal Costing Statement

Sales 
Less Variable Costs 
= Contribution 
Less Fixed Costs 
= Profit 

Sample Higher Level Question and Solution Marginal Costing using Sales 
Commission as a percentage of Sales 

Quincy Ltd manufactures a component for the motor industry. The company's 
profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 2004 was as follows: 

Sales (200,000 units @ €8 each 
Less 
Direct material 
Direct labour 
Production overheads 
Administration costs 
Selling costs 

400,000 
300,000 
500,000 
70,000 

100,000 

€ 
1,600,000 

(1,370,000) 
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230,000 Net profit 

Direct materials and direct labour are variable 
Production overheads are 80 % variable 
Administration costs are 25% fixed. 
Apart from sales commission of 4% of sales, selling costs are fixed. 

Step 1 Classify all costs into variable and fixed as suitable for a Marginal Costing 
Statement 

I Variable 

Materials 400000 
Labour 300000 
Production O/hs 400000 (80%) 
Admin. Costs 52500 
Selling Costs 64000 (4% of sales) 

1216500 

Selling price per unit = €8 

Variable cost per unit = €1,216.500 = €6.0825 
200,000 

Variable cost per unit excluding commission €5.7625 

Contribution per unit =( €8 - €6.0825) 
= €1.9175 

I Fixed 

100000(20%) 
17500 
36000 

153500 

UNITS PER UNIT TOTAL 
Sales 200,000 €8 €1,600,000 
Less Variable 200,000 €6.0825 (€1,216,500) 
Costs 
Contribution 200,000 €1.9175 €383,500 
Less Fixed Costs (€153,500) 
Profit €230,000 

(a) Calculate the company's break-even volume and margin of safety

in 2004 (10)
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Breakeven point is found by using the formula 
Fixed costs =

CPU 

Margin of safety 

= 80,053 units 

budgeted sales 
200,000 Units 
119,947 units 

153,500 
1.9175 

Breakeven Point 
80,053 Units 

Calculate how many units must be sold in 2004 if the company 
wishes to earn a net profit of €280,000 assuming the selling prices 
and variable costs remain unchanged but that all fixed costs 
increase by 10%.(20) 

Sales in units to provide a profit of €280,000 
Find the new Fixed Costs; 
Fixed costs for 2004 = €153,500 

€153,500 
€168,850 

Fixed costs + Target profit
CPU 

€168,850 

234,081 units 

+ €280,000
€1.9175 

+
+ 

10%
€15,350

The selling price the company must charge in 2004. If fixed costs 
are increased by 20% but the volume of sales and the profit remain 
the same.(20) 

Selling price for 2004 
The problem here is that that we are looking for the new selling price which also 
affects commission and variable costs and contribution. 

Fixed costs for 2004: 
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€153,500 + €30,700 
Contribution required for 2004 
= Fixed costs + Profit
= €184,200 + €230,000

€414,200 

Contribution per unit 
= €414,200 

200,000 
€2.071 

= €184,200 

At this point we must pretend that there is no commission in the question which 
means that we can find a selling price of 96% of the real answer 
Contribution per unit 
= 414,200 

200,000 
= €2.071 

+ Variable cost (excluding commission)

(96%) selling price ( excluding commission) 

Ifwe know 96% of the final answer is €7.8335 

€5.7625 

€7.8335 

We can find selling price including commission by dividing by.96 to find 100% 
= 7.8375 

0.96 
= €8.16 

This is the selling price the company must charge in 2004. If fixed costs are increased 
by 20% but the volume of sales and the profit remain the same 

The number of units that would provide a profit of 13% of the sales 
revenue 
from these units when the selling price is €9 (20) 

Profit of 13% of€9 

= €1.17

Formula 

Fixed Costs 

Contribution per unit -13% of selling price 
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New selling price means a new Variable Cost Per Unit 

€5.7625 + (4% of€9) 
= €6.1225 

Remember that commission is 4% of sales value and our new sales value is €9 

New Contribution per unit =

€9-€6.1225 

= €2.8775 

€153500 

€2.8775 €1. 17 

89,898 units 

However in 2004 the examiner reverted to a commission of €0. 70 PER UNIT

This means that adjustment (d) and (e) are done differently as follows 

To summarise, the key figures in 2004 were 

Selling Price Per Unit = €16 
Variable Cost Per Unit = €9 .26 
Contribution Per Unit = €6.74 
Fixed Costs = €206, 100 
Volume of Units = 60,000 
Profit €198,300 

(d) The selling price the company must charge in 2004. If f,xed
costs are increased by 10% but the volume of sales and the profit
remain the same.(20)
This question is more straightforward as the commission is €0.70 per
unit will not change as the selling price changes.

New Fixed Costs are €206,100 x 1.1 (increase) 
€226,710 

+ €198,300 (original profit)
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=€425,010 
This is the new Total Contribution 
€425,010 I 60,000 
= €7.0835 is the Contribution per unit 
As commission is an inbuilt €0. 70 PER UNIT variable costs do not change 
To find our NEW Selling Price Per Unit 
We add €7.0835 and €9.26 

Answer is €16.3435 

(e) The number of units that would provide a profit of 10% of the sales
revenue
from these units when the selling price is €17 (20)

Even though we have a new selling price of €17 it will not affect variable 
cost per unit as the commission is per unit. 
New Selling Price is € 17 

- Variable Cost Per Unit €9 .26
- New Contribution Per Unit = €7. 7 4

Profit of 10% of €17 

= €1.70 

Formula 

Fixed Costs 

Contribution per unit -13% of selling price 

€206,100 

€7.74 - €1.70 

= 34,123 units 
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8. Marginal and Absorption Costing

A. Harrrington Ltd., produces a single product. The company's profit and loss account for the year
ended 31/12/2005, during which 60,000 units were produced and sold, was as follows:

Sales 
Materials 
Direct labour 
Factory overheads 
Administration expenses 
Selling expenses 

Net profit 

€ 

288,000 
144,000 
51,000 
96,000 
68,000 

€ 

720,000 

647,000 
73.000 

The materials, direct labour and 40% of the factory overheads are variable costs. Apart from 
sales commission of 5% of sales, selling and administration expenses are fixed. 

You are required to calculate: 

(a) The company's break-even point and margin of safety.

(b) The number of units that must be sold at€ 13 per unit to provide a profit of I 0% of the sales
revenue received from these same units.

(c) The profit the company would make in 2006 ifit reduced its selling price to €11, increased
fixed costs by €10,000 and thereby increased the number ofunits sold to 80,000, with all
other cost levels and percentages remaining unchanged.

B. Cloud Ltd., produces 8,000 units of product Z during the year ended 31/12/2005. 6,000 of these units
were sold at €6 per unit. The production costs were as follows:

Direct Materials 
Direct Labour 
Variable Overhead 
Fixed Overhead Cost for the year 

You are required to: 

€0.50 per unit 
€0.80 per unit 
€0.50 per unit 
€3,000 

(a) Prepare Profit and Loss statements under Marginal and Absorption costing principles.

(b) Outline the differences between Marginal and Absorption costing. Indicate which method
should be used for financial accounting purposes and why.

(80 marks) 
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Question 8 

(A) Sales Less Variable CostsDirect materials Direct labour Factory overheads (40%) Sales commission (5% x 720,000)
ContributionLess Fixed costs Factory overheads (60%) Administration expenses Selling expenses (excluding commission)Net Profit

288,000144,000 20,40036,000 

30,60096,00032,000 

€ 720,000

(488,400)231,600 

158,60073,000

(a) Break even point Fixed CostsCPU 158.600 I 3.86 

Margin of safety 

(b) Fixed costs

Sales break even point 
■ 60,000-41089 ■

Contribution - 10% of S.P.
158.600 I■ 4.81-1.3 

(c) Profit if seHing price dropped to €11

Sales Less variable costsContribution Less fixed costsProfit 

(80,000 x 11) (80,000 X 8.09)
(158,600 + 10,000) 

15 

880,000 1
647.200 232,800 

1 

€ per unit)12.00 

8.14 
3.86 

41,089 units

■ 18,911 units

■ 45,186 units
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Question 8- continued 

(B) 

(a) Absorption Costing
Sales (6,000 x €6)
Less production cost of 8,000 units 
Direct materials (8,000 x 0.50) 
Direct labour (8,000 x 0.80) 
Variable overhead (8,000 x 0.50) 
Fixed overhead 

Less closing stock (1/4 of 17,400) 
Profit 

Marginal costing 

Sales 
Less production costs 
Direct materials 
Direct labour 
Variable overhead 

Less closing stock ( 1/4 of 14,400) 
Contribution 
Less fixed cost 
Profit 

(b)

€ 

4,000 1 6,400 
4,000 
3,000 

17,400 
(4,350)■ 

€ 

4,000 1 6,400 
4,000 

14,400 
(3,600) 

There is a different profit figure because closing stock is valued differently.

€ 
36,ooo■ 

€ 
36,ooo■ 

Marginal costing does not include fixed costs when costing a product whereas
absorption costing does include the fixed costs.
Therefore closing stock under marginal costing is valued lower than under absorption
costing because a share of fixed costs is included in the value of stock under absorption
costing but not included under marginal costing.

Under absorption costing, closing stock is valued at a ¼ of the production cost of 17,400 
Under marginal costing, closing stock is valued at ¼ of the production cost of 14,400. 

Closing stock -Absorption costing 
Closing stock - Marginal costing 
Difference 

The profit difference is 22,950 22,200 

4,350 
(3,600) 

750 

750 

Absorption costing should be used as it agrees with standard accounting practice and 
concepts and matches costs with revenues. ■ 
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8. Marginal Costing and Separation of Costs

(a) Doyle Ltd produces a single product. The company's profit and loss account for the year
ended 31/12/2007, during which 14,000 units were produced and sold, was as follows. The
company operated at 70% of capacity in 2007.

Sales (14,000 units) 
Materials 
Direct labour 
Factory overheads 
Administration expenses 
Net profit 

€ 

120,000 
140,000 

90,000 
112,000 

€ 
560,000 

462,000 
98,000 

The materials, direct labour and a third of the factory overheads are variable costs. €62,500 of 
the administration expenses are fixed. 

You are required to calculate: 

(i) The company's break-even point and margin of safety.

(ii) The profit the company would make in 2008 if it reduced the selling price by 5%, increased
advertising by € I 0,000 and thereby increased sales to 20,000 units with all other cost levels
unchanged.

(iii) The number of units that must be sold at €36 per unit to provide a profit of 20% of the
sales revenue received from these same units.

(iv) The profit the company would make if a commission of 5% of sales is given to sales
personnel and €1 extra per unit spent on enhanced packaging, thereby increasing the sales to
19,000 units at €42 per unit

(v) For what purpose is the Contribution Sales Ratio regularly used? When is the use of this ratio
essential?

(b) Mixed costs can be separated into their fixed and variable elements by using records of costs
from previous periods. Max PLC manufactures a single component. The following
production costs and output levels have been recorded during March, April and May 2007:

Output Levels 
Units 
Costs 

Direct materials 
Direct Labour 
Production Overheads 
Other overhead costs 
Administration expenses 

Profit is budgeted to be 15% of sales. 

You are required to: 

50% 
10,000 

€ 
140,000 
80,000 
66,000 
57,000 
25,000 

368.000 

75% 
15,000 

€ 
210,000 
120,000 
96,000 
83,250 
25,000 

534.250 

(i) Separate production overheads into fixed and variable elements.
(ii) Separate other overhead costs into fixed and variable elements.

90% 
18,000 

€ 
252,000 
144,000 
114,000 
99,000 
25.000 

634.000 

(iii) Prepare a Flexible Budget for 95% Activity Level using Marginal costing
principles, and show the contribution. (80 marks) 
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Question 8 

(a) 

(i) 

Sales (14,000 units 70%)
Less Variable Costs 

Direct materials 
Direct lab 
Factory overhead 
Administration overhead

Contribution 
Less Fixed Costs 

Factory overhead 
Administration overhead

Net Profit 

Break even point Fixed Costs
CPU 

€ 

120,000 

140,000 

30,000 

49,500 

60,000 

62,500 

= 1122,500 

15.75 

€ 

560,000 

339,500 
220,500 

122,500 

� 

€ 
per unit
40.00 

24.25 

15.75

[I 7,778 units 

Margin of safety Sales - break even
.

int
■ 14,000 - 7,778 ::,0 ■ 6,222 units

(ii) Profit from reduced selling price
Sales (20,000 x €38.00)
Less variable costs (20,000 x €24.25)

fixed costs 
Profit 

(iii) Number of Units that must be sold

Let N be the no of units 

+ F.C. +

760.000 

I 
485,000 

132,500 

142,500 

Profit Sales 

36N 

v.c.

24.25N 

122,500 

122,500 

+ 122,500 + [20% of36N]

36N 24.25N - 7.2N 

4.55N■

N 26924 units ■

(iv) The profit they would Make from S.P of €42

Sales 
Less Variable costs
Contribution 
Less Fixed costs
Profit 

[I 9,000 x €42] 
[19,000 x (24.25 + 1 + 2.10)]

(v) To calculate the break even point ■ 

798,000 I 
519.650 

278,350

122.500 I 155.850 

When necessary figures are not available variable cost or selling price or units 
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(b) 

Production overheads 

High 
Low 
Difference 

Units 

18,000 

10,000 

8,000 

Total Cost 
€ 

114,000 

66,000 

48,000 

The variable cost of 8,000 units is 48,000, therefore the variable cost per unit is €6 

Total production overhead cost 66,000 96,000 114,000 

Less variable costs 60,000 90,000 108,000 

Therefore, Fixed cost � � 6,000

Other overhead costs Units Total Cost 
€ 

High 18,000 99,000 

Low 10,000 57,000 

Difference 8,000 42,000 

The variable cost of 8,000 units is 40,000, therefore the variable cost per unit is €5.25 

Total other overhead costs 
Less variable costs 
Therefore, Fixed cost 

10,000 
57,000 

52.500 

4,500 

Flexible Budget in Marginal Costing format 

Sales 
Less Variable Costs 

Direct Materials 
Direct Labour 
Production overheads 
Other overhead costs 

Contribution 
Less Fixed Costs 

Production overheads 
Other overheads 
Administration 

Profit 

(19,000 X 14) 
(19,000 X 8) 
(19,000 X 6) 
(19,000 X 5.25) 

Total cost is 85% of sales. 
Total cost 631,750 + 35,500 

85% of sales 
667,250 

667,250 

785,000 100% 

15,000 
83,250 

78,750 

4,500 

266,000

I
152,000 

114,000

99,750 

6,000 1 
4,500 

25,000 

18,000 
99,000 

94,500 

4,500 

1ss,ooo 11 

631,750 

II 1s3,2so 

35,500

117.750 

fl 

II 

II 
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8. Marginal Costing

Ivor Ltd produces a single product. The company's profit and loss account for the year ended 31/12/2010,
during which 90,000 units were produced and sold, was as follows:

Sales (90,000 units) 
Materials 
Direct labour 
Factory overheads 
Selling expenses 
Administration expenses 
Net profit 

€ 

390,000 
236,000 
82,000 

105,000 
130,000 

€ 
1,170,000 

(943,000) 
227,000 

The materials, direct labour and 40% of the factory overheads are variable costs. Apart from 
sales commission of 5% on sales, selling and administration expenses are fixed. 

You are required to calculate: 

(a) The company's break-even point and margin of safety.

(b) The number of units that must be sold in 2011 if the company is to increase its net profit by
20% over the 2010 figure, assuming the selling price and cost levels and percentages remain
unchanged.

( c) The profit the company would make in 2011 if it reduced its selling price to € 11, increased fixed
costs by €15,000 and thereby increased the number of units sold to 110,000, with all other cost
levels and percentages remaining unchanged.

( d) The selling price the company must charge per unit in 2011, if fixed costs increase by 12% but
the volume of sales and profit remains the same.

(e) The number of units that must be sold at €16 per unit to provide a profit of 10% of the sales
revenue received from these same units.

(f) (i) List and explain two limitations/assumptions of marginal costing.

(ii) Explain what is meant by a step fixed cost.
Roughly sketch a graph of step fixed costs using the following rental payments:

€5,000 €12,000 €19,000 €28,000 
20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 
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Question 8 

Sales (90,000 units) 
Less Variable Costs 
Direct materials 
Direct wages 

Factory overhead (40%) 

Sales commission (5% of sales) 
Contribution 
Less Fixed Costs 
Factory overhead (60%) 

Selling expenses (excl Commission) 
Administration expenses 
Net Profit 

390,000 
236,000 1 32,800 

58,500 

49,200 

II 46,500
130,000 

€ € 

1,170,000 
per unit 
13.00 

(717,300) (7.97) 
452,700 5.03 

(225,700) 
227,000 

(a) Break even point fixed Costs 
CPU 

= ■ 44,871 

units

Margin of safety Budgeted Sales 
90,ooo■

- Break eve1!J!?int 
44,871 ■ 

(b) Number of Units to increase profits by 20%

Net profit 2010 

Increase in net profit 20%
Net profit for 2011 

Fixed Costs+ Target Profit
CPU 

227,000 

45.400 
272,400 

= ■ 225,700 + 272,400 ■
5.03 ■ 

( c) Profit if selling price dropped to e 1 in 2011 

Sales (110,000 x €11) 1,210,000 1(865,700) 

(d) 

Less Variable costs (110,000 x €7.87)
Total Contribution (110,000 x €U 3) 
Less Fixed costs 
Profit 

The selling price to be charged 
Let S be the selling price 

Sales - Variable costs = Fixed costs 

344,300 
240,700■
103.600 

+ Profit 

= 

= 

90,000S ■ - 90,000[7.32 + 0.05SJ ■ = ■ 252,784 + 221,000■
90,000S - [658,800 + 4,500S] = 479,784 
90,000S - 4,500S = 479,784 + 658,800 
85,500S = 1,138,584 
SP = €13.3167 

■ 45,129 units

■ 99,026 units

■eoJ,600

■ eJ.32
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(e) Let the number of units = N 

Sales Revenue = 16N 

Profit = 1.6N 

Sales = Variable Costs + Fixed Costs + Profit 
16N ■ = 8.l2N■ + 225,700■ + 1.6N ■ 
6 .28N = 225,700 
N = 35,939.49 ■ 35,940 units

Limitations/assumptions: I.I 
Variable costs are assumed to be completely variable at all levels of output. However variable 
costs may decrease due to economies of scale QL may increase because of increased costs. 

It is assumed that in marginal costing fixed costs remain the same although most fixed costs 
are step-fixed and are only fixed within a relevant range. 

It is assumed that all mixed costs are easily separated into fixed or variable. The High Lo 
method can be used for this purpose but it is not always possible to do this. 

It is assumed that the selling price per unit is constant and does not allow for discounts. 

Production in a period usually equals sales. Fixed costs are charged in total to a period 
and are not carried forward to next period. 

Step Fixed Cost 
Step fixed costs are costs that are fixed within a certain range of activity but change outside of 
that range. E.g. Rent could be fixed up to a certain level of production. However, if production 
increases and results in the rental of more factory space, then the rent would increase to a new 
level. Thus the fixed costs would increase in steps. 

Graph II 

Rent flJOO's 
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25 
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0 u t put units 
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0 

0 
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8. Marginal and Absorption Costing

(a) Murphy Ltd, produces a single product. The company's profit and loss account for the year
ended 31/12/2013, during which 16,000 units were produced and sold, was as follows:

Sales (16,000 units) 
Materials 
Direct labour 
Factory overheads 
Administration expenses 
Net profit 

€ 

120,000 
110,000 
60,000 

105,000 

€ 
480,000 

395,000 
85.000 

The materials, direct labour and½ of the factory overheads are variable costs. €65,000 of the 
administration expenses are fixed. 

You are required to calculate: 

(i) The company's break-even point and margin of safety.

(ii) Roughly sketch a graph, showing your break-even point.

(iii) The profit the company would make in 2014 if it reduced its selling price by 5%, increased
advertising by €5,000 and thereby increased sales to 19,000 units, with all other cost levels
and percentages remaining unchanged.

(iv) The number of units that must be sold at €26 per unit to provide a profit of 20% of the sales
revenue received from these same units.

( v) The profit the company would make in 2014 if a commission of 5% of sales is given to sales
personnel and €1 extra per unit spent on new packaging, thereby increasing the sales to
17,000 units at €34 per unit.

(b) Barry Ltd, produced 10,000 units of product A during the year ended 31/12/2013. 9,000 of these
units were sold at €4 per unit. The production costs were as follows:

Direct Materials 
Direct Labour 
Variable Overhead 
Fixed Overhead Cost for the year 

You are required to: 

€0.60 per unit 
€0.50 per unit 
€0.40 per unit 
€4,000 

(i) Prepare Profit and Loss statements under Marginal Costing and Absorption Costing principles
for Barry Ltd.

(ii) Outline the differences between Marginal and Absorption costing.
Indicate which method should be used for financial accounting purposes and why.
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Question 8 

(a) 

Sales (16,000 units) 
Less Variable Costs 

Direct materials 
Direct wages 
Factory overhead 
Administration overhead 

Contribution 
Less Fixed Costs 

Factory overhead 
Administration overhead 

Net Profit 

(i) 
Break even point 

€ 

120,000 

110,000

20,000

40,000 

40,000 

65,000 

Fixed Costs 
CPU 

€ € per unit 

480,000 30.00 

(290,000) (18.125) 
190,000 11.875 

(105,000) 

� 

105.000 II ■ 8,843 units

11.875 

Margin of safety Sales - Break even p<:>int 
11 16,000 - 8,843 ■ ■ 7,157 units 

(ii) Break even chart ■

Revenue/Costs € 

Break even 

€265,290 

8,843 

(iii) Profit from reduced selling price
Sales (19,000 x 28.50) 
Less Variable costs (19,000 x 18.125) 
Contribution 
Less Fixed costs 
Profit 

(105,000 + 5,000) 

(iv) Fixed Costs
Contribution - 20°/o of S.P.

1 105,000

7.875 5.2 ■ 

= 

Total Revenue 

Total Costs 

Fixed Costs 

Output (units) 

€ 
541,500 

I(344,375) 
197,125 

(1=)1 

= ■ 39,253 units
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(b) 

(v) The profit they would make from Selling Price of €34
578,000 1· 

(354,025) 

(i) 

(ii) 

Sales (17,000 x 34)
Less Variable costs (17,000 x 18.125 + 1.70 +l)
Contribution
Less Fixed Costs
Profit

Absorption Costing 
Sales (9,000 x 4) 
Less production Cost (10,000 units)

Direct Materials (10,000 x €0 .60) 
Direct Labour (10,000 x €0.50) 
Variable Overhead (10,000 x €0.40) 
Fixed Overhead 

Less Closing Stock (1/10 x 19,000) 
Profit 

Marginal Costing 
Sales (9,000 x 4) 
Less Production Cost (10,000 units)

Direct Materials (10,000 x 0.60) 
Direct Labour (10,000 x 0.50) 
Variable Overhead (10,000 x 0.40) 

Less Closing Stock ( l /10 x 15,000) 
Contribution II 
Less Fixed overheads 
Profit 

II 

223,975 
(105.000) I 

t:• 
4,000 I

I 9,000 

36,000 II 

(1,900) ■ (17,100) 
� 

36,000 ■ 

6,000 I .... 
5,000

4 ,000

15,000 

o,500) 11 (13,500) 
22,500

(4 ,000) ■ 
� 

There is a difference in the profit figures because closing stock is valued differently. 
Closing stock under marginal costing is valued lower than under absorption costing. 
When costing a product, marginal costing does not include fixed costs whereas in absorption 
costing the fixed costs are included. Therefore a share of fixed costs is included in the value of 
stock under absorption costing and not included under marginal costing. 
Under absorption costing, closing stock is valued at a 1/10 of the production cost of€19,000

Under marginal costing, closing stock is valued at a I/IO of the variable cost of €15,000 

Closing Stock - Absorption Costing 
Closing Stock - Marginal Costing 
Difference 

The profit difference is 18,900 - 18,500 

■ 

1,900 

(1,500) 

400 

400 

Absorption costing should be used as it agrees with standard accounting practice and concepts and 
also matches costs with revenues. 

 

399



Page 14 of 15 

SECTION 3 (80 marks) 
Answer ONE question 

8. Marginal Costing

Clarke Ltd produces a single product.  The company’s profit and loss account for the year
ended 31/12/2016, during which 60,000 units were produced and sold, was as follows:

€  € 

Sales (60,000 units) 1,320,000 

Materials  270,000

Direct labour  207,000

Factory overheads  240,000

Administration expenses  101,250

Selling expenses    82,500  900,750 

Net profit 419,250 

The materials and direct labour are variable costs.  Apart from a sales commission of 5% of 
sales, selling and administration expenses are fixed.  Factory overheads are mixed costs, 
and have behaved in the past as follows: 

Year ended  Output (units)  Factory Overheads in € 

31/12/2014  90,000  330,000 

31/12/2015  50,000  210,000 

31/12/2016  30,000  150,000 

Required: 

(a) Calculate the variable and fixed elements of factory overheads using the high/low method.

(b) Calculate the company’s break–even point and margin of safety.

(c) Calculate the number of units that must be sold at €25 per unit to provide a profit of 10% of
the sales revenue earned from these same units.

(d) Calculate the selling price the company must charge per unit in 2017, if fixed costs increase by
12% but the volume of sales and profit remain the same.

(e) After conducting market research the following options have been proposed.

Option 1 – Reduce the selling price by 10% and spend an extra €30,000 on advertising to
increase sales volume by 20%.

Option 2 – Spend €40,000 on leasing a new packaging machine (fixed cost).  This will
reduce the variable cost per unit by €2 maintaining sales at current levels.

Prepare a marginal costing statement for each option.

Write a brief report for the manager of Clarke Ltd with your recommendation.

(f) What is meant by the term ‘Sensitivity Analysis’?
(80 marks) 
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Question 8 – Marginal Costing 80

(a) High Low Method

Output (Units)  Production Overheads 
High  90,000  330,000 
Low  30,000  150,000 
Difference  60,000  180,000 

Variable cost per unit  = 
180,000 
60,000 

=  €3 per unit  [4] 

Total cost of 90,000 units  =  330,000 
Less variable cost (90,000 × €3)  =  270,000 
Fixed cost  =  60,000  €60,000  [4] 

(b) 

Marginal Costing Statement €  €  €
Per unit

Sales (60,000 units) 1,320,000  22.00 
Less variable costs 
Direct materials 270,000
Direct wages 207,000
Factory overhead (60,000 × €3) 180,000
Sales commission (5% of sales) 66,000  (723,000)  12.05 

Contribution 597,000  9.95 
Less fixed costs 
Administration expenses 101,250
Selling expenses (excl. commission)  16,500
Factory overhead 60,000  (177,750) 

Net profit   419,250 

Break‐even point fixed cost 
CPU 

177,750  [4] 
9.95  [5] 

= 17,865 units  [4] 

Margin of safety  budgeted sales  less  break‐even point 
60,000  [2]  less  17,865  [1]  = 42,135 units  [2] 
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(c)  Number of units that must be sold at €25 to provide a profit of 10% of the sales revenue 

Variable cost per unit (excl. sales commission)  =  10.95 
At €25 per unit the 5% commission  =  1.25 
New variable cost per unit  =  12.20  

 
Let number of units  =  N 
Sales revenue  =  25N 
Profit  =  2.5N 

 
Sales  =  Variable Costs  +  Fixed Costs  +  Profit   
25N  [2]  =  12.2N  [4]  +  177,750  [2]  +  2.5N  [4]   
10.3N  =  177,750             
N  =  17,257.28          [2]  17,258 units 
                 

 
 

(d)  The selling price to be charged in 2017 
 

Let S be the selling price 
 
Sales  –  Variable costs  =  Fixed costs  +  Profit 
60,000S  [1]  –  60,000 [10.95 + 0.05S]  [5]  =  199,080  [3]  +  419,250  [3] 
60,000S  –  [657,000 + 3,000S]  =  618,330       
60,000S  –  3,000S  =  618,330  +  657,000   
57,000S      =  1,275,330       
Selling price      =  €22.3742    [2]  €22.37 
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Page 17 of 19 

(e) Report on the effect on profit of a number of options:

To: The manager of Clarke Ltd [1]

From:

Date:

Option 1

Selling price – 10%  =  19.80
Fixed costs + 30,000  =  207,750
Sales volume + 20%  =  72,000   units 
New variable cost per unit (10.95 + 0.99)  =  11.94

Sales (72,000 × 19.80)  1,425,600  [3] 
Less variable costs (72,000 × 11.94)  (859,680)  [3]
Contribution  565,920
Less fixed costs   (207,750)  [2]
Net profit   358,170  [1]

Option 2 

Fixed costs + 40,000  =  217,750 
New variable cost per unit (12.05 – 2.00)  =  10.05 

Sales (60,000 × €22)  1,320,000  [3] 
Less variable costs (60,000 × €10.05)   (603,000)  [3]
Contribution  717,000
Less fixed costs  (217,750)  [2]
Net profit  499,250  [1] 

Choose Option 2 
Option 2 would generate a profit of €141,080 greater than option 1 [1] 

(f)    [6] 

Sensitivity Analysis is also known as ‘what if’ analysis. It is a technique used by management 
accountants to show the effect on profit brought about by changes in the following: 

1. Selling price

2. Sales volume

3. Variable costs

4. Fixed costs

The examples in part (e) are examples of sensitivity analysis.
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PRODUCT COSTING 

Reasons for product costing 

► Fixing selling prices

► To control costs

► To value stock

Each individual product consists of the following 

Direct Materials 
+ 

Direct Labour 
+ 
Variable Overheads 
+ 
Fixed Overheads 
= 

. Factory Cost 

We must absorb (include) all overheads in the cost of the product. 

Valuation of Closing stock 

First in first out means that the first items received into stock are the first to be used 
up or issued to customers. 

In the 2003 LCHL question we put the purchases in ascending order as follows 

Purchases 4200@ 7 =29400 
3200@ 7 = 22400 
2700@8 = 21600 
2300@9 = 20700 

12400 94100 

Our sales are as follows 
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1300@ 12 = 15600 
1200 @ 11 = 13200 
1350@ 12 = 16200 
1500@ 12 = 18000 
1400@ 13 = 18200 
1200 @ 11 = 13200 
1600 @ 13 = 20800 
900 @ 13 = 11700 
10450 126900 

We had opening stock of 4400 
+ Purchases 12400 

16800 
Sales 10450 

6350 

The closing stock is the most recent 6350 units that have been purchased 

2300 @ 9 = 20700 
2700@ 8 = 21600 
1350@ 7 = 9450 

51750 

Now prepare a trading account 

See LCHL 2000 Question 

Overhead Absorption 

This means that an appropriate portion of fixed overhead is included as a cost for the 
individual product .e.g similar to the way that we calculated the closing stock part of 
production budgets. 

The usual overhead absorption rates are 
Rate per unit 
Rate per direct labour hour 
Rate per machine hour 
Overhead costs as a percentage of prime cost 
Overhead costs as a percentage of direct materials. 
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Remember, we always work off budgeted costs and not actual costs. 

Overhead analysis 
In real life examples, we will use absorption costing whereby overheads can be 
apportioned in an equitable manner between different departments and then absorbed 
(included) in the total cost of the product. 

Procedure 
Overheads are apportioned to different cost centers, using an equitable basis of 
apportionment 
Cost centre 
A cost centre is an area of activity within the company which attracts costs and which 
is under the control of a manager who is accountable for these costs 
Bases of apportionment 
Overheads must be apportioned fairly between different cost centres. Because of the 
many different types of overheads, it would be impossible to have just one basis for 
doing this. The following are examples of some of the more usual bases used for 
overheads apportionment. 

Bases of apportionment 
Cost or book value of equipment 
Floor area 

Number of employees 

Volume of space occupied 

Type of overhead 
Depreciation I insurance of equipment 
Rent, rates, repairs, depreciation of 
buildings 
Canteen, factory administration costs, 
health and safety costs 
Heating etc. 

Apportionment of production overheads to departments 
The budgeted overhead costs of Furniture Ltd for the next financial year are expected 
to be as follows: 

Depreciation of equipment 
Depreciation of factory buildings 
Insurance of equipment 
Factory repairs 
Factory administration cost 
Canteen 
Factory heating 
Factory lighting 

Eur 
8,000 

10,000 
5,200 

6,600 

9,000 
5,400 
4,800 

1,000 

50,000 

The following information relates to the production and service departments of the factory 

Floor area ( sq metres) 
Volume ( cubic metres) 
Number of employees 

Production 
DeptA DeptB 

1,200 1,600 

3,000 6,000 

30 30 

Service 
DeptX 

800 
2,000 

15 

DeptY 
400 

1,000 

15 
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Book value of equipment 
Machine hours 

You are required to: 
Analyse the overheads by department 

30,000 
2,000 

20,000 
1,000 

10,000 20,000 

Calculate a machine hour overhead absorption rate for department A and department 
B 

Cost item Basis of Total Production Service 

apportionment cost 
Dept A DeptB DeptX DeptY 

Equipment: 

depr 3;2;1;2
Factory: 

depr 3;4;2;1
lnsurance:equip

3;2;1;2 
Factory repairs

3:4:2:1 
Factory admin

2:2:1:1 
Canteen

2:2:1:1 
Heating

 3:6:2:1
Lighting

3:4:2:1 

We now have to re-apportion the services sections as we can only recover overheads 
through production. We use an equitable manner i.e. machine hours 

Production Service 
Dept A DeptB DeptX DeptY 

Eur Eur Eur Eur 
Total cost 16,230 17,540 8,370 7,860 

Apportion Dept X to production 5,580 2,790 (8,370) 

Apportion Dept Y to production 5,240 2,620 (7,860) 

Total overhead for each department 27,050 22,950 -- --
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8. Costing and Stock Valuation

(a) Overhead Apportionment

Nevis Ltd has two Production Departments, 1 and 2 and two ancillary Service Departments, A and B.
The following are the expected overhead costs for the next period.

Overhead 

Depreciation of equipment 
Depreciation of factory buildings 
Factory heating 
Factory cleaning 
Factory canteen 

Total 
€ 

16,000 
20,000 
9,600 
2,000 

10,800 

The following information relates to the Production and Service Departments of the factory. 

Volume in cubic metres 
Floor area in square metres 
Number of employees 
Book value of equipment 
Machine hours 

You are required to: 

Production 
Dept. I Dept. 2 

1,500 3,000 
600 800 
60 60 

€15,000 €10,000 
3,000 1,000 

Service 
Dept. A Dept. B 

1,000 500 
400 200 
30 30 

€5,000 €10,000 

(i) Calculate the overhead to be absorbed by each Department stating clearly the basis of apportionment
used.

(ii) Transfer the Service Department costs to Production Departments l and 2 on the basis of machine
hours.

(iii) Calculate machine hour overhead absorption rates for Departments 1 and 2.
(iv) Explain what is meant by 're-apportionment' of overheads.
(v) Illustrate and explain 'over-absorption' of overheads.

(b) Stock Valuation

Cape Ltd. is a retail store that buys and sells one commodity. The following information relates to the
purchases and sales of the firm for the year 2006.

Period 
01/01/2006 to 31/03/2006 
01/04/2006 to 30/06/2006 
01/07/2006 to 30/09/2006 
01/10/2006 to 31/12/2006 

Purchases on credit 
3,200 @ €5 each 
2,100 @ €7 each 
2,000 @ €8 each 
1,400 @ €9 each 

Credit Sales 
800@€10 each 

1,000 @€11 each 
1,200 @€11 each 
1,100@€13 each 

On 1/1/2006 there was opening stock of 3,500 units @ €5 each. 

You are required to: 

Cash Sales 
1,000 @€11 each 
1,200 @ €10 each 
1,200 @ €12 each 
1,000@€13 each 

(i) Calculate the value of closing stock using the 'first in first out (FIFO) method.
(ii) Prepare a Trading Account for the year ended 31/12/2006.

(80 marks) 

409



Question 8 - Solution 

(a) 

(i) 

Overhead Basis 
Dep of Equipment Book value 

1••
Dep of Factory Floor area 
Factory heating Volume 
Factory cleaning Floor area 
Canteen No. employees 

(ii) I 

Total Cost 
Apportion Dept A to Production 
Apportion Dept B to Production 

(iii) I 
Machine hour absorption rate 

Dept l 

Dept2 

(iv) I 
Re-apportionment: 

Total 
16,000 
20,000 

9,600 
2,000 
10,800 
58,400 

Production Service 

Dept 1 De t2 
6,000 
6,00 
2,40 

60 
3 60 

18,600 

Production 
Dept2 
21,200 
2,450 
2200 

25,850 

32,550 
3 ,000 

25,850 
1,000 

Dept A 
9,800 

(9,800) 

Service 
DeptB 

8,800 

(8,800) 

€ I 0.85 per machine hour■ 

€25.85 per machine hour■ 

This is the term used where Service Department costs are re-apportioned between production 
departments because overheads can only be recovered by being included as part of the cost of 
production. 

Over-absorption: 
Over-absorption is when costs are over recovered - budgeted costs are greater than actual costs. 
The cost of fuel/power reduced 
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(b) 

(i) 

Purchases in units 
3,200 

2,100 

2,000 

1,400 

8,700 Total 

Credit Sales 

Units 

800 @ IO 
1,000 @ 11 
1,200 @ 11 
1,100 @ 13 
4,100 

Credit Sales 

€ 
8,000 

11,000 

13,200 

14,300 

46,500 

Cost 

@€5 

@€7 
@€8 
@€9 

Cash Sales 

Units 
1,000 @ 11 
1,200 @ IO 
1,200@ 12 
1,000 @ 13 
4,400 

Purchases at cost 
16,000 

14,700 

16,000 

12,600 

€59,300 Total 

Cash Sales 

€ 
11,000 

12,000 

14,400 

13,000 

50,400 

Total Sales 

Units 
1,800 

2,200 

2,400 

2,IO0 

8,500 

Total sales 

€ 
19,000 

23,000 

27,600 

27.300 

96,900 

Closing Stock in Units = Opening Stock 3,500 + Purchases 8,700 - Sales 8,500 = 3,700 units■ 

Closing Stock in€ 1,400@€9 

(ii) 

2,000 @€8 
300@€7 

UQQ 

12,600

116,000 

2,100 

JQ.lQQ 

Trading account for the year ending 31/12/2006 

Sales 
Less cost of Sales 

Opening Stock
Purchases 

Closing Stock
Gross Profit 

€ 

17,500 1
59,300 

76,800 

30,700 ■

€ 
96,900 ■

46 100 

50,800 
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8. Job Costing

Mc Cormack Ltd has three departments Processing, Assembly and Finishing. The following
costs relate to 2008.

Indirect Materials 
Indirect Labour 
Machine Maintenance 
Plant Depreciation 
Light and Heat 
Rent and Rates 
Factory Canteen 

Total 
€ 

360,000 
500,000 
28,000 
80,000 
70,000 
64,000 
50,000 

Processing 
€ 

170,000 
300,000 

The following information relates to the three departments. 

Floor space in m2 

Volume in m3 

Plant valuation at book value 
Machine hours 
Number of employees 
Labour hours 

Total 
16,000 
42,000 

€500,000 
80,000 

100 
140,000 

Processing 
8,000 

24,000 
€300,000 

40,000 
60 

80,000 

Job No. 510 has just been completed. The details are: 

Direct 
Materials 

€ 
Processing 10,000 
Assembly 2,400 
Finishing 

The company budgets for a profit margin of 25%. 

You are required to: 

Direct 

Labour 
€ 

2,000 
4,600 

800 

Assembly 
€ 

100,000 
120,000 

Assembly 
5,000 

12,000 
€150,000 

30,000 
30 

35,000 

Machine 
Hours 

60 
30 
6 

Finishing 
€ 

90,000 
80,000 

Finishing 
3,000 
6,000 

€50,000 
10,000 

IO 
25,000 

Labour 
Hours 

50 
90 
12 

(a) Calculate the overhead to be absorbed by each department stating clearly the basis of
apportionment used.

(b) Calculate a suitable overhead absorption rate for each department.

(c) Compute the selling price of Job No. 510.

(d) (i) Explain what is meant by a step fixed cost and give an example.
(ii) Outline two differences in focus between Management and Financial accounting.

(80 marks) 
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Question 8 

(a) 

Overhead Analysis 

(b) 

Overhead Basis 
Indirect Material Actual 
Indirect Labour Actual 
Machine Maintenance Machine hours 
Plant Depreciation Plant valuation 
Light and Heat Volume 
Rent and Rates Aoor Space 
Factory Canteen Employees 

Overhead recovery (absorption) per 

Budgeted Overheads 
Budgeted hours 

Overhead absorption rate per machine hour 

Overhead absorption rate per labour hour 

Total Processin Assembl Finish 
360,000 170,000 100,000 90,000 
500,000 300,000 120,000 80,000 
28,000 14,000 10,500 3,500 
80,000 48,000 24,000 8,000 
70,000 40,000 20,000 10,000 
64,000 32,000 20,oooti· 12,000 
50,000 30,000 15,000 5.000 

1,152,000 634,000 309,500 208,500 

Machine Hours Direct Labour Hours 

Processing Assembly Finishing 
(machine hours) (labour hours) (labour hours) 

634,000 309.500 208,500 
40,000 35,000 25,000 

€15.8511' 

€8.84. €8.3411 

413



(c) 

(d) 

Selling Price of Job No. 510 
€ 

Materials
Labour 
Overheads: 

(10,000 + 2,400) 
(2,000 + 4,600 + 800)

1
;:�:gg{I

Processing
Assembly 
Finishing 

Production Cost 
Profit 
Selling Price 

Step Fixed Cost rl 

(60 X 15.85) 
(90 X 8.84) 
(12 X 8.34)
75% 
25% 
100%

��!:�g-
100.08[JJ

21,646.68 
7,215.56 

28.862.24■ 

Step fixed costs are costs that are fixed within a certain range of activity but changes outside of
that range. E.g. Rent could be fixed up to a certain level of production. However, if 
production increases and results in the rental of more factory space, then the rent would 
increase to a new level. Thus the fixed costs would increase in steps. 

Management Accounting/Financial Accounting II 

Mana2ement Accountin2 Financial Accountin2 

Is concerned with planning for the future Is concerned with recording past events. Information is 
and provides information for planning provided in the form of a profit and loss account, balance
and budgeting sheet and cash flow statement 

Has an internal focus and furnishes Has both internal and external focus and furnishes
information to aid planning and information to stakeholders such as managers, 
decision making shareholders and creditors 

Is not governed or restricted by legislation Is governed and regulated by both legislation and
or legal requirements accounting standards such as FRS's. 

Reports are prepared as often as the Reports are prepared usually once a year 
managers require them 

Reports are prepared for cost-centres/ Reports are prepared about the whole business 
departments 
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8. Stock Valuation and Costing

(a) Stock Control

Rose Ltd is a retail store that buys and sells one product. The following information relates to the
purchases and sales of the firm for the year 2009:

Period Purchases on credit 
3,000 @ €4 each 
2,200 @ €6 each 
1,500 @ €7 each 

Credit Sales 
900@€9 each 

1,100 @€10 each 
1,200 @€10 each 

Cash Sales 
0l/01/2009 - 30/04/2009 
01/05/2009 31/08/2009 
01/09/2009 31/12/2009 

1,200 @€11 each 
1,300 @€12 each 
1,200 @ €13 each 

On 01/01/2009 there was opening stock of 4,000 units @€4 each. 

You are required to: 
{i) Calculate the value of closing stock using 'First in/First out' (FIFO) method. 
(ii) Prepare a trading account for the year ending 31/12/2009

(b) Product Costing

Dwyer Ltd is a small company with three departments. The following are the company's budgeted
costs for the coming year:

Department Variable Costs 
A €15 per hour 
B €17 per hour 
C €22 per hour 

Fixed Costs 
€6 per hour 
€5 per hour 
€4 per hour 

Wage rate per hour 
€13 
€15 
€10 

General Administration overhead absorption rate per hour is budgeted to be €5.50. 

The following are the specifications for a quotation for Job No. 209: 
Material Costs €7,350 
Labour hours required in each department: 

Department Hours 
A 95 

B 185 
C 60 

You are required to: 
Calculate the selling price of Job No. 209 if the profit is set at 20% of the selling price. 

{c) Under and over absorption of costs 

The information set out below refers to the budgeted and actual costs of Hennigan Manufacturing Ltd: 

Budgeted 

Department X 
Department Y 
Department Z 

Actual 

Department X 
Department Y 
Department Z 

You are required to: 

Direct 
Labour Hours 

8,000 
45,000 
20,000 

Direct 
Labour Hours 

10,000 
37,000 
25,000 

Machine Hours 
35,000 
10,000 

Machine Hours 
40,000 
15,000 

Total Overhead 
€140,000 
€ 36,000 
€ 40,000 

Total Overhead 
€155,000 
€ 30,000 
€ 45,000 

(i) Calculate departmental overhead absorption rates for Departments X, Y and Z.
(ii) Show the under/over absorption by department and in total for the period. Explain what these figures mean.
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Question 8 

(a) 

Stock Valuation 

Purchases 
in units 3,000 2,200 1,500 

6,700 

Unit cost 
€ @€4 

@ €6@ €7

Credit Sales Credit Sales 
Units € 900 @ €9 8,100 

1,100 @ €10 11,000 

1,200 @ € IO 12,000

3,200 31,100 

Purchases 
at cost 12,000 13,200 10.500 

35,700 

Cash Sales Cash Sales 
Units € 

1,200 @ €11 13,2001,300 @ €12 15,600 

1,200 @ €13 15,600 

3,700 44,400 

Total Sales 
Units 2,100 2,400 2,400 

6,900 

Total sales € 21,30026,60027,600

75,500 

Closing Stock in Units Opening Stock 4,000 + Purchases 6,700 - Sales 6,900 = 3,800 units [I 

Closing Stock in € 1,500 @ €7 2,200 @ €6 100 @ €4 3,800 

1 0,500

113,200 
400 24,100 

Trading account for the year ending 31/12/2009 

Sales Less cost of SalesOpening Stock Purchases 
Closing StockGross Profit 

16,000 135,700 51,700 (24.IOO}■

 

75,soo■

(27,600) 
�-
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(c) 

(b) 

Calculation of Product Cost and Selling Price 

Direct materials 
Direct wages 

Dept A (95 x 13) 
Dept B (185 x 15) 
Dept C (60 x 10) 

Variable overheads 
Dept A (95 x 15) 
Dept B (185 x 17) 
Dept C (60 x 22) 

Fixed overheads 
Dept A (95 x 6) 
Dept B (185 x 5) 
Dept C (60 x 4) 

General Administration overhead (340 x 5.50) 
Total Cost (80% of selling price) 
Profit (20% of selling price) 
Selling Price I 00% 

Under and over absorption of costs 

DeptX 

140,000

35,000 

DeptY 

36.000

45,000 

€ 

1,235

1 
2,775 

600 

1,425

1

· 
3,145 
1,320 

570

1 
925 
240 : 

€4 perM.HII €0.80 per L.H II 

Actual overhead incurred 
Absorbed overhead 
Over/Under absorption 

DeptX 
155,000 1 
160,000

5.000 

DeptY 
30,000 129,600

(400) 

Dept X Actual machine hours x M.H. rate = 40,000 x €4 
Dept Y Actual labour hours x L.H. rate 37,000 x €0 .80 

Dept Z Actual labour hours x L.H. rate = 25,000 x €2 

7,350.00 fffl 

4,610.00 

5,890 .00

1,735.00

1,810.00 11 
21,455.00 11 
5,363.75 

26.818.75 Ill 

DeptZ 

40.000

20,000

€2 perL.H.II 

DeptZ 
45,000 1 
50,000 

5,000 

Total 
230,000

239,600

9,600

160,000

29,600

50,000 

Costs incurred were €5,000 less than expected/budgeted and therefore profits are €5,000 greater than expected. 
Costs incurred were €400 more than expected/budgeted and therefore profits are €400 less than expected 
Costs incurred were €5,000 less than expected/budgeted and therefore profits are €5,000 greater than expected 
Overall costs incurred were €9,600 less than expected/budgeted and therefore profits are €9,600 greater than 
expected. ■ 
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8. Overhead Apportionment and Flexible Budgeting

(a) Heron Ltd has two Production Departments 1 and 2 and two ancillary Service Departments X and Y.
The following are the expected overhead costs for the next 6 months:

Overhead 

Depreciation of equipment 
Depreciation of factory buildings 
Factory heating 
Factory cleaning 
Factory canteen 

Total 
€ 

20,000 
24,000 
8,000 
4,000 
5,400 

The following information relates to the Production and Service Departments of the Factory: 

Volume in cubic metres 
Floor area in square metres 
Number of employees 
Book value of equipment 
Machine hours 

You are required to: 

Production 
Dept. I Dept. 2 

1,000 2,000 
800 600 
140 100 

€10,000 €15,000 
4,000 1,000 

Service 
Dept. X Dept. Y 

600 400 
400 200 

70 50 
€9,000 €6,000 

(i) Calculate the overhead to be absorbed by each Department stating clearly the basis of
apportionment used.

(ii) Transfer the Service Department costs to Production Departments 1 and 2 on the basis of
machine hours.

(iii) Calculate a machine hour overhead absorption rate for Departments I and 2.
(iv) Explain why it is necessary to transfer Service Department costs to Production Departments I and 2.

(b) Mixed costs can be separated into their fixed and variable elements by using records of costs from
previous periods. Edant pie manufactures a single component for the motor industry. The following
production costs and output levels have been recorded during March, April and May 2011:

Output Levels 60% 80% 90% 
Units 12,000 16,000 18,000 
Costs € € € 

Direct materials 156,000 208,000 234,000 
Direct Labour 108,000 144,000 162,000 
Production Overheads 79,200 102,000 113,400 
Other overhead costs 64,800 85,200 95,400 
Administration expenses 30,000 30,000 30,000 

438.000 569.200 634,800 

Profit is budgeted to be 20% of sales. Other overhead costs can be separated into their fixed and 
variable elements as follows: Variable cost per unit is €5.10 and Fixed Cost €3,600. 

You are required to: 

(i) Separate production overheads into fixed and variable elements.
(ii) Prepare a Flexible Budget for 95% Activity Level using Marginal Costing principles and show

the contribution.
(iii) Explain, with examples, 'controllable' and 'uncontrollable' costs.

(80 marks) 
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Question 8 

(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

Production Service 

Overhead 
Dep of equipment 
Dep of buildings 
Factory heating 
Factory cleaning 
Canteen 

Total Cost 

Basis Total 

I 
Book value 20,000 

Floor area 24,000 

Volume 8,000 
Floor area 4,000

No.Employees 5,400 

61,400 

Dept 1 
5,000

9,600

2,000 

1,600 

2,1 00 

� 

Production 
Dept 1 Dept 2 
20,300 21,400 

Dept2 DeptX 
7,500 4,500 

7,200 4,800 

4,000 1,200 

1,200 800 

1,500 l,050 

2LiQQ � 

DeptY 
3,000 

2,400 

800 

400 

750 

� 

Service 
DeptY 

7,350 

Apportion Dept X to Production 
Apportion Dept Y to Production 

9,880 I 2,470I 5,880 1,470 

DeptX 
12,350 

(12,350) 
(7,350) 

Machine hour absorption rate 
Dept I 

Dept 2 

36.060 � 

36,060 

4,000 

25,340 

1,000 

€9.015 per machine hour■ 

€25.34 per machine hour ■ 

(iv) ■
Service departments can't recover costs. Service departments are secondary to production
departments and as a result, service department costs must be transferred to production departments
on an equitable basis e.g. machine hours. Overheads can only be recovered through production i.e.
they are included as a cost of production.
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(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

Production overheads 

High 
Low 
Difference 

Units 

18,000 
12,000 

� 

Total Cost 
€ 

113,400 
79,200 

� 

The variable cost of 6,000 units is 34,200, therefore the variable cost per unit is €5.7011 

Total production overhead cost 
Less variable costs 
Therefore, Fixed cost 

79,200 
(68,400) 

10.800 

102,000 
(91,200) 

� 

Flexible Budget in Marginal Costing format 

Sales 
€ 

Less: Variable Costs 
Direct Materials (19,000 x 13) 
Direct Labour (19,000 x 9) 
Production overheads (19,000 x 5. 70) 
Other overhead costs (19,000 x 5.10) 

Contribution 
Less Fixed Costs 

Production overheads 
Other overheads 
Administration 

Profit 

Total cost is 80% of sales. 
Total cost is 623,200 + 44,400 
80% of sales 
100% 

247,000 1 
171,000 
108,300 
96,900 

10,800 1 
3,600 

30,000 

667,600 
667,600 
834,500 

€ 

113,400 
(102,600) 

�-

834,500■ 

(44,400) 
166!200 ■ 

(iii) ■

Controllable Costs: Are costs that can be controlled by the manager of a cost centre. She/he
will make the decision about the amount of the cost or if the cost should be incurred and
can be held responsible for variances in these costs. E.g.- all variable costs are controllable.
Commission to sales personnel can be controlled by the sales manager.

Uncontrollable Costs: Are costs over which the manager of a cost centre has no control
and therefore cannot be held responsible for variances in these costs. E.g.- rates to the local
authority are uncontrollable.

420



8. Stock Valuation, Product Costing, Under and Over Absorption

(a) Stock Valuation

(b) 

Blue Ltd is a retail store that buys and sells one product. The following information relates to the
purchases and sales of the firm for the year 2012.

Period Purchases on credit Credit Sales 

0 l/01/2012-30/04/2012 4,000 @ €5 each 1,000 @ €9 each 

0 l/05/2012-31/08/2012 2,500 @ €6 each l,200@€1 l each 

01/09/2012-3 l/12/2012 1,700@€8 each 1,400@ €11 each 

On 1/1/2012 there was opening stock of 4,500 units @€5 each. 

Required: 
(i) Calculate the value of closing stock using •First in/First out' (FIFO) method.
(ii) Prepare a trading account for the year ending 31/12/2012.

Product Costing 

Cash Sales 

1,500 @€12 each 

1,300 @€13 each 

1,200@€14 each 

The following is the budgeted yearly overhead details of Grace Ltd, manufacturers of computer 
equipment which has three production departments. 
Production departments Budgeted 

Manufacturing 
Assembly 
Finishing 

Overheads 
€180,000 
€99,000 
€36,000 

Budgeted 
Labour Hours 

36,000 hours 
18,000 hours 
4,500 hours 

Budgeted general administration costs for the year€ l, 170,000 

Details of Job Number 666 
Direct Material 30 kgs at €10.20 per kg 

Direct Labour Hours Manufacturing 
Assembly 
Finishing 

All orders are priced using a profit margin of 25%. 

Required: 

20 hours 
6 hours 
4 hours 

(i) Calculate the overhead absorption rates for each department.
(ii) Calculate the selling price of Job Number 666.

Wage Rate per hour 

€4 
€2 .50 
€3.75 

(c) Under and Over Absorption

The information set out below refers to the budgeted and actual costs of Hake Manufacturing Ltd.

Budgeted Direct Labour Hours Machine Hours Total Overhead 
Department A 7,000 32,000 €160,000 
Department B 48,000 7,000 €33,600 
Department C 22,000 €46,200 

Actual Direct_Labour Hours Machine Hours Total Overhead 
Department A 9,000 37,000 €175,000 
Department B 40,000 12,000 €29,000 
Department C 27,000 €50,000 

Required: 
(i) Calculate departmental overhead absorption rates for Departments A, B and C.
(ii) Show the under/over absorption by department and in total for the period. Explain what these

figures mean.
(80 marks) 
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Question 8 

(a) Stock Valuation

Purchases 
in units 
4,000 

2,500 

1,700 

8,200 

Credit Sales 
Units € 
1,000 @ €9 9,000

1,200 @ €11 13,200 

1,400 @ €11 15,400 

3,600 � 

Unit Cost 

€5 

€6 

€8 

Cash Sales 
Units 
1,500 @ 
1,300 @ 
1,200 @ 
4,000 

12 
13 

14 

€ 
18,000

1 6,900

16,800 
� 

Purchases at cost 
€ 

20,000 

15,000 
13,600 

48,600 

Total Sales 
Units € 
2,500 27,000

2,500 30,100 
2,600 32,200

7,600 � 

Closing Stock in Units = Opening Stock 4,500 + Purchases 8,200 Sales 7,600 = 5,1 00 units Ill 

Closing Stock Valuation: Units 
1,700

2,500

900 

5_,lQ_Q 

@ 
@ 
@ 

Trading account for the year ending 31/12/2012 
Sales 
Less Cost of sales 

Opening Stock 
Add Purchases 

Less Closing Stock 
Gross Profit 

€8 
€6 

€5 

€ 
13,600 I.•. 15,000 

4,500 

� 

22,500 

I 48,600 

71,100 
33,1 00 ■ 

€ 
89,300 ■ 

(b) (i)

Manufacturing 
Budgeted Overheads €180,000 

Direct Labour Hours 36,000 

€5perDLH ■ 

Assembly 
€99,000 
18,000 

Finishing 
€36,000

4,500

€5.50 per DLH ■ €8.00 per DLH II 
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(c) 

(ii) 

(i) 

Selling Price of Job Number 666 
€ € 

Direct materials 
Direct Labour 

Manufacturing 
Assembly 
Finishing 

(30 X 10.20) 306.00 

Budgeted Overheads 

(20 X 4.00) 
(6 X 2.50) 
(4 X 3.75) 

Manufacturing (20 x 5.00) 
Assembly (6 x 5.50) 
Finishing (4 x 8.00) 

General Administration overhead (30 x 20) 
Total Cost [75%] 
Profit [25% of selling price] 
Net Selling Price I 00% 

Under and over absorption of costs 

Dept A 

€160,000 

32,000 

= €5 perM.H ■ = 

80.00 

I !;:: · ... ·
100 .00 

33.00

32.00 

DeptB 

€33,600

48,000

110.00 

165.00 

600.00 

I1,181.00 •
393.67 

I 574.67 

€0. 70 per L.H ■ = 

(ii) 
Dept A DeptB DeptC 

€ € € 

DeptC 

46,200 

22,000 

€2.10 per LH ■ 

Total 
€ 

Actual overhead incurred 175,000 

I 
29,000 

I 
50,000 

I 
254,000 

Absorbed overhead 185,000 28,000 56,700 269,700 

Over/Under absorption � 

Actual Absorbed Overheads 
Dept A Actual machine hours x Machine Hour rate 
Dept B Actual labour hours x Labour Hour rate 
Dept C Actual labour hours x Labour Hour rate 

■ 

� 

= 37,000 X €5.00 

= 40,000 X €0.70 

= 27,000 X €2.10 

� ll.1rul 

€185,000

€28,000 

€56,700 

In department A, the costs incurred were €10,000 less than expected/budgeted and therefore profits are 
€10,000 greater than expected. 
ln department B, the costs incurred were €1,000 more than expected/budgeted and therefore profits are 
€1,000 less than expected. 
In department C, the costs incurred were €6,700 less than expected/budgeted and therefore profits are 
€6,700 greater than expected. 
Overall, the costs incurred were €15,700 less than expected/budgeted and therefore profits are €15,700 

greater than expected. 
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Page 9 of 10 

SECTION 3 (80 marks) 
Answer ONE question 

8. Stock Valuation and Flexible Budgeting

(a) Stock Valuation

Jones Ltd is a retail store that buys and sells one product. The following information relates to the
purchases and sales of the firm for the year 2014.

Period Purchases on credit Credit Sales Cash Sales 

01/01/2014 – 31/03/2014  4,500 @ €6 each 1,200 @ €10 each 1,100 @ €11 each 

01/04/2014 – 30/06/2014 2,400 @ €7 each 2,200 @ €11 each 1,400 @ €12 each 

01/07/2014 – 30/09/2014 1,400 @ €6 each 1,400 @ €10 each 1,600 @ €13 each 

01/10/2014 – 31/12/2014 2,600 @ €8 each 1,600 @ €11 each 1,100 @ €13 each 

On 01/01/2014 there was an opening stock of 5,200 units @ €6 each. 

Required: 
(i) Calculate the value of closing stock using ‘First in/First out’ (FIFO) method.
(ii) Prepare a trading account for the year ending 31/12/2014.
(iii) Outline the implications of an incorrect stock valuation.

(b) Boland Ltd manufactures a single component for the aviation industry. The following production costs and
output levels have been recorded during July, August and September 2014:

Output Levels 70% 85% 95% 
Units  21,000 25,500 28,500 
Costs € € €
Direct materials 315,000  382,500  427,500 
Direct Labour  231,000 280,500 313,500 
Production Overheads  106,800 126,960 140,400 
Other overhead costs  71,800 86,200 95,800 
Administration expenses    35,000   35,000     35,000 

759,600  911,160  1,012,200 

Profit is budgeted to be 20% of sales. 

Required: 
(i) Separate production overheads and other overheads into fixed and variable elements.
(ii) Prepare a Flexible Budget for 90% Activity Level using Marginal Costing principles and show the

contribution.
(iii) Explain, with examples, ‘controllable’ and ‘uncontrollable’ costs.

(80 marks) 
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Question 8 

(a) Stock Valuation

(i) Purchases Unit Cost  Purchases at cost 
in units € 

 4,500 €6 27,000 
 2,400 €7 16,800 
 1,400 €6 8,400 

  2,600 €8 20,800 
 10,900 73,000 

 Credit Sales  Cash Sales  Total Sales 
 Units € Units € Units € 
 1,200 @ €10 12,000 1,100 @ €11 12,100 2,300 24,100 
 2,200 @ €11 24,200 1,400 @ €12 16,800 3,600 41,000 
 1,400 @ €10 14,000 1,600  @ €13 20,800 3,000 34,800 
 1,600 @ €11 17,600 1,100 @ €13 14,300   2,700  31,900 
 6,400 67,800 5,200 64,000 11,600 131,800 

Closing Stock in Units = Opening Stock 5,200 + Purchases 10,900 – Sales 11,600 = 4,500 units  [7] 

Closing Stock Valuation: Units € 
2,600 @ €8 = 20,800  [3] 
1,400 @ €6 = 8,400 [3] 

      500 @ €7 =   3,500 [3] 
4,500 32,700 [4] 

(ii) Trading Account for the year ended 31/12/2014

Sales 131,800 [3] 
Less Cost of sales 

Opening Stock 31,200  [2] 
Add Purchases  73,000  [3] 

104,200
Less Closing Stock (32,700) [2] (71,500) 

Gross Profit 60,300  [4] 
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(iii) [4]

Implications of an incorrect stock valuation

Incorrect valuation of stock affects: 
The Financial Statements of two years or two accounting periods ie.  the closing stock of one 
accounting period and the opening stock of the next accounting period. 
The figures for cost of sales, gross profit, net profit and subsequently figures in the balance sheet   
In the balance sheet it will affect the figures for current assets and working capital/net assets  
In carrying out ratio analysis the figure for stock will affect the stock turnover, percentage mark-
up on cost,  gross profit percentage, net profit percentage and the current  ratio   
The opinion of the firm in financial circles, its tax liability, its ability to borrow, public opinion and 
consequently its share price   

The mark-up on cost in an industry provides a valuable measure for any firm in that industry. 
A mark-up that is out of line with the norm is a cause for concern and should lead to immediate 
investigation to locate the reason and take remedial action 

Stock turnover determines the total volume of profit. Therefore, the higher the better. 

(b) 

(i) 

Production overheads Units Total Cost 
€ 

High 28,500 140,400
Low 21,000  106,800 
Difference 7,500  33,600 

The variable cost of 7,500 units is 33,600 therefore the variable cost per unit is   €4.48 [4] 

Total production overhead cost 106,800 126,960 140,400 
Less variable costs [units × €4.48] (94,080) (114,240) (127,680) 
Therefore, Fixed cost 12,720 12,720 12,720 [4] 

Other overheads Units Total Cost 
€ 

High 28,500 95,800
Low 21,000 71,800 
Difference 7,500 24,000 

The variable cost of 7,500 units is 24,600 therefore the variable cost per unit is   €3.20  [4] 

Total other overhead cost 71,800 86,200 95,800
Less variable costs [units × €3.20] (67,200) (81,600) (91,200) 
Therefore, Fixed cost 4,600 4,600 4,600    [4] 
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(ii) 
Flexible Budget in Marginal Costing format 

€ €
Sales 1,202,100  [3] 
Less: Variable Costs 

Direct Materials [27,000 × 15.00] 405,000 [2] 
Direct Labour  [27,000 × 11.00] 297,000 [2] 
Production overheads [27,000 × 4.48] 120,960 [2]  
Other overhead costs [27,000 × 3.20]  86,400 [2] (909,360) 

Contribution 292,740  [4] 
Less Fixed Costs  

Production overheads 12,720 [1] 
Other overheads   4,600 [1] 
Administration  35,000 [1]  (52,320) 

Profit 240,420  [2] 

Total cost is 80% of sales. 
Total cost is [909,360 + 52,320] = 961,680 
80% of sales = 961,680 
100%  = 1,202,100 

(iii) [6]

Controllable Costs:  Are costs that can be controlled by the manager of a cost centre.   
She/he will make the decision about the amount of the cost or if the cost should be incurred 
and can be held responsible for variances in these costs. 
E.g. - all variable costs are controllable. Commission to sales personnel can be controlled by
the sales manager.

Uncontrollable Costs:  Are costs over which the manager of a cost centre has no control 
and therefore cannot be held responsible for variances in these costs. e.g. - rates to the 
local authority are uncontrollable.  

427



 

8. Overhead Apportionment/Job Costing

Moran Ltd has two production departments, 1 and 2 and two ancillary Service Departments, A and B.
The following costs relate to 2016.

Total Production 1 Production 2 Service A Service B 
€ € € € €

Indirect materials 380,000 245,000 135,000 -------- -------- 
Indirect labour 400,000 280,000 120,000 
Machine maintenance 12,000 
Depreciation on factory buildings 30,000 
Factory light and heat 18,000 
Factory cleaning 8,000 
Factory canteen 5,600 

The following information relates to the production and service departments: 

Total Production 1 Production 2 Service A Service B 
Volume in cubic metres 6,000 3,000 1,500 1,000 500 
Floor area in square metres 1,000 400 300 200 100 
Number of employees 490 280 140 70 -------- 
Book value of buildings 600,000 300,000 150,000 100,000 50,000 
Machine hours 50,000 30,000 20,000 -------- -------- 
Labour hours 60,000 15,000 45,000 -------- --------- 

Service departments are to be transferred to the Production Departments on the following 
percentage basis: 

Production 1 Production 2 
Service A 70% 30% 
Service B 60% 40% 

Job No. 650 has just been completed, the details are: 

Direct Materials Direct Labour Machine Hours Labour 
Hours 

€ €
Production 1 7,500 4,000 120 50 
Production 2 2,800 3,900 80 100 

The company budgets for a profit margin of 20%. 

Required: 

(a) Calculate the overhead to be absorbed by each department showing clearly the basis of
apportionment used.

(b) Transfer the service department costs to production departments 1 and 2.
(c) Calculate a suitable overhead absorption rate for each department.
(d) Compute the selling price of Job No. 650.
(e) (i) Explain what is meant by reapportionment of overheads.

(ii) Name three overhead absorption rates and state why they are based on budgeted figures.

(80 Marks) 
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Question 8 

80
(a) 

Overhead Basis Total Prod 1 Prod 2 Service 
A 

 Service 
B 

Indirect 
materials  Given 380,000 245,000 135,000 

Indirect  
labour  Given 400,000 280,000 120,000 

Machine 
maintenance [1] 

Machine  
hours 12,000 7,200  [1] 4,800  [1] 

Dep. –  
buildings [1] Book value 30,000 15,000 [1] 7,500  [1] 5,000  [1] 2,500  [1] 

Factory  
L & H [1] Volume 18,000 9,000  [1] 4,500  [1] 3,000  [1] 1,500  [1] 

Factory  
cleaning [1] Floor area 8,000 3,200  [1] 2,400  [1] 1,600  [1] 800  [1] 

Canteen [1] 
No. of 
employees     5,600     3,200 [1]     1,600 [1]      800 [1]   ----- 

853,600 562,600  [1] 275,800  [1] 10,400  [1] 4,800  [1] 

(b) 

Production 1 Production 2 Service A Service B 
Overhead costs 562,600 275,800 10,400 4,800 
Apportion Service A  
[70%/30%] 7,280  [2] 3,120  [2] (10,400)

Apportion Service B  
[60%/40%]     2,880 [2]     1,920 [2]  (4,800) 

572,760 280,840

(c) 

Overhead Rate Production 1 - (Machine Hours) 

     572,760    = €19.09 per machine hour [6] 
30,000 hours

Overhead Rate Production 2 - (Labour Hours) 

    280,840     =  €6.24 per labour hour [6] 
45,000 hours

(d) 

Selling price of Job 650 € 
Direct materials (7,500 + 2,800) 10,300.00  [4] 
Direct labour (4,000 + 3,900)   7,900.00  [4] 
Prime cost 18,200.00 
Overheads
Production 1  (120 machine hours × €19.09) 2,290.80  [4] 
Production 2  (100 labour hours × €6.24)      624.00  [4] 
Cost of Job 650 21,114.80  
Margin of 20%   5,278.70  [2] 
Selling price of Job 650 26,393.50  [6]
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(e) [10] 
 
 

(i) Re apportionment of costs 
This is the term used where service department costs are reapportioned/divided between production 
departments because overheads can only be recovered by being included in the cost of production. 

 
 
(ii) 

Absorption rates 
Per labour hour 
Per machine hour 
Per unit 
Percentage of prime cost 

 
Overhead absorption rates are based on budgeted rather than actual costs because actual costs may not 
be known until the end of the year and the business cannot wait until then to decide the cost of the 
product as they need to decide on the selling price to charge for tendering purposes. 
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Leaving Certificate 2018 
Accounting – Higher Level 

SECTION 3 (80 marks) 
Answer ONE question 

8. Stock Valuation and Product Costing

(a) Stock Valuation

Weston Ltd is a retail store that buys and sells one product.  The following information
relates to the purchases and sales of the firm for the year 2017:

Period  Purchases on 
Credit 

Credit Sales  Cash Sales 

01/01/2017 ‐ 31/03/2017  4,500 @ €8 each  1,000 @ €10 each  1,200 @ €12 each 

01/04/2017 ‐ 30/06/2017  2,500 @ €7 each  2,000 @ €11 each  1,400 @ €13 each 

01/07/2017 ‐ 30/09/2017  3,000 @ €6 each  1,500 @ €13 each  1,800 @ €10 each 

01/10/2017 ‐ 31/12/2017  1,500 @ €5 each  1,000 @ €12 each  1,200 @ €11 each 

On 01/01/2017 there was an opening stock of 5,000 units @ €6 each. 

Required: 
(i) Calculate the value of closing stock using ‘First in/First out’ (FIFO) method.
(ii) Prepare a trading account for the year ending 31/12/2017.
(iii) Explain how the concept of prudence applies to the valuation of closing stock.

(b) Product Costing

The following are the specifications for a job quotation received from Tully Ltd:

Direct Materials 70 kg @ €16 per kg

Direct labour hours spent in each department:

Department  Hours 

A  50 

B  120 

C  24 

The monthly budgeted figures are as follows: 

Budgeted overheads 

Department  Variable  Fixed  Wage Rate per hour  Labour Hours 

€  €  € 

A  20,000  22,000  15  500 

B  18,000  23,000  26  1,000 

C  21,000  42,000  34  1,400 

General administration overheads are expected to be €55,100 for the month. 

Required: 

(i) Calculate the variable and fixed overhead absorption rates for each department in
direct labour hours.

(ii) Calculate the administration overhead absorption rate in direct labour hours.

(iii) Calculate the selling price of the job if the profit is set at 25% of selling price.

(iv) Outline the role of the management accountant within an organisation.

(80 marks) 
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Q.8   Stock Valuation and Product Costing

(a)    50

(i) Purchases

Units  Price  Cost 

4,500  €8  €36,000 

2,500  €7  €17,500 

3,000  €6  €18,000 

  1,500  €5    €7,500 

11,500 €79,000 

Sales 

Units  Selling Price  Sales Revenue 

2,800 (1,800 + 1,000)  €10  €28,000 

3,200 (2,000 + 1,200)  €11  €35,200 

2,200 (1,000 + 1,200)  €12  €26,400 

  2,900 (1,500 + 1,400)  €13    €37,700 

11,100 €127,300 

Closing stock in units = opening stock (units) + purchases (units) – sales (units) 
= 5,000 + 11,500 – 11,100 = 5,400 [21] 

Value of closing stock (FIFO) 

Units  Cost  Value € 

1,500  €5    7,500 [3] 

3,000  €6  18,000 [3] 

   900  €7    6,300 [3] 

5,400 31,800 [4] 

(ii) 
Trading a/c for Weston Ltd year ended 31/12/2017 

€  € 

Sales   127,300 [4] 

Less cost of sales

Opening stock  30,000  [2]

Purchases  79,000  [3]

Less closing stock  (31,800) [2]  (77,200) 

Gross profit 50,100 [4] 
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(iii) Prudence concept and valuation of stock [1]

The prudence concept states caution should be exercised when preparing financial

statements.  Therefore, only realised profits should be included in the accounts.

However, provision should be made for all expected expenses and losses.  The

prudence concept ensures that profits are not overstated and losses not understated.

If closing stock was overvalued then profits would be overstated.  Therefore stocks

should be valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

(b) Product Costing 30

(i) Budgeted Overheads

Department A 

Variable  Fixed 

€  € 

Budgeted Overhead Costs  20,000  22,000 

Budgeted Hours  500  500 

Overhead Absorption Rates  €40 per LH [1]  €44 per LH [1] 

Department B 

Variable  Fixed 

€  € 

Budgeted Overhead Costs  18,000  23,000 

Budgeted Hours  1,000  1,000 

Overhead Absorption Rates  €18 per LH [1]  €23 per LH [1] 

Department C 

Variable  Fixed 

€  € 

Budgeted Overhead Costs  21,000  42,000 

Budgeted Hours  1,400  1,400 

Overhead Absorption Rates  €15 per LH [1]  €30 per LH [1] 

433



(ii) 

Administration Overhead 

€ 

Administration Overhead  55,100 

Total Budgeted Hours  2,900 

Overhead Absorption Rates  €19 per LH [2] 

(iii) 

Calculation of Product Cost and Selling Price 

€  € 

Direct Materials (70 × 16)   1,120 [1] 

Direct Labour/Wages 

Department A (50 × 15)  750 [1]

Department B (120 × 26)  3,120 [1]

Department C (24 × 34)     816 [1]  4,686 

Variable Overhead 

Department A (50 × 40)  2,000 [1]

Department B (120 × 18)  2,160 [1]

Department C (24 × 15)     360 [1]  4,520 

Fixed Overheads 

Department A (50 × 44)  2,200 [1]

Department B (120 × 23)  2,760 [1]

Department C (24 × 30)     720 [1]  5,680 

General administration overhead (194 × 19)   3,686 [2] 

Total cost = 75% of selling price 19,692 

Profit  = 25% of selling price   6,564 [2] 

Selling price 26,256 [2] 

Due to possible confusion caused by the € symbol in the ‘labour hours’ column, award full marks 
to all candidates for Q.8 (b) (i), (ii) and (iii). 
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Leaving Certificate 2019  14
Accounting – Higher Level 

SECTION 3 (80 marks) 
Answer ONE question 

8. Overhead Apportionment/Job Costing

Rooney Ltd has two production departments, X and Y and two ancillary service departments,  
1 and 2. 

The following costs relate to 2019. 

Total  Production X  Production Y  Service 1  Service 2 

€  €  €  €  € 

Indirect materials  480,000  265,000  215,000  ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐  ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 

Indirect labour  420,000  280,000  140,000  ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐  ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 

Machine maintenance  18,000

Depreciation on factory 
buildings 

36,000

Factory light and heat  24,000

Factory cleaning  10,000

Factory canteen  8,750

The following information relates to the production and service departments: 

Total  Production X  Production Y  Service 1  Service 2 

Volume in cubic metres  9,000  4,500  2,250  1,500  750 

Floor area in square 
metres 

2,000  1,000  600  200  200 

Number of employees  700  300  300  100  ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 

Book value of buildings (€)  900,000  450,000  225,000  150,000  75,000 

Machine hours  80,000  48,000  32,000  ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐  ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 

Labour hours  40,000  10,000  30,000  ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐  ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 

Service departments are to be transferred to the production departments on the following 
percentage basis: 

Production X  Production Y 

Service 1  60%  40% 

Service 2  55%  45% 

Job No. 925 has just been completed, the details are: 

Direct Materials  Direct Labour  Machine Hours  Labour Hours 

€  €

Production X  8,500  3,000  100  50 

Production Y  3,800  4,900  120  200 

The company budgets for a profit margin of 20%.
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Required: 

(a) Calculate the overhead to be absorbed by each department showing clearly the basis of
apportionment used.

(b) Transfer the service department costs to production departments X and Y.

(c) Calculate a suitable overhead absorption rate for each department.

(d) Calculate the selling price of Job No. 925.

(e) (i)  Explain why it is necessary to transfer service department overheads to production
departments. 

(ii) Distinguish between the allocation, apportionment and absorption of costs.

(80 marks) 
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Q.8  Overhead Apportionment/Job Costing

(a) 

Overhead  Basis
Total  Prod X Prod Y 

Service 
1 

Service 
2 

Indirect materials  Given  480,000  265,000    215,000 

Indirect labour  Given  420,000  280,000    140,000 

Machine maintenance  Machine hours  [1]  18,000  10,800  [1]  7,200  [1] 

Dep ‐ buildings  Book value  [1]  36,000  18,000  [1]  9,000  [1]  6,000  [1]  3,000  [1] 

Factory L & H  Volume  [1]  24,000  12,000  [1]  6,000  [1]  4,000  [1]  2,000  [1] 

Factory cleaning  Floor area  [1]  10,000  5,000  [1]  3,000  [1]  1,000  [1]  1,000  [1] 

Canteen  No. of employees  [1]      8,750      3,750  [1]      3,750  [1]    1,250  [1]  ‐‐‐‐‐ 

996,750  594,550  [1]  383,950  [1]  12,250  [1]  6,000  [1] 

(b) 

Production X Production Y Service 1  Service 2 

Overhead Costs 594,550 383,950 12,250  6,000 

Apportion Service 1  [60%/40%]  7,350  [2]  4,900  [2]  (12,250)

Apportion Service 2  [55%/45%]      3,300  [2]      2,700  [2]  (6,000) 

605,200  391,550 

80 

26 
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(c) 

Overhead Rate Production X ‐ (Machine Hours) 

605,200  =  €12.61 per machine hour [6] 
48,000 hours 

Overhead Rate Production Y ‐ (Labour Hours) 

391,550  =  €13.05 per labour hour [6] 
30,000 hours 

Or based on Machine Hours 

391,550 
32,000 hours = €12.24 per machine hour 

(d) 

Selling price of Job No. 925  € € 

Direct materials  (8,500 + 3,800) 12,300.00  [3] 

Direct labour  (3,000 + 4,900) 7,900.00  [3] 

Prime cost   20,200.00 

Overheads:

Production X  (100 machine hours × €12.61) 1,261.00  [4] 

Production Y  (200 labour hours × €13.05) 2,610.00  [4] 

Cost of job no. 925   24,071.00 

Margin of 20%     6,017.75  [2] 

Selling price of job no. 925 30,088.75  [6] 

12 
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Selling price of Job No. 925  € € 

Direct materials  (8,500 + 3,800) 12,300.00  [3] 

Direct labour  (3,000 + 4,900) 7,900.00  [3] 

Prime cost   20,200.00 

Overheads:

Production X  (100 machine hours × €12.61) 1,261.00  [4] 

Production Y  (120 machine hours × €12.24) 1,468.80  [4] 

Cost of job no. 925 22,929.80 

Margin of 20%     5,732.45  [2] 

Selling price of job no. 925 28,662.25  [6]
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9 Cash Budgeting 
 
The management of Premier Ltd., is currently preparing its budget for the second half of 1997 and has produced the 
following Sales Forecast 
 
 Month € 
 July 85,000 
 August 75,000 
 September 70,000 
 October 80,000 
 November 90,000 
 December 85,000 
 January 1998 95,000 
 
You are given the following additional information: 
Debtors are expected to settle their accounts as follows: 

(i) 20% of sales will be settled in cash in the month of sale at a discount of 5% 
(ii) Of the credit sales, 50% of customers by value will settle their accounts the month following sale.  The 

remainder will be collected in the second month following sale. 
 
The Gross Profit is expected to be 40% of sales. 
 
The stock of goods at the beginning of each month will be 20$ of the sales requirement for that month. 
 
Creditors are paid in the month immediately following delivery. 
 
Monthly expenses, to be paid within the month, are expected to be 15% of sales each month. 
 
You are required to prepare: 

(i) A schedule of monthly receipts from Debtors for the four month budget period September to 
December, 1997. 

(25 marks) 
(ii) A schedule of monthly payments to creditors for the same four month period. 

(25 marks) 
(iii) A Cash budget for four months September to December 1997, given that the opening cash balance on 

1st  September is €12,000. 
(30 marks) 

(80 marks) 
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9. Cash Budgeting 
 

Retro Ltd is preparing to set up business on 01/07/2016 and has made the following forecast for the first six 
months of trading: 

 
 July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. Total 
Sales 420,000 440,000 580,000 590,000 620,000 625,000 3,275,000
Purchases 180,000 220,000 260,000 265,000 340,000 370,000 1,635,000

(i) The expected selling price is €50 per unit. 
 
(ii) The cash collection pattern from Debtors is expected to be: 

 
Cash Customers 20% of sales revenue will be for immediate cash and cash discount of 5% 

will be allowed. 
 
Credit Customers 80% of sales revenue will be from credit customers.  These debtors will pay 

their bills 50% in the month after sale and the remainder in the second 
month after sale. 

 
(iii) The cash payments pattern for purchases is expected to be: 

 
Credit Suppliers The purchases will be paid for 50% in the month after purchase when a 2% 

cash discount will be received.  The remaining purchases will be paid for in 
the second month after purchase. 

 
(iv) Expenses of the business will be settled as follows: 

 
Expected Costs Wages €60,000 per month payable as incurred. 
 Variable overheads €10 per unit payable as incurred. 
 Fixed overheads (including depreciation) €65,000 per month payable as 

incurred. 
 
Capital Costs Equipment will be purchased on 1 July costing €42,000 which will have a 

useful life of 5 years.  To finance this purchase a loan of €36,000 will be 
secured at 6% per annum.  The capital sum is to be repaid in 36 monthly 
instalments commencing on 1 August.  The interest for each month is to be 
paid on the last day of that month based on the amount of the loan 
outstanding at that date. 

 
Required: 

 
(a) Prepare a cash budget for six months July to December 2016. 
(b) Prepare a budgeted profit and loss account for the six months ended 31/12/2016. 
(c) (i) What options does a business have when it has (a) a cash surplus and (b) a cash deficit? 

(ii) On the basis of the cash budget you have prepared what advice would you give the 
management of Retro Ltd? 

 
(80 marks) 
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Question 9  

(a) 80  
Cash Budget July to December 

Receipts July August September October November December Total 
Cash sales receipts 79,800 [1] 83,600 [1] 110,200 [1]  112,100 [1]  117,800 [1]  118,750 [1]   622,250 
Credit Sales 1 month 168,000 [1] 176,000 [1] 232,000 [1]  236,000 [1]  248,000 [1]  1,060,000 
Credit sales 2 months _____ _______ 168,000 [1] 176,000 [1]  232,000 [1]  236,000 [1]      812,000 
 79,800 251,600 454,200 520,100 585,800 602,750 2,494,250 
 
Payments         
Purchases 1 month  88,200 [1] 107,800 [1] 127,400 [1]  129,850 [1]  166,600 [1]   619,850 
Purchases 2 months 90,000 [1] 110,000 [1]  130,000 [1]  132,500 [1]   462,500 
Wages 60,000 [2] 60,000 60,000 60,000    60,000    60,000   360,000 
Variable overheads 84,000 [1] 88,000 [1] 116,000 [1] 118,000 [1]  124,000 [1]  125,000 [1]   655,000 
Fixed overheads 64,300 [6] 64,300 64,300 64,300    64,300    64,300   385,800 
Equipment 42,000 [1]          42,000 
Loan repayment 1,000 [1] 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000  5,000 
Interest       180 [1]       175 [1]            170 [1]       165 [1]       160 [1]       155 [1]        1,005 
 250,480 301,675 439,270 480,865 509,310 549,555 2,531,155 
 
Net Cash (170,680) [1] (50,075) [1] 14,930 [1] 39,235 [1]    76,490 [1]    53,195 [1]   (36,905) 
Bank Loan    36,000 [1]          36,000 
Opening balance ________ (134,680) [1] (184,755) (169,825) (130,590) (54,100)  ____ 
Closing balance (134,680) (184,755) (169,825) (130,590) (54,100) (905) [4] (905) 

 

 

(b) 

Budgeted Profit and Loss Account 
 € € 
Sales   3,275,000  [1] 
Less Cost of Sales 
Material 1,635,000 [1] 
Labour 360,000 [1] 
Variable overhead 655,000 [1] 
Fixed overhead  [6 × 64,300] 385,800 [1] (3,035,800) 
Gross Profit  239,200 
Depreciation – equipment 4,200 [1] 
Discount allowed  [3,275,000 x 20% × 5%] 32,750 [2] (36,950) 
  202,250 
Add Discount received  [1,635,000 - 370,000 ÷ 2 × 2%]    12,650  [2] 
  214,900 
Less interest    (1,005) [2] 
Net Profit    213,895  [2] 
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(c) 

(i) [4] 

 
Cash Surplus:  This money can be placed in short term investment opportunities in order to 
gain the most interest. When the company predicts that it will have a cash surplus this allows it 
to arrange for short-term investment of surplus funds to gain maximum interest. The surplus 
could be used to pay off any loans or purchase fixed assets 

 
Cash Deficit:  The business needs to arrange alternative sources of finance e.g. a bank 
overdraft to get them over the period of the deficit. When the company predicts that it will 
experience cash deficits this enables management to arrange for alternative sources of finance, 
e.g. longer periods of credit or bank overdraft accommodation to cover such deficits. 

 

(ii) [4] 

Advice 

There are serious cash shortages in both July and August. 
Retro Ltd should change the credit terms for debtors to encourage more prompt payment for 
example 6% discount for cash payment in month of sale 
 
Hire equipment instead of buying it to reduce cash expenditure or delay the start date for 
repayment of loan/repay loan over longer period of time 
 
Agree better credit terms with creditors 
Examine variable overheads to see if they can be reduced. 
Examine wage bill to see if it can be reduced 
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9. Cash Budgeting 
 

Irwin Ltd is planning to set up a business on 01/07/2016 and has made the following forecast for 
the first six months of trading: 

Sales Budget 

 July August September October November December 

Sales units 9,000 9,750 11,000 12,000 12,500 12,800 

Sales revenue €270,000 €292,500 €330,000 €360,000 €375,000 €384,000 
 

(i) Each product unit requires 3kg of material X, which costs €4 per kg. 
 
(ii) Stocks of finished goods are maintained at 60% of the following month’s sales requirement. 
 
(iii) Stocks of raw materials, sufficient for 20% of the following month’s requirements in kgs 

are held at the end of each month. 
 
(iv) The cash collection pattern from sales is expected to be: 

 
Cash Customers 30% of sales revenue will be for immediate cash. 
 
Credit Customers 70% of sales revenue will be from credit customers.  These 

debtors will pay their bills 50% in the month after sale and the 
remainder in the second month after sale. 

 
(v) One month’s credit is received from suppliers. 

 
(vi) Expenses of the business will be settled as follows: 

 
Expected Costs Wages €10,000 plus 5% of sales revenue per month, payable as 

incurred. 
 Variable overheads €4 per unit, payable as incurred. 
 Fixed overheads (including depreciation) €28,000 per month, 

payable as incurred. 
 

Capital Costs Equipment will be purchased on 1 July costing €60,000 which 
will have a useful life of 5 years.   

 
To finance this purchase a loan of €48,000 will be secured at 10% 
per annum.  This loan and interest will be repaid over 4 years. 
Monthly capital and interest payments will commence in August. 

 
Required: 

 
(a) Prepare a production budget for the four months July to October 2016. 
 
(b) Prepare a raw materials purchases budget (in units and €) for the four months July to 

October 2016. 
 
(c) Prepare a cash budget for the four months July to October 2016. 
 
(d) Prepare a budgeted trading and profit and loss account for the four months ending 

31/10/2016 (if the budgeted cost of a unit of finished goods is €20). 
 
(e) (i) What recommendations would you make to Irwin Ltd based on the budgets you have 

 prepared? 
(ii) Outline the factors which Irwin Ltd should take into account when estimating future 

sales figures.  
(80 marks) 
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Question 9 
 

 80 

(a) 

Production Budget 
 July Aug Sept  Oct  Nov 
Sales 9,000 [1] 9,750 [1] 11,000 [1] 12,000   [1] 12,500   
Add Closing stock 5,850 [1] 6,600 [1] 7,200 [1] 7,500   [1] 7,680 
 14,850  16,350  18,200  19,500  20,180 
Less Opening stock ------- (5,850) [1] (6,600)  [1] (7,200)  [1] (7,500) 
Required for production 14,850 10,500  11,600  12,300  12,680 

 
 
(b) 

Raw Materials Purchases Budget 
 July  Aug  Sept  Oct  Nov 
Units of production 14,850 [½] 10,500 [½] 11,600 [½] 12,300 [½] 12,680 
Materials per unit       × 3 [½]      × 3       × 3       × 3       × 3 
Required for 
production 

44,550 [½] 31,500 [½] 34,800 [½] 36,900   [½] 38,040 

Add Closing stock 6,300 [½] 6,960 [½] 7,380 [½] 7,608   [1]  
Less Opening stock -------  (6,300) [½] (6,960) [½] (7,380) [½]  
Required for 
purchases 

50,850  [½] 32,160 [½] 35,220 [½] 37,128 [½] 
 

Price per kg           × 4 [½]          × 4           × 4           × 4   
Cost of raw 
materials 

€203,400 [½] €128,640 [½] €140,880 [½] €148,512 [½] 
 

 
 
Total purchases €621,432 
(c) 

Cash Budget 
Receipts July  August  September  October  
Cash sales 81,000 [1] 87,750 [1] 99,000 [1] 108,000 [1] 
Credit sales 1 month   94,500 [1] 102,375   [1] 115,500 [1] 
Credit sales 2 month _____  ______    94,500 [1] 102,375 [1] 
 81,000  182,250  295,875  325,875  
Payments         
Purchases   203,400   [1] 128,640 [1] 140,880 [1] 
Wages 23,500 [1] 24,625 [1] 26,500 [1] 28,000  [1] 
Variable overheads 59,400 [1] 42,000 [1] 46,400 [1] 49,200 [1] 
Fixed overheads 27,000 [1] 27,000    27,000    27,000  
Equipment 60,000 [1]       
Loan repayments   1,000   [1] 1,000    1,000  
Interest ______         400 [1]       400           400  
 169,900  298,425  229,940  246,480  
Net monthly cash flow (88,900) [1] (116,175) [1] 65,935 [1] 79,395 [1] 
Loan 48,000 [1]       
Opening cash balance   (40,900) [1] (157,075) [1] (91,140) [1] 
Closing cash balance (40,900)  (157,075)  (91,140)  (11,745) [2] 
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(d) Budgeted Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the 4 months ended 31/10/2016 

 € € € 
Sales   1,252,500  [1] 
Less cost of sales 

Opening stock  ----- 
Purchases  621,432  [1] 
  621,432   
Closing stock - finished goods (7,500 × €20) 150,000  [1] 

- raw materials (7,608 × €4) 30,432  [1]  (180,432)   (441,000) 
Gross Profit 811,500 
Less Expenses 

Wages  102,625  [1] 
Variable overheads  197,000  [1] 
Fixed overheads  108,000  [1] 
Depreciation  4,000  [1] (411,625) 

Operating profit 399,875 
Less interest   (1,200) [1] 

Net profit 398,675  [4] 
 
 
(e) [9] 
 

(i) Recommendations 

1. Reduce requirement for closing stock of finished goods, particularly in earlier months to reduce 
the costs of production. 

2. Negotiate a lower price than the €4 per kg, from suppliers when buying raw materials and this 
will reduce cash expenditure. 

3. Encourage debtors to pay earlier by offering discounts for early payment/reduce the period of 
credit allowed from 2 months to one month, which will increase receipts. 

4. Postpone the purchase of equipment in July and instead lease the equipment.  This will reduce 
the deficit in July by €12,000 (€60,000 – €48,000) and by the interest and loan repayments 
€1,400 thereafter. 

 
 
 

(ii) 

1. Market research and trends/opinion of sales representatives may be a reliable indicator of 
potential sales. 

2. What is the price to be charged for the product or service? 

3. Is the level of competition in the market place intense or not? 

4. Is the economy expected to grow over the coming months? 
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9. Budgeting 
 

O’Sullivan Ltd recently completed its annual sales forecast to the end of 2018.  It expects to sell 
two products – Basic at €260 and Deluxe at €340. 
 
All stocks are to be reduced by 10% from their opening levels by the end of 2018 and are valued 
using the FIFO method. 
 

  Basic  Deluxe 

Expected sales  1,800 units  1,500 units 
 

Stocks of finished goods on 01/01/2018 are expected to be: 

Basic  50 units at €220 each 

Deluxe  60 units at €290 each 

 
Both products use the same raw materials and skilled labour but in different quantities per 
unit as follows: 

  Basic  Deluxe 

Material A  5 kgs  7 kgs 

Material B  3 kgs  6 kgs 

Skilled labour  4 hours  5 hours 
 

Stocks of raw materials on 01/01/2018 are expected to be: 

Material A  3,000 kgs @ €4.50 per kg 

Material B  2,000 kgs @ €5.50 per kg 
 

The expected prices for raw materials during 2018 are: 

Material A  €5.00 per kg 

Material B  €6.00 per kg 
 

The skilled labour rate is expected to be €15 per hour. 
 
Production overhead costs are expected to be: 

Variable  €8 per skilled labour hour 

Fixed  €322,300 per annum 
 

Required: 
 
(a) Prepare a production budget (in units). 
 
(b) Prepare a raw materials purchases budget (in units and €). 
 
(c) Prepare a production cost/manufacturing budget. 
 
(d) Prepare a budgeted trading account (you are required to calculate the unit cost of 

budgeted closing stock of both products). 
 
(e) Why is it important that a business prepares regular budgets? 

(80 Marks) 
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Question 9 – Budgeting  80 

 
(a) 

Production budget  Basic    Deluxe   
         
Budgeted sales in units  1,800  [2]  1,500  [2] 
Add closing stock        45  [2]      54  [2] 
  1,845    1,554 
Less opening stock     (50)  [2]      (60)  [2] 
Budgeted production (units)  1,795    1,494   

 
(b) 

 
Materials Purchases Budget  Material A (Kgs)  Material B (Kgs) 
     
Basic  (1,795 x 5kgs)  8,975  [2]  (1,795 × 3kgs)  5,385  [2] 
Deluxe  (1,494 × 7kgs)  10,458  [2]  (1,494 × 6kgs)    8,964  [2] 
    19,433      14,349   
Add closing stock    2,700  [2]      1,800  [2] 
    22,133      16,149   
Less opening stock    (3,000)  [2]    (2,000)  [2] 
Budgeted purchases if R.M. in kgs  19,133      14,149   
Purchase price           €5  [1]           €6  [1] 
Purchases in €  €95,665      €84,894   

 
(c) 

 
Production Cost/Manufacturing Budget  €  €   
       
Opening stock of raw materials       

A (3,000 × €4.50)    13,500     
B (2,000 × €5.50)    11,000  24,500  [4] 

Add purchases of raw materials (95,665 + 84,894)    180,559  [2] 
      205,059   
Less closing stock of raw materials       

A (2,700 × €5)    13,500     
B (1,800 × €6)    10,800  (24,300)  [4] 

      180,759   
Labour cost          

Basic (1,795 × 4 × 15)    107,700     
Deluxe (1,494 × 5 × 15)    112,050  219,750  [4] 

         
Variable overhead         

Basic (1,795 × 4 × 8)    57,440     
Deluxe (1,494 × 5 × 8)    59,760  117,200  [4] 

         
Fixed overhead      322,300  [2] 
Cost of Manufacture      840,009  [3] 
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(d) 
Budgeted Closing Stock per unit  Basic    Deluxe 
       
Material A  (5kg × €5)  25  [1]  (7kg × €5)  35  [1] 
Material B  (3kg × €6)  18  [1]  (6kg × €6)  36  [1] 
Direct labour  (4hrs × €15)  60  [1]  (5hrs × €15)  75  [1] 
Variable overheads  (4hrs × €8)  32  [1]  (5hrs × €8)   40  [1] 
Fixed overheads  (4hrs × €22)    88  [1]  (5hrs × €22)   110  [1] 
Cost per unit    223      296   

 
 
Fixed overheads per direct labour hour 

 
322,300 

(1,795 × 4hrs) + (1,494 × 5hrs) 
 

322,300  =  €22  [2] 
14,650     

 
Budgeted Trading Account  €    €   
         
Sales (1,800 × €260) + (1,500 × €340)   [468,000 + 510,000]      978,000  [2] 
Opening stock of finished goods           
Basic  (50 × €220)  11,000         
Deluxe  (60 × €290)  17,400  28,400  [2]     
Cost of manufacture    840,009  [1]     
    868,409       
Less closing stock of finished goods           
Basic  (45 × €223)  10,035         
Deluxe  (54 × €296)  15,984  (26,019)  [2]  (842,390)   
Gross profit        135,610  [2] 
           

 
  [6] 
(e)  The importance of budgeting: 

1. Budgeting is part of the planning process.  It is a financial road map for a business. 

2. Budgeting helps define areas of responsibility for staff and motivates staff to achieve targets, 
improves communication and builds teamwork. 

3. The resources of the organisation are used as efficiently as possible and it can adapt quickly to 
changing circumstances. 

4. Budgeted figures can be compared with actual performance.  Adverse variances can be 
investigated and action taken to ensure it does not happen again. 
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9.  Flexible Budgeting 
 
Conlon Ltd manufactures a component for the computer industry.  The following flexible 
budgets have already been prepared for 60%, 75% and 90% of the plant’s capacity: 
 

Output levels   60%  75%  90% 

Units   24,000  30,000  36,000 

Costs   €  €  € 

Direct materials   108,000  135,000   162,000 

Direct wages   124,800   156,000  187,200 

Production overheads   132,400   158,500   184,600 

Other overhead costs   169,200  210,000   250,800 

Administration overheads     40,500    40,500    40,500 

  574,900  700,000  825,100 

 
Profit is budgeted to be 20% of sales. 
 
(a)  Required: 

(i)  Separate production overheads into fixed and variable elements. 

(ii)  Separate other overhead costs into fixed and variable elements. 

(iii)  Prepare a flexible budget for 95% activity level using marginal costing principles, and 
show the contribution. 

(b)  Assume that Conlon Ltd is currently operating at 100% capacity and is considering two 
capital expenditure options costing €8,000 each as follows: 

Option 1 

Modernisation of machinery which will save €0.60 per unit in the production overheads. 

Option 2 

Buying new machinery which would increase the plant’s capacity by 10% while reducing all 
fixed overheads (including administration) by 8%. 

Required: 

(i) Prepare flexible budgets, using marginal costing principles and showing contributions, 
for both options taking the new cost structures into account. 

(ii) Advise the company on the best option. 

(c)  Required: 

(i)  Distinguish between the terms ‘contribution’ and ‘profit’. 

(ii)  Outline why Conlon Ltd would prepare a flexible budget. 

(80 marks)
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Q.9  Flexible Budgeting 

(a)  (i)  43 
Production overheads  Units  Total Cost 

  €  € 

High  36,000  186,600 

Low  24,000  134,400 

Difference  12,000    52,200 

     

The variable cost of 12,000 units is 52,200 therefore the variable cost per unit is €4.35 [7] 

Total production overhead cost  132,400  158,500  184,600 

Less variable costs [units × €4.35]  (104,400)  (130,500)  (156,600) 

Therefore, fixed cost  28,000  28,000  28,000 [7] 

       

 

(ii) 

Other overheads  Units  Total Cost 

  €  € 

High  36,000  250,800 

Low  24,000  169,200 

Difference  12,000    81,600 

     

The variable cost of 12,000 units is 81,600 therefore the variable cost per unit is €6.80 [7] 

Total production overhead cost  169,200  210,000  250,800 

Less variable costs [units × €6.80]  (163,200)  (204,000)  (244,800) 

Therefore, fixed cost  6,000 6,000 6,000 [7] 
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(iii) 

Flexible Budget 95 % Activity Level in Marginal Costing format 

  €  € 

Sales    1,083,500 [2] 

Less: variable costs     

Direct materials [38,000 × 4.50]  171,000 [1]   

Direct labour [38,000 × 5.20]  197,600 [1]   

Production overheads [38,000 × 4.35]  165,300 [1]   

Other overhead costs [38,000 × 6.80]  258,400 [1]  (792,300) 

Contribution    291,200 [2] 

Less: fixed costs     

Production overheads  28,000 [1]   

Other overheads  6,000 [1]   

Administration  40,500 [1]   (74,500) 

Profit    216,700 [4] 
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(b)  (i)  32 

Option 1     

Flexible Budget in Marginal Costing format  €  € 

Sales    1,105,625 [2] 

Less: variable costs      

Direct materials [40,000 × 4.50]  180,000 [1]   

Direct labour [40,000 × 5.20]  208,000 [1]   

Production overheads [40,000 × 3.75]  150,000 [1]   

Other overhead costs [40,000 × 6.80]  272,000 [1]  (810,000) 

Contribution    295,625 [2] 

Less: fixed costs      

Production overheads  28,000 [1]   

Other overheads  6,000 [1]   

Administration  40,500 [1]   (74,500) 

Profit    221,125 [4] 
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Option 2 

Flexible Budget in Marginal Costing format  44,000 units 

  €  € 

Sales    1,232,425 [2] 

Less: variable costs      

Direct materials [44,000 × 4.50]  198,000 [1]   

Direct labour [44,000 × 5.20]  228,800 [1]   

Production overheads [44,000 × 4.35]  191,400 [1]   

Other overhead costs [44,000 × 6.80]  299,200 [1]  (917,400) 

Contribution    315,025 [2] 

Less: fixed costs      

Production overheads  25,760 [1]   

Other overheads  5,520 [1]   

Administration  37,260 [1]   (68,540) 

Profit    246,485 [4] 

 

(ii) 

Option 2 should be chosen [2] 
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(c)  5 
(i) Distinguish between contribution and profit 

Contribution is sales revenue less variable costs.  This goes towards paying off the fixed 

costs.  Once the fixed costs are paid off, any further contribution goes towards profit. 

Profit is sales revenue less total costs (fixed and variable). 

 

(ii)  Outline why Conlon Ltd would prepare a flexible budget. 

1. To show management the cost levels at different levels of production. 

2. To compare actual costs and budgeted costs at the same level of activity. 

3. To compare budgeted costs and actual costs in order to identify variances. 
This allows corrective action to be taken. 

4. To help in controlling costs or planning production levels.  It is misleading 
to compare the budgeted costs at one level of activity with the actual 
costs at a different level of activity. 
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Accounting – Higher Level 

9. Production Budgeting 

Winston Ltd recently completed its annual sales forecast to the end of 2020.  It expects to 
sell two products – Dark at €250 and Light at €300. 

All stocks are to be increased by 10% from their opening levels by the end of 2020 and are 
valued using the FIFO method. 

  Dark  Light 

Expected sales  12,600 units  7,500 units 

Stocks of finished goods on 01/01/2020 are expected to be: 

Dark  650 units at €180 each 

Light  420 units at €240 each 

Both products use the same raw materials and skilled labour but in different quantities 
per unit as follows: 

  Dark  Light 

Material 1  5 kgs  7 kgs 

Material 2  6 kgs  4 kgs 

Skilled labour  6 hours  8 hours 

Stocks of raw materials on 01/01/2020 are expected to be: 

Material 1  6,500 kgs @ €2.80 per kg 

Material 2  5,500 kgs @ €5.10 per kg 

The expected prices for raw materials during 2020 are: 

Material 1  €3.00 per kg 

Material 2  €6.00 per kg 

The skilled labour rate is expected to be €16 per hour. 

Production overhead costs are expected to be: 

Variable  €5.50 per skilled labour hour 

Fixed  €681,630 per annum 

Required: 

(a) Prepare a production budget (in units). 

(b) Prepare a raw materials purchases budget (in units and €). 

(c) Prepare a production cost/manufacturing budget. 

(d) Prepare a budgeted trading account (you are required to calculate the unit cost of 
budgeted closing stock of both products). 

(e) Explain three reasons for product costing. 

(80 Marks) 
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Q.9  Production Budgeting 
 
(a)  Production Budget 
 

  Dark    Light   

Budgeted sales in units  12,600  [2]  7,500  [2] 

Add closing stock  715  [2]  462  [2] 

Less opening stock     (650)  [2]     (420)  [2] 

Budgeted production (units)  12,665    7,542   

 
 
(b)  Raw Materials Purchases Budget 

    Material 1      Material 2   

Dark  (12,665 × 5 kgs)  63,325  [2]  (12,665 × 6 kgs)  75,990  [2] 

Light  (7,542 × 7 kgs)    52,794  [2]  (7,542 × 4 kgs)    30,168  [2] 

    116,119      106,158   

Add closing stock    7,150  [2]    6,050  [2] 

Less opening stock     (6,500)  [2]     (5,500)  [2] 

Purchases of raw materials in kgs    116,769      106,708   

Purchase price          × €3  [1]          × €6  [1] 

Purchases of raw materials in €    350,307      640,248   

Cost of Raw Materials Purchased = €350,307 + €640,248 = €990,555 

80 

12 

18 
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(c)  Production Cost/Manufacturing Budget 

Direct Materials       

Opening stock of raw materials       

Material 1 (6,500 kgs × €2.80)  18,200     

Material 2 (5,500 kgs × €5.10)  28,050  46,250  [4] 

Add purchases of raw materials    990,555  [2] 

Less closing stock of raw materials       

Material 1 (7,150 kgs × €3)  (21,450)     

Material 2 (6,050 kgs × €6)  (36,300)  (57,750)  [4] 

    979,055   

Labour Cost       

Dark (12,665 × 6 hrs × €16)  1,215,840     

Light (7,542 × 8 hrs × €16)  965,376  2,181,216  [4] 

Variable overhead       

Dark (12,665 × 6 hrs × €5.50)  417,945     

Light (7,542 × 8 hrs × €5.50)  331,848  749,793  [4] 

Fixed overhead        681,630  [2] 

Cost of manufacture    4,591,694  [3] 

 
 
(d)  Budgeted Closing stock per unit 

    Dark      Light   

Material 1  5 kg × €3  15  [1]  7 kg × €3  21  [1] 

Material 2  6 kg × €6  36  [1]  4 kg × €6  24  [1] 

Direct labour  6 hrs × €16  96  [1]  8 hrs × €16  128  [1] 

Variable overhead  6 hrs × €5.50  33  [1]  8 hrs × €5.50  44  [1] 

Fixed overhead  6 hrs × €5      30  [1]  8 hrs × €5      40  [1] 

    €210      €257   

 
Fixed Overhead =  681,630  =  €5  [2] 

(12,665 × 6) + (7,542 × 8) 
 
Budgeted Trading Account for year ended 31/12/2019 

Sales  (12,600 × €250) + (7,500 × €300)      5,400,000  [2] 

Less cost of sales         

Opening stock  (650 × €180) + (420 × €240)  217,800  [2]     

Cost of manufacture  4,591,694  [1]     

Less closing stock  (715 × €210) + (462 × €257)  (268,884)  [2]  (4,540,610)   

Gross profit        859,390  [2] 

   

23 

21 
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(e)  1.  Establishes the selling price for tendering purposes. 

2.  Controls costs by comparing budgeted costs with actual costs. 

3.  Helps with planning and decision making. 

4.  To find the value of closing stock to be used when calculating profit. 

6 
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